Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in
the Council Chamber - Civic Offices, Shute End,
Wokingham RG40 1BN on WEDNESDAY 8 SEPTEMBER
2021 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 31 August 2021
Note: Although non-Committee Members and members of
the public are entitled to attend the meeting in person,
space is very limited due to the ongoing Coronavirus
pandemic. You can however participate in this meeting
virtually, in line with the Council’s Constitution. If you wish to
participate either in person or virtually via Microsoft Teams,
please contact Democratic Services. The meeting can also
be watched live using the following link:
https://youtu.be/ysC3IEMFk7I
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business

Enriching Lives







Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full
potential, regardless of their background.
Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to
complement an active lifestyle.
Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which
people feel part of.
Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.
Safe, Strong, Communities
Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.
Nurture communities and help them to thrive.
Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.






Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.
Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas.
Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling.
Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.




Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to
grow.
Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.





A Clean and Green Borough

Right Homes, Right Places




Keeping the Borough Moving





Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.
Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure.
Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible
public transport with good network links.

Changing the Way We Work for You





Be relentlessly customer focussed.
Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around
you.
Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.
Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Chris Bowring (Chairman)
Stephen Conway
Pauline Jorgensen
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Angus Ross (Vice-Chairman) Sam Akhtar
Gary Cowan
Carl Doran
Rebecca Margetts
Andrew Mickleburgh
Bill Soane

SUBJECT

31.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

32.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 11
August 2021

33.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

34.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 20

35.

Winnersh

APPLICATION NO.211772 - LAND AT WINNERSH
FARM, WOODWARD CLOSE, WINNERSH
Recommendation: Conditional approval

21 - 70

36.

Barkham

APPLICATION NO.211081 - BARKHAM FARMS ,
BARKHAM, RG40 4EX
Recommendation: Conditional approval subject to
legal agreement and subject to receipt of confirmation
from the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities
and Local Government that they do not wish to call the
application in for determination

71 - 174

37.

Evendons

APPLICATION NO.210705 - FISHPONDS CLOSE,
WOKINGHAM TOWN, RG41 2TZ
Recommendation: Conditional approval subject to
legal agreement

175 - 216

38.

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

APPLICATION NO.212209 - 5 SHEPHERDS
AVENUE, EARLEY, RG6 1AY
Recommendation: Conditional approval

217 - 230

39.

Winnersh

APPLICATION NO.212164 - LORD HARRIS COURT,
MOLE ROAD, SINDLESHAM, WINNERSH
Recommendation: Conditional approval

231 - 248

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CIL
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Community Infrastructure Levy
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Callum Wernham

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist

Email
Postal Address

democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 32.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 11 AUGUST 2021 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.13 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Chris Bowring (Chairman), Angus Ross (Vice-Chairman), Sam Akhtar,
Stephen Conway, Pauline Jorgensen, Andrew Mickleburgh, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
and Bill Soane
Councillors in Attendance
Councillors: Gary Cowan
Councillors Present and Speaking
Councillors: Michael Firmager and Imogen Shepherd-DuBey
Officers Present
Connor Corrigan, Service Manager - Planning and Delivery
Judy Kelly, Highways Development Manager
Sean O'Connor, Head of Legal Services
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Case Officers Present
Mark Croucher
Christopher Howard
Senjuti Manna
Simon Taylor
20.
APOLOGIES
An apology for absence was submitted from Carl Doran and Rebecca Margetts.
Gary Cowan attended the meeting virtually, and was therefore marked as in attendance,
and was not able to propose, second, or vote on items.
21.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 14 July 2021 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
22.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in items 26, 27, and 28. Bill stated
that he would leave the room for entirety of these items and take no part in the discussions
or votes.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey declared a prejudicial interest in item 30. Rachelle stated that
she would leave the room for entirety of this item and take no part in the discussion or
vote.
Stephen Conway declared a personal interest in items 26, 27, and 28, on the grounds that
his son had worked in the café on the site between ten and twelve years ago amongst a
number of other school children. Stephen added that he would continue to take part in
both the discussions and votes for these items.

5

Stephen Conway declared a personal interest in item 30, on the grounds that he had been
referred the applicant at one point for a medical issue. Stephen added that he had not
been in contact with the applicant since, and would therefore take full part in both the
discussion and vote for this item.
23.
APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications were recommended for deferral, or withdrawn.
24.

APPLICATION NO.211024 - LAND AT ARBORFIELD GARRISON PARCEL V1S,
NORTH OF NUFFIELD ROAD/LAKESIDE BUS ROUTE, ARBORFIELD
Applicant: Bloor Homes Ltd
Proposal: Application for approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Outline Planning
Consent O/2014/2280 dated 02/04/2015. The Reserved Matters (access, appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale) comprise details of 126 dwellings within parcel V1S with
access via the Lakeside Bus Loop, associated internal access roads, parking,
landscaping, open space, footpaths and drainage.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 13 to 46.
The Committee were advised that there were no updates within the Supplementary
Planning Agenda.
Rebecca Fenn-Tripp, on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Rebecca stated that the site had been granted outline planning permission, and this
application sought reserved matters approval for 126 high quality homes. The site would
include 25 affordable homes, delivering twenty percent on-site provision of affordable
housing, in line with the S106 agreement. Rebecca stated that the development
incorporated a variety of house types, materials, and architectural details to provide
sufficient interest and differentiation across the site. Rebecca added that all of the
proposed dwellings met or exceeded national space standard requirements, whilst the site
would also meet the Borough’s parking standards, whilst also incorporating electric vehicle
charging points. The proposals would include the planting of 43 new trees in addition to
new hedgerows, whilst retaining the three mature oak trees found on-site. Rebecca
concluded by stating that the proposals would provide a ten percent reduction in carbon
emissions including via the provision of photovoltaic panels.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried whether electric vehicle charging infrastructure would
be put in place across the site to allow activation when needed, queried whether
photovoltaic panels would be offered to residents, and queried whether there were any
plans to install heat pumps across the development. Christopher Howard, case officer,
stated that condition 5 set out the requirements relating to electric vehicle charging.
Christopher added that it was up to the developer as to how they wished to install, or offer
up for installation, photovoltaic panels.
Stephen Conway queried whether thirty-five percent affordable housing would be delivered
on-site across the wider SDL. Christopher Howard stated that this application would
deliver twenty percent on-site affordable housing, and a monetary contribution for fifteen
percent off-site affordable housing, in line with the S106 agreement made at outline. The
off-site contribution would go towards affordable housing developments across the

6

Borough, an example of which could be seen at the Gorse Ride redevelopment. Connor
Corrigan, Service Manager - Planning and Delivery, clarified that it was agreed at outline
to allow off-site contributions towards affordable housing, and it was down to Wokingham
Borough Council (WBC) to decide where the off-site affordable houses should be
developed. Across the wider SDL, twenty percent of the homes would be affordable whilst
a contribution for the equivalent of fifteen percent affordable housing would be received in
line with the S106 agreement.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether all associated infrastructure relating to electric
vehicle charging including transformers would be installed at the point of development of
the site, queried whether the decision to provide twenty percent on-site affordable housing
was at the request of the developer or WBC, and queried whether a specific condition
should be included to secure a biodiversity net gain on-site. Judy Kelly, Highways
Development Manager, stated that it was not that onerous to install an electric vehicle
charging meter in a house. The electricity load would come off of the meter supply for that
home, and the load would be balanced. Standalone facilities such as a car park or spaces
on the highway, separate infrastructure would be required. It was conditioned for the
developer to set out in detail where the 43 active charging spaces and the 46 passive
spaces would be placed, whilst ensuring that infrastructure was in place prior to
commencement of works. Connor Corrigan stated that that WBC had taken the decision to
a portion of off-site affordable housing contributions. Connor added that biodiversity
improvements would be seen as a part of this development, and noted that the outline
application was approved prior to the requirements for developments to achieve a ten
percent biodiversity net gain. The overall SDL would achieve a biodiversity net gain, for
example via the provision of SANGs.
Pauline Jorgensen commented that she would like to know more details about the site to
work out what level of biodiversity net gain was achievable. Pauline queried what
protection would be given to the two mature oak trees which were proposed to be situated
near residential houses, and queried whether any protection could be given to require any
future HMOs on site to seek planning permission. Connor Corrigan stated that the mature
oak trees would have a root protection area and the site had a conditioned landscape
management plan. In addition, Connor stated that the Tree officer was content with the
proposals and it was not envisaged that there would be any ongoing issues. Justin Turvey,
Operational Manager – Development Management, Stated that at the moment a C3 to C4
conversion required no planning permission to create a small HMO, and there would have
to be a very good reason to restrict this on this site.
Angus Ross commented that until there was a policy change, electric vehicle charging and
biodiversity issues would continue to be a frustration for the Committee. Angus queried
whether payments for both SANGs and SAMM had been made at outline. Connor
Corrigan confirmed that the S106 agreement required these payments to come forward as
the site was developed.
Gary Cowan commented that it was difficult to condition when there was no specific policy
in place for some issues. Gary added that policy CP5 fixed thirty-five percent of affordable
houses for all of the SDLs, and he was not particularly in favour of reducing the on-site
provision of these affordable houses. Gary stated that he was overall supportive of this
application, and noted that the overall SDL site had good and regular communication
between the developers, residents and Town and Parish Councils.

7

Sam Akhtar sought details regarding to asbestos and lead contamination of the soil on
site. Connor Corrigan stated that this site was a former MOD site, and part of the outline
decision was for site surveys to be carried out. Asbestos and lead contaminated soil would
be transported to a licensed site, and replaced with new soil. A considerable amount of
work had been carried out to ensure that the site was safe for development and habitation.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey queried where the homes would be built using the off-site
affordable housing contribution. Connor Corrigan stated that the planning requirement was
to collect the contributions, and it was up to the WBC housing team to decide where the
money would be best spent.
RESOLVED That application number 211024 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 14 to 18.
25.

APPLICATION NO.210179 - SAND MARTINS GOLF CLUB, FINCHAMPSTEAD
ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Applicant: Sand Martins Golf Club Limited
Proposal: Full Planning application for the proposed part single, part two
storey side/rear extension to existing clubhouse, erection of a detached Hotel Building
comprising 39no. bedrooms, function rooms, kitchen and staff room, with car parking,
servicing, associated landscape enhancements and an electrical sub-station.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 47 to 82.
The Committee were advised that updates contained within the Supplementary Planning
agenda included a correction to the Wokingham Town Council comment, which the report
mistakenly stated that ‘Pedestrian and cycle access should be approved’, whereas it
should have correctly stated ‘improved’.
Peter Edwards, agent, spoke in support of the application. Peter stated that the club
owners maintained their unwavering desire to commit to the club despite national
lockdowns. An earlier proposal had been withdrawn, and the new design team had been
tasked to produce a proposals which would complement the existing golf club, diversify its
offer to provide financial resilience, provide facilities which would be beneficial to the wider
community, and provide landscaping and ecological requirements. Peter stated that the
original golf club had permission for a small hotel, which had kindled the idea for a venue
building to be run by the club to be used for weddings, conferences, small functions and
exhibitions. This venue building would be supported by high quality guest accommodation,
a bar, and breakfast room. Peter stated that a new high quality restraint was proposed
adjacent to the clubhouse, accessible to members and the wider community. Peter stated
that biodiversity net gains would be achieved across the site, and the proposals were
energy efficient ad of a high quality design. Electric vehicle charging and heat pumps
would also be provided where possible. Peter concluded by stating that photovoltaic
panels would be provided on the clubhouse, and the proposals had been well received by
the community.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether two vehicles could pass on the main access route to
and from the site, and queried whether a higher BREEAM rating should be applied to this
site as very good was the minimum standard for a public building. Mark Croucher, case
officer, stated that two vehicles could pass each other on the main access route to the site.

8

Mark added that whilst he was not sure whether this facility constituted a public building,
officers could not ask for more than the minimum BREEAM standard. Justin Turvey,
Operational Manager – Development Management, stated that condition 22 required the
site to meet the BREEAM ‘very good’ standard.
Sam Akhtar queried what was being done to ensure that bats were not adversely affected
by the proposed development. Mark Croucher stated that condition 17 related to this, and
the ecology officer had looked at this and was satisfied that the development would have
an acceptable impact on bats subject to condition 17. A license would also be required
from Natural England, which would look further into this issue, and as such officers were
confident that adequate protections for bats were in place.
Angus Ross queried whether all vehicles would be required to access the site via the
Finchampstead Road, and felt that the number of trees scheduled to be replaced should
be stated. Mark Croucher stated that it was not physically possible for vehicles to traverse
across the site from Evendons Lane, and therefore all access would be via Finchampstead
Road. Mark stated that the recommendation relating to tree replacements was borne out of
comments from the applicant’s agriculturalist, however there were no set numbers. There
would be numerous replacement trees on site, and officers were satisfied that the planting
would be maintained and the woodland planting would be strengthened.
Gary Cowan commented that is was very odd for planning officers to go against the tree
officer’s objection to this application. Gary added that he was unsure how many trees
would be removed, and felt that a condition should be required to ensure sufficient
replacement trees and suitable total foliage replacement. Mark Croucher stated that the
recommendation was not contrary to the tree officer’s objection, as officer agreed that
there was some harm as a result of the proposals. Mark added that planning officers had
to balance any harm against the benefits of the proposals. Mark felt that the landscape
management plan was an appropriate way of dealing with the replacement of trees in
appropriate locations.
Stephen Conway proposed an additional informative, asking the applicant to replace
equivalent tree foliage to that being removed. This proposals was seconded by Andrew
Mickleburgh, carried, and added to the list of informatives.
RESOLVED That application number 210179 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 48 to 53, and additional informative requesting
proportionate tree foliage replacement as resolved by the Committee.
26.

APPLICATION NO.211084 - HARE HATCH SHEEPLANDS, LONDON ROAD,
HARE HATCH
This item contains the substantive minutes for agenda items 26, 27, and 28. The
individual resolutions for each item are contained within their respective minute
item.
Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and therefore left
the room and took no part in either the discussion or vote.
Applicant: Hare Hatch Sheeplands
Proposal: Full Planning application for the proposed change of use from Horticulture use
to Exhibition Space (Use Class F1(e)) for the display of Haworthia and associated plants

9

The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 83 to 108.
The Committee were advised that updates contained within the Supplementary Planning
Agenda included:



Correction to condition 4 to include reference to other associated plants;
Clarification that the information contained within paragraph 6a was incorrect, and that
horticultural use was already being lawfully undertaken and that planning permission
was never enacted for this purpose.

David Hall, agent, spoke in support of application 211084, 211085, and 211086. David
stated that Hare Hatch Sheeplands (HHS) was a community minded business which had
uses comprising of a plant nursery, café, butchers, garden shop, space for community
events, and a farm shop. David added that HHS was a valued community asset, and the
site had been operating on a fully authorised basis since July 2017. David stated that the
horticultural business across the site had continued, however the horticultural industry in
general was still under pressure due to Covid-19 and Brexit, amongst other issues. David
stated that these issues and delays had interrupted the implementation of the temporary
permissions previously granted for the site, the purpose of which was to allow the
horticultural business to survive and develop whilst allowing sufficient time to review with
the Council the requirements for the business and future plans for the wider area. David
added that under these exceptional circumstances, the applications submitted were asking
for two additional years to allow the business to develop, whilst providing the applicant with
some certainty over the operations uses of the site, in line with the Inspector’s decision.
David stated that the enforcement notice and injunction remained in place, however they
did not prohibit ancillary activities to the plant nursery such as the holding of events.
Examples of the community focussed approach to the site included hosting flower shows,
children’s activities, activities relating to community events such as the RG10 front
gardens competition (Twyford in Bloom), and food and drink tasting events. David stated
that some of these events would take place during the winter when the greenhouses were
not in full growing use, supporting the enterprise during the off-season. David stated that
the applicant was disappointed that officers had only recommended a one year extension,
as opposed to the two year extension requested by the applicant. David was of the opinion
that a two year extension was seen to be a realistic approach to the timescale required for
the applicant to work on the business during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, whilst
simultaneously dealing with the consequences of Brexit. David felt that the suggestion that
the pandemic having had a duration, currently, of 16 months equated to a similar
timeframe for these operations for the business to restore itself to its pre-Covid trading
pattern was unrealistic. David stated that the pandemic had not gone away, and the effects
of both Covid-19 and Brexit would have ongoing effects which would make a one year
extension an unrealistic period of time to develop the business sufficiently. Relating to
application 211085, David was of the opinion that there was no planning justification for
inserting condition 3e, since the application did not propose the sale of goods by retail.
David added that it was a fact that no food or drink sales had been made from the events
area, and any food or drink consumed in the area had been bought from the café or
brought in by people visiting the events. Relating to application 211086, David raised
concerns relating to proposed condition 3 as this was not required by the inspector at the
appeal decision. David added that the Inspector had recognised the garden shop was
required to help the horticultural business grow, and to allow a review of future plans for
the site, and not to make a horticultural use viable. David was of the opinion that this

10

condition pre-supposed that a viable horticultural use was possible within the next year,
which was a complete unknown and it was difficult to see how they would be achieved via
an enforceable condition. David stated that it was not possible at the outset to comply with
this condition, as the site operated lawful and permanent retail floor space within the farm
shop. David asked that Members review the reasonability of the aforementioned
conditions. David added that the applicant looked forward to continuing discussions with
the Council on a strategy for moving the business forward in a comprehensive way, within
the Council’s policy and green belt framework.
Frank Moore, resident, submitted a statement in support of this applicant which was read
out by Councillor Angus Ross. Frank stated that he was disappointed to read the proposed
limitations being place on applications 211084, 211085, and 211086. Frank was of the
opinion that the proposed limitations had no relevance to the plans encompassed within
the applications, and in many cases some of the comments were completely incorrect.
Frank was of the opinion that Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) was trying to ‘get their
own back’ on HHS, having lost a significant court case against them in the Court of Appeal
in 2019. Frank reminded Members that Her Honour Lady Justice Hallett had stated that
prosecution proceedings brought by WBC were unfair and an abuse of process. Frank felt
that many of the added comments were in the same vain, and Frank strongly urged
Members to ignore the added comments and simply appraise the applications correctly as
submitted.
Chris Bowring queried whether condition 3e relating to application 211085 was a
duplication of condition 3g. Simon Taylor, case officer, stated that 3e was a carryover of
the original permission, and referenced the previous permission with regards to restricting
retail sale in the events space. 3g strengthened and expanded upon 3e, and was
specifically relating to events only.
Chris Bowring queried whether condition 3 relating to application 211086, requirement of a
business plan, was not required by the Inspector. Simon Taylor stated that the Inspector
had given three primary reasons for permission to be granted; to allow the business to
grow, to allow time for review of the future intentions of the site, and to review the impact
on the green belt and the countryside. WBC’s view was that the temporary permission
would not be continued unless they were satisfied that a viable business was operating
without the retail use being there. Simon added that the Council would only be satisfied of
this if there was a sound financial basis behind any submitted evidence.
Stephen Conway commented that this site had a long and complex planning history, and
the appeal decision had allowed the applicant until 2022 to use the site as permitted.
Stephen added that when permission was granted, Brexit and Covid-19 were not issues,
and Stephen felt that it was ungenerous to only allow an additional year given these
factors. Stephen was of the opinion that permission should be granted for all three
applications until 14 March 2024, to balance the local community need and the harm
caused. Simon Taylor stated that the exhibition space was considered for a one year
permission to tie in with the other applications, the events use recognised that some
events had been taking place through the periods of lockdown, whilst the temporary use
for the purpose of retail had remained open for most of the lockdown period,
demonstrating that the retail use within the nursery had been operating fairly successfully
as had the farm shop. Simon added that weighing up all of the factors, a one year
extension seemed entirely appropriate to officers.

11

Andrew Mickleburgh echoed the concerns and suggestions raised by Stephen Conway.
Andrew queried why the permission being recommended for application 211084 was for
one year when three years were being sought, queried whether there was a quantifiable
reason to justify only a one year permission, and queried whether the length of any
extension would have any bearing on any future planning application for this site, for
example an application for permanent permission. Simon Taylor stated that the exhibition
use was proposed for three years, commencing from today, and running through to 2024.
This would have resulted in the permission extending for around six months longer than
the other two applications. Simon added that it was a material change of use to include
class F, which was contrary to green belt policy. A three year extension was seen as
excessive as it was a horticultural nursery, and one year seemed reasonable, partly to
align this permission to the other permissions. Simon stated that the retail use and the
events use had almost seven months left on their permission, and an additional twelve
months was proposed to allow a business plan to be developed to demonstrate their future
intensions and use. Some discussions had occurred outside of the planning process
regarding future intentions for the use, which had not been acceptable to WBC as of yet.
Simon commented that the primary use of the site remained horticultural, and felt that
these extensions did not set a precedent for a permanent garden centre or other such
business.
Chris Bowring was of the opinion that at the time of the application the Inspector would
have been aware of Brexit, and therefore felt that the Committee should focus on the effect
that the pandemic has had on this site.
Angus Ross was of the opinion that it was best to apply the same end date for all three
applications for the sake of consistency, and to avoid confusion. Angus was of the opinion
that if these applications were allowed until 2024, it would be harder to refute any potential
future application for permanent use if they were deemed to cause harm. Angus stated
that he saw no reason to go against any of the officer recommendations.
Pauline Jorgensen queried how long it would take to prove that a successful horticultural
business could exist with some other supporting ancillary uses. Simon Taylor stated that it
was the Inspector’s intent to grant temporary permission to hopefully allow the horticultural
business to stand on its own without a retail element. There had been incremental growth
of the use of the site over a long period of time. Simon added that WBC had some
hesitancy to maintain the temporary periods, as the intentions of the applicant had not
been clear over an extended period of time.
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey was of the opinion that the planning history for this site was
very complex. Rachelle added that, in her opinion, a one year extension seemed to be
reasonable given the unforeseen circumstances faced by the applicant.
Stephen Conway was of the opinion that the Inspector could not have known the full
details of Brexit, and the Committee had to consider whether it was reasonable to only
grant a one year extension when the applicant had already faced 16 months of disruptions.
Stephen was of the opinion that allowing temporary permission until 2024 for all three of
the applications provided a balanced decision, and maintained control for WBC.
Justin Turvey, Operational Manager – Development Management, commented that
officers were conscious of the difficulties that the business had faced, whilst also being
conscious that part of the business had been open for some of the lockdown period. Justin
added that the Inspector had felt that this development was inappropriate development

12

within the green belt. The view of officers was that this additional year was a reasonable
compromise as it would end in 2023, given that the Inspectors decision was made in 2019.
Stephen Conway proposed that condition 1 be amended for application number 211084, to
amend the terminal date from 14 March 2023 to 14 March 2024. This proposals was
seconded by Andrew Mickleburgh, and upon being put to the vote the amendment fell.
Stephen Conway stated that in the spirit of keeping the all three applications in line with
each other with the same terminal date, he would not propose amendments to either of the
further applications.
RESOLVED That application number 211084 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 83 to 85, and correction to condition 4 as set out
within the Supplementary Planning Agenda.
27.

APPLICATION NO.211085 - HARE HATCH SHEEPLANDS, LONDON ROAD,
HARE HATCH
Item 26 contains the substantive minutes for agenda items 26, 27, and 28. The
individual resolutions for each item are contained within their respective minute
item.
Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and therefore left
the room and took no part in either the discussion or vote.
Applicant: Hare Hatch Sheeplands
Proposal: Application to vary condition 1 of planning consent 192018 for the Full
application for the Change of Use of three existing nursery glasshouses into events area
relating to the existing nursery. Condition 1 refers to temporary permission and the
variation is to extend temporary permission for two years.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 109 to 130.
The Committee were advised that updates contained within the Supplementary Planning
Agenda included:




Amended condition 3, in order to carry over part (iv) of the types of events allowed
within the permission;
Clarification that the information contained within paragraph 7a was incorrect, and that
horticultural use was already being lawfully undertaken and that planning permission
was never enacted for this purpose;
Correction to paragraph 5 to correctly refer to application number 211084 as the
correct application for the exhibition space.

RESOLVED That application number 211085 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 110 to 112, and amendment to condition 3 as set
out within the Supplementary Planning Agenda.
28.

APPLICATION NO.211086 - HARE HATCH SHEEPLANDS, LONDON ROAD,
HARE HATCH

13

Item 26 contains the substantive minutes for agenda items 26, 27, and 28. The
individual resolutions for each item are contained within their respective minute
item.
Bill Soane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and therefore left
the room and took no part in either the discussion or vote.
Applicant: Hare Hatch Sheeplands
Proposal: Full application for the continued use of existing sales area
permitted temporarily under 173316 and change of use to include an additional sales area.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 131 to 170.
The Committee were advised that updates contained within the Supplementary Planning
Agenda included:



Clarification that the information contained within paragraph 6a was incorrect, and that
horticultural use was already being lawfully undertaken and that planning permission
was never enacted for this purpose;
Correction to paragraph 10 to correctly refer to application number 211085 as the
correct application for the extension of the temporary permission for events use.

RESOLVED That application number 211086 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 132 to 134.
29.

APPLICATION NO.210693 - READING BLUE COAT SCHOOL, HOLME PARK,
SONNING
Applicant: Mr Simon Jackson
Proposal: Application to vary condition 13 of 170118 and F/2010/1641 for the erection of
a two-storey classroom block, construction of an internal access road (part temporary part
permanent) and erection of two temporary buildings containing 4 classrooms following
demolition of three existing classroom buildings. Condition 13 refers to pupils enrolled at
the school and the variation is to allow for up to 1,100 pupils to be enrolled at the school
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 171 to 200.
The Committee were advised that updates contained within the Supplementary Planning
Agenda included:





Correction to the recommendation set out on agenda page 172, which should refer to
the grant of planning permission of planning application 210693;
Clarification that the AM peak was in relation to school arrivals in the morning between
7AM and 9AM;
Clarification that the maximum additional vehicle movements referenced within
paragraph 25 was the absolute maximum, and the real number was likely substantially
lower across the two hour arrival period;
Additional clarification of paragraphs 26 and 27, relating to vehicle movements from
different routes to the school.

14

Trefor Fisher, Sonning Parish Council, spoke in support of the application. Trefor stated
that Sonning Parish Council strongly objected to this application, as whilst residents were
pleased to accommodate the school within the Parish, there was concern relating to issues
including the traffic associated with the school. Previous planning applications had
restricted pupil numbers to 750, and later to 825. The reasons for these restrictions were
mainly due to highway safety and to congestion. Trefor stated that an enrolment of the
proposed 1100 pupils compared to the 785 currently on roll would represent a forty
percent increase, subsequently leading to a forty percent increase in traffic, congestion,
and pollution. Trefor added that at school arrival and departure time, the section of
Sonning Lane adjacent to the school entrance became gridlocked. Trefor added that local
residents and commuters would avoid this area and take other routes due to this
congestion. Trefor stated that the traffic survey accompanying the application focussed on
the junctions of Sonning Lane and the A4, showing thirty-eight percent of school traffic
went via this junction. Trefor added that the survey therefore failed to recognise that sixtytwo percent of traffic travelled via the Pearson Road in Sonning, which was a narrow road
with parking along its length. Trefor was of the opinion that the suggestion that a forty
percent increase in school traffic was nonsensical. Trefor added that the increase in pupil
numbers would place additional pressures on existing infrastructure, including the
drainage and sewage systems, whereby the drains within the school site already
experienced blockages with current pupil numbers. Trefor stated that approval of this
application was subject for approval to a separate application for an extension of the car
park at Berkshire County Sports Club. Sonning Parish Council had also objected to this
application, on the grounds that it involved the loss of another area of green space, when
other pre-existing tarmacked areas could be used instead. Trefor stated that the site of the
school west of Sonning Lane was adjacent to Holme Park Farm, which had recently been
added to consideration for the Local Plan Update. Trefor was of the opinion that for both
this application for the school expansion in conjunction with any future application for
housing at Holme Farm would be a disaster for the Village of Sonning. Trefor concluded by
stating that consultation was a two way process, and it was not currently happening for this
and other applications.
Christopher Wickham, agent, spoke in support of the application. Christopher stated that
there was a strong demand for school places in the area, and co-educational provision.
Christopher stated that the school had engaged proactively with Wokingham Borough
Council (WBC), and cited national policy guidance which placed great weight on the need
to expand schools. The application had been subject to rigorous assessment by WBC
highways officers, and the school believed that the issues of highways impact, car parking
capacity, and sustainable travel measures were fully supportable. Christopher stated that
traffic surveys had shown that the additional traffic generated by the proposals in the AM
peak hour, both coming north through Sonning village and south via the A4 junction was
within entirely acceptable limits. This was in part due to the staggered starts of staff and
pupils, in addition to the success of the managed drop off facilities that the school had
provided on site. Christopher stated that during the 8.15AM to 8.30AM peak would amount
in the worst case to one additional vehicle via Sonning Lane to the north. Christopher
added that the historic issue of car parking along Sonning Lane had been addressed via
the implementation of double yellow line restrictions and by the drop off lane which the
school had constructed. Christophe stated that the detailed analysis within the report
showed that the overall proposed level of off street parking would meet the Council’s
parking standards, whilst other proposed conditions would cover parking management and
the provision of cycle parking. The school had an established travel plan which was
regularly updated, and the school also used a network of privately managed bus networks,

15

which was due to be expanded further, whilst parking and turning of these bus services
was provided off of the highway. Christopher concluded by stating that cycle parking and
electric vehicle charging points were also proposed, and requested that the Committee
approve the application.
Michael Firmager, Ward Member, spoke in objection to the application. Michael stated that
he was not in any way against the increase in education opportunities, as these should be
the right of everyone if they so wished. Michael was of the opinion that this application
would have a considerable on the traffic and pollution levels in Sonning, and in particular
along the Sonning Lane and Pearson Road. Michael added that these roads were
especially congested with parked cars, and as a result they were extremely tight for
vehicles to navigate around. Michael stated that there had been a steady increase in pupil
numbers over the years, and noted that even with car sharing and bus travel methods, the
increase in pupils would lead to a large number of additional vehicles using the already
congested roads in and around Sonning. Michael stated that the extension of car parking
at the Berkshire County Sports Club was not in and of itself a bad idea, however it would
still lead to more vehicle movements in and around Sonning’s roads. Michael reiterated his
view that this application would increase congestion and pollution in surrounding area,
whilst also increasing the risk of accidents within the surrounding area.
Angus Ross queried why only some schools had a limit on total pupil numbers, queried
what tests had been carried out to evidence that the proposals were acceptable in terms of
congestion and pollution, and queried what guarantees were there that the Berkshire
County Sports car park would allow parking for the school beyond their current long term
lease. Simon Taylor, case officer, stated that capping pupil numbers by condition was a
recent trend. Relating to the car parking, Simon stated that the lease agreement was in
place until 2040, and condition 18 tried to tie the lease to this application. Judy Kelly,
Highways Development Manager, stated that the modal split data came from the school
travel plan, which provided detailed data. A survey had been carried out at the junction,
and showed that the worst case scenario was the queue increasing from one vehicle to
four vehicles, which was not a high level nor at capacity. Any increase of queueing in this
manner would be temporary and limited by the nature of the peak school drop-off and
pickup time periods.
Angus Ross commented that only thirty-eight percent of the traffic was shown to use the
A4 junction, with the rest of the traffic travelling via Pearson Road. Angus sought
clarification regarding the traffic which was not using the A4 junction. Judy Kelly stated that
the traffic was split in three directions, with the flow of vehicles using the Sonning Lane
junction shown to be the highest of the three different directions of travel. When assessing
the performance of a junction, officers looked at the direction of most vehicle flow as that
was the junction which was most likely to struggle. Having been assessed, the A4 junction
had shown a maximum additional queue of three vehicles in the AM peak drop off time,
which was considered acceptable.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried why the percentage increase of pupils had been carried out
from the current maximum number of pupils being 850 rather than the number of pupils
currently on roll, queried whether it was possible for to guarantee use of the Berkshire
County Sports Club in perpetuity, and commented that the issue of congestion was not just
due to the number of additional vehicles but also the nature of the roads. Simon stated that
the thirty-three percent increase in pupil numbers was based on the existing approval, and
was not a traffic based assessment. Simon stated that the use of the car park could not be
changed, and if it were to change it would be anticipated that an alternative arrangement

16

would come forward prior to any change occurring. Simon added that the dual-use nature
of the car park was a positive for outcome for the Sports Club. In relation to the nature of
the roads, Judy Kelly stated that the Highways officer would have carried out a site visit at
the school peak hour in order to identify any potential issues. There were very strict rules
in relation to the input of geometric dimensions of the road and junction within the software
used, and needed to include the visibility splays from all directions. Judy added that the
additional vehicles using the road would be cars and not oversized vehicles.
Bill Soane sought assurances that the completion of the car park was a prerequisite to
increase of the maximum pupil numbers. Bill commented that he had great concerns in
relation to the safety of Sonning Lane and the A4, which included a very dangerous right
turn off of the junction in his opinion. Bill added that any form of traffic control would be of
benefit to the area, and commented that he had attended a large funeral locally recently
which had caused the village area to become gridlocked. Justin Turvey, Operational
Manager – Development Management, confirmed that condition 13 required completion of
the planning application for extension of the car parking area prior to the school increasing
their maximum pupil numbers.
Stephen Conway commented that he had personal experience with this section of road at
the school drop-off time, and added that there was also a nursery next to the school.
Stephen was of the opinion that this application would add to the congestion issues on the
road, but added that Members had to be guided by the technical recommendation which
was based off of data.
Pauline Jorgensen noted that there was a low number of pupils cycling to the school, and
queried whether officers had engaged with the school to understand what the barriers
were to children cycling to and from school. Judy Kelly stated that the school had a travel
plan which was due to be updated in six months’ time, and part of this process involved
consulting with the school and wider community to understand what barriers to cycling
were present.
Pauline Jorgensen proposed an additional informative, encouraging the school to work
with the Local Authority to increase the amount of cycling to and from the school. This
proposal was seconded by Chris Bowring, carried, and added to the list of informatives.
RESOLVED That application number 210693 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 172 to 177, reference to the correct planning
application number of 210693 as contained within the Supplementary planning Agenda,
and additional informative encouraging the school to work with the Local Authority to
increase the amount of cycling to and from the school as resolved by the Committee.
30.
APPLICATION NO.211754 - 25 CAMELLIA WAY, WOKINGHAM
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item
and therefore left the room and took no part in either the discussion or vote.
Applicant: Dr Robert Koefman
Proposal: Full application for the proposed change of use of the site from residential (Use
Class C3) to a mixed use of residential and a beauty salon (Use Class Sui Generis)
(Retrospective).

17

The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in agenda
pages 201 to 216.
The Committee were advised that there were no updates within the Supplementary
Planning Agenda.
John Walsh, neighbour, spoke in objection to the application. John stated that he had been
subject to a campaign of harassment from the business owner and neighbours. John
added that his wife had been subject to several verbal onslaughts on her own doorstep.
John stated that there were only three formal parking bays at number 25, as the modified
garage was too small to accommodate any vehicle. John added that he had submitted
photographs, land registry maps, title deeds, and a solicitor’s letter confirming that that he
had driveway ownership and intended use. John added that after considering the vehicles
owned by number 25, there were no formal bays left for use by either the intended clients
or business owner. John stated that prior to the business operating, the closest public
viewpoint into his property was 25m away at the end of the driveway, and the closest
pedestrian walkway route was closer to 40m away. John was of the opinion that there was
therefore a significant reduction in privacy, as the nearest window of his property to the
business entrance was only 3m distance, and his family’s privacy was particularly
important to them during the evening and weekends when the children were at home and
adults were not working. John was of the opinion that the business operator had not been
adhering to any planning rules, whilst operating outside of the proposed hours and client
volume contained within the planning application, whilst the published opening hours on
social media did not align with those on the application. John asked the Committee to
consider how the operating conditions would be enforced by Wokingham Borough Council
(WBC), should this application be approved. John stated that whilst his preference was for
the business to relocate somewhere more suitable, he hoped that the Committee could at
least consider additional conditions, including restricting opening hours to 9-5 on
weekdays and excluding all weekends and bank holidays, use of an alternative business
entrance point such as the property front door or rear gate, and finally asked that the
driveway forecourt was not used by the business operator or client parking during the
agreed business hours.
Matthew Miller, agent, spoke in support of the application. Matthew stated that this was a
retrospective application as the applicant had not realised that permission was required,
and had applied for permission as soon as they were advised to do so. Matthew stated
that the business operated on an appointment only basis with a maximum of four clients
per day within strictly enforced hours of operation. Matthew added that this application
would meet WBC’s parking standards, and commented that the neighbouring property at
number 23 did not have sole right of access. Matthew commented that the planning
authority had to take into account any fall-back position that could be adopted, which in
this case would be that a similar business could be lawfully operated without the need for
planning permission by the owners of number 25 rather than the daughter who did not
reside at the address. Matthew concluded by stating that the application confirmed with
both local and national planning policy as a whole, as was a fully sustainable development
which also brought about a degree of economic benefit. Matthew asked that the
Committee approve this application.
Imogen Shepherd DuBey, Ward Member, commented on the application. Imogen stated
that Councillor Rachel Bishop-Firth had listed this application to the Committee due to
concerns relating to potential noise and disturbances to residents in the area including
neighbouring properties. Imogen stated that she was not against this type of business,

18

however ground rules needed to be in place to ensure that businesses did not cause any
problems for neighbours or local residents. Imogen asked the Committee to listen to both
the applicant and local residents, and agree a framework whereby all parties could
understand and live with.
Andrew Mickleburgh queried whether the safety of children in relation to additional vehicle
movements had been considered, queried officers view on the entrance for the business
coming off of the public footpath along Bob’s Copse, queried what test was applied to
determine that the business use was incidental to the residential use of the main dwelling,
and queried whether a condition to exclude all weekend and bank holiday trading was
reasonable. Senjuti Manna, case officer, stated that officers had visited the site and felt
that the front garden was small and not really large enough for children to play in. Senjuti
added that use of the footpath for access would change the nature of the application.
Relating to ancillary use, Senjuti stated that planning permission would not be required if
the business operator lived at the address, and officers felt that the overall use of the
business was ancillary to the residential nature of the dwelling. Senjuti stated that
condition 3 stated that the business could not operate on Sundays or bank holidays, and
permission to operate between 10AM and 4PM on a Saturday was considered reasonable.
Stephen Conway stated that operation of the business on Saturdays could have an effect
on residential amenity, however not allowing it could be of detriment to the business.
Stephen queried whether it was reasonable to allow use of the business between the
prescribed hours of 10AM and 4PM on Saturdays. Justin Turvey, Operational Manager –
Development Management, stated that only four appointments were allowed on a
Saturday, with a thirty minute gap between appointments, and as such officers had
deemed this acceptable.
Stephen Conway commented that residents could contact the WBC enforcement team if
they had any concerns relating to breach of conditions in the future.
RESOLVED That application number 211754 be approved, subject to conditions and
informatives as set out in agenda pages 202 to 203.

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 35.
Application
Number
211772

Expiry Date

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Reds 10 (on behalf of the Department for Education)
Land at Winnersh Farm, Woodward Close, Wokingham
Full application for the construction of a new 150 place Special
Educational Needs school with associated access, parking and
landscaping.
Full
Sophie Morris
for Major application
by

Type
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

Parish

EXT

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Ward
Winnersh;

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 September 2021
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The application site relates to land located off Woodward Close in Winnersh, which
forms part of an area of agricultural land known as ‘Winnersh Farm’. The parish of
Winnersh is located approximately 5km to the north-west of Wokingham town centre
and about 1km from Winnersh rail station. The site is located outside of the Winnersh
settlement boundary, is not currently an allocated site and as such it is located within
the countryside.
The proposals seek full planning permission for the construction of a new 150 place
Special Educational Needs (SEN) School which would be accessed via a newly
proposed access road off Woodward Close.
In terms of the principle of the development, the NPPF is clear that where a
development does not result in significant harm and is sustainable, it should be
supported. The borough has a pressing and established need for a Special Educational
Needs (SEN) school to serve both Wokingham and also Reading borough, which is set
out in detail within Executive reports of 31st January 2019 and 24th September 2020.
The Council has a statutory duty to provide appropriate education for children with
special educational needs. These reports clearly demonstrate a requirement for a SEN
provision to meet these statutory needs, both in terms of insufficient existing local
capacity and the associated costs with facilitating out of borough provision. They further
demonstrate that the need for SEN spaces is continuing to rise. Having regards to the
exceptions criteria of adopted Policy CP11 it is considered that in this instance, the
proposals demonstrate that exception criteria (6) would be met. It should be noted also
that finding a suitable location for a new school, especially a SEN school is challenging
and this location is considered to offer the most appropriate site available within the
borough. The principal of the development is therefore considered to be supported by
the current adopted local plan Policy CP11.
Officers consider that the overall proposed layout, design, scale and external
appearance of the building would be appropriate to its intended use, whilst respecting
the character and appearance of the surrounding area. Existing trees and hedgerows
are sought to be retained where possible, and where tree removals are proposed, the

21

proposed landscaping scheme will provide suitable mitigation. It should be noted that
the two most significant large oak trees on the site will be retained. Through the
adoption of energy efficiency and renewable energy technologies in the design of the
building, CO2 emissions are proposed to be reduced in excess of current policy
requirements and in line with national standards for new schools.
The site is also considered to be located in a sustainable location whereby bus and rail
services are within walking distance to the site, as mentioned the site is about 1km
from the Winnersh station and good bus services are located on Reading Road. The
application given its scale, would also not result in harmful impacts to the highway
network. The development proposals are therefore considered to be sustainable, and
would offer significant public benefit to help meet an identified need for an SEN school
provision in the area. It would also not result in significant impacts upon existing
neighbouring amenities.
There are no other material planning considerations of significant weight that would
dictate that the application should be refused in line with the NPPF. Officers are
therefore recommending the application for approval, subject to the conditions listed.

PLANNING STATUS
 Countryside
 Groundwater protection zone
 GC Newt Consultation Zone
 Landscape Character Assessment
 Ordinary Watercourse Consultation Zone
 Tree Preservation Orders
 Minerals Site Consultation Area
 Contaminated land consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the
following conditions and informatives:
Conditions:
1. Commencement
The development of the development herby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004).
2. Approved Details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
outlined below. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
List of drawings to be approved will be provided as part of the members update

22

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)
Prior to commencement of development hereby permitted, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. Construction of the development shall not be
carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved CEMP. The CEMP shall
include the following matters:
i) a construction travel protocol or Green Travel Plan for the construction phase
including details of parking and turning for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and
visitors;
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii) storage of plant and materials;
iv) programme of works, including measures for traffic management and operating
hours (including details relating to the avoidance of HGV arriving/departing from the
the site during drop off-pick up hours of the adjacent school;
v) piling techniques;
vi) provision of boundary hoarding and lighting;
vii) protection of important trees, hedgerows and other natural features;
viii) relevant ecological mitigation measures for protected species (bats, birds,
reptiles)
ix) Invasive non-native species strategy
x)Control of rats and other vermin particularly during site clearance
xi) protection of the aquatic environment in terms of water quantity and quality;
xii) details of proposed means of dust suppression and noise mitigation;
xiii) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during
construction;
xiv) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings.
These facilities shall be sited away from woodland areas;
xv) lighting on site during construction;
xvi) measures to ensure no on-site fires during construction;
xvii) monitoring and review mechanisms;
xviii) implementation of the CEMP through an environmental management system;
xix) details of the haul routes to be used to access the development;
xx) details of temporary surface water management measures to be provided during
the construction phase;
xxi) details of the excavation of materials and the sub-surface construction
methodology; and
xxii) appointment of a Construction Liaison Officer
Reason: To protect occupants of nearby dwellings from noise and disturbance
during the construction period, in the interest of highway safety and convenience
and to minimise the environmental impact of the construction phase in accordance
with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP6 and CP7 and
TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy, and ODPM circular
2006/05.

23

4. Hours of operation
No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of ground
clearance or preparation prior to commencement of construction operations shall
take place other than between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 hours Monday to
Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank
or National Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC06.
5. Allotment access
Prior to restricting the existing access to the Winnersh allotments, details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate
how access to the allotments will be made continually available for the duration of
the construction period. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: to ensure comprehensive planning of the site to ensure the timely delivery
of facilities and services and to protect the amenity of the area in accordance with
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP2, CP3.
6. Samples of Materials
Prior to commencement of development above finished floor level, samples and
details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in accordance
with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
7. Levels
No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan
prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of existing and proposed
finished ground levels (in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, and
the approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the
building(s).
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to
surrounding buildings and landscape. Relevant policy: NPPF and Core Strategy
policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Deliver Local Plan Policy TB21.
8. Lighting
Details of external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority before the development is occupied. The details shall
include location, height, type and direction of light sources and intensity of
illumination for all external lighting strategies including details of lighting for all
highways, cycleways, footpaths and public areas.

24

The lighting details submitted shall include a “lighting design strategy for
biodiversity” for light sensitive species and shall:
a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and
that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their resting places or along
important routes used to access key area of their territory, for example for
foraging; and
b) Show how and where external lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species
using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting places.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
maintained thereafter. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting
be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests
of providing a functional, accessible, safe and high-quality development and to
maintain favourable conservation status of the site for protected species and
species of principal importance. Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3, CP6, CP7 and TB23.
9. Highway Construction details
Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of
roads, cycleways, footways and access to the allotments, including levels, widths,
construction materials, depths of construction, surface water drainage and lighting
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall not be occupied until the vehicle access to the school has
been constructed in accordance with the approved details to road base level and
the final wearing course will be provided within 3 months of first use, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests
of providing a functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
10. Details of boundary walls and fences
Prior to commencement of development above finished floor level, details of all
boundary treatment(s) including details of gates and height barriers shall first be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented prior occupation of the development. The
scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so long as the development
remains on the site unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway safety. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6

25

11. Landscaping
Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished
floor levels or contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle
and pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor
artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage
units, signs, lighting, external services, etc.)
Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification (including
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment),
schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the
next planting season with others of species, size and number as originally
approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to maintain favourable
conservation status of the site for protected species and species of principal
importance. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3, CP7 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03, TB21 & TB23
12. Landscape Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development, a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales
and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape management
plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory
maintenance of the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and
TB21.
13. Retention of trees and shrubs
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on the
approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in
any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning authority;
any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the
development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants
of similar size and species unless the local planning authority gives written consent
to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity

26

value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
14. Protection of trees
a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the Approved
Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be implemented in
complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration of the
development (including, unless otherwise provided by the Approved Scheme)
demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works,
soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other
operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery.
b)
No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works,
soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other
operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall
commence until the local planning authority has been provided (by way of a
written notice) with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the
implementation of the measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site.
c)
No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise
protected in the Approved Scheme.
d)
The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall
not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including
external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning
authority has first been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site
which are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local
planning authority that the necessary measures are in place before development
and other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
15. Aged and Veteran Tree Strategy
Prior to commencement of the development, a detailed veteran and aged tree
mitigation strategy shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Council. The
strategy shall include details of all the tree works that are required to maintain the
trees ecological value. The management plans should cover a period of 10 years
from the commencement of development. The mitigation strategy shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in
writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To secure the suitable protection of aged and veteran trees and to allow
for verification by the local planning authority that the necessary measures are in
place before development and other works commence. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies
CC03 and TB21.

27

16. No works affecting Tree T40 shall commence until a licence for development
works affecting bats has been obtained from the Statutory Nature Conservation
Organisation (Natural England) and a copy has been submitted to the local
planning authority. Thereafter mitigation measures approved in the licence shall
be maintained in accordance with the approved details. Should conditions at the
site for bats change and / or the applicant conclude that a licence for development
works affecting bats is not required, the applicant is to submit a report to the
council detailing the reasons for this assessment and this report is to be approved
in writing by the local planning authority prior to commencement of works.
Reason:To ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Section 41 NERC Act
re. UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Species (Species of Principal Importance),
and complies with Planning Policies for Wildlife including CP7 of the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy (2010), and the National Planning Policy Framework
which requires consideration of the potential biodiversity gains that can be
secured within developments
17. Reptile Mitigation Strategy
Prior to the commencement of development, an updated reptile mitigation
strategy shall be submitted to the local authority for its approval. The strategy
shall include details of a translocation closing off report to be submitted to the
LPA, together with the long-term management and maintenance responsibilities
for the proposed receptor site.
Reason: To ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Section 41 NERC Act
re. UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Species (Species of Principal Importance),
and complies with Planning Policies for Wildlife including CP7 of the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy (2010), and the National Planning Policy Framework
which requires consideration of the potential biodiversity gains that can be
secured within developments.
18. Biodiversity Enhancement (Species)
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in line with the
enhancement measures detailed within submitted soft landscaping plans 2093MAC-XX-XX-DR-L-00011 to 00014 Rev P4.
Reason: To ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Section 41 NERC Act
re. UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Species (Species of Principal Importance),
and complies with Planning Policies for Wildlife including CP7 of the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy (2010), and the National Planning Policy Framework
which requires consideration of the potential biodiversity gains that can be
secured within developments.
19. Biodiversity Enhancement (Habitats)
No development shall commence until a scheme for the offsetting of biodiversity
impacts at the site has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The offsetting scheme shall include:
-

Details of the offset requirements of the development (in accordance with the
recognised offsetting Defra metric 2.0); and

28

-

The provision of arrangements (including any financial contributions) to secure
the delivery of the offsetting measures;
The written approval of the LPA shall not be issued before the arrangements
necessary to secure the delivery of the off-setting measures have been executed.
Reason: to ensure the proposal accords with paras 174 and 180 of the NPPF.
20. Community Use
Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the proposed
community use of the school hall and external pitch facilities shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include
arrangements for hours of use and management responsibilities. The
development shall not be used at any time other than in compliance with the
approved agreement.
Reason: To secure well managed community facilities, and to protect the amenity
of the area and to ensure that the development is not unneighbourly in
accordance with Core Strategy Policies CP1,CP2, CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.
21. School Travel Plan
Within 6 months of the commencement of the school, an updated Travel Plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
travel plan shall include a programme of implementation and proposals to
promote alternative forms of transport to and from the site, other than by private
car and provide for periodic review (every 12 months). The travel plan shall be
permanently implemented as agreed.
Reason: To ensure the provision of sustainable transport measures in
accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP6 and
CP21.
22. Parking (as approved)
No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved
plans. The vehicle parking spaces shall be permanently maintained and remain
available for the parking of vehicles at all times.
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 &
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
23. Parking Management Strategy
Prior to the first occupation of the site, a Parking Management Strategy for the
management and monitoring of the on-site parking as well as the management of
the drop-off and pick-up area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The submitted Parking Management Strategy shall
include details to ensure that deliveries and servicing to the site do not take place
in the car park during school drop off or pick up times. The management of the
parking within the site shall be in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

29

Reason: to ensure satisfactory development in the interests of amenity and
highway safety in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies
CP1, CP6 and CP21.

24. Cycle and Scooter Parking
Prior to the first occupation of the site, details of secure and covered cycle and
scooter storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of (and visitors to) the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The cycle and scooter storage/ parking shall be implemented in
accordance with such details as may be approved before occupation of the
development hereby permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the
approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
25. Electric Vehicle Charging
Prior to the first occupation of the site, details of the proposed Electric Vehicle
Charging points serving the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Electric Vehicle Charging points shall
be implemented in accordance with such details as may be approved before
occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be permanently
retained in the approved form for the charging of electric vehicles and used for no
other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
Energy and Sustainability
26. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
energy efficiency and renewable energy measures as set out within the submitted
Delap & Waller Oak Tree Special Educational Needs School Sustainability and
Energy statement dated 28th April 2021 ref: 21/029; unless otherwise approved in
writing by the LPA. The identified measures shall be implemented prior to the
occupation of the buildings.
Reason: In order to ensure the development contributes towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. Relevant Policy: Core
Strategy Policy CP1, MDDLP policies CC04 and CC05; Sustainable Design and
Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010).
Refuse and recycling
27. The internal and external spaces for the storage of refuse and recyclable
materials for the development hereby approved shall be provided prior to
occupation.

30

Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the storage of recyclables
in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1 and CC04 of
the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014), the Sustainable
Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document and the North
Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011).
28. Flood Risk and Drainage
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
submitted ‘Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy’ produced by Design ID
(document reference 2093-DID-XX-XX-RP-C-1010 Rev P04 dated 23.08.2021).
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
29. Contamination
(a) If contamination is found at any time during site clearance, groundwork and
construction, the discovery shall be reported as soon as possible to the local
planning authority. A full contamination risk assessment shall be carried out and if
found to be necessary, a ‘remediation method statement’ shall be submitted to the
local planning authority for written approval. Should no evidence of contamination
be found during the development a statement to that effect shall be submitted to the
local planning authority
(b)Works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved ‘remediation method
statement’ (submitted to comply with condition 20) and a final validation report shall
be submitted to the local planning authority upon completion of remedial works.
Reason: To ensure that any contamination of the site is identified at the outset
to
allow remediation to protect amenity of the site and adjacent land. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 11 (Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment) and Core
Strategy policies CP1 & CP3.
30. Plant noise
Noise from externally mounted plant and machinery shall not at any time exceed
42dB LAeq,Tr when measured at the boundary of the nearest noise sensitive
receptor.
Reason: to protect residents and users of the school from noise. Core Strategy
policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC06.
31. Archaeological investigation
No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or successors
in title have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work
(which may comprise more than one phase of works) in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and approved
by the planning authority. The development shall only take place in accordance
with the detailed scheme approved pursuant to this condition.

31

Reason: The site lies within an area of archaeological potential. Investigation is
required to allow preservation and recording of any archaeological features or
artefacts before disturbance by the development. Relevant policy: National
Planning Policy Framework Section 16 (Conserving and Enhancing the Historic
Environment) and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB25.
32. Employment skills plan
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
submitted “Employment and Skills Plan” produced by Reds10 (UK) Ltd Rev 2 dated
August 2021.
Reason: In order to develop local employability skills by securing opportunities for
training, apprenticeship or other vocational initiatives in accordance with MDD
Policy TB12.
Informatives:
I.

The Head of Highways at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118
9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details
before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways).
This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or
works.

II.

Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information
contact the Highway Authority on tel: 0118 9746000.

III.

If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to
adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense,
then full engineering details must be agreed with the Highway Authority at the
Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to
commence development until such details have been approved in writing and a
legal agreement is made with the Council under S38 of the Highways Act 1980.

IV.

Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer, whether
they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined
under Section 87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting
the public highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements of the New Roads
and Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed
accordingly in order to secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising
disruption to users of the highway network in Wokingham.

V.

Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in
liaison with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189
746302). This must take place at least three months in advance of the works and
particularly to ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are
coordinated to take place wherever possible at the same time.

VI.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction

32

and demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to
the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.
VII.

In respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure that
storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network through on
or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the
site drainage should be separate and combined at the final manhole nearest the
boundary. Connections are not permitted for the removal of Ground Water. Where
the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames
Water Developer Services will be required. They can be contacted on 0845 850
2777.

VIII.

Licences, consents or permits may be required for work on this site. For further
information on environmental permits and other licences please visit
http://www.businesslink.gov.uk/bdotg/action/layer?r.s=tl&r.lc=en&topicId=10790683
63

IX.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction
and demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to
the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager

PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
202640
Screening Opinion application for an
Environmental Impact Assessment
for the proposed SEN school on
land at Winnersh Farm.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Previous land use
Proposed floorspace
Proposed parking spaces

Decision
Not EIA Development

1.7 ha
Agriculture
3647sq.m
90

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Berks, Bucks and Oxon Wildlife Trust
Crime Prevention Design Officer
National Grid

No comments received
No objection
Linesearch advice regarding listed assets
within vicinity of the site
Standing advice and details provided of
SGN owned pipes in the vicinity of the site
Linesearch advice regarding network
records within vicinity of the site
No comments received
No objection subject to condition
No objection
No comments received
No objection

Southern Gas Networks
SEE Power Distribution
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
Berkshire Archaeology
Thames Water
South East Water
Environment Agency

33

WBC Biodiversity
WBC Economic Prosperity and Place
(Community Infrastructure)
WBC Drainage
WBC Education (School Place Planning)
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Highways
WBC Tree & Landscape
WBC Cleaner & Greener (Waste
Services)
WBC Public Rights of Way

No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to condition
No objection subject to conditions
Support the application
No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to conditions
No objection subject to conditions
No comments received
No objection

REPRESENTATIONS
Winnersh Parish Council:












Traffic modelling is required, this is not in the supporting documentation. The
Council would like to see that the traffic modelling shows no detrimental impact on
the surrounding road network. Officer comment – traffic modelling has been
submitted and traffic impacts of the scheme are considered acceptable – see
Highways section of report.
Transport assessment page 9 Swept path analysis whilst this is acceptable on
a lightly trafficked road, we are concerned about future developments taking place
with additional traffic and vehicles having to utilise the opposite side of the
carriageway to access the junction.
Officer comment: the proposals have been assessed on the basis of the school
development only as this is the scheme in front of officers for consideration. Any
other potential development proposals would be assessed on their own merits,
taking into consideration this proposal should planning permission be forthcoming.
P 17 Transport assessment. The minimum electrical charge points have been
included in the plans, at a time when we are actively trying to lower carbon
emissions, this should be doubled to 8 active and 8 passive charging points. Officer
comment – WBC Highways have assessed the level of proposed EVC provision
and find them to be acceptable.
Air Quality the WBC reports that are being used are from 2019 when the SMART
motorway was being constructed and the speed limit was 50MPH. The Air Quality
Assessment and forecast study should use data from when the motorway is running
at full capacity and at 70MPH. If the new link road opens up 100 dwellings, this will
have a direct impact on air quality at the school. Officer comment – the air quality
assessment has been reviewed by Environmental Health who consider that the
results demonstrate that the school proposal would neither have a harmful impact
upon, or be significantly harmed by air quality in the surrounding area. See
environmental health section of the report. Any further planning application
proposals would need to be assessed on their merits with regards to potential
impacts upon the school proposal.
Design and access statement This stated on page 14 that there is a root protection
zone around tree T44, but elsewhere tree T44 will be felled, the Council would like
confirmation on the felling and if it is planned to be felled feel that the car park
should be redesigned to save the tree which is a Category B with over 20 years of
life, and add any parking bays to the overflow area. Officer comment – tree T44 is
now proposed to be retained as part of the proposal.
Allotments urgent discussions are needed with Winnersh Parish Council and the

34

allotment holders about existing and proposed access, the boundaries and the
toilet. Officer comment: whilst this matter will need to be discussed outside of the
application between the applicant and the Parish Council, condition 5 requires
details of how access to the existing allotments would be maintained throughout the
construction process.
Local Members:
Comments received from Councillor Paul Fishwick:
Air Quality


The Air Quality Screening Assessment is based upon Wokingham Borough
Council’s June 2020 Annual Report to DEFRA covering the 2019 year. At that time
the M4 motorway was still undergoing the construction of the SMART motorway
works. Speeds were restricted to 50mph and not the National Speed limit of 70mph.
Therefore, much lower pollution levels can be expected.



Emission levels increase considerably with speed, especially within freeflow
conditions where DfT figures show that up 50% of drivers exceed 70mph motorway
speed limits. Data using WOK 70 (King Street Lane) and WOK 71 (Longdon Road)
would also be a helpful source of preSMART motorway construction data rather
than WOK 835 (Robin Hood Lane).



The forecast emissions appear to have used the 2019 data and therefore will be
lower that preSMART motorway conditions.



In addition, no monitoring of PM10 or PM2.5 is carried out by Wokingham Borough
Council therefore the data used has been modelled. The forecast for 2022
indicates 11.10 gm for PM 2.5. This exceeds the World Health Organisations
recommended limit of 10 gm.
Officer comment – the air quality assessment has been reviewed by WBC
Environmental Health who consider that the results demonstrate that the school
proposal would neither have a harmful impact upon, or be significantly harmed by
air quality in the surrounding area. See environmental health section of the report. It
should also be noted that the Department for Education have not raised any issues
in selecting this site.



I also raise concern over the potential development to the rear of the SEN
school for up to 100 dwellings. This would have a direct impact on the school
if this development went ahead.



Of further concern is the spur road shown running adjacent to the eastern
boundary of the proposed school. It is not clear if this links to the Taylor Wimpey
site of Winnersh Farms to the north, where two previous applications by the
developer have not proceeded. Use of this link road in anyway connecting to the
Taylor Wimpey site would have a significant impact on Air Quality at the SEN
school. Therefore, this access road must be removed from any future plans.
Officer comment: whilst some of the submitted plans indicatively showed an access
road beyond the red line boundary, this is not included in the list of plans to be

35

approved. Whilst an outline planning application has been submitted for housing
development on the adjacent site (ref: 212404), the school proposals are assessed
on the basis of being a stand alone application. The application for adjacent
development will be assessed on its own merits, taking into consideration the
cumulative impacts with this proposal should planning permission be forthcoming.
Tree Protection


The Design and Access Statement (page 14) indicates that Root
protection will be provided to tree T44 as well as T40 and T39. However, in other
documents the Common Oak (Category B tree) is shown as
being felled. These mature Oak trees currently situated on the side of the
existing track leading to the allotments provide excellent features to the
existing landscape and T44 should remain and could be by a redesign of the car
park removing the car parking bays that impact on this tree and relocating
these to the overflow car park.
Officer comment: for clarification, tree T44 is now proposed to be retained and the
car park layout has been amended accordingly.

Electric Vehicle Charging point provision


The Transport Assessment on page 17 indicates that there will be 4
active and 4 passive Electric Vehicle charge points made available in September
2022 for staff in the car park. This is a minimum standard and with a drive
towards acceleration of electric vehicle provision these need to at least
double to 8 active and 8 passive.
Officer comment: The EVC provision accords with current WBC standards and
Highways raise no objection to the level proposed. The regular review of the Travel
Plan may identify additional EVC charging points, which can be provided at a later
stage if identified as being required.

Swept Path Analysis




The Transport Assessment (page 9) indicates the Swept Path Analysis would be
acceptable on a lightly trafficked road, that leads to the allotments. I agree
with this assumption. However, the potential of increasing traffic levels be
adding up to 100 dwellings to the east would change this analysis and make
it unacceptable.
If the spur road, shown in the documentation was connect to the Taylor Wimpey
site, that would dramatically change the characteristics of this road and the swept
path of these vehicles would become a significant road safety issue. This would be
another reason to remove this spur road from any future plans.
Officer comment: whilst some of the submitted plans indicatively showed an access
road beyond the red line boundary, this is not included in the list of plans to be
approved. Whilst an outline planning application has been submitted for housing
development on the adjacent site (ref: 212404), the school proposals are assessed
on the basis of being a stand alone application. The application for adjacent

36

development will be assessed on its own merits, taking into consideration the
cumulative impacts with this proposal should planning permission be forthcoming.

Traffic modelling


It is disappointing that on page 22 of the Transport Assessment 6.2.1. that the
traffic modelling has not been included within this application. In section 6.2.2 it
states - A summary of the WSTM run and junction capacity assessment will be
submitted as an addendum to this TA for consideration by the Council.



The forecast 248 vehicle movements during the 08:0009:00 am peak period is
significant (page 25 s ection 7.1.7) and will impact considerably on the existing
Woodward Close junction with the A329 Reading Road where congestion during
the am peak already exists and was highlighted by me at the Planning Committee
on 10th October 2018 (Planning Application 180760). This documentation must be
made available to the public to ensure transparency.
Officer comment – the TA modelling information was subsequently submitted and
Councillors informed of it’s availability on the website. Highways officers have
reviewed the modelling details and found it to be acceptable.

Noise Assessment


Although there is mention of a noise assessment in some documents there is not
a Noise Assessment document within the application. This is of concern as the
Noise barriers located along the top of the embankment of the M4 SMART
motorway end partway along the frontage of the planned school. The Noise
Assessment document needs to be part of this application.
Officer comment – noise assessment and acoustic reports were submitted with the
application and available to view online. Environmental health section of the report
refers. It should also be noted that the Department for Education have not raised
any issues in selecting this site.



The new junction of the access road with Woodward Close must require a junction
layout compliant with Local Transport Note 120. Woodward Close offroad shared
cycle route is an important key route for walking and cycling.
Officer comment – The junction has been assessed by Highways officers and will
be required to be compliant with LTN 120 as part of the detailed design.

Comments received from Councillor Prue Bray


While I support the application, I do have some concerns about the following
issues. Noise is a critical factor, particularly motorway noise. I believe a noise
assessment has been done. But it does not appear in the list of documents.
The council can not really evaluate the suitability of the site for a SEND
school without a noise assessment. I note that there was no requirement for an
Environmental Impact Assessment for this scheme, which would have covered
noise. It must surely be covered now.

37

Officer comment – noise assessment and acoustic reports were submitted with the
application and are available to view online. Environmental health section of the
report refers.


I agree with the comments about air quality and the other issues that appear in Paul
Fishwick's comments, including what he says about the spur road, and the potential
impact of other planned development on the school The overflow car park could be
extended without any adverse impact on Neighbouring activities. While the morning
arrival presents a concentrated number of trips, vehicles bringing pupils do not
normally need to park. However, for the afternoon peak, vehicles collecting pupils
do need to park, as they will be arriving in advance of the end of the school day.
Even with staggered end times, it seems likely to me that there will be too many
vehicles for the proposed parking to be sufficient. Some cars may be collecting
more than one pupil, and thus be waiting across end times.
Officer note – this is noted, and as such, condition 23 requires details of how this
would be managed through the parking management plan.



The traffic modelling has not been included. Winnersh councillors have been asking
for this modelling for well over a year, and it has been promised but never delivered.
The junction of Woodward Close with Reading Road is currently being remodelled
as part of the Winnersh Relief Road Part 2. We do not believe that the modelling for
that junction includes the school traffic. We want to be confident that the junction
can cope with what is proposed, and to see what the impact of the extra school
traffic will be.
Officer comment – the TA modelling information was subsequently submitted and
Councillors informed of its availability on the website. Highways officers have
reviewed the modelling details and advise that it is acceptable.



I note that the school has sprinklers, and that the ventilation reports show
that the mechanical ventilation will be sufficient to maintain comfortable
conditions in all parts of the school at all times.

Neighbours: Consultation letters were sent to over 400 surrounding neighbouring
properties. Four responses have been received, and a summary of the responses is as
follows:



The land in question is outside the Settlement Boundary for Winnersh and is
currently designated as Separation of Settlements in the current Local Plan. The
development should not be considered until a new Local Plan has been formally
examined in public and adopted.
Officer comment – the principle of development is considered to meet the
exceptions criteria 6 of adopted Policy CP11. ‘Principle of Development’ paras of
the below report refer.
Traffic modelling has not been included with the application. To base such
modelling on just the traffic associated with this school would be
disingenuous; it should include all the traffic associated with the 100s of
houses which the Council plans to tailgate onto this application and in particular
should include a detailed study of the junction between Woodward Close and
Reading Road.
The traffic on Woodward close is already not capable of the current school and

38













residential traffic and will not support the additional journeys of another school.
Officer comment – the TA modelling information was subsequently submitted.
Highways officers have reviewed the modelling details and are satisfied that the
proposals could be acceptably accommodated within the existing highway network.
Parking provision at the school is inadequate. It does not comply with the
minimum standards contained in the Council’s own Design Guide. Parking at
the end of the school day is a particular (and well known) problem and is not
sufficiently catered for in this design. As with the current school this will force
vehicles to park on Woodward close which is dangerous and a nuisance to
residents.
Officer comment – parking provision is considered acceptable when taking into
consideration the predicted staff travel patterns combined with the implementation
of the Travel Plan and the parking management plan required by conditions 21 &
23.
Noise has not been considered. There is no noise survey included with the
Application. The M4 Motorway noise barrier does not extend the full length of
this proposed development and consequent noise levels are consistently in
Category D as described in PPG24.
Officer comment – a noise assessment and acoustic report were submitted with the
application. The details submitted confirm that the proposals have been designed to
meet with the requirements of BB104 regarding the internal ambient noise levels
within schools. These requirements fall within Building Control regulations.
The proximity to the M4 (now 8 lanes) and the Northern Distributor Road
results in poor air quality making the site unsuitable. Ventilation plans are
inadequate. Many of the classrooms face due south meaning that solar gain will
cause oppressive conditions in those rooms. External shutters should be provided
on south facing rooms and full aircon should be considered. HEPA filters should be
provided for all ventilation.
Officer comment – considerations relating to ventilation requirements fall within the
remit of Building Control regulations
The Air Quality assessment has not been carried out using the current M4
Layout and was taken during the Smart motorway building where speeds were
reduced to 50mph and one less lane which just so happens to be the closest to
the land in question.
Officer comment – WBC Environmental Health has reviewed the air quality
assessment and considers the proposals to be acceptable with regards to impacts
upon the proposed development. See environmental health section of the report.
It increases vehicle traffic along a road already restricted by a narrow bridge,
residential and other development exiting on to a recently revised and restricted
access to a principle road now forming part of a distributor network between
Reading and Wokingham boroughs.
Officer comment – Junction modelling has been undertaken and the junction of
Woodward Close and Reading Road will operate under capacity.
If the development proceeds the proposed access road to the site continues as
an access to allotments. This access appears to be built to the same standards
as an estate road and will encourage casual parking as well as causing confusion
and a hazard to users as it terminates at a locked gate with no provision for turning.
Designing this access with priority over any joining traffic (inappropriate at this stage
of development as the land is not currently designated for a change of use in any
adopted plan) is also highly questionable.
Officer comment – Officers agree that the surface of the onwards section of the
access road does not need to be to the same standard as the surface of the access

39





road to the school and details relating to the proposed surfacing will be required
through proposed condition 9.
The plan proposes additional car parking opposite the main school site. If
necessary, and presuming that any development proceeds, this area could be
extended to accommodate further staff vehicles and the car park adjacent to the
building be used for visitors and pupil families only. This would avoid the need to fell
the second category A common oak tree, a significant visual feature and
biodiversity resource.
The three substantial mature trees of Common Oak (Quercus robur) recorded as
Category B2 T39, T40, T45 on the tree survey should be retained and not felled.
The school car parking and access road could easily be adjusted to the east of the
boundary and in the overflow car park to the south of the access road.
Officer comment – Tree T45 is not proposed for removal; the proposals have
sought to retain existing trees where possible within the site and an amended layout
submitted now retains additional trees, including a mature Oak tree T44 which was
initially proposed to be removed. Subject to appropriate mitigation tree planting, the
proposals are considered acceptable in this respect.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

CP15

Employment Development

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC05

Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC08

Safeguarding alignments of the
Strategic Transport Network & Road
Infrastructure

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

40

Supplementary Planning
Documents (SPD)

TB12

Employment Skills Plan

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

TB24

Designated Heritage Assets

BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 4

PLANNING ISSUES
Application Site and Surroundings
1. The application site relates to land located off Woodward Close in Winnersh, which
currently comprises open grassland and forms part of an area of agricultural land
known as ‘Winnersh Farm’. The parish of Winnersh is located approximately 5km to
the north-west of Wokingham town centre. The site is located outside of the Winnersh
settlement boundary within the countryside, and is not currently an allocated site.
Winnersh station is about 1 km to the west.
2. To the west of the site boundary are the playing fields and school building of
Wheatfield Primary School. The immediate surroundings to the north, and east of
the site comprise agricultural land that separates the suburban expansion of
Winnersh with the north western edges of Wokingham, although this is visually and
physically restricted by the M4 motorway.
3. To the south of the site is the Royal British Legion club and the Winnersh allotments,
and beyond this, the M4 and its associated junction with the A329(m), which is on
embankment. The allotments are currently accessed via a tree-lined track located off
Woodward Close, part of which runs across the application site. The north downs
(Wokingham / Reading) railway line is located a short distance from the proposed site
access located at the southern end of the site and beyond this is the A329 Reading
Road.
Description of Development:
4. The proposals seek full planning permission for the construction of a new 150 place
Special Educational Needs (SEN) School with associated access, parking and
landscaping. The site would be accessed via a newly proposed access off
Woodward Close.
5. The proposed school would be a co-educational non-faith, Autism Spectrum
Disorder school for pupils aged 5-18, for Key Stages 1 to 4 (KS1-4) and sixth form,
for up to 150 pupils. The proposal has come forward as a result of an identified
need for schooling provision of this nature for both Wokingham and Reading
borough pupil (further detail on this provided below in the report) however, it would
serve pupils from both of these catchment areas. The school operator would be the
Maiden Erlegh Trust and it is proposed that the school would open in September
2022.
Principle of Development:
6. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan.
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for

41

Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
7. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as
defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets
out that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable
in principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major,
modest and limited categories.
8. The application site comprises a greenfield site located between residential
development to the west and elevated motorway junction to the east. The site is
located close to, but outside of, the Major Development Location of Winnersh as
defined by Core Strategy policy CP9 and updated by Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan (MDD) policy CC02.
9. The application site comprises part of a larger area of land that Policy H2 of the
Draft Local Plan proposes to allocate for around 250 dwellings, referred to as
‘Winnersh Farms’. The application site was promoted into the Local Plan Update
process for residential, school and leisure uses. However, the LPU is still in early
stages of preparation and at the time of writing has limited weight in the decision
making process. In summary, the planning status of the site at present remains
unallocated and the site is therefore located in the countryside in policy terms and
Core Strategy policy CP11 therefore applies.
10. In accordance with CP11, development proposals will not normally be permitted
except where one or more of the specified exceptions apply. Of relevance to this
application is Criterion 6) which allows for development in the countryside where
“Essential community facilities cannot be accommodated within development limits
or through the re-use/replacement of an existing building”.
11. For the first part of the criterion, consideration needs to be given to whether the
proposed development is a ‘community facility’ and, if so, whether it is considered
‘essential’. Core Strategy Paragraph 4.17 states: “Community facilities include
development for health (including preventative social care and community support
services), education, play and leisure or culture together with libraries,
village/community halls and religious buildings. It also includes burial sites.”.
Officers are therefore satisfied that the proposed school would be considered a
community facility.
12. Turning to whether the proposals are considered ‘essential’, there is an established
need for a Special Educational Needs (SEN) school to cover not just Wokingham
borough, but Reading borough also. This need is set out in detail in the Executive
Report of 31 January 2019 (and updated in the Executive Report of 24 September
2020). The Council has a statutory duty to provide appropriate education for
children with special educational needs. These reports clearly demonstrate a
pressing need for SEN provision to meet these statutory needs, both in terms of
insufficient existing local capacity and the associated costs with facilitating out of
borough provision. They further demonstrate that the need for SEN spaces is
continuing to rise. On this basis, Officers are therefore also satisfied that the
proposed need for a new SEN school has been demonstrated as being ‘essential’.

42

13. The next consideration in terms of whether it can be demonstrated that the
development “cannot be accommodated within development limits or through the
re-use/replacement of an existing building”. Of relevance here is that an additional
50 SEN school places have been constructed through an extension to the existing
Addington SEN School in Woodley, which is located within development limits.
Further expansion at that school is not considered feasible and options to optimise
and expand provision on sites within development limits have been proactively
utilised.
14. Given the joint nature of the need, a range of alternative site options in Wokingham
and Reading boroughs have been considered and deemed less preferable for a
range of reasons, including planning constraints, availability, and financial reasons.
The application site has been taken through a Department for Education (DfE)
bidding process, where, amongst other relevant criteria, it has been found to offer
sufficient site area in accordance with DfE guidance, and be much more accessible
to both Reading and Wokingham communities, by vehicle, active travel means, and
public transport (bus and rail) than alternative site options. A detailed account of the
site selection process is provided in the Planning Statement (paragraphs 6.2.19 to
6.2.35). Based on the information provided, this appears to have been a
comprehensive process. On this basis, there is no policy objection to the proposals
and officers consider that the proposals satisfactorily meet the requirements of
exception criterion 6 of Policy CP11.
Detailed Design
15. Core Strategy Policies CP1 (Sustainable Development) and CP3 (General
Principles for Development) requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03 (Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping) and TB21 (Landscape Character). The Government has
also recently released a National Design Guide: Planning practice guidance for
beautiful, enduring and successful places in October 2019
Layout
16. As previously mentioned, access to the proposed school would be via a new access
road off Woodward Close. This would be located between the existing allotments
access track and the Royal British Legion Club. As a result of the formation of this
new access and the proposed location of the school building, the existing access
track to the allotments would no longer be used, and instead, access to the existing
allotments would also be obtained via the school access road, which would connect
with the allotments car park. Should planning permission be forthcoming for the
proposals, it will be essential to ensure that access to the allotments is available
throughout the build programme, and as such, condition 5 is recommended which
requires details of how this will be achieved to ensure that the allotment holders are
at no time restricted from accessing their plots.
17. The layout of the main part of the school site off the access road would comprise
the car park at the front of the school, with the two-storey school building set
beyond this further back from the entrance to the site. There would be two access
points into the car park to allow a one way ‘in’ and ‘out’ system. A further parking
area is proposed on the southern side of the access road into the site which would
provide 40 parking spaces. Matters relating to parking provision are discussed
below within the highways section of the report. The car park layout has changed
since the original planning application submission. This is due to the results of a

43

further ecology survey revealing the presence of a bat roost in a tree which was
originally proposed to be felled (T44). Concerns had also been raised by the Trees
and Landscaping officer regarding the proposal to fell this tree due to its age and
importance within the existing landscape. This is discussed later in the report.
However, it is now proposed that tree T44 will be retained as part of the proposals
which is a welcomed amendment to the scheme.
18. The internal design and layout of the school building has been informed with input
from Special Educational Needs specialists, in order to ensure that it will
satisfactorily serve the needs of its intended users. There would be three entrances
along the main frontage of the building. These include the main school entrance,
along with separate entrances for both primary and secondary pupils. The general
arrangement internally would comprise classrooms being located off a central
corridor running through the building. The ground floor would include a mix of
primary and secondary classrooms, the school hall, and kitchen/dining facilities.
The first floor would follow a similar layout and would include further classrooms,
various group/meeting rooms, as well as a staff room.
19. The internal layout has also been designed so the building can facilitate community
use of the school hall, along with changing facilities and WC’s outside of school
hours. Further details of hours of use of such facilities will be required to be
submitted for approval through proposed condition 20.
20. The external arrangement of the proposals provide dedicated hard informal outdoor
playground areas for the primary and secondary classes to the north of the school
building, which can be accessed directly from some of the classrooms. Beyond
these areas are soft outdoor PE areas, and a scooter track. A Multi Use Games
Area (MUGA) is proposed to the west of the school building along with playing fields
to accommodate playing pitches. To the front of the building, the external area
provides further hard informal and social areas, and an outdoor dining area. On the
east side of the building, an electricity sub-station and fire sprinkler tank would be
contained within an enclosure.
21. The layout of the site has also been designed paying regard to BB104 guidelines
which provide non-statutory recommended minimum areas for the various
components of external spaces for schools. Against these guidelines, the outdoor
PE, soft and hard informal social areas, and habitat would meet or exceed the
BB104 minimum guidelines in respect of a special needs school provision. There
would be no shortfalls against specific categories of outdoor space, although the
gross site area of 16925m2 would be 959m2 below the BB104 guidelines of
17884m2 for a school with the pupil intake proposed. The BB104 guidelines also
include a ‘float’ area which can then be used to enhance some areas, depending on
the priorities of the school. Whilst there is no designated ‘float’ area proposed, it is
noted that both the soft informal, hard informal and habitat areas significantly
exceed the BB104 recommended minimum for these specific areas. It is also noted
that BB104 represents best practice and is non-statutory guidance. Furthermore,
this application has been made on behalf of the Department for Education and has
also involved input from Special Educational Needs specialists, both of whom have
been involved throughout the design process to ensure that the proposed layout
can successfully deliver the particular needs of the SEN school provision
requirements on the site. As such there is no objection to the layout.

44

22. The school boundary would be secured by a perimeter anti-climb fence to ensure
pupils are safely contained within the designated school area when required. It is
noted that the Crime Prevention Design Advisor raised no objection to the
proposals. Further details of the site perimeter fencing along with fencing details
within the site would be submitted pursuant to recommended condition 10.
Therefore taking the above into consideration, officers consider the overall layout to
be acceptable.
Scale, Design and Appearance
23. The school building proposed would be two storeys in height (7.5m) with a flat roof
and would measure approximately 100 x 23.5 metres in width and depth.
Considerations relating to scale, however, are not limited to the size of a proposed
building, but also how it sits within the context of its setting and surrounding area
and also in terms of the choice of the proposed materials creating its external
appearance.
24. In this instance, the proposed building would have a modern appearance with a flat
roof. The façade of the building is proposed to be clad with ‘Thermowood’ panels,
which are heat treated and stain coated so they do not weather over time. These
would be arranged across the façade in a mixture of vertically and horizontally
placed panels, which would help to visually break up the extent of the building
frontage. The predominant colour of the panels would be based on a natural wood
palette of colour, although grey cedral panels would be used at points across the
façade to further break up the elevation and would also help to distinguish key
entrance points into the building. The timber clad façade would be further broken up
through the use of aluminium framed windows, which are considered appropriate
and would be compatible with the appearance of the timber cladding.
25. The design approach adopted is considered acceptable and appears appropriate to
its intended use. As discussed later in the report, there would be some views of the
building from surrounding vantage pints, however it is considered that it’s overall
design, and choice of neutral/natural coloured palette of materials are acceptable,
which would help to soften the overall appearance of the building, and together with
further landscaping measures, would appear acceptable in the context of its setting
within the countryside. Further details of the proposed materials will be submitted
for formal approval pursuant to proposed condition 6.
26. Plant equipment is proposed to be contained internally within a plant room at
ground level of the building, which is welcomed as plant equipment sited externally
on buildings can often result in unsightly additions to otherwise attractive buildings.
As referred to later in the report, whilst there would be solar panels positioned on
the roof of the building, these are not likely to be highly visible or detract from the
design and appearance of the building, due to being laid flush or slightly raised from
the flat roof profile.
27. Taking the above into consideration, the overall proposed design, scale and
appearance is therefore considered good quality and appropriate to its setting and
intended use as a school.
Transport, Highways and Parking
28. The NPPF seeks to encourage sustainable means of transport and a move away
from the reliance of the private motor car. Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP6 and

45

broadly echo these principles and indicate that new development should mitigate
any adverse effects on the existing highway network. Policy CC07 refers to the
provision of acceptable parking standards as set out within Appendix 2 of the MDD.
29. The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment (TA) which assesses
the impact of development, both in terms of the traffic generated by the
development itself, and in the context of the cumulative impact within the wider
locality.
30. The TA identifies that the impact of the development, both individually and
cumulatively, would not be severe and would not result in an adverse impact on the
operation and safety of the local highway network. The submitted TA has been
reviewed and WBC Highways are satisfied that the surrounding road network would
be able to acceptably accommodate the travel demands of the site. It should also
be noted that many of the problem junctions in the surrounding area have already
been upgraded or will be as part of borough’s SDL development infrastructure.
Travel Planning and Public Transport
31. The application is accompanied with an interim Travel Plan which has been
reviewed by WBC travel Plan Co-ordinator. This sets out a commitment to work
towards Modeshift STARS accreditation (a not for profit membership organisation
which aims to secure increased levels of safe, active and sustainable travel in
educational establishments, businesses and communities) and also to review the
measures and targets once the site is operational. This approach to travel planning
is welcomed and regular review of the travel plan is recommended by condition 21.
32. Due to the nature of the school the travel plan indicates that most pupils will be
transported by taxi or dedicated school bus to the site, and considerations relating
to parking are referred to below. The site is located within a 15 minute walk (approx.
1km) to the nearest bus stops on the Reading Road and Winnersh train station
which connect with both Reading and Wokingham stations and whilst pupils are
likely to arrive by taxi or bus, there are considered to be suitable alternative travel
options for staff other than by private car to the site.
Layout
33. Access into the development would be from a new access proposed off Woodwood
Close. Details for the new access have been reviewed as part of the application
and considered acceptable, however full highways details would be provided
through the requirements of condition 9. The access will also serve the allotment
site and access to the allotments will be maintained throughout the build process.
34. The application is supported by a number of documents/plans, including vehicle
tracking, visibility splays and details of servicing which demonstrate the safety and
functionality of the highway provisions
Parking and Cycle Parking
35. The proposals will incorporate the provision of 90 parking spaces, which would be
split between the main car park directly to the front of the school building, together
with a further car park located on the southern side of the school access road. Due
to the redesign of the main car park layout in order to retain a mature oak tree
which was originally proposed to be removed, the car park on the southern side of

46

the access road has been increased in order to accommodate further spaces.
There would also be a ‘drop-off’ zone located at the front of the school building.
36. The total proposed parking provision includes 6 disabled spaces and 4 active and 4
passive electric vehicle charging spaces which are in line with Council Standards.
However, should the need for additional electric vehicle charging points be
identified through the travel plan as the school establishes, these can be added to
the site.
37. The level of parking provision proposed has been assessed by Highways and is
considered acceptable for this site and considerations in this respect include the
fact that it is not anticipated that all staff will drive to the site or be present on site all
the time. The Travel Plan will also encourage car sharing and other forms of
transport. The DfE consider that the proposed level of parking will be acceptable for
the needs of the school.
38. Furthermore, as mentioned above, a Travel Plan has been submitted with the
application, which will be required to be regularly reviewed (as required by condition
21). This will ensure that where possible, alternative sustainable means of travel to
the site will be utilised, as well as encouraging the avoidance of single occupancy
car journeys (initial target is to reduce single occupancy car use by 10% in the first
5 years). It is noted that the school will not be operating at full capacity when it first
opens, but will increase in a phased approach over three years. This will therefore
enable the success of the travel plan to be monitored to ensure the targets are
being successfully achieved whilst the school is building up to full capacity.
39. As already mentioned, the site is considered to be located within acceptable
walking distances to the nearest bus stops on the Reading Road, as well as to
Winnersh train station. Alternative sustainable methods of travel, walking and
cycling, are encouraged to try and reduce the reliance on the private car. As such
given the above and the commitment to encouraging alternative and more
sustainable modes of transport in conjunction with the implementation of the travel
plan, it is considered that the level of parking being provided is appropriate and
would be required to be managed in accordance with both the travel plan and
details submitted pursuant to condition 23 which requires the submission of a
parking management strategy for the site. This will also detail how the drop off and
pick up times will be managed on the site. It is noted that a letter from the school
operator (Maiden Erlegh Trust) confirms that the proposed pick-up and drop-off
area would be managed by the Trust, through the school Travel Plan to ensure the
efficient turnover of vehicles during peak times. The Travel Plan will be
implemented upon occupation of the school and its management would be
overseen by the Trust.
40. In addition, details have been provided in relation to the modal split for staff
travelling to Addington School, which is also an SEN school. The results indicate
that 63% of staff travel by car to the site, and therefore, should the same modal split
be applied to the application site, the level of parking spaces proposed would
comfortably accommodate the parking demands for the site.
41. The proposals also provide for cycle and scooter parking provision on the site, the
full details for which would be required through condition 24. However, demand for
further cycle parking spaces may be identified through the travel plan, and as such,

47

the travel plan will be expected to detail further provision of cycle parking on the
site, should the need be identified.
Flooding and Drainage:
42. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new
development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all
sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a sustainable
manner.
43. A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy has been submitted with the
application. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 where the risk of flooding
is low.
44. Surface water run-off is proposed to be managed using a Sustainable Drainage
System (SuDS) including attenuation in pipelines, before being discharged at the
greenfield run-off rate. WBCs Flood Risk and Drainage Advisor has reviewed the
drainage strategy details submitted in support of this application for the site and is
satisfied that the proposals are considered acceptable with regards to matters
concerning flood risk and surface water drainage subject to the development being
carried out in accordance with the submitted FRA and drainage details. Condition
28 therefore refers.
Landscape and Trees:
45. Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 require a high quality design that respects its
context. This requirement is amplified by MDDLP Policies CC03 and TB21 which
require development proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s Green
Infrastructure, retaining existing trees, hedges and other landscape features
wherever possible and incorporating high quality - ideally native – planting as an
integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s Landscape
Character Assessment. Policy CC02 states that planning permission for proposals
at the edge of settlements will only be granted where they can demonstrate that the
development, including boundary treatments respects the transition between the
built-up area and the open countryside by taking account of the character of the
adjacent countryside and landscape’.
46. As the site is within the countryside it is important to understand how the application
has addressed the requirements of Wokingham Borough Landscape Character
Assessment (WBLCA) in accordance with MDD Local Plan Policy TB21.
47. The site is located within the Wokingham – Winnersh Settled and Farmed Clay –
J1. Although a large area, much is within existing settlement boundaries so the
small areas of countryside outside settlement boundaries mainly consists of arable
fields and open space which is fragmented by dominant transport corridors of the
M4 and A329(M). As such this landscape has limited valuable landscape attributes,
one of which is as a:
‘Landscape buffer and sense of separation provided by the undeveloped
agricultural land and open space between Wokingham and Winnersh, Wokingham
and Bracknell, and Wokingham and Sindlesham.’
48. The WBLCA includes a number of guidelines for this landscape character area, and
WBC Trees and landscaping officer has reviewed those relevant to the application

48

site and considers that the proposed development would have a limited impact on
the overall characteristics of landscape character area (LCA) J1. In addition, a
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been provided as part of the
application and considers the impacts of the proposed school and associated work
on the existing landscape resource and visual effects from surrounding viewpoints.
In this regard, WBC Trees and landscaping officer agrees that the visual effects of
the proposed development will be localised and due to limited public viewpoints
would seem to be limited to views from the M4 and Woodward Close.
49. Where possible, existing trees and hedgerows are to be retained and this will help
to provide an established attractive setting for the proposals, with further tree and
hedge planting being provided elsewhere throughout the development. However,
some tree removal is required in order to accommodate the proposals. The
proposals would now retain all trees located along the northern boundary of the site,
along with the existing hedgerow, however, two category B trees adjacent to the
existing access road are proposed to be removed.
50. It was also originally proposed that two further Category B trees would be removed
as part of the proposals. However, these are now being retained as part of the
proposals. One of these trees (T44 – a mature Oak) has been identified as
potentially being of veteran or near veteran status and is considered a particularly
important tree within the landscape. It is also identified as being of ecological
importance and as such, the proposed layout has been amended in order to
accommodate its retention and this is a welcomed amendment to the scheme. The
originally proposed layout sought to retain the group of trees located to the east of
T44. However, due to the need to redesign the car park and to allow for an
acceptable root protection area to accommodate tree T44, this group is now
proposed to be removed, but mitigation planting will be required as part of the
proposed landscaping proposals. This is considered to be an acceptable solution in
order to ensure the retention of T44.
51. Vegetation proposed to be removed are 5 individual trees, two tree groups and two
boundary hedgerows. Where trees are proposed for removal, replacement
planting/landscaping is proposed in order to provide an attractive landscaped
setting for the development and to compensate for the tree/hedge removal which
would need to take place in order to accommodate the development (condition 11
refers).
52. Retained trees and hedges would be protected during the construction process (as
required by condition 14) and condition 13 is proposed in order to ensure the new
planting establishes successfully within the landscape.
53. In summary, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in landscape terms,
and whilst there would be some tree removal required to accommodate the school,
the retained trees and existing and proposed landscaping will ensure the proposals
are accommodated within an attractive and established setting in the landscape.
Moreover the identified need and benefits of the school provision are (subject to
appropriate mitigation), considered to outweigh the harm.
Ecology:
54. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design

49

Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and biodiversity
features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise.
55. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and other accompanying ecological survey
reports relating to various species have been submitted in support of the
application. These have all been reviewed by WBC Ecologist who has screened
out the need for further consideration of the impact of the proposed development
upon otters, great crested newts, ground nesting ‘farmland’ birds (e.g. skylark),
badgers and their setts and dormouse.
56. With regards to reptiles, the submitted Reptile Survey report recorded a presence of
slow-worm in a number of the hedgerow margins and recording of juvenile
creatures, indicating that a population continues to breed on site.
57. The Reptile Survey report classifies the slow-worm population as being ‘low’. WBC
Ecologist advises that the conservation status of a species of principal importance
could be considered to be maintained (or even enhanced) if a mitigation strategy is
developed that demonstrates a net gain in suitable habitat area. In this regard, a
Reptile Mitigation Strategy has been submitted which proposed a trap and
translocate programme with a proposed receptor site being on an adjacent parcel of
land to the application site. However, due to concerns regarding the long-term site
management and the timescales required to ensure the site was suitably prepared
to receive the slow-worms, an alternative WBC existing site nearby (Old Forest
Road SANG) has been considered as being a more suitable location, given that it is
already established, and would therefore assist in the successful translocation of
this protected species. As such, condition 17 requires an updated reptile mitigation
strategy to be submitted to reflect this alternative location in order to ensure that this
species of principal importance can satisfactorily be considered to be
maintained/enhanced to the satisfaction of the Council.
58. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ground Level Bat Roost Assessment
of Trees report which identified a number of trees with potential roost features. The
classification of the trees as having high roost potential were the subject of followup survey work to determine presence/likely absence of bat roosts.
59. Follow-up surveys have identified the presence of a bat roosts in two trees which
were initially proposed to be removed. One of these is tree T44, which is now
proposed to be retained and as discussed earlier in the report, the layout of the site
has been amended in order to accommodate its retention. Tree T40 is the only tree
that is proposed to be removed which contains a confirmed bat roost. The
mitigation and protection strategy advises that a derogation licence from Natural
England will be required to remove this tree, which WBC Ecologist agrees. As such,
WBC Ecologist recommends that a pre-commencement condition is applied to
secure submission of a copy of the protected species licence, as per
BS42020:2013. Condition 16 therefore refers.
60. The NPPF para 170 (d) also requires development to minimise impacts upon and
provide net gains for biodiversity and para 180 advises that if significant harm to
biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided or mitigated, then
planning permission should be refused. A Framework Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy has been submitted in support of this application. This strategy contains

50

both species conservation measures (e.g. bird boxes) and a biodiversity impact
assessment of the proposed habitat changes.
61. WBC Ecologist is in agreement that the proposed species conservation measures
will provide some benefit for wildlife and the implementation of these proposals
would be secured through condition 18.
62. A Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) calculation has been provided and reviewed by WBC
Ecologist who advises that the proposals would result in on-site loss of biodiversity
for habitat and hedgerow units. Whilst attempts have been made on-site to avoid
loss and provide mitigation, compensation habitat biodiversity net gain will need to
be provided to mitigate the developments’ impacts and to render the application
acceptable with regards to the requirements of the NPPF. In this respect, there are
a number of WBC projects that could provide habitat and hedgerow biodiversity
units as compensation for on-site loss for this application. This would need to be
secured through an agreed strategy using a pro-rata price per (habitat) unit
required. As such, condition 19 is recommended which requires the submission of a
scheme for the off-setting of the biodiversity impacts, which would need to be
assessed and agreed with the Council. Through adopting such an approach in
collaboration with the Council, it can be ensured that the requirements of
paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF can be met.
Environmental Health:
63. Core Strategy Policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause significant detriment to the amenities of
adjoining land users and their quality of life. Various reports have been submitted
with the application relating to Environmental Health considerations around
contamination, noise and air quality.
Land Contamination
64. Various contamination surveys have been submitted with the application relating to
assessments of groundwater and gas monitoring data as well as any potential
existing contamination, all of which have been reviewed by WBC Environmental
Health Officer (EHO). The findings of the reports conclude that whilst some minor
exceedances of contaminants have been identified, these are not considered to be
indicative of a source of contamination or likely to pose a significant risk to ground
or surface water. WBC Environmental Health Officer accepts the findings of these
reports and therefore recommends a condition relating to managing any
unexpected contamination encountered during construction (condition 29 refers).
65. Construction activities such as vehicle re-fuelling, the operation of welfare facilities,
earthworks, and stockpiling has the potential to contaminate the round, shallow
surface water bodies, ground water and surface water bodies if not properly
controlled. Mitigation measures including containment and appropriate storage of
materials and waste would be required to be included within the CEMP.
Air Quality
66. An Air Quality Screening assessment has been submitted which considers the
following:
- The introduction of future users to an area of poor air quality (emissions from M4)
- The operational impacts – the impact of the proposed development on air quality
- The temporary impact on air quality from fugitive dust during construction.

51

67. The assessment of air quality on future users concludes that future users would not
be exposed to unacceptable pollutant concentrations. The site is within 0.6km of an
existing Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) that runs along the M4. Predictions
are that the Air Quality Objectives for NO2 will not be exceeded at the application
site. WBC EHO accepts that this conclusion is reasonable given the distance to the
AQMA even with the uncertainty arising from on-going smart motorway works and
current restrictions on speed and traffic flow.
68. It is noted that concerns relating to issues around air quality have been raised
through the public consultation exercise, in particular with regards to the timing of
when the air quality assessment was undertaken. The applicant has provided the
following information around this issue:“Whilst it is has been noted that roadworks were underway on the M4 during 2019,
a further review of the Wokingham Borough Council 2020 Annual Status Report
indicates that NO2 concentrations, at the monitoring locations considered, were well
below the Air Quality Objective (40ug/m3) since 2015. Additionally, there has been
an overall reduction in NO2 concentrations at these diffusion tube locations since
2017. Therefore, the reduction in NO2 concentrations cannot be directly attributed
to the roadworks on the M4 motorway.
Regarding the consideration of WOK70 and WOK71, both monitoring locations
have recorded NO2 concentrations well below the Air Quality Objective since 2015,
with an overall general reduction (particularly at WOK70), according to the
Wokingham Borough Council 2020 Annual Status Report. This provides further
indication that the pre M4 roadwork condition would not give rise to elevated NO2
concentrations.
Although the DEFRA predicted background PM2.5 concentration is marginally
above the WHO recommended guideline of 10ug/m3, these guidelines are not
considered within the Air Quality Standards Regulations (2016) and are therefore,
not UK and EU legislation. The background concentration is well below the Air
Quality Objective (25ug/m3) and subsequently, well within statutory limits.
The proposed Taylor Wimpey development is not a currently committed or
approved development, however the traffic levels generated along the access route
are not likely to result any significant exceedance of the NO2 Air Quality
Objective given the current DEFRA background concentration of 20.8ug/m3 is
approximately 52% of the Air Quality Objective.”
69. The above information has been reviewed by WBC EHO who agrees that the
reduction in NO2 concentrations cannot be attributed fully to work on the motorways
and covid related reduction in traffic flow as data collected before this time (ASR
2020 reporting on 2019 data) was indicating falling levels below the Air quality
Objective for NO2. He also agrees that the PM2.5 concentrations are well below the
statutory limit.
70. The operational impacts on air quality have been screened out as not being
significant, a conclusion which is also accepted by the EHO.

52

71. The temporary impact of fugitive dust emission during site clearance and
construction can be minimised using the mitigation measures set out in the
accompanying Construction and Environmental Management Plan. has been
submitted with the application which includes dust control measures.
Noise
72. The submitted noise impact assessment considers the noise environment within the
school against the requirements of BB93 Acoustic Design of Schools whilst a
separate Acoustic Design Report has been submitted which sets out how
appropriate noise levels will be achieved within the school in accordance with BB93
and building regulations. In order to meet the requirements of BB93 with regards to
internal ambient noise levels, the report sets out the required acoustic performance
of the glazing to be used on the building, together with a hybrid ventilation system.
As compliance with BB93 with regards to these issues are dealt with through
Building Regulations rather than planning, the EHO has not provided any further
comment on this particular aspect of the submission. As planning conditions should
not be imposed in relation to issues which are covered by separate legislation, this
issue is not considered further within this report and will be secured through the
relevant building regulation process for the development.
73. Whilst Building Bulletin 93 Acoustic Design of Schools - Performance Standards
does not cover external play areas/teaching areas and this aspect is not specifically
addressed within the submission, the acoustic modelling submitted shows that the
majority of the outdoor areas will be acoustically shielded by the school buildings.
The WHO Guidance on Community Noise and BS8233 recommends a level below
50dB for external amenity areas (gardens /balconies etc) for residential properties
rising to a maximum of 55dB. This is based on the health impacts of long term
exposure to noise and the EHO advises that if this was a residential development, it
would be considered acceptable as the modelling shows that the external ambient
noise level lies between 50 and 55dB. Due to the likely activities that will take place
externally at the school i.e. use of playing pitches, playgrounds, officers are
satisfied that the proposals would be acceptable with regards to external ambient
background noise levels. It is also noted that there has been no concerns raised in
this regard from the DfE.
74. The noise impact assessment considers the impact of plant noise on sensitive
receptors in the vicinity of the new school and identifies the existing Wheatfield
Primary School as the nearest noise sensitive receptor. The assessment concludes
that the rating level of plant noise when assessed at the nearest noise sensitive
receptor should not exceed 47dB LA,Tr to ensure that it is at least 5 dB below the
prevailing background sound level and will therefore not be audible. Condition 30 is
therefore recommended to ensure that this limit is applied (although noting that the
proposals do indicate that the plant associated with the school building is proposed
to be contained internally).
75. An assessment of noise from community use in the school hall outside normal
school hours has also been carried out. However, the results indicate that use of
the school hall outside of normal school hours would not be audible at the nearest
noise sensitive receptors. Notwithstanding this, condition 20 does require details to
be submitted in relation to the proposed out of hours use of the school hall and
other facilities on site, in order to ensure such use would not be harmful to
surrounding amenities.

53

76. As mentioned, the nearest noise sensitive receptor is the Wheatfield Primary
school, which lies adjacent to the west boundary of the application site. The
proposed layout of the site would result in the school playing fields being located
adjacent to the car-park and external playing fields of the adjacent school and not
directly adjacent to the school building itself. It is considered that this arrangement
is acceptable with regards to potential noise impacts from/to the adjacent school
and it is noted that there have been no concerns raised by the adjacent school with
regards to the proposals.
77. Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the construction period will be
managed and minimised as far as is reasonable through good practice and through
adherence to the Construction Environmental Management Plan. It is noted that the
school building will be a modular build (built off-site) and as such the degree of
construction activity on site would be significantly less than if the building was being
wholly constructed on site. The hours of construction activity would be controlled by
proposed condition 4.
Sustainable Design/Construction:
78. Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy features
and minimising energy and water consumption. This is amplified by MDDLP policies
CC04: Sustainable design and construction and CC05: Renewable energy and
decentralised energy networks and the Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010). As the proposal is a nonresidential proposal of over 1000sqm, Policy CC05 also advises that planning
permission will only be granted for such proposals that deliver a minimum 10%
reduction in carbon emissions through renewable energy or low carbon technology.
79. A sustainability and energy statement has been submitted alongside the application
which sets out the various renewable and low energy technology measures
proposed to be used in the design of the development in order to reduce energy
demand on site, and as such, reduce CO2 emissions. The proposed energy
efficiency measures for the design of the school include the adoption of a fabric first
approach, and in addition, the use of photovoltaics (PV) solar panels, and air source
heat pumps as renewable energy measures. Through a simulated modelling
exercise, the report concludes that the proposals would result in carbon reductions
of over 100% above building regulation requirements. This is a welcomed approach
which would result in a development that would exceed the carbon reduction
requirements of Policy CC05. The applicant’s planning statement also advises that
the construction of the school will be undertaken having regard to the principles of
BREEAM. Proposed Condition 26 therefore recommends that the development is
carried out in accordance with the proposed energy and sustainability measures
identified within the report.
Heritage:
80. The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 establishes a
statutory duty to consider the effect on heritage assets: development should
preserve or enhance the character and setting of listed buildings. In considering
designated heritage assets, the NPPF (Para 132) requires ‘great weight to be given
to the asset’s conservation’, and that any harm should require ‘clear and convincing
justification’. The MDD Local Plan (TB24) requires that ‘…works to or affecting

54

heritage assets or their setting to demonstrate that the proposals would at least
conserve and, where possible enhance the important character and special
architectural or historic interest of the building.’
81. The Application Site does not contain any nationally designated (protected) heritage
assets, such as scheduled monuments, listed buildings or registered parks and
gardens. The site is also not located within a Conservation Area. As such, the
proposal raises no concerns with regards to impacts upon any designated heritage
assets.
Archaeology:
82. MDD Policy TB25 states that in areas of high archaeological potential, applicants
will be required to provide a detailed assessment of the impact on archaeological
remains. If development is likely to affect an area of high archaeological potential or
an area which is likely to contain archaeological remains, the presumption is that
appropriate measures shall be taken to protect remains by preservation in situ.
Where this is not practical, applicants shall provide for excavation, recording and
archiving of the remains.
83. Berkshire Archaeology have responded on the application and advise that due to
there being archaeological potential on the site (based on their understanding o
known archaeology in the area) condition 31 is proposed, requiring the submission
of a written scheme of investigation to be submitted for approval in consultation with
Berkshire Archaeology.
Community Infrastructure Levy and Special Protection Area (SPA):
84. The nature of the proposed development is not CIL liable and due to the nature of
the proposals being for a school development, they would not give rise to issues
concerning possible impacts up on the SPA.
Employment Skills:
85. Policy TB12 of the Wokingham Borough Council MDD, requires planning
applications for all major development (both commercial and residential) in
Wokingham Borough to submit an employment skills plan (ESP) with a
supporting method statement.
86. An employment skills plan has been submitted alongside the application which sets
out local employment opportunities for the proposed development. This has been
reviewed and considered acceptable. Condition 32 is therefore recommended to
ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted details.
CONCLUSION
For the reasons outlined in the above report, the SEN school proposals are
considered to be a sustainable development site that would offer significant benefit
to help meet an identified pressing need for additional SEN provision within the
Borough. The proposed design of the school is considered to be of high quality and
although the site is not located within the existing settlement boundary, the principle
of the development is considered to accord with the policy exception criteria
concerning out of settlement proposals. There are also no significant impacts to
existing residents or the adjacent school. The benefits and proposed mitigation
measures of the scheme are considered to outweigh any harm identified and as such
there are not considered to be any resulting harmful impacts arising from the

55

proposals which would warrant the refusal of planning permission on this basis. There
are no other material planning considerations of significant weight that would dictate
that the application should be refused. Officers therefore recommend the application
for approval, subject to the conditions listed.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.
Encs. Site location plan; Site layout plan; floor plans and elevations; Photos; Winnersh
Parish Council comments

56

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED

CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE

NOTES:
1. This drawing should be read in conjunction with all other relevant details, drawings and specifications:
3. All dimensions are to be checked on site before the commencement of works. Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect &
Engineer for verification. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing.
4.
The DWG file is issued for the purposes of coordination only and do not represent formal drawing issue and are not to be reprinted in any
form. Formal issue of drawings is via DWF, Adobe PDF files and/or hard copies and their associated information issue sheets.
5. Note that all care has been taken with the export of DWG files and their content, but we recommend that you make due dimensional checks
before using any DWG file information. Any errors found are to be reported to MAC Consulting immediately.
6.
All levels are shown in metres above Ordnance Datum (m AOD).
7. In the event of any contradiction between this drawing and the specification, then the contractor shall seek clarification from the landscape
architect before proceeding.
8.
The works on site affect statutory undertakers apparatus, where the contractor is required to verify the location and depth of all such
apparatus prior to commencement of work and to take any precautions necessary when working in the vicinity of apparatus.
SIGNIFICANT HEALTH AND SAFETY HAZARDS
CDM - RESIDUAL RISKS
The following are considered to be significant risks relevant to this drawing, which could not be fully mitigated or removed through design.
Further possible control measures have been identified within the Design Risk Assessments which may help to mitigate these and other identified
risks further during the construction / maintenance process;
1.
2.
3.
4.

deep excavations - collapse
deep excavations - working at height/depth, fall & falling objects
buried services
possible soil contaminants

LOCATION PLAN KEY
OAK TREE SEN SCHOOL
APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY - 2.16Ha

57
0

25

50
Meters

P02

P01
REV

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SIZE

DRAWN BY

CLIENT

PROJECT

11/08/2021

PLANNING REVISION

18/05/2021

FOR PLANNING
DESCRIPTION

DATE

REVISION

2093-MAC-XX-XX-DR-L-01000

MC

MS

MC

MS

DRN

CHK

P02

LOCATION PLAN
SCALE

A1

CHECKED

MC

1:1250
MS

DATE

STATUS

REDS10
OAK TREE SEN
WINNERSH
WOKINGHAM
01

MAC CONSULTING (SCOTLAND) LIMITED
LANDSCAPE - SPORTS - ENVIRONMENT
EDINBURGH
T: 01890761330
E: info@macconsultinglimited.com
W: macconsultinglimited.com

COPYRIGHT © MAC Consulting (Scotland) Limited.
Not to be reproduced without written consent of MAC Consulting (Scotland) Limited

17/05/2021
S3

This page is intentionally left blank

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED

CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE

NOTES:
1. This drawing should be read in conjunction with all other relevant details, drawings and specifications:
3. All dimensions are to be checked on site before the commencement of works. Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect &
Engineer for verification. Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this drawing.
4.
The DWG file is issued for the purposes of coordination only and do not represent formal drawing issue and are not to be reprinted in any
form. Formal issue of drawings is via DWF, Adobe PDF files and/or hard copies and their associated information issue sheets.
5. Note that all care has been taken with the export of DWG files and their content, but we recommend that you make due dimensional checks
before using any DWG file information. Any errors found are to be reported to MAC Consulting immediately.
6.
All levels are shown in metres above Ordnance Datum (m AOD).
7. In the event of any contradiction between this drawing and the specification, then the contractor shall seek clarification from the landscape
architect before proceeding.
8.
The works on site affect statutory undertakers apparatus, where the contractor is required to verify the location and depth of all such
apparatus prior to commencement of work and to take any precautions necessary when working in the vicinity of apparatus.
SIGNIFICANT HEALTH AND SAFETY HAZARDS
CDM - RESIDUAL RISKS
The following are considered to be significant risks relevant to this drawing, which could not be fully mitigated or removed through design.
Further possible control measures have been identified within the Design Risk Assessments which may help to mitigate these and other identified
risks further during the construction / maintenance process;
1.
2.
3.
4.

deep excavations - collapse
deep excavations - working at height/depth, fall & falling objects
buried services
possible soil contaminants

WHOLE SITE PLAN KEY
Min. 700m2 RPA
Min. 700m2 RPA

OAK TREE SEN SCHOOL
APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY
AREA RETAINED AS EXISTING

EXISTING TREE RETAINED

G38 - C
1
Hawtho
rn
English , Blackthorn,
Elm

T36 - C
2
Field M
aple

T35 - C
2
Ash

T34 - C
2
Ash

T33 - A
2
Comm
on

T32 - A
2
Comm
on

T31 - U
Ash

Oak

T30 - U
Comm
on

T29 - U
Ash

T28 - C
2
Ash

G38 - C
1
Hawtho
rn
English , Blackthorn,
Elm

ROOT PROTECTION AREA

EXISTING HEDGEROW RETAINED

Oak

Oak

SOFT OUTDOOR PE

VEHICULAR HARDSTANDING
Refer to drawings 00003 to 00006

SCOOTER TRACK

PEDESTRIAN HARDSTANDING
Refer to drawings 00003 to 00006

HARD OUTDOOR PE

MUGA HARD SPORTS SURFACE
Refer to drawing 00015

SCOOTER

QUIET GARDEN
HARD INFORMAL & SOCIAL
(SECONDARY PLAYGROUND)

SCOOTER PARK
Refer to drawing 00016

HARD INFORMAL & SOCIAL
(PRIMARY PLAYGROUND)

PE STORE

PROPOSED TREE PLANTING
Refer to drawings 00011 to 00014

SCHOOL
BUILDING
FFL 51.000

PROPOSED MOWN GRASS AREAS
Refer to drawings 00011 to 00014
PROPOSED HEDGEROW PLANTING
Refer to drawings 00011 to 00014

PRIMARY
ENTRANCE

OUTDOOR
DINING

MAIN
ENTRANCE

DELIVERIES

HARD INFORMAL & SOCIAL
(PRIMARY)

MAINT. ACCESS

HARD INFORMAL & SOCIAL

SECONDARY
ENTRANCE

PROPOSED GROUNDCOVER PLANTING
Refer to drawings 00011 to 00014

SUBSTATION
& TANK

Sprinkler Pump House
Raised Plinth

Slab Edge

Slab Edge

TANK

PROPOSED LONG GRASS WILDFLOWER AREAS
Refer to drawings 00011 to 00014

SUB

PROPOSED FENCELINE
Refer to drawings 00019 & 00020
TIMBER CLAD BIN STORE
4.9 x 6.2m, refer to drawing 00018

SOFT OUTDOOR PE
SECONDARY DROP OFF

CYCLE

HABITAT

PRIMARY DROP OFF

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL
Refer to Engineer's specification
EV

ACCESSIBLE 6 SPACES

BIN
STORE

EV

EV

59

T49 - B
2
Comm
on

Oak

T45 - A
2
Comm
on
T1 - B2
Comm
on

T44 - B
2
Comm
on

EV

Oak

Oak

CAR PARKING
44 SPACES

Min. 700m2 RPA
Oak

T4 - B2
Comm
on

SAFE WALKING ROUTE

VEHICLE
IN

Oak

VEHICLE
OUT

Min. 700m2 RPA
Min. 700m2 RPA

PARKING 40 SPACES

0

10

20
Metres

P06

26/08/2021

MC

MS

SCOOTER TRACK LAYOUT UPDATED

23/08/2021

MC

MS

P04

UPDATE FOR PLANNING

09/08/2021

MC

MS

P03

CONTRACTORS PROPOSALS ISSUE

25/06/2021

MC

MS

P02

CONTRACTORS PROPOSALS

15/06/2021

MC

MS

P05

P01
REV

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SIZE

DRAWN BY

CLIENT

PROJECT

T4 ADDED

18/05/2021

FOR PLANNING
DESCRIPTION

DATE

REVISION

2093-MAC-XX-XX-DR-L-00001

SCALE

A1

CHECKED

MC

1:500
MS

DATE

STATUS

REDS10
OAK TREE SEN

WOKINGHAM
---

SIGNED
DATE
DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION
SIGNED
DATE

MS
CHK

P06

WHOLE SITE PLAN

WINNERSH

MAIDEN ERLEGH TRUST

MC
DRN

MAC CONSULTING (SCOTLAND) LIMITED
LANDSCAPE - SPORTS - ENVIRONMENT
EDINBURGH
T: 01890761330
E: info@macconsultinglimited.com
W: macconsultinglimited.com

COPYRIGHT © MAC Consulting (Scotland) Limited.
Not to be reproduced without written consent of MAC Consulting (Scotland) Limited

28/04/2021
S3

This page is intentionally left blank

1

2

3600

1

8

3

3600

3A 3A

1B

4

3600

2

5

3600

3

5

6

3600

1B

7

3600

6

3

7

8

3600

1A

9

3600

2

3

10

3600

1B

3A

3600

11

1

12

3600

11

3A 1B

13

3600

1A

14

3600

3

5

2

15

3600

3

11

16

3600

1B

1A

17

3600

3A

3

18

3600

10

19

3600

2

20

3700

1A

21

3600

3

22

3600

3A 1B

3600

3

23

3600

24

2

1A

3600

25

9

26

3600

3

3600

1B 2

27

1

3600

1B

28
3A

3600

1

29
3A

3600

11

1B

30
2

RF - Roof
7450

01 - First Floor
3750

00 - Ground Floor
0

South Elevation
Scale: 1 : 100

30

29

3600

2

8

28

3600

11

27

3600

3

26

3600

5

1B

9

2

25

3600

3

3600

8

7

24
1A

23

3600

6

22

3600

1B

3

3A

21

3600

5

10

3600

1

20
3A 3A

3700

1

19

18

3600

1B

5

3600

3

17

12

16

3600

4

1A

3A

15

3600

12

7

3600

1B

14

13

3600

11

3

12

3600

1B

1A

11

3600

10

11

3

10

3600

2

5

1B

9

3600

8

1

8

3600

6

1A

7

3600

2

3

3600

6

5

3600

1A

7

4

3600

3

3A

3600

2

1B

3

2

3600

1

8

1

3600

3A

2

61

RF - Roof
7450

01 - First Floor
3750

00 - Ground Floor
0

North Elevation
Scale: 1 : 100

A

B
7600

9

7

3A

1B

C

D

500

1A

2

5

E

2150

5

F

8100

11

3

6

F

5186

10

6

9

7450

12

4

4

7450

12

7 10

1B

3A

2150

11

5

2

1B

5

B

A

500

3

7600

16

3A

11

1

3A

Parapet
6150

01 - First Floor

01 - First Floor

3750

3750

00 - Ground Floor

00 - Ground Floor

0

0

Scale: 1 : 100

6

8100

C

Parapet
7640

RF - Roof
Parapet
6150

East Elevation

D

5186

Parapet
7640

RF - Roof

E

West Elevation
Scale: 1 : 100
Scale 1 : 100

1

1A

Product: Timber vertical cladding
Colour: Light stain
Product: Timber vertical cladding type 2
Colour: Light stain

6

7

Product: Fixed galv. roof railings

Project

8

Product: Window & Door louvres
Colour: Dark grey RAL 7016

2

Product: Fibre cement planks / Cedral
Colour: Silver grey

9

Product: Polycarbonate canopy
Colour: Structure - Light grey RAL 7035

3

Product: Timber Horizontal cladding
Colour: Light stain

10

Product: Brick plinth
Colour: Dark grey

Product: Timber Horizontal cladding type 2
Colour: Light stain

11

Product: Fixed Roof Access

4

Product: Timber vertical cladding
Colour: Black stain

12

Product: Windcatchers
Colour: Light grey RAL 7035

5

Product: Window and Door frames
Colour: Dark grey RAL 7016

3A

Oak Tree SEND

Product: Parapet capping
Colour: Light grey RAL 7035

Product: Timber vertical cladding type 3
Colour: Light stain

1B

N

N

KEY: EXTERNAL ELEVATIONS

E

W

Client

Title

1 : 100@A0

Elevation Legend

09/06/21

CB

KP

Planning Updates

02/06/21

AP

KP

P02

Issue for Planning

21/05/21

BH

KP

P01

Issue for Planning

18/05/21

BH

KP

Rev

Description

Date

By

Chk

Suitability

S0 WORK IN PROGRESS
Drawing No.

Revision

2093-HLM-B1-XX-DR-A-00305

P04

Drawn

CB

Date

Checked

09/06/21

KP

HLM
Architects

S
Notes Check all dimensions on site. Do not scale from this drawing. Report any discrepancies and
omissions to HLM Architects. This Drawing is Copyright©
1:500
1:100

Planning Updates

P03

Revisions

GA ELEVATIONS COLOUR
Scale @ A 0

P04

50 M
10 M

© HLMArchitects
Wool + Tailor Building
Fifth Floor
10-12 Alie Street
London E1 8DE

www.hlmarchitects.com
T. +44 (0) 20 7921 4800
F. +44 (0) 20 7921 4850
london@hlmarchitects.com

This page is intentionally left blank

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

10

12

13

14

15

17

16

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

1
00206

25

26

27

28

29

30

2
00206

F

F

E

E

HAL50
Main Hall

TOC62
External PE Store

STH08
Pupil WC 5

8 m²

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 7-8

OFF18
Office (premises)

180 m²

CIR00
Circulation

2 m²

11 m²

OFF33
Staff Work Room 1

LIB52
Secondary Library

10 m²

14 m²

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 3

3 m²

1
00205

TOC51
Pupil Change & Showers 2

TOC51
Pupil Change & Showers 1

21 m²

21 m²

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 1

51 m²

1 m²

TOC46
Pupil Toilet Suite 2
6 m²

PRI173
Primary Classroom 1

STH02
Pupil WC 3

51 m²

TOC49
Cloaks 1/2

1 m²

2 m²

CIR06
Wheelchair Bay 1&2

6 m²

TOC47
Cloaks 3/4

STH06
Pupil WC 4

23 m²

TOC50
Circulation

7 m²

PRI173
Primary Classroom 2

52 m²

2 m²

PRI73
Primary Classroom 3

TOC48
Pupil Toilet Suite 1

52 m²

6 m²

52 m²

PRI173
Primary Classroom 6
52 m²

OFF42
Laundry 1

63

CIR12
Stairwell 1

10 m²

17 m²

1

STH03
Pupil WC 2
2 m²

STT266
AWC/Staff WC 2

OFF11
Office 1 (1p)

5 m²

CIR12
Stairwell 2

7 m²

D
STN01
Cloaks

STT40
Te. Store 9

STN31
Cleaners 1

STT40
Te. Store 7

2 m²

2 m²

2 m²

ADM09
MFD Bay 2
3 m²

STN01
Cloaks

1 m²

TOC12
Staff WC Suite
3 m²

26 m²

STH04
Pupil WC 1

TOC12
Staff WC Suite

STH10
Chair/Table Store (off hall)

PLA00
Hub

CIR12
Stairwell 3

12 m²

12 m²

STT40
Te. Store 1

19 m²

PLA05
Distribution Board

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 5-6

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 1-2

STH00
PE Store (off hall)

8 m²

3 m²

3 m²

3 m²

STT10
General St. (central)

10 m²

2 m²

STT40
Te. Store 2

STT40
Te. Store 3

2 m²

2 m²

D

26 m²

STT40
Te. Store 6
2 m²

1 m²

1 m²

C

C

CIR00
Circulation
263 m²

B

PLA05
Distribution Board

STN01
Cloaks
1 m²

2

STN01
Cloaks

STT40
Te. Store 8

1 m²

STN33
Medical St.

1 m²

2 m²

STT40
Te. Store 10

OFF12
Office 2 (1p)

3 m²

8 m²

2 m²

SEN30
Calm 2

RES50
Small Group Room 2

TOC02
Acc Staff Change
5 m²

KIT20
KIT40
Store
Kitchen Toilet/ChangeKitchen
4 m²
3 m²

13 m²

TCO05
Small Hygiene Room 1

6 m²

9 m²

ADM09
MFD Bay 1

SEN13
Speech Therapy

3 m²

ADM31
Ent/ Reception

OFF12
Office (2p)

2 m²

2 m²

12 m²

12 m²

5 m²

PR173
Primary Classroom 4

PR173
Primary Classroom 5

49 m²

11 m²

KIT02
Kitchen Prep/ Servery Suite
OFF33
Staff Work Room 2

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 9-10

OFF11
Office 3 (1p)

15 m²

12 m²

ADM11
Heads office

49 m²

TOC53
Pupil Toilet Suite 3

SEN14
Physiotherapy Room

ADM07
General Office

19 m²

6 m²

TOC54
Cloaks 5/6

29 m²

28 m²

14 m²

CIR03
Secondary Lobby 2

ADM24
Parents/Int Room

SEN40
Sensory Room/Wet Therapy

12 m²

13 m²

TOC06
Sprinkler Room

1 m²

CIR03
Primary Lobby 1

CIR03
Main Entrance Lobby

5 m²

TOC07
Electric Telecoms

CIR00
Circulation

SEN50
Sensory/Immersion Room

51 m²

2
00205

STT127
SG/Discussion Bay 3-4

30 m²

48 m²

B

10 m²

DIN50
Primary Dining Area

61 m²

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 2

STT40
Te. Store 5

13 m²

TOC21
AWC/Staff WC 1

18 m²

12 m²

DIN50
Secondary Dining Area

STT40
Te. Store 4

13 m²

13 m²

47 m²

LIB51
Primary Library

13 m²

CIR00
Circulation

CLA64
Secondary Classroom 4

3 m²

9 m²

ADM03
Sick Bay

SEN30
Calm 1

15 m²

CIR13
Lift 1

RES50
Small Group Room 1

13 m²

SEN11
SEN therapy/MI room

TOC52
Circulation

11 m²

5 m²

7 m²

6 m²

A

A

1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

2

N

Project

Title

P01

Issue for Planning

18/05/21

BH

KP

Rev

Description

Date

By

Chk

Revisions

Oak Tree SEND

GROUND FLOOR GA /
REFERENCE

Suitability

S0 WORK IN PROGRESS
Drawing No.

Revision

2093-HLM-B1-00-DR-A-00105
Client

Scale @ A0

1 : 100@A0

Drawn

BH

Date

Checked

18/05/21

KP

HLM
Architects

Notes Check all dimensions on site. Do not scale from this drawing. Report any discrepancies and
omissions to HLM Architects. This Drawing is Copyright©
1:100

P01

10 M

© HLMArchitects
Wool + Tailor Building
Fifth Floor
10-12 Alie Street
London E1 8DE

www.hlmarchitects.com
T. +44 (0) 20 7921 4800
F. +44 (0) 20 7921 4850
london@hlmarchitects.com

This page is intentionally left blank

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

10

12

13

14

15

17

16

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

1
00206

25

26

27

28

29

30

2
00206

F

F

E

E
RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 13-14

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 17-18

12 m²

12 m²

TOC12
Staff WC Suite

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 19

3 m²

6 m²

STT08
Drama Store
10 m²

STH17
Pupil WC 9
2 m²

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 6

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 9

51 m²

1
00205

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 12

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 10

STH13
Pupil WC 8

51 m²

51 m²

PLA13
Server
13 m²

CLA53
Post-16 Classroom

RES70
Life Skills Kitchen

51 m²

54 m²

CLA70
ICT-Rich Classroom

PER60
Music/Drama Studio

STT17
Store (music)

54 m²

54 m²

7 m²

2 m²

51 m²

65

RES50
Small Group Room 4

RES50
Small Group Room 5

14 m²

14 m²

1
STH14
Pupil WC 7
CIR12
Stairwell 5

CIR12
Stairwell 4

24 m²

STN32
Gen St. (maintenance)

24 m²

26 m²

D

CIR12
Stairwell 6

2 m²

STT40
Te. Store 14

STT40
Te. Store 12

STT187
Cloaks

2 m²

2 m²

1 m²

STT15
Cloaks

STT16
Cloaks

1 m²

1 m²

STT40
Te. Store 16

STH16
Pupil WC 6

STT40
Te. Store 18

2 m²

2 m²

2 m²

STT18
Cloaks

4 m²

STN31
Cleaners 2

1 m²

2

PLA07
Riser

1 m²

1 m²

STT40
Te. Store 11

STT40
Te. Store 13

2 m²

STT12
Cloaks

STT13
Cloaks

1 m²

1 m²

STT40
Te. Store 15

STN31
Cleaners 4

1 m²

2 m²

2 m²

STN31
Cleaners 3
2 m²

PLA05
Distribution Board

D

1 m²

1 m²

C
PLA05
Riser

OFF36
Wheelchair Bay 3&4

2 m²

3 m²

TOC21
AWC/Staff WC 4

2 m²

TOC12
Staff WC Suite

2 m²

RES50
Small Group Room 3

STT14
Cloaks

STT40
Te. Store 17

2 m²

350350

247 m²

PLA05
Distribution Board

PLA05
Distribution Board

1 m²

1 m²

C
STT198
Cloaks

CIR02
RF Escape

5 m²

STT40
Te. Store 19

STT19
Cloaks

2 m²

CIR00
Circulation

B

TOC21
AWC/Staff WC 3

TOC20
Lift 2

STN32
Gen St. (maintenance)

3 m²

3 m²

5 m²

4 m²

2
00205

STT35
Store (off food)

TOC05
Small Hygiene Room 2

STN21
Secure Exam St 1

12 m²

B

1 m²

5 m²

9 m²

6 m²

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 7

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 5

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 8

47 m²

TOC59
AWC/Staff WC 5

CLA63
Secondary Classroom 11

6 m²

50 m²

X
External Plant

48 m²

47 m²

OFF21
Staff Room (prep and social)

PLA01
Central Plant Room

OFF41
Conference/Meeting Room

82 m²

47 m²

52 m²

DAT60
Secondary Art & Design Studio
62 m²

22 m²

OFF15
Office (ICT)
15 m²

16 m²

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 15-16

RES56
SG/Discussion Bay 11-12

62 m²

54 m²

DIN80
Sixth-Form Social Space

24 m²

OFF35
Staff Rm

DAT80
Secondary Food Room

SCI53
Secondary Science Studio

STT07
Store (Science)

12 m²

12 m²

STT06
Store (off art)

10 m²

11 m²

A

A

1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

2

N

Project

Title

P01

Issue for Planning

18/05/21

BH

KP

Rev

Description

Date

By

Chk

Revisions

Oak Tree SEND

FIRST FLOOR GA /
REFERENCE

Suitability

S0 WORK IN PROGRESS
Drawing No.

Revision

2093-HLM-B1-01-DR-A-00106
Client

Scale @ A0

1 : 100@A0

Drawn

BH

Date

Checked

18/05/21

KP

HLM
Architects

Notes Check all dimensions on site. Do not scale from this drawing. Report any discrepancies and
omissions to HLM Architects. This Drawing is Copyright©
1:100

P01

10 M

© HLMArchitects
Wool + Tailor Building
Fifth Floor
10-12 Alie Street
London E1 8DE

www.hlmarchitects.com
T. +44 (0) 20 7921 4800
F. +44 (0) 20 7921 4850
london@hlmarchitects.com

This page is intentionally left blank

67

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 211772
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Winnersh Community Centre
: New Road, Sindlesham, Wokingham
: RG41 5DX
SUBMITTED BY
: Winnersh Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 14/06/2021
COMMENTS:
Traffic modelling is required, this is not in the supporting
documentation. The Council would like to see that the traffic
modelling shows no detrimental impact on the surrounding road
network.
Transport assessment page 9 Swept path analysis whilst th is is acceptable on
a lightly trafficked road, we are concerned about future developments taking
place with additional traffic and vehicles having to utilise the opposite side
of the carriageway to access the junction.
P 17 Transport assessment The min imum electrical charge points have been
included in the plans, at a time when we are actively trying to lower carbon
emissions, this should be doubled to 8 active and 8 passive charging points.
Air Quality the WBC reports that are being used are from 2019 when the SMART
motorway was being constructed and the speed limit was 50MPH. The Air Quality
Assessment and forecast study should use data from when the motorway is running
at full capacity and at 70MPH. If the new link road opens up 100
dwellings, t his will have a direct impact on air quality at the
school.
Design and access statement This stated on page 14 that there is a root
protection zone around tree T44, but elsewhere tree T44 will be felled, the
Council would like confirmation on the fellin g and if it is planned to be
felled feel that the car park should be redesigned to save the tree which is a
Category B with over 20 years of life, and add any parking bays to the overflow
area.
Allotments urgent discussions are needed with Winnersh Pari sh Council and the
allotment holders about existing and proposed access, the boundaries and the
toilet.

69

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 36.
Application Number
211081
Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Type
Officer
Reason for
consideration
by Planning
Committee

Expiry Date
29 October 2021 (ext)

Parish
Barkham

Ward
Barkham

Wokingham Borough Council
Barkham Farms (High Barn Farm and part of Brook Farm and Rooks
Nest Farm), Barkham RG40 4EX
Full application for EIA development for the proposed installation of a
new 52ha solar farm for a temporary period of 25 years including
underground grid connection between site and Electricity Distribution
Centre, laying of internal access road, the erection of substation
building security fencing and associated landscaping with
approximately 2.9ha of tree planting for carbon sequestration
Full
Simon Taylor
1) Major application (> 1 hectare)
2) EIA development
3) Council application on Council owned land
The final determination is subject to further consideration by the
Secretary of State (SoS). This report and the Committee’s
recommendation will be forwarded to the SoS for review. The initial
‘call-in’ is attached to this report.

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday 8 September 2021
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
Wokingham Borough Council declared a Climate Emergency in July 2019, which
commits the Council to playing as full a role as possible in reducing our carbon footprint
to be net carbon zero by 2030. The Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan was
published in January 2020. Section 3 includes opportunities such as the Council using
“its own land holdings and assets to increase the contribution of renewable energy to the
grid electricity supply through the creation of solar farms and the installation of solar
panels on buildings where possible.”
The subject application forms a key part of meeting this obligation. It involves a 52hectare solar farm on agricultural land (High Barn Farm, Brook Farm and Rooks Nest
Farm) owned by Wokingham Council at Barkham Ride and Commonfield Lane,
Barkham. It includes the installation of 67,340 solar photovoltaic panels, inverters, five
transformers and cabins, a sub-station and grid connection to a site 2km to the north on
Barkham Road with vehicle access through the site, 2.4m high fencing around the
perimeter and associated lighting and CCTV.
It also includes the planting of 10,947 trees as a carbon sequestration project across
2.9ha of land at the very south of the site and improvements to the public footpath
network by linking the south through the site to existing footpaths around Church Lane in
the north. The lifespan of the solar panels is 25 years whereby the use will be
decommissioned and the site reverted to its current state. As part of more recent
amendments to the scheme, 5.5 ha of agricultural land will also be retained for the
existing tenant farmer.

71

The application is an EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) application and has been
subject to a screening process. It was consulted to approximately 3,300 nearby
residents with 68 submissions (11 for, 1 neutral and 56 against). Barkham Parish
Council have given conditional support though the neighbouring parish councils at
Finchampstead and Wokingham Town have both raised objection. The Secretary of
State has asked to review the application prior to determination to decide whether or not
to call in the application.
The application has been subject to amendments and reconsultation in August 2021.
Following these changes and the submission of additional information, no objections
have been raised (subject to conditions) by the Council’s Highways Officer, Ecology
Officer and Drainage Officer. The Council’s Trees Officer maintains some reservations in
relation to the impact from Rooks Nest Wood but otherwise conforms support. The
Council’s Rights of Way Officer has also sought additional ancillary works and the
Council’s Conservation Officer raises objection in relation to the proximity to the
collection of heritage assets near Barkham Square. Externally, no objections are raised
by the Environment Agency and Natural England but Historic England maintain their
objection on the same grounds as the Council’s Conservation Officer.
The primary issues that have been identified with the scheme are:

Use of Grade 2 and 3a Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land

Visual harm to the rural landscape and whether there is sufficient mitigation to
offset impacts

Encroachment of development between Finchampstead and Arborfield

Harm to the setting and in views of the listed buildings and scheduled monument at
Church Lane

Potential harm to nearby archaeological artefacts from construction works

Hedgerow loss along Barkham Ride

Traffic implications during the construction phase, including from deliveries along
Barkham Street and roadworks to Barkham Road
There are planning policies and considerations that pull in different directions and when
weighing the overall planning balance between the aforementioned impacts and the
significant benefits of the schemes in terms of achievement of the stated aims and
objectives of the Council with respect to reducing carbon emissions, the application
weighs in favour of the latter. Conditional approval is therefore recommended, subject to
the following more specific conditions:









Temporary permission for 25 years (Condition 3) and submission of remediation
and decommissioning details for the end of its lifespan (Condition 28)
Landscaping details relating to ground levels, soft landscaping, tree protection and
management responsibilities (Conditions 4-7)
Heritage information boards within the Greenway (Condition 8)
Greenway details as required in Conditions 10 and 11
Highways crossing details, a Construction Traffic Management Plan and
Construction Environmental Management Plan (Conditions 11-14)
Restrictions on HGV deliveries in Condition 26
Ecological details in a Landscape Environmental Management Plan, Construction
Environmental Management Plan, lighting details and ecological permeability
measures in Conditions 14-16
Details of CCTV, external materials and lighting (Conditions 17-19)

72






Final drainage details in Condition 20
Additional measures to protect against any identified adverse glare (Condition 22)
Communications Plan for resident liaison (Condition 23)
Noise measures to protect against night time disturbance in Condition 24
PLANNING CONSRAINTS AND STATUS

Countryside (except Barkham Road)

WBC owned land (High Barn Farm, Brook Farm and Rooks Nest Farm)

Public Rights of Way
Bridleway BARK BR 14 I along southern boundary
Restricted byway along Commonfield Lane
Bridleway BARK BR 11 II from Barkham Road and to Church of St James
Footpath BARK FP 10A I through northern end of site
Proposed new route from Barkham Road to Church Lane

Overhead cable and pylon buffer zone (north-south through site) and connecting
to Electricity Substation 10032930533

Burghfield Major Nuclear Site Consultation Zone (12km zone)

Flood Zone 2 (along Barkham Brook at northern end of site)

Land liable to surface flooding (along Barkham Brook at northern end of site)

Potentially contaminated land consultation zone (part of Barkham Road)

Nitrate vulnerable zone (surface water)

Tree Preservation Orders (lining Barkham Road)

Veteran trees (interspersed through site and along Barkham Road)

Green Route (Barkham Road)

Agricultural land (Grade 2 to the south and Grade 3a to the north)

Bat consultation zone

Bat roost suitability

Badger sett consultation zone (two separate areas to the south and two areas
along Barkham Road)

Site of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zone

Site of Special Scientific Interest (Longmoor Bog adjoining to the south)

Rooks Nest Woods SANG (adjoins to the east)

Local wildlife site (to the east and south and near Barkham Road

Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (5km zone)

Priority habitat (woodland to the south and grassland)

Local Geological Sites (LGSs): Barkham Iron-Rich Streams (to the east)

Local Nature reserve (adjoining to the south)

Barkham Church and Manor Area of Special Character (adjoins to the west)

Scheduled Monument (Church Farm and Moat adjoins to the north west)

Adjacent to Listed Buildings (Grade II Church Cottage, Grade II Church of St
James, Grade II Barkham Square adjoin or in proximity to the west)

Building of Traditional Local Character (Brook Farm House within proximity to the
west)

Arborfield Garrison Strategic Development Location (adjoins to the south west)

Sites to the west and east recommended for inclusion in the Local Plan update

Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone

Heathrow Aerodrome wind turbine safeguarding zone

Bounded by a non-classified road and adopted highway (except Barkham Road
which is a classified road)

73

LB
ASC

Settlement limits
(Arborfield SDL)

SM

Farm
buildings

Settlement
limits
(Finchampstead)
Built constraints (Key: SM – Scheduled Monument, ASC – Area of Special Character, LB – Listed building)

Grade 3a
agricultural land

Flood
zones
2/3

Rooks Nest
Wood SANG

Grade 2
agricultural land
SSSI Risk Zone

Local
Geological
Site

TPOs

Longmoor Bog
LNR and SSSI
Natural constraints
(Key: Veteran trees shown in green diamonds). Note: The agricultural grade classification has been updated
March 2021 as part of this application. See paragraph 25 for further details)

74

RECOMMENDATION
In consideration of the Environmental Statement which has been received under the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017,
the Committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the
following:
A. Receipt of confirmation from the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities
and Local Government that he does not wish to call the application in for
determination.
B. Prior completion of a legal undertaking to secure an Employment Skills Plan. If
the undertaking is not submitted and agreed within 3 months of the date of this
resolution, Planning Permission will be refused unless the Operational Manager for
Development Management in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning
Committee agree to a later date.
C. The following conditions and informatives
Conditions
1)

Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2)

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the following plans:
Plan number
70074897-XX-XX-DP-008-P03
70074897-XX-XX-DP-005-P01
70074897-XX-XX-DP-006A-P02

Rev
P03
P05
P02

70074897-XX-XX-DP-006B-P02

P02

70074897-XX-XX-RN-001

0

70074897-XX-XX-RN-002
70074897-XX-XX-RN-003

P06
0

70074897-XX-XX-RN-004

0

70074897-XX-XX-RN-005
70074897-XX-XX-RN-006

0
0

70074897-XX-XX-TP-010
BFSF-WSP-XX-DR-LA-001
BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171

P02
P02
P03

75

Drawing title
Site Location Plan
Site Access Visibility Splays
Swept Path Analysis – Site
Construction South Access
Swept Path Analysis – Site
Construction North Access
PV Mounting Cross Section
PV layout
Road And Trench Cross
Section
PV Fencing, CCTV, Mast
and Gate Scheme
MV Transformer Layout
Substation Building
Footprint
Site Layout Plan
Environmental Masterplan

Dated
24 March 2021
19 August 2021
12 July 2021
12 July 2021
13 January
2021
26 July 2021
25 January
2021
25 January
2021
8 February 2021
25 January
2021
27 July 2021
27 July 2021
24 March 2021

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100172
BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100173
BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100174
BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100175
WSP-70074897-DR-001
WSP-70074897-DR-002

P03
P03
P03
P03
P03
P03

Proposed Long Section
(Sheets 1-5)

Drainage Constraints Plan
Surface Water Drainage
Strategy

24 March 2021
24 March 2021
24 March 2021
24 March 2021
27 July 2021
27 July 2021

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and
before implementation with the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3)

Temporary permission
With the exception of the Greenway improvements, tree and hedgerow planting
and associated works, the planning permission hereby permitted is for a maximum
period of 25 years of electricity generation, after which electricity generation is to
cease. The solar panels and all ancillary infrastructure including fencing, are to be
removed from the site and the land is to be restored to a favourable condition at
the end of this 25-year period in accordance with the details approved under
condition 4 of this permission. The same provisions apply if electricity generation
permanently ceases prior to the end of the 25-year period.
Written confirmation of the date of commissioning of the development (defined as
the date on which the solar farm is put into active operation for the generation of
electricity) shall be submitted to the local planning authority within one month of
that date.
Reason: To safeguard the long-term landscape and visual amenity of the countryside
and to allow for agricultural use in the future.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies CC03 and TB21.

4)

Ground and building levels
Prior to the commencement of development (inclusive of below ground works),
hereby permitted, a plan prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of
existing and proposed finished ground levels (in relation to a fixed datum point) shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved
scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the first generation of electricity.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to surrounding
buildings and landscape.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.

76

5)

Landscaping details
Prior to the commencement of development (inclusive of below ground works),
hereby permitted, full and final details of the hard and soft landscaping scheme shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
These details shall include the details in the Environmental Masterplan numbered
BFSF-WSP-XX-DR-LA-001, Rev P02, amended to include
a)
b)
c)

d)

Dispersed planting in the area to the south east of Church Cottages
Additional hedgerow to the south of Barkham Ride as this boundary is relatively
open
Additional hedgerow to the south-east of the Greenway separating the open
area through which the Greenway will pass from the PV panels to the southeast
Replacement hedgerow behind visibility splays for new accesses off Barkham
Ride

and include the following additional provisions, as appropriate:
a)
b)
c)
d)

e)
f)
g)
h)

Proposed finished levels or contours
Car parking layouts and vehicle and internal road access, including any level
changes and surfacing
Hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structures
Planting specification (including cultivation and other operations associated with
plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants noting species, sizes,
numbers, and densities
Means of enclosure, including elevations of fencing and gates
Planting plan
Implementation timetable, including earlier planting in and around the heritage
assets at Church Cottages
Details as include in the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment – Update, WSP (ref:
70069260) Appendix 6-7, dated August 2021

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details in accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are removed,
die, or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of species, size and number as originally approved and
permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, to secure a biodiversity net gain and for
mitigation of the impact on the setting of heritage assets.
Relevant policy: NPPF Sections 15 and 16, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03, TB21, TB24 and TB26.
6)

Landscape management
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a landscape
management plan, including long term design objectives, management

77

responsibilities, timescales, and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved for the 25-year
lifespan of the development.
Reason: To ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of the
landscaping hereby approved.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
7)

Tree protection
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an Arboricultural
Method Statement and Scheme of Works shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. It shall provide for the retention and protection
of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in accordance with
BS5837: 2012 has. No development or other operations shall take place except in
complete accordance with the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the
Approved Scheme).
No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use
of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works
required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme.
The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has
first been sought and obtained
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which are
of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and other
works commence.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.

8)

Interpretative boards
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of
interpretive heritage information boards to be installed along the Greenway and detailing
the significance of Church Cottages and associated heritage assets shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority, The details shall include the type of
board, location and information contained within the boards. The approved boards shall

78

be fully installed prior to the first generation of electricity and maintained therefore
for the life of the Greenway.
Reason: To provide historical information of the heritage assets at Church Lane for
users of the Greenway.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 16 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy TB24 and TB25.
9)

Archaeological investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, including any
landscaping, stripping and other ground preparation, a comprehensive programme of
archaeological investigation shall be implemented, in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation first submitted to and approved by the local planning
authority.
The written scheme of investigation should allow for post-investigation assessment
and analysis, and provision for publication of results and archiving. The results of the
archaeological investigations shall inform the production of a mitigation strategy, to
be approved by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of the
development. The mitigation strategy will outline appropriate means of mitigating the
impact of the development on archaeological assets identified and may include
preservation by record through further archaeological investigation, and preservation
in situ of significant archaeology, to be achieved via redesign, engineering solutions
or relocation of elements of the development.
Any further phases of archaeological investigation or recording will require the
approval of an additional written scheme of investigation.
The development shall take place in accordance with the mitigation strategy, to
ensure proper treatment of archaeological assets surviving within the site
Reason: The site is within an area of high archaeological potential, as demonstrated
by archaeological assessment and the Berkshire Historic Environment Record.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 16, Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy TB25.

10) Rights of way details
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of works t
to existing and proposed rights of ways, including the greenway through the site,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These
details shall include but not be specifically limited to:
a)
b)

c)
d)

Existing and proposed levels
Widths and alignment (including the Greenway being setback from the
hedgerow at the northern end of the site to allow growth without continued
maintenance
Directional signage
Surfacing, including of spurs and connecting paths (including the laying of an
aggregate path (type 1 granite and dust) for a 15m length of Footpaths 8 and
10A from the Greenway

79

e)
f)
g)
h)

Construction timetable and details of temporary closures of existing footpaths
and alternate access where necessary
Measures to safeguard the implementation of a bridleway link between
Bridleway 11 and the approved greenway, including soil and ground cover
Measures in accordance with the findings of the solar glint and glare
assessment in Condition 22
Temporary and permanent post and rail fencing

Reason: To ensure satisfactory implementation of the greenway and associated
infrastructure for the benefit of local users.
Relevant policy: NPPF Paragraph 100 and Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP6
and CP11.
11) Crossing across Barkham Ride
Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to the
commencement of the development hereby permitted, full details of the pedestrian
crossing across Barkham Ride shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
The crossing point shall be designed to facilitate the safe crossing of pedestrians,
cyclists and horse riders and incorporate a signalised crossing (eg a Pegasus
crossing), unless otherwise agreed with the local planning authority. The crossing
point shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the details approved.
Reason: To ensure the delivery of a safe crossing of Barkham Ride that does not
unduly impact upon other important elements of the scheme, such as ecology and
landscape views.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 and CP6.
12) Construction of access
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, the
accesses shall be constructed in accordance with details (including the use of
permeable and bonded material) in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and to avoid spillage of
loose material onto the highway.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6.
13) Construction Traffic Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a
Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CTMP should include
the principles contained within the draft CTMP dated March 2021 in addition to
full details of the following:
a)
b)
c)

Location of wheel washing facilities
Routing of construction traffic
Details of street sweeping

80

d)
e)
f)
g)

A detailed green travel plan
Cycle parking
Traffic management
A detailed construction schedule to include construction vehicles and day
to day travel of construction workers

The development is to be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved
document for the life of the construction period.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour
amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6.
14) Construction Environmental Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include the details contained
within the draft CEMP dated March 2021, the additional information contained within
an updated and approved Construction Traffic Management Plan as required by
Condition 13 and details of the avoidance and mitigation measures for protected
species as set out in the Environmental Statement Addendum table 4.2. The
development is to be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved document for
the life of the construction period.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour
amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6.
15) Landscape Environmental Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a landscape and
ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall accord with the aims
and objectives of management with the provision of biodiversity net gain for a
minimum period of 30 years, as per the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment
– Update, WSP, ref: 70069260 Appendix 6-7, August 2021. More specifically, it shall
include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
Aims and objectives of management.
Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
Prescriptions for management actions.
Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being
rolled forward over a five-year period).
Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.
Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
Details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery

81

j)

Where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives
of the LEMP are not being met), how contingencies and/or remedial action will
be identified, agreed, and implemented so that the development still delivers the
fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme.

The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to secure a biodiversity net gain.
Relevant policy: NPPF paragraph 174.
16) Ecological Permeability
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed scheme
to maintain the ecological permeability of the site (especially with regard to badgers,
brown hare, and hedgehogs) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The mitigation and contingency measures contained within
the plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless
otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: to ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Section 41 NERC
Act re. UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Species (Species of Principal
Importance), and complies with Planning Policies for Wildlife including CP7 of
the Wokingham Borough Core Strategy (2010) and TB23 of the Wokingham
Borough Managing Development Delivery (2014)
17) Closed Circuit Television
Prior to the commencement of the development, hereby permitted, details of all
closed-circuit television (CCTV) across the site shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority This shall include numbers, location and
direction of cameras and the associated poles, including elevations.
Reason: To protect the character of the countryside and rural setting.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy TB21.
18) Materials and colours
Prior to the commencement of the development, hereby permitted, details of the
materials and colours of the of the external surfaces of the transformer and
substation buildings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance
with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and
complements the countryside and rural setting.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy TB21.

82

19) External lighting details
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an external
lighting strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The strategy shall:
a)

b)

c)

Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for protected
species, including bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around
their breeding sites and resting places or along important routes used to access
key areas of their territory, for example, for foraging
Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of
appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be
clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above
species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting
places
Include details of lighting, being sensor activated, building mounted lighting at
the substation and transformer buildings

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in
accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other external
lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority, including
during the construction phase.
Reason: In the interests of amenity.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3, and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.
20)

Drainage strategy

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed
Drainage Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Strategy shall be supported by evidence of ground conditions
and modelling of the scheme to demonstrate it is technically feasible and will protect
existing assets at St James Church and retain existing water flows and levels within
the moat around Church Cottages, Where applicable, it should demonstrate that it
adheres to the NPPF, Non-statutory technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage,
Building Regulation H and local policy.
The drainage scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Where surface water requires disposal offsite the applicant must provide evidence of
consent to discharge/connect through 3rd party land or to their network/system/
watercourse.
Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of
drainage and thereby preventing the risk of flooding.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 14, Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
21)

Underground infrastructure

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a report

83

demonstrating there will be no adverse impact upon the safety of existing pipelines
and other infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Any identified safety recommendations shall be fully
implemented in accordance with the approved details during the construction
phase.
Reason: In the interest of safety and uninterrupted connections to workers and
local residents.
22) Glare mitigation for footpath users
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, the solar glint and
glare assessment (ref: 70074897-021, Rev 3) prepared by WSP and dated 24 March
2021 is to be updated to take account of likely impacts upon footpath users of
existing public rights of way and the approved Greenway and submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Where issues are identified,
mitigation is to be agreed with the local planning authority and implemented in
accordance with the approved details prior to the first generation of electricity.
Reason: To protect footpath users against unnecessary glint and glare
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.
23) Communication Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Communications
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority,
The Plan shall specify methods for communicating with local residents, including the
creation of a liaison group to meet in accordance with an agreed schedule and a
name and telephone number for residents to contact should any issues arise during
the construction period. The scheme shall be implemented as approved until the
final completion of the development.
Reason: To minimise disturbance to neighbours during construction works.
24) Noise control
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme
specifying the provisions to be made for the control of noise (and low-level humming)
emanating from substation on Barkham Ride shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be fully
implemented prior to the first generation of electricity and maintained for the life of
the development.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of nearby premises from unreasonable noise
levels.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.

84

25) Internal access roads
With the exception of the bonded surfacing at the main entrance as required in
Condition 12, the internal access roads hereby permitted shall be constructed from
porous gravel thereafter be so maintained.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off and to protect the
character of the countryside setting.
Relevant policy: NPPF Sections 14 and 15, Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 and
CP11 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09, CC10, CC)3
and TB21.
26) Hours of work and deliveries
No work relating to the development hereby approved, including preparation prior to
building operations, shall take place other than between 8am-6pm Monday to Friday
and 8am-1pm Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays
No deliveries shall be taken in or dispatched from the site outside these working
hours. In addition, no deliveries involving HGVs are to occur outside the hours of
9am-3pm unless otherwise stated in the agreed Construction Traffic Management
Plan (CTMP) in Condition 13 or in the agreed Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) in Condition 14 or otherwise agreed with the local
planning authority .
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.
27) Removal of temporary access
The temporary construction accesses to the site shall be stopped up and
abandoned, and the footway and/or verge crossings, where relevant, shall be
reinstated within one month of the completion of the new access in
accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority prior to its removal.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour
amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6.
28) Restoration and remediation
No later than 12 months from the first generation of electricity, the following shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
a)

b)
c)

A scheme detailing the removal of all surface elements of the photovoltaic
solar farm and any foundations or anchor systems to a depth of 300 mm
below ground level
A scheme detailing the restoration and aftercare of the land
A timetable for completion of the removal and restoration works

85

d)
e)

Details for the end destination of materials and equipment removed from the
site
Details ensuring that the Biodiversity Net Gain is maintained beyond the
decommissioning stage

The schemes shall be implemented within 12 months of the date of the last
electricity generation and shall be completed in accordance with the approved
timetable.
Reason: To safeguard the long-term landscape and visual amenity of the countryside
and to allow for agricultural use in the future.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies CC03 and TB21.
29) Retention of trees and shrubs
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on the
approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in
any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning authority;
any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the
development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of
similar size and species unless the local planning authority gives written consent to
any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity
value to the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Informatives
1)

Section 106 agreement
This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated <tbc>, the obligations in which
relate to this development.

2)

Water pipes to Church Cottages
It is advised that domestic water pipes serving 1 and 2 Church Cottages lie in the
paddock to the south of the site but there are no details confirming their exact
location. In order to protect assets, further discussions are recommended with the
owners of 1 and 2 Church Cottages to ensure the continued provision of wate
supplies through the course of the construction works. The applicant is advised to
contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0845 850 2777.

3)

Pre commencement conditions
Where this permission requires further details to be submitted for approval, the
information must formally be submitted to the Council for consideration with the

86

relevant fee. Once details have been approved in writing the development should be
carried out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact
the case officer to discuss.
4)

Changes to the approved plans
The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

5)

Construction of access
The Head of Highways at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118
9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details
before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways).
This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or
works.
Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise
disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any
utility to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s
Street Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in
advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so
as to minimise disruption.

6)

Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received.
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive discussions
with the applicant in terms of a full pre-application, extending the determination
period of the application, amended plans being submitted and discussions around
planning issues. The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is
considered to be a positive outcome of these discussions.

PLANNING HISTORY
Note: History includes farm buildings at High Barn Farm that fall outside of red line area.
App No.
206/1973
18229
43865

Description
Reorganising of smallholdings
Farmhouse and buildings
Granny annexe

87

Decision/Date
Approved 28 February 1973
Approved 26 January 1983
Approved 10 March 1995

F/2000/2234
CLE/2004/2000
F/2014/1181
210460

Covered yard building for livestock
CoU for the storage of caravans
Continued storage of caravans
Scoping opinion for solar farm

Approved 18 October 2000
Approved 26 April 1995
Approved 22 July 2014
Replied 17 March 2021

SUMMARY INFORMATION

Site Area
Use

Density

Employment
Structures

Existing
Proposed
52 ha (solar farm)
Total of 2 ha across 2km length (grid connection to Barkham Road)
Agricultural farm and public
Solar farm and Greenway (≈47 ha)
highway leading to existing
Retained farm (5.5 ha)
substation (grid connection)
Carbon sequestration (2.9 ha)
360 head of cattle with crop
67,340 panels at 29.63 MWp
rotation (currently maize)
Five transformers
One substation
10,947 trees
Farmer
No figure given but almost entirely
confined to construction phase only
Nil (farm buildings fall outside of
Excluding panels, one substation
application site)
and storage shed on Barkham Ride
and five transformer buildings
across the site with perimeter
fencing

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Internal
WBC Public
Rights of Way

Comments
No objection is raised, subject to:
a) Finalisation of the proposed Greenway crossing point on
Barkham Ride
b) Reintroduction of the linking bridleway parallel to the northern
side of Barkham Ride
c) Surfacing of the adjacent public footpaths leading from the
proposed Greenway
d) Clarification on fencing along the Greenway
Officer comment: Because of site constraints, the Greenway
crossing on Barkham Ride remains subject to further design
consideration. Final design solutions are required in Condition 10.

WBC Drainage

WBC Ecology

Surfacing details of the Greenway are also required as part of a pre
commencement requirement. This will extend to surfacing of the
spurs branching from the Greenway. See Condition 10. Likewise,
fencing details are subject to a final design decision in Conditions 4
and 10 which intends to resolve specific pinch points in the design.
The north of the site is within Flood Zone 2. No objection is raised,
subject to Condition 20 requiring finalised drainage details as a pre
commencement requirement.
There are no in-principle objections in relation to the provision of
grasslands and hedgerow planting. The Biodiversity Net Gain

88

Assessment acknowledges that the habitat created and/or
enhanced needs to be maintained for a minimum period of 30
years for it to be considered a viable net gain (which extends
beyond the life of the temporary permission). Conditions 14-16
require the submission of ecological details in a Landscape
Environmental Management Plan, Construction Environmental
Management Plan, lighting details and ecological permeability
measures.
WBC Env. Health
WBC Highways

No objection is raised on neighbour amenity or any other grounds.
No objection, subject to conditions. There is no perceived long term
highways issue with the proposed development and the only issues,
which are manageable, arise during the construction phase. See
Conditions 13 and 14 which require a Construction Traffic
Management Plan and Construction Environmental Management
Plan as well as construction and stopping up of the temporary
access in Conditions 12 and 25.

WBC Trees and
Landscaping

No objection in general, subject to conditions relating to further
details relating to tree protection, landscaping, site management,
boundary treatments and site levels. These are outlined in
Conditions 4-7. Some reservations are raised in relation to the
impact upon landscape views towards the north and west in the
proximity of the boundary with Rooks Nest Wood.

WBC Growth and
Delivery

WBC
Conservation and
Heritage
WBC
Employment
Skills
WBC Sports
Development
WBC Green
Infrastructure
WBC Property
Services
WBC Waste
Services
External

Officer comment: A further review of this area of the scheme is
outlined in paragraph 57. It is concluded that the harm is not
sufficient to warrant amendment of the scheme and the benefits of
the solar panels outweigh the minor additional harm.
No objection. The principle of renewable energy generating
development is supported by national and local policy providing
there is no unacceptable harm to the character of the area.
Officer comment: Refer to further comments in paragraphs 10-17
and the planning balance in paragraph 164-174.
An objection is raised in relation to the harm posed by the solar
panels upon the setting of and views to and from the Scheduled
Monument and listed buildings in the north of the site.
No objection. Based on the estimated cost of works of £19,300,000,
an Employment Skills Plan for 11 community skills support positions,
7 apprenticeships and 7 jobs in total is required. This forms part of a
s106 legal agreement.
No comments received.
No comments received.
No comments received.
Note: It is a Council application on Council owned land.
No comments received.
Comments

89

Berkshire
Archaeology

Historic England

Environment
Agency

Natural England
Ramblers
Association

Forestry
Commission
Gigaclear
Exolum Pipeline
System
Scottish and
Southern
Electricity
Southern Gas
Networks
SEE Telecoms
National Grid
Woodlands Trust
Open Spaces
Society
Binfield Badger
Group

Objections raised. There is potential for harm from the panel
foundations and tree planting on below-ground archaeology
associated with the adjacent Scheduled Ancient Monument. The
geophysical report submitted with the application is inadequate to
assess this harm given the scope of the application.
Notwithstanding, in the event of an approval, Condition 9 requires
additional geophysical investigations prior to the commencement of
any works. Whilst not overcoming the initial objection in relation to
lack of satisfactory information, it is an acceptable outcome.
Objections raised. The design and layout of the solar panels will
result in unsympathetic development within the setting of a medieval
site which retains a rural and agricultural character. The impact is a
moderate and less than substantial harm. Only limited mitigation
options have been proposed which are considered insufficient. If
approval is recommended, interpretive information boards should be
included as part of the Greenway development. This forms
Condition 8.
No objection, subject to consideration of measures to mitigate the
impact of more extreme future flood events such as raising the ground
level of the substation building or incorporating flood proofing
measures. Consideration of the sequential test is also required.
Officer comment: See comments in relation to flood proofing and the
sequential test in paragraph 156.
No objection.
The PROW and Greenway layout is broadly supported but the
details remain unclear. Further consultation is required and any
future design should include linkages between BR11 and FP8.

Officer comment: The Greenway route, as proposed under the
revised scheme, provides a more direct and clearer route. This
includes connectivity between Footpath 8 and Bridleway 11. Refer to
comments of the Council’s Public Rights of Way Officer in
paragraphs 122-129 for further comment and Condition 10 for
further clarity.
No comments received.
Assets dissect the site but there is no in-principle objection.
Condition 21 requires a summary report of any identified
infrastructure and any associated impacts.

No objection.
No comments received

90

South East Water
Thames Water
Wildlife Trust
REPRESENTATIONS
Barkham Parish
Council

Conditional support is given, with the following comments (some of
which are resolved) provided in the original and revised applications:
Principle of development


Contribution to climate change more important than reduced
returns

Officer comment: This requires a consideration of the planning
balance, as has been undertaken at paragraph 164-174.


No guarantee that the land will be returned to agricultural use
after 25 years

Officer comment: Whilst long term planning for the use of the land is
difficult, the decommissioning of the site forms part of the application
and the site remediation and returning land to its original state forms
part of Condition 28. Any change to this would be subject to further
review. This is made clear in the Planning Practice Guidance which
states that planning conditions are entirely appropriate in this
instance.
Landscape and visual



Greater gaps and lower trees/hedges would achieve better
screening
Lighter density planting would be appropriate in some areas

Officer comment: The proposal does not rely upon screening to
eliminate any views of the panels from the public domain. Rather,
there is an expectation that they will be apparent in various vantage
points, as assessed in the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment.
The harm to the wider visual context is considered acceptable, as
noted in paragraphs 47-57.


Use of slow growing trees is good for carbon sequestration but
bad for screening in the short to medium term

Officer comment: The application includes a variety of trees for
different purposes, with a carbon sink to the south of the site not
intended for screening purposes.



Substations are not screened effectively
Details of materials should be neutral countryside colours

91

Officer comment: The location of the substation in the revised layout
is at the eastern end of the site alongside Barkham Ride. It will be
visible through an enlarged opening for access but will be
complemented with additional hedgerow planting, to be agreed in
Condition 5. The extent of screening is considered acceptable.
Heritage and archaeology





Planting along the heritage assets will remove the setting of the
rural countryside
Change within the wider setting will harm the significance of the
heritage assets
Meadow and hedge screening of the fence would enhance the
setting
Increased buffer to 25m would improve setting

Officer comment: The revised scheme has removed the bulk of the
tree/screen planting alongside the heritage assets although some
dispersed planting is required via Condition 5. There is a 25m
setback from the boundary to the panels and 21m to the fence edge.
This is unacceptable in the perspective of the Council’s Conservation
Officer and Historic England (see paragraphs 72-87) and this
requires a planning balance consideration in paragraph 164-174.




Root damage possible to scheduled monument
Geophysical study is not available
The remaining fields will be completed once the crops have been
harvested

Officer comment: The geophysical report was submitted and
reviewed by Berkshire Archaeology. The extent of available
information is insufficient but not unacceptable, with it being resolved
via further works in Condition 9.


Should it be necessary to preserve archaeology in the ground,
this will be achieved by mounting the PV cells on concrete pads
as opposed to the usual piled foundations.

Officer comment: Condition 9 requires further details on this aspect
of the development.
Traffic and highways






Traffic congestion will be aggravated during construction
Barkham Street has a prohibitive width for HGV access
One way system along Barkham Ride might be an option
Large deliveries should occur outside of hours
Delivery vehicles should not park on public roads, conflict with
buses or approach from different directions. Strict control on
delivery times, holding areas, direction of travel, vehicle size is of
significant importance

92

Officer comment: Traffic impact is limited to the 10-month
construction phase only. Final access arrangements are subject to
further consideration. Routing of HGV traffic would be set out in the
CEMP and CTMP to avoid this part of the highway network. One way
access will form part of the consideration of these documents in
Conditions 13 and 14. Managed deliveries will be included as part of
the CEMP and the Construction Traffic Management Plan with the
Highways Officer restricting delivery hours for HGVs.


Traffic concerns at The Bull roundabout, including turning circles

Officer comment: Managed HGV deliveries outside peak hours would
assist with traffic management as well as ensuring that heavy
vehicles access the site for the south. Refer to paragraph 109.


Emergency fire access needs to be ensured

Officer comment: The width of the entrance and internal access
roads is such that emergency access is ensured through the site.



Barkham Road will be affected during construction
Details of mitigation and resurfacing for the roadworks to
accommodate the grid connection are unclear

Officer comment: Some traffic impact is excepted and is unavoidable.
Final details of traffic management will form part of the CTMP in
Condition 13. Final surfacing works are subject to separate Highways
authorisation outside of the planning process.
Footpath access


Will the Greenway and planting be retained post
decommissioning and will the substation and plant be removed

Officer comment: The Greenway and tree planting are permanent
features, as made explicit in Condition 3.




Alternative routes for the Greenway and crossing at Barkham
Ride should be explored prior to determination
Linking footpath needed along Barkham Ride
Safe crossing on Barkham Ride required

Officer comment: The revised scheme includes a Greenway route
through the site, which is supported by the Council’s Public Rights of
Way Officer in terms of connectivity and being the most direct route.
The crossing across Barkham Road and linking to other existing
footpaths is addressed with more detail in Condition 11.


Will Greenways be immediately available and will existing
footpaths remain open

93

Officer comment: The phasing of the Greenway is not specified in the
Construction Method Statement or Transport Statement and so these
details form part of Condition 10. Forward delivery of the project
would be beneficial but it is subject to other construction works.
Further, the extent of interruption to existing footpaths has been
reduced with the realignment of the Greenway through the site.
Nonetheless, details of how access to the PROW network will be
managed during the construction phase will be contained within the
full CTMP and CEMP in Conditions 13 and 14.


Footpath 10A is to be upgraded

Officer comment: Surfacing works and upgrade of other footpaths is
required in Condition 10.
Other


There is no provision for graveyard space at St James Church

Officer comment: This is unrelated to the subject application.


External colours for the substation should consider the area

Officer comment: Condition 18 requires further details prior to the
commencement of works.


EV charging points should be included at nearby points

Officer comment: The application is for the generation of electricity
for the grid and it is not feasible or possible to offer charging points at
points around the site.


Is lighting for maintenance or construction purposes?

Officer comment: Lighting is limited to the buildings only during the
operational phase and Condition 19 requires that these lights are
sensor operated. There is no indication that lighting is required for
construction purposes and this is reinforced in Condition 19.


Meadow grass will need to be maintained

Officer comment: Maintenance details are required in Condition 6.


Perimeter fence is not wildlife friendly

Officer comment: Ecological permeability for badgers and bats (as a
protected species) or hare, hedgehogs, reptiles and amphibians (as
species of principal importance) is achievable through the fencing
and hedgerow. Larger herbivorous species (such as deer) are not
protected (other than closed shooting seasons) so there is no
obligation for access or passage across the site. That said, deer are

94

not species of principal importance but muntjac deer will likely get in
and out through the badger gates and red deer could jump the fence.


Battery storage is unclear

Officer comment: Battery storage is not included as part of the
application as it is connected to the grid.


There is a lack of clarity around the expansion into Rooks Nest
Wood

Officer comment: Whilst panels will extend to within 10m of the
boundary with Rooks Nest Wood, which is acceptable, there is no
expansion into Rooks Nest Wood.


Part of the local support is because it removes the possibility of
housing and increased traffic

Officer comment: Noted.


Trees may present permanent problems rather than solving them

Officer comment: The siting of tree planting in the revised scheme is
acceptable.


Every effort should be made to support the farmer

Officer comment: The farmer has retained the opportunity to lease
5.5 ha of farmland and the management of this lease and what he
undertakes on the farm is outside the scope of this application.



Finchampstead
Parish Council
(adjoining)

Drainage survey is required in relation to protecting the
seasonal fill of the moat
The depth of the water table in the area to the east of St James
Church is required

Officer comment: Refer to Condition 20.
Whilst the Greenway is a positive aspect, there is broad objection to
the proposal, including:


The wildlife report is redacted

Officer comment: Redaction of the wildlife/ecology report is in relation
to badger setts which is standard practice.


Should not extend so close to California Country Park and this
would retain the woodland setting

Officer comment: There is a 57m setback from the southern
boundary with California Country Park, with the buffer planted with
woodland. This is sufficient to protect and enhance the woodland
setting.

95



Wokingham
Town Council
(adjoining)

Ward Member

Pedestrian and cycling route should be added along Barkham
Ride

Officer comment: A sufficient buffer is maintained along the northern
boundary of Barkham Ride to allow future implementation of a
connecting footpath, as specified in further details in Condition 10.
Removal of trees will affect the visual amenity of the area.
Officer comment: The application involves the removal of
approximately five trees, 2 groups of trees and part removal of seven
hedges, which the Council’s Trees Officer has reviewed and
considered acceptable. Refer to paragraphs 117-121 for further
comments.
Councillor Sarah Kerr (Evendons Ward (the grid connection falls
within this ward)) raised the following issues:


A decentralised approach is more appropriate

Officer comment: The application forms part of the Climate
Emergency Action Plan, which has a more immediate timeline. A
more decentralised approach will occur via the Local Plan update,
which is still subject to consultation.



There are more suitable sites with the Council’s intent to provide
three more solar farms in the borough
It is not clear whether other sites have been considered

Officer comment: Consideration of sites were undertaken as part of
the development of the Climate Emergency Action Plan. Further
comment is provided in paragraphs 35-40.



Use of BMV land is inappropriate
Food production should not be affected at the expense of solar
panels, contrary to the climate emergency action plan

Officer comment: The proposal is contrary to policies protecting
agricultural land but as part of the consideration of the overall
balance, it is acceptable. See paragraphs 23-34 and 164-174.


There is potential for a change of use of the land once returned
to its previous use, albeit of poorer quality

Officer comment: Whilst long term planning for the use of the land in
25 years’ time is difficult, the decommissioning of the site forms part
of the application and the site remediation and returning land to its
original state forms part of Condition 28. Any change to this would be
subject to further review. This is made clear in the Planning Practice
Guidance which states that planning conditions are entirely
appropriate in this instance.


The proposal is for offsetting the Council’s emissions only

96



Residents

Power will enter the grid and will not benefit the local community

Officer comment: The application achieves the same intent of
reducing carbon emissions regardless of its ultimate destination
within the grid and is supported on those grounds.
The application was first consulted to approximately 3,300 nearby
properties from 7 April to 7 May 2021. An advertisement and site
notices were placed on site for the minimum period of 15 April to 7
May 2021. Revisions to the scheme were consulted to those that
commented on the original scheme from 4-18 August 2021. A
summary of all submissions received is outlined below.
56 submissions against the proposal were received from:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)
11)
12)
13)
14)
15)
16)
17)
18)
19)
20)
21)
22)
23)
24)
25)
26)
27)
28)
29)
30)
31)
32)
33)
34)
35)
36)

High Barn Farm, Commonfield Lane, Barkham RG40 4PR
1 Church Cottages, Church Lane, Barkham RG40 4PL (x2)
2 Church Cottages, Church Lane, Barkham RG40 4PL (x2)
Willow Cottage, Commonfield Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4PP
MQM Planning, on behalf of Willow Cottage, Commonfield
Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4PP
Model Farm, Barkham Ride, Barkham RG40 4EX
Barkham Ride, Finchampstead RG40 (specific address not
supplied)
30 Barkham Ride, Finchampstead RG40 4EU
71 Barkham Ride, Finchampstead RG40 4HA
73 Barkham Ride, Finchampstead RG40 4HA
69 Bearwood Road, Barkham RG41 4SX
4 Cherry Tree Grove, Barkham RG41 4UZ
School Road, Barkham RG41 4TR (no number supplied)
Hayes Lane, Barkham RG41 4TA (no number supplied) (x3)
Barkham Road, Barkham RG41 4DE (no number supplied)
Primrose Cottage, School Road, Barkham RG41 4TR
20 Silver Birches, Barkham RG41 4YZ
18 Hornbeam Close, Barkham RG41 4UR
350 Nine Mile Ride, Finchampstead RG40 3NJ
1 Copse Way, Finchampstead RG40 4EJ
29 Carolina Place, Finchampstead RG40 4PQ
10 Heather Close, Finchampstead RG40 4PX
31 Fir Cottage Road, Finchampstead RG40 4RY
5 Springdale, Finchampstead RG40 4RZ
14 Springdale, Finchampstead RG40 4RZ
Springdale, Finchampstead RG40 4RZ (no number supplied)
Southfield, Southfield Park Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4PY
7 Hazelbank, Finchampstead RG404XD
12 Hazelbank, Finchampstead RG40 4XD
11 Church Hams Finchampstead RG40 4XF
50 Pine Drive, Finchampstead RG40 3LE
15 Ditchfield Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4HP
42 Nash Grove Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4HD
73 Nash Grove Lane, Finchampstead RG40 4HE
2 Vermont Woods, Finchampstead RG40 4PF (x2)
Heath Ride, Finchampstead RG40 3QJ (no number supplied)

97

37)
38)
39)
40)
41)
42)
43)
44)
45)
46)
47)
48)
49)
50)
51)
52)
53)
54)
55)
56)

4 Oak Drive, Arborfield RG2 9GJ
51 Hill Road, Arborfield RG2 9LP
26 Buttenshaw Close, Arborfield RG2 9LX
16 Bramshill Close, Arborfield RG2 9PT
1 Lime Grove, Arborfield RG2 9GP
15 Mill Close, Wokingham RG41 1EP
5 Park Avenue, Wokingham RG40 2AJ
2 Roberts Grove, Wokingham RG41 4WR
Greenlands, Doles Lane, Wokingham RG41 4EB
Ockley, 306 Barkham Road, Wokingham RG41 4DA
83 Evendons Lane, Wokingham RG41 4AD
Redlands Cottage, Evendons Lane, Wokingham RG41 4DX
(x2)
Evendons Lane, Wokingham RG41 4AE (no number supplied)
The Street, Eversley RG27 0PJ (no number supplied)
70 Fleetham Gardens, Lower Earley RG6 4BY
14 Russell Way, Winnersh RG41 5SN
33 Loddon Bridge Road, Woodley RG5 4AP
80 Oak Avenue, Sandhurst GU47 0SJ
No address supplied (x2)
No address supplied

The submissions raised the following issues:
Principle of development






Contrary to Policy CP11 and the Neighbourhood Plan
Conflicts with NPPF policy in relation to the loss of agricultural
land
Development is contrary to Finchampstead Neighbourhood
Development Plan, which included local consultation
Contrary to Arborfield and Barkham Neighbourhood Plan,
including resident submissions that helped shape it
Local Plan policies attract little weight as the Local Plan has not
been examined or even consulted

Officer comment: The policies in the NPPF, the Council’s
Development Plan and the Barkham and Arborfield Neighbourhood
Plan pull in different directions with the proposal contrary to several
policies. This requires a planning balance consideration of the
proposal. This is found at paragraphs 164-174.
Whilst there is reference to solar panels not being preferred in
Arborfield Parish in the Neighbourhood Plan, there is no explicit
policy against them.
Draft policies in the Local Plan have been referenced and explained
where relevant but they have not formed the justification for the
proposal.



Encroachment of development
Reduction in gap between Arborfield and Finchampstead

98

Officer comment: The proposal is viewed of encroachment of
development in the countryside, with some erosion of the settlement
gap. However, it is not unreasonable, as noted in paragraph 67.


25 years is hardly temporary and has permanence

Officer comment: It is acknowledged that 25 years is a significant
period of time and is more than 10 years (which is the threshold used
for considering development immune from enforcement action) but it
would be impractical (and possibly unviable) for the project to
operate for shorter than 25 years.


No clarification of whether the temporary status applies to the
Greenway and tree planting

Officer comment: Condition 4 confirms that the Greenway and tree
planting are permanent.


Change of use is out of character and scale

Officer comment: Consideration of the use and its impact upon the
countryside is outlined in paragraphs 48-67.


Meeting energy goals should not be used to justify the wrong
development in the wrong location

Officer comment: This weighs heavily in the planning balance, as
noted in paragraph 164-174.



Loss of public amenity space near Rooks Nest and St James
Church
Contrary to the recreational improvements on nearby sites

Officer comment: The proposal does not include the removal of any
publicly accessible land. The application includes the introduction of
a new Greenway through the site, which is supportive of existing
walking routes in the area, including at Rooks Nest Wood.






Will be converted for brownfield land
Additional 200 homes and a crematorium will add to the
urbanisation
Land will be made brownfield and made good for houses as it
won’t be able to be remediated
Infrastructure cannot cope with subsequent housing which will
be built on the site
The extent of the works is such that it is not reversible/able to
be returned to agricultural land

Officer comment: The development is temporary insofar that the
solar farm will be decommissioned at the end of its lifetime. Whilst
long term planning for the use of the land is difficult, the

99

decommissioning of the site forms part of the application and the site
remediation and returning land to its original state forms part of
Condition 28. Any change to this would be subject to further review.


Creates a precedent for other developers

Officer comment: Each application is assessed on its own merits,
with consideration of the local impacts weighed against the benefits
of the development.
Loss of agricultural land








BRE guidance states that Ground Mounted Solar PV projects,
over 50kWp, should ideally utilise previously developed land,
brownfield land, contaminated land, industrial land or
agricultural land preferably of classification 3b, 4, and 5
(avoiding the use of “Best and Most Versatile” cropland where
possible) with the proposal not being any of the above
There is insufficient justification for locating the panels on
Grade 2 and 3a land, including what other sites there are, the
impact upon the existing farm, the impact upon supply of
agricultural land and cumulative impact, as required by the BR
Agricultural land reduced by 1.5% from 2019 to 2020 and
imports of food are at 48% and this will contribute to these
figures
BRE guidance has been used as policy (which it is not) and
then used selectively and ignored in other parts
Loss of agricultural land for food production

Officer comment: The proposal is contrary to policies protecting
agricultural land but as part of the consideration of the overall
balance, it is acceptable. See paragraphs 23-34 and 164-174.


The agricultural land retained for the farmer is not sustainable
or viable

Officer comment: Whilst a significant reduction in scale, the 5.5 ha
farm remains in use for the farmer and whether it is sustainable is
subjective based on the intended use of the land. Further, the
installation of the solar panels does not explicitly prohibit any future
farming use of the land if negotiated.


No objection from Natural England in relation to the loss of
agricultural land is irrelevant

Officer comment: Whilst not determinative, the fact that Natural
England, as the relevant statutory consultee, has not objected on
these grounds is a material to the application.


Higher solar panels were not considered to allow farming to
continue

100

Officer comment: Any increase in the solar panels would have a
measurable impact upon the character of the area given that it would
need to be raised significantly to accommodate cattle.
Landscape and visual








Industrialisation of the countryside
Will add bulk and scale to the countryside
Overall scale of the site is excessive
Unsightly impact upon the landscape
Loss of green fields and rural land
Views from public rights of way will be affected
There will be Moderate to Major adverse effects on a significant
number of receptors whilst the proposed planting is
established. This will take many years before it provides an
effective screen

Officer comment: The landscape visual impact is assessed as being
acceptable in ‘Character of the Area’.




Significant screening will be required
Tree planting is minimal
Perimeter landscaping will not suffice for screening

Officer comment: The proposal does not rely upon screening to
eliminate any views of the panels from the public domain. Rather,
there is an expectation that they will be apparent in various vantage
points, as assessed in the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment.
The harm to the wider visual context is considered acceptable, as
noted in paragraphs 44-67.


The attractiveness of the SANG will be affected

Officer comment: The Council’s Trees Officer has raised some
concern with the relationship along the boundary with Rooks Nest
Wood SANG but it is considered that it has a satisfactory relationship
and would not be detrimental to users.


Some receptors have not been provided in the landscape
consideration

Officer comment: The LVIA has been updated to include an
additional receptor along Barkham Ride and this is to the satisfaction
of the Council’s Trees and Landscape Officer.




Often screening will only become effective in the second half of
the project lifespan
Landscape screening will take years to establish and screen
the site
Planting should be implemented in some areas at the beginning
of the construction period (as per the fencing)

101

Officer comment: The balanced consideration of the application
takes account of proposed screening but does not rely upon it for
justification for the scheme, In places, the solar panels will remain
readily apparent for most of the lifespan of the development, if not all
of it and this is not unacceptable.


Perimeter fencing should be landscaped to break up the alien
form

Officer comment: In most cases, the site fencing benefits from
existing and proposed landscaping to allow a degree of screening.
However, it has a relatively open form that is not entirely
inappropriate in the countryside.


Fencing is not justified when weighing the impact

Officer comment: Fencing is required for security purposes,
particularly with the proximity of existing footpaths and the proposed
Greenway.


External lighting is unnecessary

Officer comment: External lighting is proposed for the five
transformer buildings and the substation. Condition 19 requires that it
is sensor activated and further details of lighting. The remainder of
the site is unlit.
Ecology



Impact upon flora and fauna
Loss of wildlife habitat and corridors, including birds which will
not be attracted to the area

Officer comment: The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the
impact upon biodiversity net gain, ecological permeability and
protection of wildlife and raises no in-principle objection, subject to
Conditions 14-16. Refer to paragraphs 130-150 for further detail.



Fence will reduce movement of wildlife across the site
Fencing will prevent movement of wildlife across the site,
including deer, foxes and badgers

Officer comment: Ecological permeability for badgers and bats (as a
protected species) or hare, hedgehogs, reptiles and amphibians (as
species of principal importance) is achievable through the fencing
and hedgerow. Larger herbivorous species (such as deer) are not
protected (other than closed shooting seasons) so there is no
obligation for access or passage across the site. That said, deer are
not species of principal importance but muntjac deer will likely get in
and out through the badger gates and red deer could jump the fence.

102



Ecology information has been redacted and should be made
public

Officer comment: Redaction of the wildlife/ecology report is in relation
to badger setts which is standard practice.






There were no ecological surveys for wintering birds, brown
hare, invertebrates, reptiles, or any botanical surveys
It is unclear whether ecological and archaeological surveys
have been done
The impact upon Great Crested Newts and reptiles has not
been fully explored. Surveys of GCNs were not in accordance
with Natural England Technical Guidance and further surveys
of all ponds (not all ponds were surveyed) are required
There is no reference to the environmental impact on the
adjacent, statutorily designated, Coombes Ancient and Semi
Natural Woodland

Officer comment: The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the
scope of the relevant information in the Environmental Statement and
raises no in-principle objection with the level of detail.


Grasscover should improve the biodiversity of the area

Officer comment: The suitability of grasscover is discussed in
paragraph 148.
Heritage and archaeology







Solar panels will remove the context of the listed items
Impact upon the setting of the listed building
The buffer to the listed buildings and scheduled monument is
inadequate
The landscaping and solar panels reduce openness and the
interpretation of the moated site’s original agricultural use and
ability to understand, appreciate and experience their cultural
value
Views of the listed St James Church (including the spire) will be
affected

Officer comment: The Council’s Conservation Officer and Historic
England have both objected to the proposal on the grounds that the
solar panels will disrupt the setting of the listed buildings at Church
Cottage and St James Church and the interpretation and setting of
the moat, which is a scheduled monument. It will also disrupt wider
views from the south and south east. This requires a planning
balance consideration, as provided in paragraphs 164-174.



The fence is inside the 25m buffer zone to the scheduled
monument
Height of fence is dominating to Church Cottages

103

Officer comment: The height of the fence is at 2.4m and it is setback
21m from the boundary with Church Cottages. A cumulative
consideration of the panels and fencing from the Council’s
Conservation Officer and Historic England is that the overall
development poses unacceptable harm. This is discussed further in
paragraphs 164-174 as part of the overall planning balance.



Planting around Church Cottages is dense and overbearing
The mitigation in the form of landscape screening alongside the
scheduled monument does more harm than good by creating a
stark barrier rather than screening and an enlarged/extended
buffer is more effective

Officer comment: Planting around Church Cottages has been
removed in the recent revised plans though Condition 5 requires
some additional planting





Greenway will require surfacing, change in levels and erosion
from walking putting archaeological significance at harm
Greenway route could impact moat
Rerouting of the Greenway alongside the scheduled monument
is inappropriate
No heritage impact of the Greenway on Church Cottages has
been undertaken

Officer comment: The revised plans include the removal of the
Greenway from the vicinity of the scheduled monument.





Planting will cause root damage to the moat
Cable trenches and piling have the potential to impact
archaeological significance in an area that is largely
undisturbed
Desktop study is not sufficient and a geophysical survey is
required
Increased humus will hasten the clogging up of the moat which
would require Scheduled Monument Consent to removed and
shading will alter the ecological status

Officer comment: The geophysical report was submitted and
reviewed by Berkshire Archaeology. The extent of available
information is insufficient but not unacceptable, with it being resolved
via further works in Condition 9.


Heritage impact from glare upon Barkham Street and the
church

Officer comment: The glint and glare assessment has concluded that
there will not be an unacceptable outcome for surrounding heritage
assets. With the level of existing vegetation screening around Church
Cottages and St James Church, there is no reason to dispute this
conclusion.

104



Use of Barkham Street by HGVs would affect the Area of
Special Character

Officer comment: The Council’s Highways Officer raised some initial
reservations with the routing of larger HGV traffic. Clarification would
be set out in the CEMP and CTMP with the intention to avoid this
part of the network because of width limitations. Refer to paragraph
109 for further details.
Traffic and highways


Traffic movement along Barkham Road will be affected by
digging up of the road for the grid connection

Officer comment: Some temporary traffic impact is excepted and is
unavoidable but acceptable to the Council’s Highways Officer. Final
details of traffic management will form part of the CEMP in Condition
14. Final surfacing works are subject to separate Highways
authorisation outside of the planning process.


Congestion from road traffic during the construction period

Officer comment: The Council’s Highways Officer has noted that the
anticipated level of construction traffic (slightly more than 100 daily
movements) is not expected to have a major impact on Barkham
Road. Management of this traffic would be through the CEMP and
the CTMP as required by Conditions 13 and 14 respectively.



Transport Statement does not reference width of Barkham
Street, which is narrow and not able to accommodate HGVs
Traffic should arrive from the south

Officer comment: The routing of the construction traffic will be set out
in the CEMP and CTMP such that HGVs will need to arrive from the
south. See Conditions 13 and 14 respectively.


Glint and glare report is preliminary and the findings are
questionable

Officer comment: The glint and glare assessment has concluded that
there will not be an unacceptable outcome for surrounding heritage
assets. With the level of existing vegetation screening around Church
Cottages and St James Church, there is no reason to dispute this
conclusion. Impacts upon footpath users require further clarification,
as required in Condition 22.
Residential amenity



Planting around Church Cottages is dense and overbearing
with root damage to the moat
Screening should be sufficient to reduce glare

105

Officer comment: The planting has been removed in the revised
scheme.


Potential noise and lack of acoustic detail for substations

Officer comment: The substation is well removed from the nearest
residential property (Model Farm) but it remains prudent to ensure
that there is no adverse background noise issue such as overnight
humming that may pose some harm. See Condition 24.



Orchard should be provided in the vicinity of Willow Cottage to
minimise the scale of tree planting and to protect views
Landscaping would enclose the open vista

Officer comment: Tree planting in the south west of the site near
Willow Cottage has been removed in the revised plans as part of the
retention of agricultural land for the existing farmer.



Potential health impacts from substation and panels
Will affect quality of life

Officer comment: There is no planning basis to oppose the
development on potential health issues from the solar panels or
substation. Noise details are, however, required for the substation.
See Condition 24
Footpath access


Greenway is a positive development but should be more direct

Officer comment: The revisions include a new more direct route
which forms part of the assessment.



Buffer could become informal footpath
Robust fencing and gate are required at the end of the buffer to
prevent unauthorised access

Officer comment: Whilst highly unlikely, this situation is unchanged
from the present arrangement with footpath users otherwise able to
walk south of the scheduled monument.



Footpath FP10A through the northern part of the site is not
retained
There is no throughway to replace the existing right of way
FP10A

Officer comment: Footpath 10A is maintained and upgraded as per
details as required in Condition 10.

106

Maintenance and decommissioning



Decommissioning (and recycling) is unclear
Remediation and mitigation to revert the land to its original use
at the end of 25 years should be provided now

Officer comment: Refer to Condition 28 which requires details within
12 months of the first generation of electricity. There would be an
expectation that the solar panels would be recycled at the end of
their shelf life.




Buffer will need continued maintenance
Must not result in land use mismanagement (such as weeds)
Who will be responsible for management?

Officer comment: Maintenance details are required in Condition 28.
Cumulative


Cumulative effects on agricultural land of all five solar farms
must be considered

Officer comment: The application is only the first Council
commissioned solar farm and there is currently no guarantee that the
other projects will be delivered. If they are proposed, these
applications would need to consider further cumulative effects.



Approval would render nearby farms less viable leading to nonagricultural uses
Will contribute to further rural decline with the loss of the farmer

Officer comment: The farm buildings are outside of the red line
boundary and will be retained for the farmer to occupy. It will be
complemented with the retention of 5.5 ha of farmland in the south
western corner of the site. In doing so, viability of the agricultural
operations in the immediate area are not unduly affected.


The Council has not invested in the existing farms, allowing the
solar farm to appear more attractive

Officer comment: There is no apparent connection between the
standard of farm buildings and infrastructure and the merits of the
solar farm. The primary benefits of the subject site over other sites
are outlined in paragraph 38.


Barkham has had too much development

Officer comment: Noted.


Construction in the borough has not occurred in a cohesive
manner to accommodate such things as solar panels

107

Officer comment: The additional electricity generation addresses
identified need as it will power up to 8,200 homes, which is the
equivalent of more than 10 years of the Council’s projected housing
delivery.
Planning balance




The benefits are outweighed by the harm
Benefits do not weigh in favour given the visual harm
Not enough energy return to justify loss of agricultural land

Officer comment: The planning balance finds in favour of the
development, as noted in paragraphs 164-174.




Planning balance of reduced carbon must consider the
transportation of the solar panels, the loss of local food
production and the carbon sink of the existing farm
Loss of local agricultural land will result in additional food miles,
outweighing the benefit and contrary to the climate emergency
action plan
Agricultural land should be protected for food production, thus
reducing the carbon footprint from imports

Officer comment: These observations are valid considerations and
form part of the assessment of the planning balance.


The tilted balance is not engaged

Officer comment: This is correct.



Greenway can be delivered anyway and should not weigh in
favour of the scheme
The Greenway is happening anyway and should not be used as
an additional justification

Officer comment: The Greenway forms part of the application but has
not weighed in any significant way in the assessment of the benefits
of the solar farm.
Effectiveness of solar


The amount of existing carbon sequestration will not be offset
by the proposed tree planting

Officer comment: It is estimated that the proposed solar panels would
represent a carbon reduction of approximately 92,242 tonnes of
carbon from the solar farm and an additional 592 tonnes from the
carbon sink tree planting. Measurements against the existing carbon
sequestration of the existing site has not been provided but it
appears unlikely that the existing use would provide more benefit
particularly when 360 head of cattle are kept on the farm, which are
high methane emitters.

108



Solar panels will end up in landfill at the end of life

Officer comment: Recycling of solar panels is possible now and may
well be easier in 25 years’ time. Condition 28 seeks further
information on this aspect.



There is no battery storage to allow for use during peak times
Lack of battery power is not efficient use of the land

Officer comment: Battery storage does not form part of the
application and there is no planning policy objection to this.


Will not benefit the local area as power generation is from
across the UK

Officer comment: The application achieves the same intent of
reducing carbon emissions regardless of its ultimate destination
within the grid and is supported on those grounds. Revenue will be
retained within the borough.


Up to 20% of the site appears to be unusable because of
powerline interference

Officer comment: The Greenway is located underneath the
powerlines, which is a positive outcome in terms of establishing a
dual use of the land.


Panels of increased efficiency could be used, thereby requiring
less land and less impact

Officer comment: This is a commercial decision and does not affect
the assessment of the subject application.
Alternatives explored









Site has been selected as it is Council owned
Details as to why this area was selected over others has not
been considered
Alternative sites have not been adequately considered
There are better sites such as Grazeley, which is no longer
suitable for housing or adjacent to motorways
There is no evidence that the Council has consulted other
Council’s for a consolidated approach
Consideration of alternative sites is limited to those owned by
Council and a wider approach should have been undertaken in
the Climate Emergency Action Plan
Solar panels should be mandatory to all new roof tops and
brownfield sites
Council owned buildings should have solar first

109







There are better alternatives – such as hydro from the River
Loddon, thermal or subsidised residential roof top solar
Solar could be installed on other smaller Council owned farms
or buildings
Reduction in domestic emissions, mandated low carbon
technologies and increased housing efficiency would be more
effective
Smaller solar schemes would be better assimilated
Local plan update should mandate more localised and shortterm solutions

Officer comment: There are pros and cons to different renewable
energy sources depending upon various factors such as climate and
location and the assessment of the planning application does not
need to consider why solar was preferred over other sources.
The Local Plan update includes various draft measures to improve
energy efficiency within buildings. These policies remain in draft form
only but the Climate Emergency Action Plan includes intent to
increase solar generation on building rooftops.
Whilst not material to the decision, the ownership has made it easier
for the scheme to be brought forward because it allows for immediate
delivery. Most of Gravely is not in Council ownership and is not
currently available to come forward for this purpose.
The consolidation of the project into one 52 ha site allows for
consolidation of infrastructure, which makes for a more efficient
development.
Refer to other comments in paragraphs 35-40.


Has a tiny carbon impact compared to better projects (eg
turbines)

Officer comment: This is a commercial and site/locality specific
consideration and does not affect the assessment of the subject
application.


Energy generation should be a national led process and
established in a more consolidated, less piecemeal approach at
local level

Officer comment: This project is a locally and policy driven based on
the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency. A consolidated
approach requires national government policy. A piecemeal
approach is the most appropriate approach in the current
circumstances.
Conflict of interest


Public forum should be allowed

110

Officer comment: The application is to be considered in a public
forum at the Planning Committee.




Conflict of interest for a Council application on Council land with
Council investment return being decided by the same
Councillors that advocated for the scheme originally
Council has already agreed to five solar farms and as decision
maker, it implies the decision is already made
Should be referred to the Secretary of State

Officer comment: Local planning authorities are responsible for
renewable and low carbon energy development of 50 MW or less
installed capacity (under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).
Renewable and low carbon development over 50 MW capacity are
currently considered by the Secretary of State for Energy under
the Planning Act 2008. The scheme is less than 50 MW but is still
being reviewed by the Secretary of State.


Ulterior motives to allow for housing

Officer comment: There is no proposal for housing on the site.



Commercial interests have outweighed a local green farming
enterprise
Removal of panels in the south west corner has been done for
expediency rather than overall impact

Officer comment: This is a subjective opinion.
Business case







The business case should be put forward
The financial return is questionable and open to scrutiny
Burden of funding is on the ratepayers
No direct benefit for taxpayers
Where is the investment coming from?
Needs to be a balance of local food production vs energy
production and this is skewed in this case because of the
Council’s business interests

Officer comment: The business case is not material to the
consideration of the application. Nonetheless, as background, the
case was tabled to The Executive on 29 July 2021. It refers to an
initial £20.3 million cost, made up of borrowed money. There is
anticipated to be a net profit of approximately £500,000 per year. The
financial returns on the scheme would be reinvested in the future,
which is a benefit for ratepayers.

111






The required construction of the connection along Barkham
Road will contribute to the cost which has not been accounted
for
Decommissioning costs have not been considered in the
viability case
Output is minimal when considering construction and
decommissioning
The business case is reduced given the removal of panels in
the revised scheme

Officer comment: The business case is not material to the
consideration of the application. Nonetheless, the business case is
publicly available. Decommissioning costs are not anticipated until
2046 and do not weigh heavily against the proposal. It has been
assumed but not confirmed that grid connection forms part of the
anticipated cost of works.
Other



Eviction of farmer is unreasonable
Tenant farmer should not be evicted until alternative land is
found

Officer comment: As part of this application, the farmer will remain a
resident within High Barn Farm, albeit within a smaller holding.



Vast majority of residents do not want the scheme
Much of the support is not local

Officer comment: Over 3300 residents were consulted by letter and
56 objections received in response (1.6% response rate).


Shortwave radio interference from panels – a pre
commencement before and after assessment of impact is
required

Officer comment: There are no planning policies or guidance relating
to radio interference from solar panels (there is guidance in relation
to interference from wind turbines) in the NPPF or the Development
Plan.


The depth of the cable on Barkham Road is inadequate given
the loading it will be carrying

Officer comment: This is not a relevant planning consideration and
would be a standard ‘dial before you dig’ obligation of any future
contractor excavating along Barkham Road.


Route of the domestic water supply to Church Cottages needs
to be confirmed

112

Officer comment: Post determination requirements require a review
of all underground assets. This is noted in Informative 21.


Land liable to flooding should be better used for solar panels

Officer comment: The land to the north of the site is in Flood Zone 2
and aside form a 10m buffer on ecological grounds, the land is being
used for the installation of solar panels. See further comment in
paragraph 153.


The entrance to California Country Park will be dull and
foreboding

Officer comment: The main entrance to California Country Park is not
affected by this proposal.


Perimeter buffers will ultimately be used for construction

Officer comment: The buffer around the panels will be used for the
construction/installation of the solar panels but this is temporary,
short lived and unavoidable.


Perimeter fencing should be setback from the road to allow for
future widening of the road

Officer comment: The location of the fence would not prohibit any
future widening of the road if it were deemed necessary.
Ten submissions in support of the proposal were received from:
57)
58)
59)
60)
61)
62)
63)
64)
65)
66)
67)

Pickwick, School Road, Barkham RG41 4TN
25 The Vines, Barkham RG41 4YY
22 Sandy Lane, Barkham RG41 4DB
Blandford Drive, Barkham RG40 4EU (no number supplied)
12 Bearwood Road, Barkham RG41 4TD
7 Wimbushes, Finchampstead RG40 4XG (x2)
Easthampstead Road, Wokingham RG40 2EG (no number
supplied)
9 Oak Drive, Arborfield RG2 9GJ
6 Lupin Ride, Crowthorne RG456UR
107 Moordale Avenue, Bracknell RG42 1TQ
51 Bearwood Road, Barkham RG41 4SX

The submissions raised the following points:






Is preferable to more housing and should be conditional on less
housing in the area
Will remove the possibility of housing for at least 25 years
Is close to existing housing
Will increase uptake of renewable energy, reduce carbon
emissions and help meet the climate emergency targets
improvements to air quality

113












Will operate effectively in conjunction with other sources
Removal of cattle is better for the ecosystem
Meat and dairy have a bigger footprint and the reduction of this
farm has a positive benefit
Includes landscape enhancement with tree and hedgerow
planting
Groundcover is unaffected
Income should be redistributed to the local borough for green
reinvestment
Will be reverted back to its existing use
Enhancements to footpaths and Greenway are positive,
particularly where there are missing links filled in
The annual profits of £480k is value for money
The amount of service tracks has been reduced

Officer comment: The above comments are noted.


Farmer will/shall be compensated

Officer comment: The farmer will remain on site.


Sign of progress

Officer comment: This is an observation.
One neutral comment was received from:
68) The Bailiff’s Cottage, Barkham Road, Barkham RG41 4TG
The submission raised the following points:


Footpath 10 and 10A should remain open during construction
and any other closures should be given advance warning in a
media outlet

Officer comment: The Construction Environmental Management Plan
as required in Condition 14 will aim to minimise disturbance
throughout the duration of the works.

APPLICANTS POINTS
(Note: Taken from Conclusion of Planning Statement and based on original proposal
prior to amendments)
The proposed solar farm and carbon sink woodland planting will generate significant
environmental benefits so as to make a substantial contribution to WBC’s Climate
Emergency Action Plan. The solar farm will provide enough electricity to power up to
8,200 homes providing over 92,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide savings over the 25-year
lifespan of the technology. The adjoining carbon sequestration area will create a new
3.4ha woodland comprising approximately 15,000 new trees that will contribute towards
the council’s target of planting 250,000 new trees in the next five years.

114

Whilst the benefits of renewable energy proposals such as this carry with them
significant positive weight, local policies and the national planning practice guidance
requires solar farms to be assessed in terms of their impacts upon a whole range of
other considerations, including agricultural land availability, landscape, heritage,
biodiversity and local amenities.
Accordingly, as part of the site selection and progression of the scheme through to
planning in the first instance WBC has undertaken a site selection and site feasibility
exercise to identify Barkham Farms as an appropriate location to deliver its first solar
farm that will deliver its Climate Emergency Action Plan commitments. Whilst the site is
good quality agricultural land, no alternative sites that are comparable, or available have
been identified. Furthermore, any historical and landscape concerns regarding the
development will be partially mitigated through an extensive landscaping scheme.
Whilst some limited harm to the surrounding rural landscape and heritage assets has
been identified, this harm is temporary, reversible and significantly and demonstrably
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposed development.
The principle of developing a solar farm within the countryside accords with the adopted
development plan, including the neighbourhood plan, and is explicitly supported as an
appropriate type of development within the countryside within the new draft Local Plan.
The nature of the solar farm is appropriate for this rural location and will preserve the
character of the surrounding area, in particular the setting of the settlements to the north
and south of the site.
Furthermore, the development will enhance the accessibility of the countryside through
the provision of a new Greenway PROW through the site that will connect the existing
fragmented network of footpaths and bridleways within vicinity of the site.
The development site and the proposals also provide an opportunity to deliver
significant biodiversity enhancements through the creation of new habitats within the
site.
All other key material considerations have been assessed within this application,
including the supporting Environmental Statement, demonstrating the proposals
compliance with relevant development plan policies when read as a whole. In addition,
the significant benefits of the development are key material considerations weighing
strongly in favour of the proposed application.
This application should, therefore, be supported by the local planning authority as
providing substantial benefits that respond to the strategic priorities of the council’s
Climate Emergency Action Plan.
PLANNING POLICY
National
Planning Policy
Framework
2021 (NPPF)

Section 2
Section 6
Section 8
Section 11
Section 12
Section 14

Achieving Sustainable Development
Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities
Making Effective Use of Land
Achieving Well-Designed Places
Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
And Coastal Change

115

Core Strategy
2010

Managing
Development
Delivery Local
Plan 2014

Section 15
Section 16
CP1
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP7
CP8
CP9
CP11
CC01
CC02
CC03
CC04
CC05
CC06
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB12
TB21
TB23
TB24
TB26

Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment
Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Proposals Outside Development Limits
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Development Limits
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
Sustainable Design and Construction
Renewable Energy and Decentralised Energy Networks
Noise
Parking
Development and Flood Risk
Sustainable Drainage
Employment Skills Plan
Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development
Designated Heritage Assets
Buildings of Traditional Local Character and Areas of
Special Character
Full document

IRS1
IRS2

Preservation of Separation of Settlements
Protection and Enhancement of the Natural
Environment and Green Spaces
Protection and Enhancement of the Natural
Environment and Green Spaces
Protection and Enhancement of the Historic Character
of the Area
Conditional Support for Businesses in the Countryside
and Agriculture
Address Local Flood Risk Management
Minimise Additional Traffic on Unsuitable Roads
Parking
Non-Residential
Rural and Settlement Edge
Full document

Arborfield and
Newland Village
Design
Statement
Arborfield and
Barkham
Neighbourhood
Plan

IRS3
IRS4
TC3

Borough Design
Guide SPD

AD5
GA1
Section 6
Section 7
Section 8

Sustainable
Design and
Construction
SPD
PLANNING ASSESSMENT

116

Description of Development
1.

The application involves the following development across a 52-ha site (plus
cumulative 2-ha area linking to Barkham Road) at High Barn Farm and part of Brook
Farm and Rooks Nest Farm:
a)
b)
c)
d)

e)

f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

k)

l)
m)
n)

2.

The construction phase is estimated to take 10 months and it is proposed that it will
comprise the following:
a.
b.

c.
d.
3.

Erection of 67,340 solar panels across 43.56 ha, each at a height of 0.68-2.14m
facing south and angled at 20-degrees
Provision of 257 inverters across the site
Conversion of the energy from DC to AC via five transformer cabinets across
the site, each measuring 6.1m x 2.4m x 2.9m
Underground cabling throughout the site to connect with a substation measuring
10m x 6m x 3m and storage shed on the northern side of Barkham Ride (with
new kerbed access from Barkham Ride and parking and turning)
Total output of 29.63 MWp with connection into the grid via underground cabling
at a depth of approximately 0.8m, routed northwards through Council owned
paddocks for 540m, along Edney’s Lane for 75m and Barkham Road for 640m
2.4m high security fencing around the perimeter of the site and along the
proposed Greenway with post and rail fencing in some other areas
New access entrance on the southern side of Barkham Ride with entrance
gates
A total of 470m of access tracks through the site including access between High
Barn Farm and Rooks Nest Farm
Associated lighting of buildings and CCTV around the site perimeter
Provision of a new Greenway through the site (underneath the existing
powerlines) connecting Bridleway 14 in the south with Footpath 10A in the
north, with associated connections
Planting of 10,947 trees across 2.89 ha in a woodland setting along the
southern boundary of the site as part of a borough wider carbon sequestration
project
Other supplementary planting across the site including meadow grassland,
hedgerow in areas (including the Greenway) and trees
Removal of five trees and two tree groups and part removal of seven hedges
Retention of 5.52 ha of farmland in the south western corner around the existing
High Barn Farm buildings for use by the existing tenant farmer

Site access via two kerbed entrances (the same accesses will be permanently
retained for operational purposes) at the eastern end of Barkham Ride
Two site compounds on either side of Barkham Ride adjacent to the site
entrances and comprising temporary hardstanding, fencing, gates, portacabins,
storage containers and wheel washing facilities with parking and turning for 40
vehicles and two HGVs
Delivery routing via Barkham Street to the north
Associated directional signage

The lifespan of the development is 25 years with decommissioning and remediation
of the site to return the site to its existing use.

117

4.

The application forms part of the Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan following
the declaration of a Climate Emergency in July 2019. It is an Environmental Impact
Assessment application, which requires an assessment of the likely significant
environmental effects of the project. The proposal falls under Part 3 of Schedule 2 of
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017, specifically being “industrial installations for the production of electricity, steam
and hot water” of more than 0.5 hectare. An EIA Scoping Report was submitted to
the Council on 18 January 2021 together with a formal request for an EIA Scoping
Opinion, in accordance with Regulation 15(1) of the EIA Regulations 2017. A formal
Scoping Opinion was issued on 17 March 2021.

5.

The application, as originally proposed, was amended once in July 2021 in the
following manner:
a)

b)

c)

d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Removal of solar panels and woodland planting adjacent to the main farm
buildings of High Barn Farm in the south western corner of the site and
retention of 5.52 ha of farmland for use by the tenant farmer and with the
provision of an access track to Rooks Nest Farm for operational purposes
Realignment of the proposed Greenway and footpath connections between
BR14, BR11 and FP10A through the centre of the site underneath the existing
powerlines
Increase in the buffer around the south eastern side of the listed buildings and
scheduled monument from 20m to 25m and removal of associated planting and
its replacement with meadow planting
Increase in the buffer around Barkham Brook to 10m
Reduction in the length of access tracks across the site
Relocation of the substation on the northern side of Barkham Ride further to the
east
Overall reduction in solar panels from 71,812 to 67,340 and occupied area from
48.5 ha to 43.56 ha
Reduction in output from 32.38MWp to 29.63 MWp with inverters reduced from
282 to 257 and transformers from 6 to 5
Reduction in area and density of woodland planting from 3.4 ha or 15,093 trees
to 2.89 ha or 10,947 trees

Description of Site
6.

The 52-ha application site consists of three agricultural farms in Council ownership High Barn Farm (excluding the farmhouse and associated buildings and
hardstanding) and part of Brook Farm and Rooks Nest Farm between the locations of
Barkham in the north and Finchampstead to the south east. It is bounded by
Barkham Brook in the north, Barkham Street and Commonfield Lane in the east, an
existing Greenway to the south and the village of Finchampstead and Rooks Nest
Wood to the east. Barkham Ride intersects west to east across the site.

7.

The site is predominantly rural or agricultural in nature with several public footpaths
through the north of the site. Mature vegetation, some of which has veteran status
lines the perimeter of the site and hedgerows form a characteristic of paths and
bridleways around the north of the site. It is largely flat to the north, with an upward
slope of about 6m in the area to the north of Barkham Ride. The southern end of the
site has a more obvious slope, rising a further 7m to a ridgeline before sloping more
steeply downwards to the southern boundary.

118

8.

Surrounding development consists of:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Countryside to the north
The historic buildings of Church Cottages and St James Church near the
intersection of Barkham Street and Commonfield Lane
Recent residential development in close proximity to the south west corner with
other sporadic residential development nearby
Longmoor Bog and California Country Park to the south
Rooks Nest Wood and Model Farm to the east, with the village of
Finchampstead further east

Principle of Development
9.

The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of
sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham
Borough will be approved without delay unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

Proposed use
10. The principle of renewable energy infrastructure is strongly supported in the Core
Strategy, MDD Local Plan and the NPPF and this generates significant weight in
favour of the development. Notwithstanding, there are planning policies and
considerations that pull in different directions.
11. At paragraph 8, the NPPF lists adapting and mitigating to climate change as a core
principle of sustainable development. At paragraph 152, it supports the transition to a
low carbon future and specifically recognises that the planning system should
support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. More
specifically, it articulates that local planning authorities should:
a)

b)
c)

Provide a positive strategy for energy from renewable and low carbon sources,
that maximises the potential for suitable development, while ensuring that
adverse impacts are addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape
and visual impacts) (paragraph 155)
Not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy (paragraph 158)
Approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable
(paragraph 158)

12. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy encourages appropriate on-site renewable energy
features and development that minimises consumption of resources, but also
requires that development proposals maintain or enhance the high quality of the
environment.
13. Paragraph 4.6 of the Core Strategy notes that delivering on sustainable energy can
bring significant social, environmental and economic benefits to Wokingham
Borough. Paragraph 4.9 reiterates the Council’s aim to achieve zero carbon
development as soon as possible and states that development for the generation of

119

energy from renewable resources will be permitted unless there are unacceptable
locational or other impacts that could not be outweighed by wider environmental,
social and economic or other benefits.
14. Policy CC05 of the MDD Local Plan encourages renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks where
a)
b)
c)
d)

They are appropriate in scale, location and technology type
Are compatible with the surrounding area, including the impact of noise and
odour
Do not have a damaging impact on the local topography and landscape
There is no significant impact upon heritage assets, including views important
to their setting…

15. The Council has also declared a Climate Emergency and the Climate Emergency
Action Plan was published in January 2020. This sets out the objective to provide solar
farms in order to achieve the goal of carbon neutrality by 2030. It is recognised that
the subject application is one cog of this process.
16. Draft policies associated with the climate emergency form part of the Draft Local Plan
Update. It was subject to consultation during February-April 2020 but will be
reconsulted in the coming months. Whilst the weight applied to these policies is
minimal, they reflect the intent of the NPPF and indicate the council’s direction and
commitment to playing the fullest role possible in mitigating and adapting to climate
change. Draft Policy DH10 (Low carbon and renewable energy generation) states
that:
“Development proposals for new standalone low carbon and renewable energy
generation schemes and associated infrastructure, or extensions to existing
schemes, will be supported provided they are of an appropriate scale and do
not give rise to unacceptable impacts on landscape, biodiversity, heritage
assets, character of the area, and amenity.”
17. Referring to the above, the principle of renewable energy development is clearly
supported in principle by local and national policy and by the Draft Local Plan
Update, provided that there are no unacceptable impacts. This report deals in detail
with these impacts and there is therefore significant and broad policy support at local
and national level for this type of development. It is also relevant that the NPPF does
not state that there should be no adverse impacts from renewable energy
development, only that the impacts should be acceptable.
Development in the countryside
18. The site is located outside the settlement boundary and in the countryside. Policy
CP11 of the Core Strategy does not normally permit development outside of
development limits unless it protects the separate identity of settlements, maintains
the quality of the environment, and meets one of several exception criteria.
19. Policy CP11 is silent on the allowance of renewable energy developments within the
countryside and so none of the criteria are entirely relevant to this type of
development. Indeed, there are no allocated sites for renewable and low carbon
energy. However, one of the exceptions is where it involves a sustainable rural or

120

recreational enterprise, does not lead to excessive expansion away from the original
building and is contained within a building suitable for conversion.
20. Paragraph 157 of the NPPF also states that development should comply with any
development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply
unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the type of
development involved and its design, that this is not feasible or viable. Paragraph
158 recommends approval where impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.
21. The solar farm is a sustainable enterprise that would only ever be achievable within a
countryside location. It would bring about noticeable impacts, including but not limited
to landscape and visual harm, moderate but less than substantial harm to the setting
of heritage assets, loss of agricultural land and ecological impacts necessitating
mitigation. Visually, it is viewed as encroachment of development that would result in
a reduction in the separation between Arborfield Garrison in the west and
Finchampstead in the east, albeit with a retained gap at its eastern end to
Finchampstead and to the north to Barkham.
22. Whilst there is identifiable harm to the quality of the environment, there is a more
wholistic and wider benefit for the environment in terms of the provision of renewable
and low carbon energy. On this basis, the proposal could be viewed as being broadly
in line with the intent of Policy CP11 or if it is not, the benefits are such that it is
acceptable despite any departure.
Loss of agricultural land
23. Policy CP1(7) of the Core Strategy, Policy TC3 of the Barkham and Arborfield
Neighbourhood Plan and Paragraph 174(b) of the NPPF all state that that best and
most versatile (BMV) agricultural land should be protected. The primary reasoning is
to protect food production in the UK.
24. Agricultural land is graded between 1 and 5. The principal physical factors influencing
grading are climate, site and soil which, together with interactions between them,
Gradings of 1, 2 and 3a are the BMV agricultural land that should be retained. Grade
1 land is excellent quality agricultural land with very minor or no limitations to
agricultural use. Grade 5 is very poor-quality land, with severe limitations which
restrict use to permanent pasture or rough grazing.
25. An Agricultural Land Classification and Soil Resources Report (Reading Agricultural
Consultants, March 2021) was prepared for the application. It concluded that the site
comprised a mix of Grade 2 (27 ha) and Grade 3a (24 ha) land, which falls within the
category of BMV land.
26. Grade 2 is very good quality agricultural land, with minor limitations which affect crop
yield, cultivations or harvesting. Subgrade 3a land is capable of consistently
producing moderate to high yields of a narrow range of arable crops or moderate
yields of a wide range of crops.
27. Paragraph 013 of the Planning Practice Guidance requires consideration that “where
a proposal involves greenfield land, whether (i) the proposed use of any agricultural
land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has been used in
preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for continued

121

agricultural use where applicable and/or encourages biodiversity improvements
around arrays.”
28. The Planning Statement submitted with the subject application then references the
BRE guidance for commercial ground mounted solar panel developments. It notes
that development should ideally utilise previously developed land, brownfield land,
contaminated land, industrial land, or agricultural land preferably of classification 3b,
4, and 5, avoiding the use of “Best and Most Versatile” cropland where possible.
29. The entire site comprises three farms, all owned by the Council and leased to a
tenant farmer with 360 head of cattle. The proposal involves the use of approximately
47 ha for the solar farm and tree planting. 5.52 ha or 20% of the existing Grade 2
farmland within the farm will be retained for the farmer’s use in the south western
corner. The Council has advised the farmer that the lease for the remainder of the
farm holding will not be renewed and it is understood that this is not the farmer’s
preference.
30. The farm is currently occupied by 360 head of cattle and a maize crop. The use of
BMV land for a solar farm is contrary to policy and the loss of 80% of the Grade 2
and all of Grade 3a agricultural land would not normally be supported. This forms the
basis of a large number of submissions, including that a 25-year period might be
temporary but is also a generation length of time where the use of the land for
farming is not possible, leading to increased transportation emissions associated with
the importation of food.
31. The justification used in the Planning Statement to support the scheme is that (a) it is
temporary, (b) there are measurable biodiversity improvements elsewhere within the
site (c) that other Council own holdings are more sensitively located and (d) there are
no other suitable locations in the borough.
32. At a minimum height of 0.7m, it is not possible to retain cattle on the land and the
raising of the solar panels so that they can be retained would have measurable
impacts upon the wider landscape. However, cows are very high carbon emitters,
mostly through the release of methane and so the conversion of the land to a solar
farm weighs in favour of the application albeit on better quality agricultural land. It is
feasible that smaller livestock (eg sheep) could be accommodated without impacting
upon the solar panels and this would generate less emissions. However, there is no
confirmation of any dual use of the site at this time.
33. Weighing significantly in favour of the application is the fact that Natural England
have raised no objection to the proposal. Land to the east of the site at Rooks Nest
Farm and to the north of the site at Brook Farm will also be retained, broadly about
62 ha. It is also important to recognise that it is a temporary loss of agricultural land
with long term use of the land for agriculture protected in Condition 3. Any departure
from this would require further assessment.
34. There are positives and negatives associated with the use of the BMV land and the
departure from the national and local policy aiming to protecting this agricultural land
requires a consideration in the planning balance.

122

Alternative sites
35. Whilst it is well established that each planning application should be considered on
its individual merits, Paragraph 013 of the Planning Practice Guidance for solar
development states where a proposal involves greenfield land, the Local Planning
Authority should consider ‘the proposed use of any agricultural land has been shown
to be necessary and poorer quality land has been used in preference to higher
quality land’. Local residents have also raised objections stating that alternative sites
should be considered for this type of development.
36. The documentation submitted with the application included consideration of
alternative sites. The key factors were that it was to be in Council ownership (and so
available for development), capable of accommodating 25 MWp-plus and allowing for
easy access to the grid, all of which limits the number of available sites.
37. The site was first identified as part of the Climate Emergency Action Plan and the
urgency associated with the climate emergency required a development of significant
scale. Target 12 of the Climate Emergency Action Plan Progress report specifically
identifies the generation of renewable energy through investment in solar farms to
power 25,000 homes by 2030. Four other solar farms are proposed on Council
owned land as well as on top of existing buildings as part of the delivery of the
Climate Emergency Action Plan.
38. The farms of High Barn, Brook and Rooks Nest together form the first of these solar
farms on the largest Council owned farm holdings (114 ha). The use of 52 ha
represents less than half of this land with much of the rest constrained for such
development. The site offers a consolidated parcel of land in the south of the
borough where the north of the borough contains large areas of Green Belt. It also
allows for easy connection to the grid that is capable of accommodating the power
generation without significant costs associated with retrofitting. The connection is
also via Council owned land, either within farmland or on Barkham Road. Brownfield
sites at this scale and within Council ownership have not been identified.
39. The emerging Local Plan aims to add to availability of land for renewable energy
through previously developed land, brownfield land, contaminated land, industrial
land or agricultural land.
40. On the basis of the above assessment, it is concluded that the site represents the
most suitable location for the scheme.
Character of the Area
Landscape and visual impact
41. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires
consideration of the landscape character. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF also states
that development should contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment by:

123

a)

b)

Protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological
value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or
identified quality in the development plan);
Recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic
and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees
and woodland.

42. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale, layout, built form and character of the area and must be of highquality design. This is reinforced in other policies in the Borough Design Guide SPD,
including:






RD1 requires that development contribute positively towards and be compatible
with the historic or underlying character and quality of the local area
RD3 notes that development must respond to and not harm the setting of the
village
RD4 requires that buildings retain views into or out of the village
NR1 states development should respond to key characteristics and features of
the site and NR2 states that proposals should improve the area
NR12 requires consideration of boundary treatments

43. Paragraph 013 of the Planning Practice Guidance offers specific guidance on the
planning considerations relating to large scale ground mounted solar PV farms. A
definition of ‘large scale’ is not provided, but it is considered this applies to the
current application. The PPG states that:
‘The deployment of large-scale solar farms can have a negative impact on the
rural environment, particularly in undulating landscapes. However, the visual
impact of a well-planned and well-screened solar farm can be properly
addressed within the landscape if planned sensitively.’
44. The landscape is not considered as a ‘Valued Landscape’ as identified in the Values
Landscape Topic Paper – January 2020. However, the site is adjacent to the edge of
the Forest and Rides Valued Landscape to the east, and close to the southern part of
Barkham and Bearwood Valued Landscape.
45. Of relevance within the landscape are the Grade II listed Church Cottages which sit
within the scheduled monument of the moated site and enclosure at Church Farm,
directly abutting part of the north western boundary of the site. Slightly beyond the
Church Cottages to the north is the Grade II listed Church of St James which has a
tower with a small wooden spire. The church and churchyard are mainly enclosed by
trees with the spire visible above the vegetation from some locations. The Church
Cottages have some vegetation on the boundary of the site, but this is variable.
46. The landscape in which the site is located is as identified within the Wokingham
Borough Landscape Character Assessment (November 2019) as Arborfield Cross
and Barkham Settled and Farmed Clay (J2). The southern boundary abuts
Finchampstead Forested and Settled Sands (M1). The relevant extracts for character
area J2 are.
Valuable Landscape Attributes

124









Barkham Brook and associated wetland which provide important ecological
habitats including wet meadow and BAP priority habitat wet woodland.
Pattern of arable and pastoral fields, which provides a rural character away from
settlement, and creates an important separation between settlements.
Mature hedgerow trees and in-field trees which provide a wooded character and
visual interest within the landscape.
Historic Second World War pillboxes and other defence works, which are now a
scenic part of the landscape.
Rural settlement pattern of farms, hamlets and small nucleated villages outside
the urban area which provides a rural character and a link to the past.
Recreational value of the network of rights of way between settlements.
Views across the landscape to surrounding character areas, particularly across
the river valleys to the west and to the wooded hills to the north and south
provides a loose sense of enclosure.

Landscape Condition
The landscape is in overall moderate condition, due to the pattern of arable and
pastoral fields, and remnant wetland influences associated with Barkham Brook.
However, the hedgerow network is fragmented and the introduction of further
development through the Arborfield Garrison SDL and associated infrastructure will
further fragment the rural settlement pattern altering the character of the area.
Landscape Strategy
To maintain the landscape character of the Arborfield Cross and Barkham Settled
and Farmed Clay the following strategy is required: to conserve and enhance the
remaining rural character of the landscape. The key aspects to be conserved and
enhanced are the field pattern with mature hedgerow trees, wetland and woodland
habitats, rural lanes and historic features. In terms of development, the aim is to
integrate new development into its landscape setting and retain the open and rural
character of the landscape between settlements.
47. Despite the partly undulating and relatively level topography of the site, it is
conclusive that there would be a clear change to the character and appearance of
the landscape and because of the significant size of the site, it will be across a large
expanse and from multiple vantage points, not limited to Barkham Ride that
intersects east-west through the middle of the site.
48. The elevations depicted below give an indication of the solar panels, projecting up to
2.14m above ground along rows of more than 55m.

Front elevation

125

Cross section through site including fencing

Typical section

49. Primary public viewpoints will be from Commonfield Lane in the west, through the
middle of the site on Barkham Ride (looking north and south) and from Rooks Nest
Wood in the east. There will be other immediately apparent viewpoints from the
footpaths which run mostly along field edges. There would also be filtered views from
other points such as California Country Park to the south and in wider views from
land higher up to the north of the site. The following photographs taken by the
Council planning officer provide a section of these views. It is immediately apparent
is that there is an open rural form with hedgerows framing the edges and the
proposal would significantly alter these views.

View from within Rooks Nest Wood looking north west (August 2021)

126

View from Footpath 10A adjacent to Rooks Nest Wood looking north (August 2021)

View looking north from Footpath 10 underneath powerlines (August 2021)

View looking north from near Barkham Ride towards Church Cottages and St James’ Church
(June 2021)

127

Winter screening along Commonfield Lane (November 2020)

Looking north from Barkham Ride (November 2020)

Looking south east from Barkham Ride (November 2020)

128

Looking north east from intersection of Commonfield Lane and Barkham Ride/Street
(November 2020)

Looking south east from intersection of Commonfield Lane and Barkham Ride/Street
(November 2020)

50. The Environmental Statement dated March 2021 includes a chapter on Landscape
and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). An Environmental Masterplan is provided
indicating proposed landscape mitigation and public right of way enhancements
across the site. The LVIA was updated in July 2021 to include an additional receptor
and was accompanied by a revised Environmental Masterplan.
51. The LVIA assesses the anticipated landscape and visual effects of the proposed
solar farm on identified receptors including a detailed assessment of its impact on the
nearest dwellings. The Environmental Masterplan provides details of the proposed
planting within the site to mitigate the effects of the PV panels and associated works
from receptor views and to mitigate the effects on the landscape character and this is
assessed as part of the LVIA. The key findings are that:


There is likely to be a direct and indirect, short-term, temporary moderate
adverse residual effect on five visual receptors (significant) during the
construction phase

129






There is likely to be direct, short-term, temporary neutral to minor adverse
residual effects on the remaining nine visual receptors (not significant) during
the construction phase
There is likely to be direct and indirect, medium-term moderate or major
adverse residual effects from half of the visual receptors (significant) during
operation phase (Year 1); direct, permanent Moderate adverse residual effects
on visual receptor R9 (significant) during operation phase (Year 15), and direct
and indirect, permanent Neutral to Minor adverse residual effects (not
significant) on the remainder of these receptors at Year 15
There is likely to be direct and indirect, medium-term neutral to minor adverse
residual effects on half of the visual receptors (not significant) during the
operational phase (Year 1) and direct and indirect, permanent Neutral to Minor
adverse residual effects on these receptors at Year 15.

52. As part of the assessment of the original documentation, the Council’s Trees and
Landscape Officer was in general agreement with the majority of findings in relation
to assessed impact. The exception was the site’s relationship with the heritage
assets or in particular, how views to the heritage assets or their setting are retained
and the justification for different design solutions to minimise the effects. This is
distinct from the impact of development within the setting which is a heritage
consideration already addressed above.
53. This has been adequately addressed in the revised Environmental Masterplan and
there are no in-principle objections raised by the Council’s Trees Officer subject to
mitigation in the form of additional hedgerow planting in the following locations:




To the south of Barkham Ride as this boundary is relatively open
To the south-east of the Greenway separating the open area through which the
Greenway will pass from the PV panels to the south-east
Replacement hedgerow behind visibility splays for new accesses off Barkham
Ride

54. These requirements form part of Condition 5. Other revisions to the landscape
scheme are needed, including revisions to the woodland edge mix, planting of Elm in
the woodland and the exclusion of Ash, A landscape specification would need to be
included with the detailed landscape plans and should also include a matrix for the
woodland planting showing typical spacing and distribution of species.
55. There is undoubtedly heavy reliance upon landscaping as a screening tool. This is
used effectively in areas such as alongside both sides of Barkham Ride where views
are most prominent. The landscaping does not dominant or enclose the setting
where it should not (such as along footpaths) and there remains a sufficient degree
of openness across the site. There is generally 35-45m separation between groups
of panels alongside the Greenway through the site and this allows sufficient space for
planting and retaining a sense of openness and views across the site.
56. There is also the recognition that the landscaping will take many years to be effective
in screening the development. This is reflected in the landscape visual assessments.
However, there has not been an attempt to hide the solar panels. They will be visible
elements on the landscape and the assessment of the application recognises this
fact in reaching the conclusion that it has a measurable but acceptable impact upon
the wider landscape and visual impression of this rural location.

130

57. Notwithstanding, the Council’s Trees and Landscape Officer raises additional issue
with the need to conserve the open and rural qualities of the farmed landscape,
particularly in views from the edge of the SANG woodland towards the Church of St
James’ spire and in the view from footpath 10A towards the wooded skyline to the
north. Further consideration of this viewpoint (shown in the first two photographs
above) is such that there is no additional need to increase the buffer along the
woodland edge of the SANG and the footpath. Setbacks vary between 10m and 40m
at the corner of the site, which allows sufficient angle of site over the solar panels
with the retention of views beyond. The views are only properly appreciated once
leaving the woodland to the east because of the density of coverage within Rooks
Nest Wood and thus the impact is limited.
Ancillary works
58. Substation: The substation is positioned 15-25m from Barkham Ride in the eastern
corner of the site. It has a footprint of 60m2 and a volume of 180m3. It will be
appreciated in views from Barkham Ride, mostly across the splayed access entrance
where visibility will limit the extent of hedgerow. However, it has a relatively modest
height of 3m, which is only 800mm above the solar panels. It is also located at the
eastern edge of the site where it is more contained. Moreover, it will not appear
entirely foreign in the landscape given the existing powerlines passing through the
site above. Subject to suitable landscape planting in Condition 5, no objection is
raised.
59. A separate storage shed is located alongside the substation building. It is smaller in
size and because of its siting closer to the corner of the site, is better screened in
views from Barkham Ride. The associated parking and turning area consist of
compacted gravel and does not contribute to any additional harm beyond that
already identified. On the basis of the above observations, there are no objections.
60. Transformers: Five transformer buildings are proposed, each with a height of 3m and
volume of 42m. They will be positioned 70m north of St James Church, south of
Footpath 10 near Rooks Nest Wood, 15m south of Barkham Ride, along the eastern
boundary 90m to the south of Barkham Ride and in the south eastern corner of the
site, some 300m to the north of Longmoor Bog. In general, they are located in
isolated locations within the solar farm where impacts are very limited with the
exception of the transformer building alongside Barkham Ride. However, in that
location it will be sited behind hedgerow. Given their height is only 700mm above the
solar panels and there are only five in total, they will not contribute to any noticeable
additional impression on the landscape and are acceptable.
61. Fencing: Deer type fencing will surround the solar farm and both sides of the
Greenway. Because much of the fencing is at the edge of the solar farm and there is
a height of 2.4m (on security grounds), the fencing will be apparent in the landscape
and it contrasts with more traditional wire or post and rail fencing in the area.
However, it will also be well screened either by existing vegetation (eg along
Commonfield Lane) or proposed hedgerow (eg along Barkham Ride). Moreover,
where it is visible, it is very open in nature, allowing for sightlines through the fence,
only interrupted by the fence posts. Along the Greenway, there is broadly at least
25m separation between the fences on either side such that there is no imposition or
dominance imposed on users of the footpath or bridleway. Some post and rail

131

fencing is also proposed along the Greenway where it does not adjoin the solar
panels and this is an entirely reasonable and expected feature in the landscape.

Fencing elevation

62. Access and internal roads: There are 470m of access roads around the site and a
new farm access west to east across the southern part of the site. These roads are
unpaved, being made of compacted gravel and Condition 25 reinforces this. Most of
the access is grass only and will be used rarely such that they will fit within the
countryside setting amongst the solar panels. As they are not paved, they are easily
reversible over time. Condition 4 requires ground level details in the event that raising
of ground levels is required in order to ensure a more detailed assessment prior to
the commencement of works.
63. Lighting: Paragraph 180 of the NPPF aims to limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes, and nature conservation.
The wider solar farm will not be lit and is for security/maintenance purposes only.
Lighting will be provided around the key infrastructure (substation and transformers).
Whilst largely acceptable, Condition 19 requires further details on ecological grounds
and this limits any impact upon the night sky to negligible levels. Condition 19 also
ensures that the lighting is building mounted and sensor activated only.
64. CCTV: Closed circuit TV is included around the site but there is an absence of detail
about locations, type, or heights of any associated poles. The use of CCTV is not
opposed in principle and can be managed in a suitable manner (such as on the
proposed fencing) but further details are required by Condition 17.
65. Greenway: The proposed Greenway is a positive outcome for the character of the
area, allowing for increased recreation in the area. It will be surfaced to ensure
continued use but this does not weigh against the proposal. Interpretative boards are
required in Condition 8 (see paragraph 81) and these are modest elements that
provide visual and historic interest rather than detracting from the setting. It has an
open form, being about 25m wide in most parts.
66. Roadworks to Barkham Ride: The works associated with the laying of the grid
connection extend for 2km north to the existing substation on Barkham Road. They
are mostly confined to the adopted highway but any effect on the road surface is
temporary only and will include making good in the resurfacing of the road. There are
no in-principle objections.

132

Conclusion
67. The cumulative effect of the above development is such that there is encroachment
of development within the countryside. However, it is not unacceptable on account of
the existing and proposed screening, the circumstances of the proposal being a
renewable energy project that cannot be provided anywhere other than the
countryside and because there remains ample separation between settlements to the
north, west and east in Barkham, Arborfield and Finchampstead.
Heritage, Conservation and Archaeology
68. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
states that development must ensure the preservation of any nearby listed building,
including its setting, Policy TB24 of the MDD Local Plan requires the conservation
and enhancement of Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments, including their
views and setting.
69. Policy TB26 of the MDD Local Plan allows development to or adjacent to Areas of
Special Character where it will retain and enhance the traditional, historical, local,
and special character of the building or area and its setting.
70. Section 16 of the NPPF requires consideration of the harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset. At paragraph 189 of the NPPF, heritage assets ‘should be
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed
for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations’.
Paragraph 199 states that ‘great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation’
and that more important the asset, the greater the weight given should be. Paragraph
201 then notes that where there is less than substantial harm, it should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use.
71. The north western corner of the site comprises several Grade II Listed Buildings, an
Ancient Monument, Area of Special Character and Building of Traditional Local
Character.
Adjacent to and/or within 30m




Moated site and associated enclosure at Church Farm – Scheduled Monument
status since 1977
Church Cottage - Grade II Listed Building status since 1986
Church of St. James - Grade II Listed Building status since 1967

Within 500m






Barkham Square - Grade II Listed Building status since 1967
Barkham Manor - Grade II status Listed Building.
Southern boundary wall to Barkham Manor – Grade II status Listed Building.
The Bull Public House and Smithy - Grade II status Listed Building
Sparks Farmhouse - Grade II status Listed Building.

Non-Designated Heritage Assets within 500m

133








Brook Farm House – identified as a Building of Traditional Local Character
Associated former building of Brook Farm, including old stables, and a granary
and nearby barn to east side of Barkham Road)
Manor Cottage, Barkham Road
Brook Cottage
The White Cottage
The Bothy and The Stable House, historically associated with the listed building,
Barkham Square

Other



Barkham Church and Manor – Area of Special Character (local authority
classification) that encompasses all the above noted heritage assets both
designated and non-designated
Barkham Manor grounds – Local Historic Parks and Gardens, a local authority
classification

Moated site
72. Church Cottages is surrounded by a moat, which is listed as a Scheduled Monument.
The moat is water-filled and in good condition. It is of irregular shape with a
causeway on the north-west side. Observations in 1982 suggested at least one recut
of the moat and deliberate backfilling after the middle ages. Adjacent to the moat on
the north-east side is a field surrounded on all sides by a ditch and stands 0.5m
higher than surrounding land. It is considered to represent the farmyard area of the
original manor.
73. Moated sites are representative of the upper class of medieval society. Their purpose
is to display wealth and influence. Many are found throughout the country but a
concentration is found in the midlands, south, and east of England. Whilst considered
as a single class of monument there are wide variations in the design and form of
each site.
74. Beyond the moat further structures and features such as fish ponds, field systems
and stock enclosures are also found, often only remaining as buried archaeological
features. Therefore the moated site and any associated buildings and structures
should be viewed as part of a manorial and agricultural landscape. They should not
be viewed in isolation or as defensive features.
75. The moated site continues to sit as part of a rural agricultural parish. The immediate
surrounding environment illustrates its original setting. This ongoing connection of the
site to its agricultural hinterland allows the site to be understood as a part of that
landscape rather than a disconnected and isolated feature within it. Therefore the
scheduled monument draws some significance from its setting. The site retains an
important connection to its rural agricultural hinterland which allows the site to be
experienced as part of that landscape.
76. Historic England were consulted and have raised objection to the original and revised
schemes. Their view is that the design and layout of the solar array will result in
unsympathetic development within the setting of a medieval site which retains a rural
and agricultural character in their view.

134

77. Expanding on this, the application will result in the loss of the agricultural hinterland
and introduce a new built form to the rural landscape. The proposals will also
disconnect the site and the agricultural landscape which will harm how the site is
appreciated and viewed. This is less than substantial harm, at a moderate level.
There is no formal scale of less than substantial harm but the harm, in the eyes of
Historic England, it is moderate.
78. The panels have an 'industrial' element and built form to the current agricultural and
rural landscape. Vegetation bounds the moat on all sides and allows glimpsed views
both to and from the monument which are more open in winter than in summer.
These views are limited but a sense of an agricultural hinterland can be appreciated,
illustrating the medieval situation. The development will result in a material change to
this surrounding landscape during its lifetime.
79. Approaches to the site on existing public rights of way allow open views of the
agricultural landscape beyond the existing vegetation, which is denser in some areas
than others. This allows the moated site to be viewed and appreciated within its
original environment (a rural agricultural parish).
80. The Historic England Good Practice Advice Note 3: The setting of heritage assets
states that where adverse impacts are identified these should be minimised where
possible. In the view of Historic England, an increase in the buffer from 20m to 25m
in the revised scheme (albeit with the fence to 21m) does not demonstrate a
minimisation of identified harm and the view is that alternative solutions still exist and
that these should be explored in order to minimise the identified harm and bring
about the support of Historic England.
81. Whilst not changing the overall assessment of harm, the following would slightly
improve the proposals as submitted:




The re-introduction of some form of vegetation between the solar array and the
moated site of Church Farm on its south eastern facing side in the form of
dappled/sporadic planting rather than a ‘green screen’ which will serve to break
up appearance of the solar farm during its operation life but will not result in a
loss of views when the field reverts to agricultural use.
The installation of some form of interpretation of the scheduled monument and
its immediate landscape, allowing an introduction to the public to the scheduled
monument and its landscape that do not solely rely on an interpretation board.

82. These form Condition 5 and 8 respectively.
Listed buildings
83. The topography is a significant influence on the original siting of St James Church
and the former Moated site occupied by Church Cottages as they sit on a northern
east edge promontory above the valley. The land slopes away from the Church to the
north east. This location therefore has a focal point and status in the landscape. The
Church of St James steeple is a key feature in the immediate area and is visible in
views from local highways including to the north east and to the south.
84. Church Cottages with the Church Tower behind are a visible feature in views across
the relatively flat topography of the field north of the Barkham Ride and at the existing

135

field entrance located about 135m from the west and 60m from the east edge on
Barkham Lane.
85. What is being considered is the ‘setting’ of the designated Heritage Assets and
Historic England Guidance on Setting of Listed Buildings GPA3, Setting, is defined in
the Annex 2 Glossary to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not
fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a
setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an
asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral. ‘
86. The view of the Council’s Conservation Officer is that the encroachment of the solar
farm around this significant group of designated Heritage Assets as proposed in the
revised scheme remains harmful. The suggestion of a 25m buffer is less so in reality,
with the fence line at 21m and an access road positioned between the fence and the
solar panels. This would result in a somewhat abrupt and harsh line to the meadow
buffer transition zone. Whilst the removal of the footpaths in this area improves the
broader setting of these assets, the buffer zone is still insufficient to wholly overcome
issues of harm to their setting and their disassociation from the agricultural fields that
provide context. As such, it is considered the development would still be harmful with
respect to the setting and context of the designated heritage assets and that the
harm is less than substantial in nature.
87. Paragraph 200 of the NPPF needs to be borne in mind which states that it is
expected that ‘any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset
(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should
require clear and convincing justification’. This, in the view of the Council’s
Conservation Officer, has not been provided.
Archaeology
88.

Policy TB25 of the MDD Local Plan requires the retention of archaeological sites in situ. The
Environment Statement submitted with the application acknowledges that the majority of the
Site has never been built on and so archaeological survival potential is therefore likely to be
high. Any archaeological remains would be expected to be beneath the topsoil and cut into
the underlying geology, at a likely depth of 0.5–1.0m below ground level. Mechanised
ploughing is likely to have reworked the upper 0.3 metres of the ground. Archaeological
remains may have been truncated, but not removed.

89.

Sensitive buried heritage receptors include moderate potential for pre historic remains,
Roman remains, early and late medieval remains and High potential for post-medieval
remains of isolated finds of agricultural features, mostly associated with the moated
Scheduled Monument.

90. A geophysical report was submitted as part of the application. Berkshire Archaeology
were consulted as part of the application and have reviewed the report. It only covers
a small fraction of the site due to the crops being too high when the survey was
commenced. There is an intention for the investigations to recommence once
harvesting occurs in later September.
91. The small amount of geophysics that has been carried out has shown that
archaeology does survive, and this can be expected to extend into other areas of the

136

site, with none being eliminated at this point. The main concern is with any fixed
elements, such as access, ancillary infrastructure and specific screening required
92. The limited information submitted with the application to date is undesirable but not
unacceptable. For a policy-compliant approach, Condition 9 requires the provision of
further details prior to the commencement of works. It may be necessary to employ
methods such as “floating foundations/substructures) to avoid any harm to
archaeological deposits if these conflict with the scheme and this would be borne out
in this pre commencement approach.
Conclusion
93. The views of Historic England and the Council’s Conservation Officer are that there is
identified harm. Berkshire Archaeology also hold reservations, mostly brought about
by the lack of information submitted with the application. These variances require
consideration of the application in the wider planning balance, as detailed in
paragraphs 164-174. Part of that consideration is that the harm identified above is
temporary in nature for a maximum of 25 years.
Neighbour Amenity
94. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity and Policy
CC06 and Appendix 1 of the MDD Local Plan requires that development protect
noise sensitive receptors from noise impact.
95. There are residential receptors around the site, including:







At Barkham Square, about 120m to the west of the north western corner
The limited development location of Barkham and continuing along Edneys Hill
430m to the north
The modest development location of Finchampstead, the western edge of which
is 500-550m to the east
Properties lining the northern side of Nine Mile Ride generally about 550m to
south
Properties adjacent to and within 20m of the south western corner at Arborfield
Garrison
More localised development on Barkham Street, Barkham Ride and Church
Lane which lies adjacent to or in very close proximity to the sit

96. Given the limited height of the solar panels (2.1m) and their setback of at least 10m
from the boundary around the perimeter of the site, there are no perceived neighbour
amenity concerns, including dominance and loss of light. The substation is at least
17m from the boundary with Model Farm and similarly poses no unreasonable
dominance. The transformer buildings and Greenway are set within the site, well
away from neighbouring dwellings such that no issue is raised.
97. It is also envisaged that noise disturbance from vehicle movements is unlikely to
pose an unacceptable impact to neighbouring residents. Noise transmission (or
humming) from the substation is unlikely to pose an issue but because of its siting
alongside Model Farm, Condition 24 seeks confirmation on this aspect.

137

Glint and Glare
98. A glint and glare report was submitted as part of the application. It identifies
reflections through a number of times over the year. As the solar panels are fixed at
20 degrees, facing south. By virtue of the angle of the sun and the angle of the solar
panels, most of the solar radiation throughout the year is reflected skywards with no
impact on the surroundings.
Residential
99. The results take account of properties within 1km. They indicate that glint and glare is
only likely when the sun is lower in the sky at dawn for some days in June and
September. Dwellings in and around Church Cottages, Barkham Ride, Barkham
Street and upper Commonfield Lane will be partially affected but suitably and
adequately ameliorated by existing (and proposed) vegetation. It is also understood
that any incidents of glint and glare would be limited to specific time periods
representing 0.02% of the year, not accounting for vegetation. This is an acceptable
outcome and no objection is raised.
Road traffic
100. The only roads running adjacent to the site are Barkham Road running through the
centre of the site and Commonfield Lane along the western edge of the lower half of
the site. As the panels will face south, only the northern side of Barkham Ride is
likely to be affected. The same conclusions reached above with respect to residential
impacts are concluded in terms of any impacts upon the road network. Existing and
proposed landscaping will limit the potential impacts and no objection is raised.
Aircraft
101. The effect of glint during a flight is weather dependent and would be almost
instantaneous when the flight path coincides with the reflected beam band. The
nearest airports are Blackbushe (7.3km) and Farnborough (14.2km). Heathrow is
31km to the east. The glint and flare assessment indicates that there is no affection
on flight paths, including approaches to these airports. No objection is raised.
Footpath users
102. Footpath users will be subject to a higher degree of glare by virtue of the greater
proximity to the solar panels and the absence of significant landscaping such as
along the eastern side of the proposed Greenway or the northern side of Footpath
10A. However, like all of the other identified impacts, it is dependent upon the time of
day and weather conditions. The glint and glare assessment does not refer to this
impact. Whilst not fatal to the application, it may be that additional measures are
required and this is to be established as part of Condition 22.
Highway Access and Parking Provision
Parking
103. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street
parking standards. Minimal parking facilities are required for the lifespan of the

138

development as it will operate without any permeant on site staff. A small informal car
park is provided alongside the substation on Barkham Ride and this is adequate for
likely parking demand and the Council’s Highways Officer raised no objection. Cycle
parking is considered unnecessary given the limited number of visitors and the
negligible likelihood that they will be cycling.
Traffic generation
104. Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy requires, amongst other things, enhancement of
road safety and development that does not cause highway problems or lead to traffic
related environmental problems.
105. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF requires safe and suitable access to the site can be
achieved for all users and that any significant impacts from the development on the
transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be
cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.
106. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safe, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.
107. It is unlikely that traffic during the operational phase would have an adverse impact
on the highway network. Any impact will be from construction traffic and
decommissioning traffic with the applicant’s estimates concluding that 1300 solar
panels will be delivered per HGV. A transport statement has been submitted
including a framework Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) and a
framework CEMP. There are also 470m of internal access roads.
108. It is indicated that the maximum number of vehicle trips would be 106 daily
movements spread out over the operating day. With controlled deliveries this would
not have an adverse impact on the highway network. HGV deliveries will be
managed to be outside the peak hours and no deliveries will be able to arrive before
the site opens.
109. The Transport Statement refers to a proposed route for construction vehicles to and
from the M4, with signage will be used to direct traffic. This is acceptable for nonHGV traffic only due to the width restriction on Barkham Street. Heavy vehicles would
need to approach/egress from/to the south. This will need to be included in the final
Construction Traffic Management Plan in Condition 13.
Construction management
110. There are two compounds on either side of Barkham Ride, with entrances opposite
each other. A construction programme has also been included with an estimated
construction period of 10 months, which does not appear to be elongated. Wheel
washing and street sweeping are proposed to be included which is supported.
111. There are some identified issues with the proposal including cycle parking for
workers, fencing, gates, PROW protection and green measures. Decommissioning of
the compounds is also imperative. It is recognised that this document will need to be
reviewed by the appointed contractor. Highways is therefore content to secure the
Construction Environmental Management Plan by Condition 14.

139

Access
112. Figure 4.1 of the Transport Statement sets out the proposed construction accesses
into the site and swept paths for the largest vehicle have been submitted which allow
for satisfactory access. It is also proposed that these accesses would be controlled
using temporary traffic signals. This is also acceptable, subject to further details in
the Construction Traffic Management Plan in Condition 13.
113. The gates are setback from Barkham Ride to ensure that no vehicle waits on the
highway whilst the gate opens or closes. The first 15m would need to be bonded to
the carriageway edge, as proposed and outlined in Condition 12.
114. Once construction is over, the access would need to be amended for maintenance
use. This is outlined in Condition 27.
115. Visibility splays, using the actual speed limit, have been provided and are acceptable.
At least 120m distance is achieved which is more than sufficient. Regardless,
banksmen would control access which further improves the arrangement.
116. As part of the Greenway, a crossing is required across Barkham Ride. Securing the
design and implementation details of such a crossing is to the satisfaction of the
Council’s Highways Officer in consultation with the Public Rights of Way Officer. See
Condition 10.
Trees
117. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
retain existing trees, and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires
consideration of the landscape character.
118. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (WSP, March 2021) provides details of the
existing trees, tree groups and hedgerows within and adjacent to the site. There are
231 individual trees (38 Category A trees, mostly Oaks concentrated in the area
around St James’ Church), 17 tree groups and 15 hedges of varying length. It is
noted that the majority of the existing vegetation will be retained and enhanced as
part of the scheme proposals. Two veteran trees (English Oaks) have been identified
to the north of Barkham Ride (T35 and T111)
119. The AIA indicates that the access tracks (which are unpaved) or PV panels are to be
located outside the root protection areas of the veteran trees to avoid further harm to
these locally important trees. Another 36 trees are Category A, mostly Oak trees
120. As part of the original proposal, 14 arboricultural features were proposed for removal
to facilitate site access on Barkham Ride and for internal access tracks. One
Category B tree (Oak) will be removed in the south eastern corner of the site. Several
other low quality, category C trees will also need to be removed on either side of the
site entrances off Barkham Ride to allow for the appropriate visibility splays from
these entrances. The removal of 166m of low-quality hedge is almost entirely for
visibility and access purposes in and around the site compounds and substation on
Barkham Ride, The Arboricultural Impact Assessment will need to be updated to

140

address the revised layouts and should be accompanied by an Arboricultural Method
Statement in accordance with BS 5837:2012. See Condition 7.
121. The Council’s Trees Officer has reviewed the AIA and the justification for the removal
of trees and hedgerow and does not oppose the removal of these trees. Losses will
be mitigated through an extensive programme of woodland and hedge planting,
including around the compound/substation. Accordingly, no objection is raised,
subject to replacement hedgerow planting with specimen trees along the site
boundary with Barkham Ride. This is to be included in a revised landscape scheme
in Condition 5.
Public Rights of Way
122. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF seeks to protect and enhance public rights of way and
access, including taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for
example by adding links to existing rights of way networks including National Trails.
123. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to promote accessibility, linkages, and
permeability between and within existing green corridors including public rights of
way such as footpaths, cycleways, and bridleways. There are a number of existing
public rights of way running over the site and these footpaths will be altered or
affected. These include Barkham Bridleways 11 and 14 and Footpaths 10 and 10A.
It will also indirectly affect Barkham Footpaths 8 and 9.
124. The Council’s Rights of Way Officer recognises that the change of use of the land
from arable farmland to a solar farm will be a significant change to the landscape and
will have a material effect on the path network. Currently the paths are used as quiet
routes around the countryside and to link into Rooks Nest Wood SANG. Footpath 10
and 10A are field edge paths with an open aspect on one side and a hedgerow on
the other. Changing the character of the land will have a corresponding detrimental
effect on the rights of way network.

141

125. Bridleway 11 is a popular
route for walking and riding,
however the termination of the
bridleway at Barkham Ride
does limit the options for
users at this point due to the
busy nature of the road. It is
framed by tree lines boundary
between two fields and but
glimpses, particularly during
winter, will be evident.
Bridleway 14 is outside the
southern boundary of the site,
forming part of the California
Way Greenway, which is a
very popular local route.
Increased woodland next to
this path is broadly acceptable
with some additional
shadowing of the surface an
unavoidable consequence.
126. Screening of the footpath is
not the ideal solution because
this alters the amenity
afforded to footpath users by reducing the outlook, increasing shading, and affecting
the surface of the footpath (eg increased mud). This would need to be balanced with
potential glare issues, as identified above in paragraph 22. Notwithstanding, there
are opportunities within this scheme to provide an enhanced and improved network
in compensation to this change which will ameliorate the effects and this weighs
heavily in favour of the development.
127. The Council has a strategic aim to create the Greenway Route D from Commonfield
Lane through to Edney’s Hill and on to Wokingham. The proposed Greenway, as
amended, runs through the site via the existing corridor created by the overhead
powerlines. Running the Greenway along this area would mean that a wider channel
of land is assigned for the public, avoiding the need to place fences too close to the
Greenway which would detract from the overall enjoyment of the route. This 20-25m
width also allows for additional planting, used for screening and to contribute to
biodiversity as well as the provision of the heritage interpretative boards (see
Condition 8). Finally, it allows for a softer ground route for equestrians.
128. On this basis, the Council’s Public Rights of Way Officer is supportive of the scheme.
However, this is subject to the following:


The crossing point of the existing route at Barkham Ride is close to the junction
and corner of Barkham Road, posing a significant safety risk. The crossing point
for the alternative route at the pylons offers a better position for a crossing
which would provide a safe crossing for pedestrians, cyclists, and equestrians.
An uncontrolled crossing is proposed. However, this has not been agreed by
the Council’s Highways Officer and final details relating to this crossing to make

142







it safe and convenient for walkers and horse riders is required as part of
Condition 11
The Greenway would have additional width and formal surfacing, as a distinct
contrast to the narrow and unmade paths at Footpath 8 and 10A. It is also likely
that there would be additional use of these existing footpaths necessitating the
expediting of improvements. Without some kind of surfacing on these paths it is
likely to track a lot of mud and detritus onto and within the Greenway surface.
Upgrades to the existing paths along Footpaths 8 and 10A as well as Footpath
10 are therefore specified as part of the wider Greenway works in Condition 10,
taking the form of an aggregate path (type 1 granite and dust) for a 15m stretch
from the Greenway for both paths, to provide a transition between the
Greenway and the paths
A bridleway link running parallel to the Barkham Road to link Bridleway 11 to
the new Greenway would allow for much improved access for horse riders. At
present, the bridleway is less used because of the issues linking into Barkham
Ride and Barkham Road.
Officer comment: There is sufficient width for this link however the applicant is
unwilling to undertake the works to provide this and as it falls outside the scope
of the application, it is not feasible to condition it. Regular cultivation of the land
means that the surface would need to be managed and this can occur as part of
future works.
The security fencing is very close to the new Greenway at the southern part of
the development, presenting a ‘pinch point’ and to address this issue, the
applicant is content to negotiate further details as part of the pre
commencement arrangements in Conditions 5 and 10

129. Construction of the main Greenway (minus any wearing course) will take place in
months 1-2 when the access tracks will also be constructed. The final wearing
course of the Greenway will be laid in month 10 when landscaping works around the
Greenway are undertaken. The Greenway will not open until completion of the
construction works as the Greenway will likely be used as a construction haul route.
Ecology
130. Policy CP7 of the Core Strategy states that sites designated as of importance for
nature conservation are to be conserved and enhanced and inappropriate
development will be resisted.
131. Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity
features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with the
wider green infrastructure network.
132. The site is adjacent to Longmoor Bog Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) to its
sough. To the immediate east of the site is Rooks Nest Wood, which is a SANG site
providing a recreational site to nearby residents as an alternative to visiting the
Thames Basin Heaths SPA. Rooks Nest Wood includes a Local Wildlife Site (LWS)
and a Local Geological Site (LGS).
Bats
133. The bat surveys so far have highlighted the importance of Barkham Ride as a
commuting and foraging route for bats. The post-development habitat changes will

143

also provide a number of additional ecological receptors that will be sensitive to
artificial lighting. The detail of the type and extent of lighting has not been provided.
The addendum to the Environmental Statement proposes that external lighting will be
designed in accordance with a lighting strategy that is informed by best practice
guidance. The Council’s Ecology Officer raises no objection, subject to details of
external lighting in Condition 19. If avoidance and mitigation measures are applied as
per the Institute of Lighting Professionals guidance, adverse effects on nocturnal
protected species will be negligible.
134. The access point from Barkham Ride into the southern compound will require the
removal of T132 (in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and mislabelled as T103 in
the plan). This tree was not identified as having bat roost potential in the ground level
tree assessment undertaken. However, the Arboricultural Impact Assessment
includes in the notes that it has a declining crown and major deadwood in crown,
raising the potential for this tree to be in the process of developing bat roost features.
Accordingly, the Construction Environmental Management Plan in Condition 14 is to
include the requirement for protected species mitigation measures for bats to be
included and that this should be based on an up-to-date review of the bat roost
potential of all trees requiring removal or other work to enable access.
Badgers
135. The confidential Badger Monitoring Survey Report has been reviewed and indicates
that there are active badger setts in the vicinity and that badgers are likely foraging
across the site. Security fencing around the solar panels has the potential to reduce
the availability of foraging habitat to the local badger clans.
136. Whilst a number of habitat enhancements will occur outside of the fenced areas, the
Council’s Ecology Officer is not convinced that this is sufficient to provide
compensation for loss of foraging area. It is acknowledged in the Environmental
Statement addendum that there is potential for badger gates to be provided at
strategic locations in the fence lines in order to maintain access to foraging habitat for
these species.
137. As fencing and animal access points are not given in the plans, ecological
permeability details across the site for protected species and species of principal
importance is required. Provided this mitigation measure is implemented as part of
Condition 16, the proposed development is unlikely to lead to adverse effects on the
local badger population (or other species of principal importance locally such as
Brown Hare and Hedgehogs).
Reptiles
138. The site is adjacent to one of the best (known about) sites for widespread reptile
species in Wokingham Borough. It is likely that parts of the site support these
reptiles, including through providing hibernation locations. The Council’s Ecology
Officer is of the opinion that the risk to reptiles during construction can be adequately
mitigated through the application of reasonable avoidance measures (RAMs),
including supervised vegetation clearance of high-risk locations. An outline of such
RAMs to be implemented during construction is provided in the Environmental
Statement addendum (table 4.2). However, these will need to be worked up and

144

integrated with other environmental measures necessary during construction within a
CEMP in Condition 14.
139. The habitat changes that are proposed to achieve a habitat biodiversity net gain are
also likely to lead to an increased carrying capacity for the widespread reptile species
on the application site, leading to beneficial effects for these species.
Great Crested Newts
140. It has not been possible through surveys to rule out the presence of great crested
newts in nearby waterbodies. It is likely that the species of principal importance,
Common Toad, is present on site also. The Environmental Assessment
recommends precautionary RAMs for amphibian species (along the lines of those
also proposed for reptiles). If these are included in the detailed CEMP, then the
development is unlikely to adversely affect local amphibian populations.
Barn Owls
141. Outside but near to the site are two Barn Owl boxes which are part of a national
monitoring scheme for the species. Barn Owls are known to breed in these boxes
and are very likely to use the fields of the application site to forage for food. The
Barn Owl Trust considers solar farms to be compatible with ongoing foraging by this
species and has issued a statement to this effect. However, it is important to
recognise that this will depend ongoing grassland management regime between and
around the panels. The Council’s Ecology Officer expects that the LEMP in Condition
15 will include as an objective the ongoing provision of good foraging habitat for Barn
Owls (particularly in the winter months). The extent of conversion from grassland to
woodland/tree’d habitat proposed by this application is unlikely to be detrimental to
the local Barn Owl population provided that the other grassland enhancements are
secured through detailed design and LEMP implementation.
Invertebrates
142. A number of trees including Tree 132 (number from the Arboricultural Impact
Assessment) are proposed to be removed to improve the sight lines of the access
points to the site. The deadwood features of these trees are likely to support a
number of saproxylic species that are considered notable or rare. The root plates of
the trees could well be supporting Stag Beetle which is a species of principal
importance. Whilst loss of saproxylic habitat supporting rare invertebrates is not an
offence (the presence of Violet Click Beetle is unlikely), it is important to
acknowledge that this habitat is rare and can take a long time to replace.
143. The retention of as much woody material on site in a form that can continue to
support these rare invertebrates and species of principal importance is imperative.
Moving and retaining the felled tree trunks and root plates in the area proposed for
woodland creation would be much better use of the material than sending it to waste
or chipping and taking off-site. Accordingly, the Council’s Ecology Officer
recommends that the detailed design of the soft landscaping should include creation
of log piles and stumparies from felled and cut trees on site. The LEMP should also
include as an objective the ongoing provision of deadwood material within suitable
habitats, particularly as this provides additional foraging material for the local badger
clans.

145

Biodiversity Net Gain
144. Within Natural England’s National Habitat Networks map, the entire site is within a
‘Restorable Habitat Zone’ except for the southern area within approximately 250m of
the SSSI which is considered ‘Fragmentation Action Zone’.
145. a revised Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (ref: 70069260 Appendix 6-7, August
2021) has been submitted to consider the habitat changes proposed as part of the
development.
146. A short section of the Barkham Brook is included within the site. The assessment
justifies not needing to include a Modular River Corridor survey to consider the river
corridor condition because the development will keep a 10m minimum stand-off to
the river bank top and the only modification in this buffer zone is soft landscaping to
enhance the habitat units provision. The Council’s Ecology Officer agrees that this is
a reasonable approach provided that the buffer is respected when it comes to
detailed design.
147. The headline figures for the remaining categories of habitat units and hedgerow units
generated by the development are a healthy gain. There are only a few minor errors
in the options selected for the many habitat/hedgerow lines. These would not be
sufficient to consider there to be a risk to achieving a 10% biodiversity net gain.
148. Whilst it is possible to create the proposed habitats and hedgerows within the
scheme to match the BNG calculation, a cross check the soft landscaping proposals
to confirm that they align and are capable of providing the habitat types proposed
indicates several discrepancies or areas of concern:










The species Genista lydia is included in the native hedgerow mix, scrub mix and
shrub layer mix, which is a non-native species
The woodland edge mix includes Fraxinus excelsior which it is inappropriate to
plant due to the high risk of failure from Ash dieback.
The woodland edge mix is a limited selection of species as a transition from
woodland to grassland and requires more scrub and fruit species.
The broadleaved woodland mix is a limited selection of species at an unjustified
large size for the planting density. The species Tilia cordata is not suited to the
soil type for the proposed woodland location. The species Sorbus torminalis is
proposed at an oddly high percentage
The canopy layer wet woodland mix is an odd selection with the species Betula
pubescens, Quercus robur, and Salix cinerea to form a lesser component with a
more diverse mix including Populus tremula and Populus nigra subsp. betulifolia
The understorey layer wet woodland mix should include Frangula alnus, Salix
pupurea, and Prunus spinosa in lieu of Ilex aquifolium, Prunus padus, Quercus
petraea, or Sorbus aucuparia
The species Viburnum opulus is not appropriate to plant in the southern half of
the site where the ground is more acidic.
The Greenway needs to be set back from the hedgerow at the northern end of
the site in order to allow a structural gradient and room for the hedgerows to
grow without needing frequent cutting along their length

146





The wildflower EM4F sections are needlessly complex in shape and set out in
an arrangement that is going to make ongoing management harder and
requires review
There is no species rich native hedgerow with trees that is expected according
to the BNG assessment
The grassland EM2 seed mix is not suitable to make shade tolerant grassland
to a standard of ‘other neutral grassland’ at moderate condition. There would
need to be greater diversity of species sow in the areas currently marked for
EM2, factoring in some more shade tolerant hedgerow and woodland species,
in order to account for the variety of conditions that the solar panel array will
produce.

149. Notwithstanding these concerns, the Council’s Ecology Officer is satisfied that these
changes can be accommodated at detailed design stage, mostly via soft landscaping
and greenway design details in Condition 5 and 10. The former is to show
compliance with the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment – Update, WSP,
ref: 70069260 Appendix 6-7, August 2021.
150. The Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment acknowledges that the habitat created and/or
enhanced needs to be maintained for a minimum period of 30 years for it to be
considered a viable net gain. The assessment proposes that this is best secured
through provision of a Landscape Environmental Management Plan (LEMP) and this
would allow for its implementation beyond the lifetime of the solar farm.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
151. Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that where development is likely to have an
effect on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is required
to demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any potential adverse
effects are delivered. The site is within 5km of the TBH SPA but the scope of the
works does not result in a net gain in the number of dwellings whereby there is no
requirement for mitigation.
Flooding and Drainage
152. Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from historic
flooding. The majority of the site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1
and the proposal represents no clear flood risk or vulnerability. The northern
extremity (2.5 hectares) lining Barkham Brook is within Flood Zone 2 (Land with a 1
in 1000 (0.1%) chance of flooding each year) and is subject to surface water flooding.
153. The proposal includes a 10m buffer to Barkham Brook for ecological purposes but
some solar panels would be within Flood Zone 2. Annexure 3 was added to NPPF
2021 and it now lists solar farms as essential infrastructure which is allowed within
Flood Zone 2. There is a further 680mm to the underside of the panel, which further
reduces any flood risk. Therefore, there is no in principle objection to the installation
of panels within Flood Zone 2. Further, the fence is a deer type fence which will not
interrupt water flow.
154. Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and the
minimisation of surface water flow. The footings for the solar panels will cumulatively
contribute to some additional permeability across the site but the area underneath

147

the panels will remain unchanged. As the panels are tilted at 20 degrees, there are
no concerns with affecting existing levels of onsite permeability. The parking area
around the substation and the access roads are gravel which ensures there is no
further affectation to the rural permeability.
155. Paragraph 2.8 of Flood Risk Assessment notes that water conveyance features
along Barkham Brook were generally poorly maintained, with dense vegetation along
their base and debris partially blocking culverts. The vegetation strip running
alongside ditches and watercourses was found to protect these features from any
debris capable of increasing the risk of blockage, which will also be beneficial during
construction and on a post-development stage. Subject to reconfirmation of final
details in Condition 20, the Council’s Drainage Officer raises no objection.
156. The Environment Agency were also consulted and they raised no objection, subject
to consideration of measures to mitigate the impact of more extreme future flood
events such as raising the ground level of the substation building or incorporating
flood proofing measures. Given all buildings are within flood zone 1, this is
considered unnecessary. Consideration of the sequential test was also required. This
was undertaken in Section 5 of the Flood Risk Assessment and it concludes that
because essential infrastructure is permitted and that the solar panels will be
elevated above the flood level, the sequential test is satisfied. There is no objection
to this approach.
Employment Skills
157. Policy TB12 of the MDD Local Plan requires an employment skills plan (ESP)
with a supporting method statement for major development such as the
subject application. It is intended to provide opportunities for training,
apprenticeship, or other vocational initiatives to develop local employability
skills required by developers, contractors, or end users of the proposal.
158. Based on a cost of works of £19.3m, the employment skills plan would
generate a need for 11 community skills support positions (eg work experience
or CSCS training courses), seven apprenticeships and seven jobs. This is
incorporated into a s106 legal agreement.
Contamination
159. The area is not listed as potentially contaminated on Council’s inventory.

Atomic Weapons Location
160. Policy TB04 of the MDD allows development in the vicinity of the Atomic Weapons
Establishment at Burghfield but only where the increase in density can be safely
accommodated. The site is within the 12km zone and the proposed use for a
renewable energy project is a suitable use.
Accessibility (incorporating The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010))
161. The Council is required to have due regard to its obligations under the Equality Act
2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age, disability, gender,

148

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion, or belief.
162. Buildings will be built at ground level and the Greenway will allow for improved
pedestrian connectivity for all users. Therefore, there is no indication or evidence that
persons with protected characteristics as identified by the Act have or will have
different needs, experiences, issues and priorities and there would be no significant
adverse impacts as a result of the development.
Community Infrastructure Levy
163. The proposed use is not CIL liable.
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
164. The application should be determined against the development plan as whole. For
large scale and EIA development, it is not uncommon to have policies with competing
aims that must be weighed in the planning balance. The benefits of the scheme are
therefore weighed against the harm.
165. Moreover, paragraph 8 of the NPPF seeks to achieve sustainable development, with
reference to economic, social and environmental objectives. The Planning Practice
Guidance also notes that:
Local planning authorities should not rule out otherwise acceptable renewable
energy developments through inflexible rules on buffer zones or separation
distances. Other than when dealing with setback distances for safety, distance
of itself does not necessarily determine whether the impact of a proposal is
unacceptable. Distance plays a part, but so does the local context include
factors such as topography, the local environment and near-by land uses. This
is why it is important to think about in what circumstances proposals are likely to
be acceptable and plan on this basis.
166. The proposed development would result in some harm to the landscape setting. The
landscape has no formal designation but valued features of the site would be
impacted. There would be some encroachment of development into the countryside
and between settlements but not sufficient to raise concern and particularly when a
development of this type would be anticipated in a countryside setting. The harm
would be partially mitigated by additional landscaping and to some extent the
temporary 25-year period of the application. There is a large expectation that the
solar panels and associated infrastructure would be expected elements in the
countryside. It attracts moderate weight.
167. There remain objections to the scheme from the relevant consultees in relation to the
likely harm to the scheduled monument, listed buildings and archaeological
significance in and around Church Cottages. However, it is partially offset by the
proposed 25m buffer as well as existing and proposed landscaping. More
significantly, though, the harm is limited to 25 years plus remediation and this is
weighed against the age of the assets. Archaeological significance can be retained
with further details and measures. This attracts moderate weight.

149

168. There is also loss of best and most versatile agricultural land but it is offset somewhat
by the retention of Grade 2 farmland for the farmer, the fact that it is not a permanent
loss of agricultural land that might be expected with housing development and it is
feasible that livestock could still utilise the land in the future. The departure from
national and local policy attracts minor weight.
169. The proposal will involve the removal of some trees, mostly of lesser quality and this
and the above aspects contribute to some wider environmental harm. However, there
is a net increase in tree planting and grassland management, even when discounting
the carbon sink at the south of the site. Additionally, the Council’s Ecology Officer
has concluded that ecological harm can be mitigated and that there will be a net
biodiversity gain of at least 10% over the next 30 years. This environmental benefit
attracts minor weight in favour of the scheme, countering some of the other
environmental effects associated with loss of agricultural land, landscape and visual
harm and potential impacts upon heritage assets.
170. The Council’s Highways Officer has indicated broad support for the scheme with
manageable impacts associated with traffic movements being adequately managed
through the course of the construction period. This should be considered in the
context of the economic benefits associated with the employment generation
(including an Employment Skills Plan) whereby some localised impact will always be
anticipated but otherwise managed to an acceptable level. Further economic benefit
is evident with the solar farm allowing the Council to reinvest profits into the future.
171. The Council’s Rights of Way Officer has also indicated broad support with improved
footpath connections through the site for walkers and horse riders. This attracts
minor weight in favour of the scheme.
172. The provision of renewable energy is an important local and national objective which
is supported in the development plan and NPPF. In addition, the Council has
announced a climate emergency and produced Climate Emergency Action Plan
which supports the provision of renewable energy. In this case, it is expected to
power 8200 homes, removing approximately 92,242 tonnes of carbon emissions with
an additional 592 tonnes from the carbon sink tree planting. The planting of nearly
11,000 trees forms part of the Council’s goal of planting 250,000 trees in the next five
years.
173. All of the above measures should be read in the context of the immediate urgency of
the Climate Emergency Action Plan implemented by the Council and the immediate
deadline of becoming carbon neutral by 2030 as well as the UN IPPC 2021 Climate
Change report released in early August 2021.
174. This benefit holds significant weight in favour in the planning balance and it is
concluded that on this basis, conditional approval for a temporary period of 25 year is
recommended.

150

477000

478000

479000

480000

KEY:

167000

151

A

05/03/21

JD

FIRST ISSUE

JG

GH

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

Mountbatten House, Basing View,
Basingstoke, HANTS, RG21 4HJ
Tel: +44 (0) 1256 318 800
Fax: +44 (0) 1256 318 70
www.wsp.com

166000

Created by: UKJED006 - 2021-03-05 09:45:50 - \\uk.wspgroup.com\central data\Projects\700748xx\70074897 - Wokingham-WKH-2021-Barkham Farms Solar Farm\03 WIP\Water\Drawings\GIS\Workspaces\LOC\4897-LOC-001.qgz

Site Boundary

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

BARKHAM FARMS

SITE BOUNDARY

4897-LOC-001.qgz
THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2020, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2020
BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2020

70074897

05/03/21
4897-LOC-001

A

Full Schedule
Native Planting Buffer
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height
Pot Size Density
306 No. Ac
Acer campestre
1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
306 No. Ac
Acer campestre
2x; Light Standard; clear stem 150-175cm; 3 breaks 250-300cm
1.5Ctr
904 No. CORAV
Corylus avellana
1+2 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
904 No. Cmo
Crataegus monogyna 1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
904 No. Ia
Ilex aquifolium
Leader With Laterals :C
60-80cm 5L
1.5Ctr
306 No. LONPE
Lonicera pericylymenum 1+2 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
904 No. PRUSP
Prunus spinosa
1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
306 No. Qr
Quercus robur
1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr
904 No. Qr
Quercus robur
2x; Light Standard; clear stem 150-175cm; 3 breaks 250-300cm
1.5Ctr
306 No. ROSCA
Rosa canina
1+1 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR
60-80cm
1.5Ctr

Canopy Layer Wet Woodland (20%) 4155.1m²
111 No. Alnus glutinosa 30%
74 No. Betula pubescens 20%
111 No. Quercus robur 30%
74 No. Salix cinerea 20%

EM8 4155.1m²
9973 g Emorsgate

Native Planting Buffer 249.86m²
6 No. Acer campestre 5%
6 No. Acer campestre 5%
17 No. Corylus avellana 15%
17 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
17 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
6 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
17 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
6 No. Quercus robur 5%
17 No. Quercus robur 15%
6 No. Rosa canina 5%

Key

N

Application Site Boundary

Existing vegetation canopy

Canopy Layer Wet Woodland (20%)
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height
Density
111 No. Agl
Alnus glutinosa 2x; Light Standard; clear stem 150-175cm; 3 breaks 250-300cm 1.5Ctr
74 No. BETPU
Betula pubescens 2x; Light Standard; clear stem 150-175cm; 3 breaks 250-300cm 1.5Ctr
111 No. Qr
Quercus robur
2x; Light Standard; clear stem 150-175cm; 3 breaks 250-300cm 1.5Ctr
74 No. SALCI
Salix cinerea
0/2; Cutting; branched; 3 breaks
125-150cm 1.5Ctr

Native Planting Buffer 1041.7m²
24 No. Acer campestre 5%
24 No. Acer campestre 5%
70 No. Corylus avellana 15%
70 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
70 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
24 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
70 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
24 No. Quercus robur 5%
70 No. Quercus robur 15%
24 No. Rosa canina 5%

Understorey Layer Wet Woodland (10%)
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height
Density
37 No. Ia
Ilex aquifolium
1+1 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr
37 No. Ppa
Prunus padus
1+1 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr
37 No. Qpe
Quercus petraea 1+1 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr
37 No. SALCI
Salix cinerea
1+1 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr
37 No. Sau
Sorbus aucuparia 1+1 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr

Carbon Sink
Mixes Include:
-Woodland Semi Natural Broadleaved Woodland 75%
-Woodland Edge 25%
Standard General Purpose
Meadow (EM2)

EM4F 2733.98m²
4101 g Emorsgate

Wildflowers for Clay Soils (EM4F)

EM2 94437.07m²
377749 g Emorsgate

EM4F 1014.18m²
1522 g Emorsgate

Shrub Layer (10%)
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height Density
19 No. CORAV
Corylus avellana
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. Cmo
Crataegus monogyna 1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. GENLY
Genista lydia
Bushy :5 brks :C
1.5Ctr
19 No. PRUSP
Prunus spinosa
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. SALAU
Salix aurita
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. SALCI
Salix cinerea
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. SALPE
Salix pentandra
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. SAMNI
Sambucus nigra
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. Ue
Ulex europaeus
Bushy :5 brks :C
30-40cm 1.5Ctr
19 No. VIBOP
Viburnum opulus
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr

Wildflowers for Sandy Soils (EM7F)

Scrub Planting

Native Planting Buffer 785.18m²
18 No. Acer campestre 5%
18 No. Acer campestre 5%
53 No. Corylus avellana 15%
53 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
53 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
18 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
53 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
18 No. Quercus robur 5%
53 No. Quercus robur 15%
18 No. Rosa canina 5%

EM2 111.91m²
448 g Emorsgate
Native Planting Buffer 1722.56m²
39 No. Acer campestre 5%
39 No. Acer campestre 5%
115 No. Corylus avellana 15%
115 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
115 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
39 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
115 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
39 No. Quercus robur 5%
115 No. Quercus robur 15%
39 No. Rosa canina 5%

Barkham Brook Enhancement
Mixes Include:
-Canopy Layer Wet Woodland 20%
-Understorey Layer Wet Woodland 10%
-Shrub Layer 10%
-Meadow Mix for Wetland (EM8) 60%
Retained and Enhanced Native
Planting Buffer
Greenway

EM4F 1506.81m²
2261 g Emorsgate

Clear Access Route

Woodland Semi Natural Broadleaved Woodland (80%)
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height
Girth Density
1642 No. Ac
Acer campestre Light Standard :Clear Stem 150-175 :3 brks :2x :BR 250-300cm 6-8cm 1.5Ctr
1642 No. Cav
Corylus avellana Branched :5 brks :RB
100-125cm
1.5Ctr
1642 No. Qr
Quercus robur Light Standard :Clear Stem 150-175 :3 brks :2x :RB 250-300cm 6-8cm 1.5Ctr
1642 No. SORTO
Sorbus torminalis Light Standard :Clear Stem 150-175 :3 brks :2x :BR 250-300cm 6-8cm 1.5Ctr
1642 No. Tc
Tilia cordata
Light Standard :Clear Stem 150-175 :3 brks :2x :BR 250-300cm 6-8cm 1.5Ctr

Native Planting Buffer 471.97m²
11 No. Acer campestre 5%
11 No. Acer campestre 5%
32 No. Corylus avellana 15%
32 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
32 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
11 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
32 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
11 No. Quercus robur 5%
32 No. Quercus robur 15%
11 No. Rosa canina 5%

Woodland Edge (20%)
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height
Density
958 No. Fe
Fraxinus excelsior 1+2 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr
958 No. Qr
Quercus robur
1+2 :Transplant
80-100cm 1.5Ctr
821 No. Sau
Sorbus aucuparia 1+2 :Transplant :BR 80-100cm 1.5Ctr

Internal Access Road

EM2 45695.95m²
182784 g Emorsgate

EM4F 2502.09m²
3754 g Emorsgate
Hedgerows Mix
3 No. Acer campestre 10%
3 No. Corylus avellana 10%
9 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
2 No. Genista lydia 5%
3 No. Ilex aquifolium 10%
2 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
3 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
3 No. Rosa canina 10%
2 No. Ulex europaeus 5%
2 No. Viburnum lantana 5%

152

Native Planting Buffer 499.52m²
12 No. Acer campestre 5%
12 No. Acer campestre 5%
34 No. Corylus avellana 15%
34 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
34 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
12 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
34 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
12 No. Quercus robur 5%
34 No. Quercus robur 15%
12 No. Rosa canina 5%

Security Fence

Post and Rail Fence

Native Species Hedgerow

Public Right of Way

EM2 12718.73m²
50875 g Emorsgate

Substation

EM4F 1801.23m²
2702 g Emorsgate

EM2 79566.11m²
318265 g Emorsgate

Native Planting Buffer 5900.19m²
132 No. Acer campestre 5%
132 No. Acer campestre 5%
394 No. Corylus avellana 15%
394 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
394 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
132 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
394 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
132 No. Quercus robur 5%
394 No. Quercus robur 15%
132 No. Rosa canina 5%

Overhead Power Line

Native Planting Buffer 660.54m²
15 No. Acer campestre 5%
15 No. Acer campestre 5%
45 No. Corylus avellana 15%
45 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
45 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
15 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
45 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
15 No. Quercus robur 5%
45 No. Quercus robur 15%
15 No. Rosa canina 5%

EM2 3.6m²
15 g Emorsgate

Scrub Mix
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height Density
509 No. CORAV
Corylus avellana
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. Cmo
Crataegus monogyna 1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. GENLY
Genista lydia
Bushy :5 brks :C
1.5Ctr
509 No. PRUSP
Prunus spinosa
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. SALAU
Salix aurita
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. SALCI
Salix cinerea
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. SALPE
Salix pentandra
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. SAMNI
Sambucus nigra
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. Ue
Ulex europaeus
Bushy :5 brks :C
30-40cm 1.5Ctr
509 No. VIBOP
Viburnum opulus
1+1 :Transplant :BR 60-80cm 1.5Ctr

EM7F 3295.31m²
4943 g Emorsgate

Native Planting Buffer 1500.83m²
34 No. Acer campestre 5%
34 No. Acer campestre 5%
101 No. Corylus avellana 15%
101 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
101 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
34 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
101 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
34 No. Quercus robur 5%
101 No. Quercus robur 15%
34 No. Rosa canina 5%

Native Planting Buffer 135.66m²
4 No. Acer campestre 5%
4 No. Acer campestre 5%
10 No. Corylus avellana 15%
10 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
10 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
4 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
10 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
4 No. Quercus robur 5%
10 No. Quercus robur 15%
4 No. Rosa canina 5%

MV Transformer

EM2 56801.74m²
227207 g Emorsgate

Hedgerows Mix
13 No. Acer campestre 10%
13 No. Corylus avellana 10%
39 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
7 No. Genista lydia 5%
13 No. Ilex aquifolium 10%
7 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
13 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
13 No. Rosa canina 10%
7 No. Ulex europaeus 5%
7 No. Viburnum lantana 5%

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\LANDSCAPE\DRAWINGS\LANDSCAPE GENERAL ARRANGEMENT REV10.DWG, printed on 27 July 2021 09:26:53, by Ivanova, Ivelina

KEY PLAN (SCALE 1:10,000 @ A1)

Understorey Layer Wet Woodland (10%) 4155.1m²
37 No. Ilex aquifolium 20%
37 No. Prunus padus 20%
37 No. Quercus petraea 20%
37 No. Salix cinerea 20%
37 No. Sorbus aucuparia 20%

Hedgerows Mix
Number Abbreviation Species
Specification
Height Pot Size Density
52 No. Ac
Acer campestre
1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1/m
52 No. CORAV
Corylus avellana
1+2 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR 60-80cm
1/m
154 No. Cmo
Crataegus monogyna 1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1/m
28 No. GENLY
Genista lydia
Bushy :5 brks :C
3L
1/m
52 No. Ia
Ilex aquifolium
Leader With Laterals :C
60-80cm 5L
1/m
28 No. LONPE
Lonicera pericylymenum 1+2 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR 60-80cm
1/m
52 No. PRUSP
Prunus spinosa
1+1 :Transplant :BR
60-80cm
1/m
52 No. ROSCA
Rosa canina
1+1 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR 60-80cm
1/m
28 No. Ue
Ulex europaeus
Bushy :5 brks :C
30-40cm 3L
1/m
28 No. VIBLA
Viburnum lantana
1+2 :Transplant :Branched :3 brks :BR 60-80cm
1/m

Grass Areas
Weight
Seed Mix Name Seed Mix Supplier Density
1553776 g EM2
Emorsgate
4g/m²
9973 g
EM8
Emorsgate
4g/m²
4943 g
EM7F
Emorsgate
1.5g/m²
14340 g EM4F
Emorsgate
1.5g/m²

DO NOT SCALE

Shrub Layer (10%) 4155.1m²
19 No. Corylus avellana 10%
19 No. Crataegus monogyna 10%
19 No. Genista lydia 10%
19 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
19 No. Salix aurita 10%
19 No. Salix cinerea 10%
19 No. Salix pentandra 10%
19 No. Sambucus nigra 10%
19 No. Ulex europaeus 10%
19 No. Viburnum opulus 10%

Scrub mix 11442.67m²
509 No. Corylus avellana 10%
509 No. Crataegus monogyna 10%
509 No. Genista lydia 10%
509 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
509 No. Salix aurita 10%
509 No. Salix cinerea 10%
509 No. Salix pentandra 10%
509 No. Sambucus nigra 10%
509 No. Ulex europaeus 10%
509 No. Viburnum opulus 10%

Hedgerows Mix
1 No. Acer campestre 10%
1 No. Corylus avellana 10%
1 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
1 No. Genista lydia 5%
1 No. Ilex aquifolium 10%
1 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
1 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
1 No. Rosa canina 10%
1 No. Ulex europaeus 5%
1 No. Viburnum lantana 5%

Hedgerows Mix
16 No. Acer campestre 10%
16 No. Corylus avellana 10%
48 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
8 No. Genista lydia 5%
16 No. Ilex aquifolium 10%
8 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
16 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
16 No. Rosa canina 10%
8 No. Ulex europaeus 5%
8 No. Viburnum lantana 5%

Hedgerows Mix
19 No. Acer campestre 10%
19 No. Corylus avellana 10%
57 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
10 No. Genista lydia 5%
19 No. Ilex aquifolium 10%
10 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
19 No. Prunus spinosa 10%
19 No. Rosa canina 10%
10 No. Ulex europaeus 5%
10 No. Viburnum lantana 5%
Native Planting Buffer 491.75m²
11 No. Acer campestre 5%
11 No. Acer campestre 5%
33 No. Corylus avellana 15%
33 No. Crataegus monogyna 15%
33 No. Ilex aquifolium 15%
11 No. Lonicera pericylymenum 5%
33 No. Prunus spinosa 15%
11 No. Quercus robur 5%
33 No. Quercus robur 15%
11 No. Rosa canina 5%

P02

27.07.2021

II

P01

23.03.2021

REV

DATE

SECOND ISSUE

CC

JS

CC

FIRST ISSUE

TD

JS

BY

DESCRIPTION

CHK

APP

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

EM2 99108.15m²
396433 g Emorsgate

4th Floor, 6 Devonshire Square, London, EC2M 4YE, UK
T+ 44 (0) 207 337 1700, F+ 44 (0) 207 337 1701
wsp.com

Woodland Semi Natural Broadleaved Woodland 6565.38m²
438 No. Acer campestre 20%
438 No. Corylus avellana 20%
438 No. Quercus robur 20%
438 No. Sorbus torminalis 20%
438 No. Tilia cordata 20%

CLIENT:

Wokingham Borough Council
ARCHITECT:

Woodland Edge 6565.38m²
256 No. Fraxinus excelsior 35%
256 No. Quercus robur 35%
219 No. Sorbus aucuparia 30%

PROJECT:

Barkham Farms - Solar Farm
TITLE:

Environmental Masterplan

Woodland Semi Natural Broadleaved Woodland 18048.39m²
1204 No. Acer campestre 20%
1204 No. Corylus avellana 20%
1204 No. Quercus robur 20%
1204 No. Sorbus torminalis 20%
1204 No. Tilia cordata 20%

SCALE @ A0:

CHECKED:

1:2000
PROJECT No:

Woodland Edge 18048.39m²
702 No. Fraxinus excelsior 35%
702 No. Quercus robur 35%
602 No. Sorbus aucuparia 30%

II

JS

DRAWN:

II

DRAWING No:

DATE:

July 21
REV:

BFSF-WSP-XX-DR-LA-001
N

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021.

DESIGNED:

70074897

APPROVED:

CC

c WSP UK Ltd

P02

153
c WSP UK Ltd

Key
Application Site Boundary

Existing vegetation canopy

Carbon Sink
Mixes Include:
-Woodland Semi Natural Broadleaved Woodland 75%
-Woodland Edge 25%
Standard General Purpose
Meadow (EM2)
Wildflowers for Clay Soils (EM4F)

Wildflowers for Sandy Soils (EM7F)

Scrub Planting

Barkham Brook Enhancement
Mixes Include:
-Canopy Layer Wet Woodland 20%
-Understorey Layer Wet Woodland 10%
-Shrub Layer 10%
-Meadow Mix for Wetland (EM8) 60%
Retained and Enhanced Native
Planting Buffer
Greenway

Clear Access Route

Internal Access Road

Overhead Power Line

Security Fence

Post and Rail Fence

Native Species Hedgerow

Public Right of Way

Substation & Parking Area

MV Transformer

Solar Panel

154
S2 - FOR INFORMATION

c WSP UK Ltd

155

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\01 PV FEAS WIP\02 DESIGN\DWG\70074897-XX-XX-RN-006
- INDICATIVE SUBSTATION BUILDING FOOTPRINT - REV0.DWG, printed on 09 February 2021 10:44:43, by Hunter, Alistair

DO NOT SCALE

CA

SCALE @ A3:

Custom
CHECKED:

PROJECT No:

70074897

CA

DESIGNED:

AH

DRAWN:

DRAWING No:

AH

70074897-XX-XX-RN-006
c WSP UK Ltd

IA

DRAWING STATUS:

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

SUBSTATION BUILDING FOOTPRINT

APPROVED:

DATE:

IA

03/02/2021
REV:

0

156

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\01 PV FEAS
WIP\02 DESIGN\DWG\70074897-XX-XX-RN-005 – INDICATIVE MV TRANSFORMER LAYOUT – REV0.DWG, printed on 09 February 2021 10:37:31, by Hunter, Alistair

DO NOT SCALE

CA

SCALE @ A3:

Custom
CHECKED:

PROJECT No:

70074897

CA

DESIGNED:

KB

DRAWN:

DRAWING No:

KB

70074897-XX-XX-RN-005
c WSP UK Ltd

IA

DRAWING STATUS:

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

MV TRANSFORMER LAYOUT

APPROVED:

DATE:

IA

February 21
REV:

0

157

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\01 PV FEAS WIP\02 DESIGN\DWG\70074897-XX-XX-RN-004
- INDICATIVE PV FENCING, CCTV MAST AND GATE SCHEMATIC - REV0.DWG, printed on 25 March 2021 08:03:18, by Hunter, Alistair

DO NOT SCALE

CA

SCALE @ A3:

Custom
CHECKED:

PROJECT No:

70074897

CA

DESIGNED:

AH

DRAWN:

DRAWING No:

AH

70074897-XX-XX-RN-004
c WSP UK Ltd

IA

DRAWING STATUS:

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

INDICATIVE PV FENCING, CCTV MAST AND GATE
SCHEMATIC
APPROVED:

DATE:

IA

February 21
REV:

0

158

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\01 PV FEAS WIP\02 DESIGN\DWG\70074897-XX-XX-RN-001 - PV MOUNTING CROSS SECTION - REV0.DWG, printed on 08 February 2021 11:56:15, by Hunter, Alistair

DO NOT SCALE

DRAWING STATUS:

FOR INFORMATION

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM SOLAR PV
TITLE:

PV MOUNTING CROSS SECTION

SCALE @ A1:

CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

DESIGNED:

APPROVED:

CA
70074897

AH

IA

DRAWN:

AH

DRAWING No:

DATE:

JANUARY 2021
REV:

70074897-XX-XX-RN-001
c WSP UK Ltd

0

64.529

64.846

64.797

64.725

64.653

64.561

64.405

64.185

64.033

63.816

63.634

63.474

63.295

63.095

62.923

62.735

760.000
763.410

750.000

740.000

730.000

720.000

710.000

700.000

690.000

680.000

670.000

660.000

650.000

640.000

630.000

620.000

610.000

600.000

590.000

580.000

290.000

300.000

310.000

320.000

330.000

340.000

350.000

360.000

370.000

380.000

390.000

400.000

410.000

420.000

430.000

440.000

450.000

460.000

470.000

480.000

490.000

500.000

510.000

520.000

530.000

540.000

550.000

560.000

570.000

580.000

61.166

60.961

60.781

60.573

60.359

60.053

59.753

59.542

59.311

59.200

59.049

58.942

58.874

58.880

58.906

59.028

59.145

59.376

59.560

59.725

60.033

60.367

60.656

60.963

61.299

61.641

61.931

62.217

62.477

62.735

159

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE\DRAWINGS\BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171-100175 - PROPOSED
, printed
LONGSECTIONS.DWG
on24 March 2021 14:51:37
, by Tibbit, Jack

61.166

61.241

61.336

61.449

61.570

61.575

61.528

61.489

61.473

61.473

61.455

61.465

61.511

61.669

61.866

62.118

62.366

62.601

62.843

63.076

63.309

63.503

63.233

62.901

62.545

62.156

61.652

61.084

60.437

290.000

280.000

270.000

260.000

250.000

240.000

230.000

220.000

210.000

200.000

190.000

180.000

170.000

160.000

150.000

140.000

130.000

120.000

110.000

100.000

90.000

80.000

70.000

60.000

50.000

40.000

30.000

20.000

10.000

0.000

DO NOT SCALE

SCALE @ A1:

1:500
CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

70074897

TPS

DESIGNED:

DND

DRAWN:

DND

DRAWING No:

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171
c WSP UK Ltd

JS
JS

TPS
TPS

TPS
TPS

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Regus House, Southampton Int. Bus. Park, George Curl Way, Southampton, SO18 2RZ, UK
T+ 44 (0) 2380 302 529, F+ 44 (0) 2380 302 001
wsp.com

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

ILLUSTRATIVE PROPOSED LONG SECTION
(SHEET 1 OF 5)
APPROVED:

TPS

DATE:

March 21
REV:

P03

59.187

59.116

59.290

59.531

59.708

59.863

60.018

60.173

60.328

60.483

60.548

60.511

60.486

60.479

60.541

60.589

60.607

60.617

60.588

60.583

60.591

60.589

60.581

508.632

500.000

490.000

480.000

470.000

460.000

450.000

440.000

430.000

420.000

410.000

400.000

390.000

380.000

370.000

360.000

350.000

340.000

330.000

320.000

310.000

300.000

290.000

160

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE\DRAWINGS\BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171-100175 - PROPOSED
, printed
LONGSECTIONS.DWG
on24 March 2021 14:52:29
, by Tibbit, Jack

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

80.000

90.000

100.000

110.000

120.000

130.000

140.000

150.000

160.000

170.000

180.000

190.000

200.000

210.000

220.000

230.000

240.000

250.000

260.000

270.000

280.000

290.000

59.776

59.807

59.762

59.729

59.660

59.600

59.600

59.622

59.626

59.632

59.688

59.754

59.849

59.943

60.033

60.107

60.170

60.198

60.221

60.243

60.274

60.307

60.339

60.370

60.394

60.445

60.501

60.558

60.581

0.000

DO NOT SCALE

SCALE @ A1:

1:500
CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

70074897

TPS

DESIGNED:

DND

DRAWN:

DND

DRAWING No:

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100172
c WSP UK Ltd

JS
JS

TPS
TPS

TPS
TPS

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Regus House, Southampton Int. Bus. Park, George Curl Way, Southampton, SO18 2RZ, UK
T+ 44 (0) 2380 302 529, F+ 44 (0) 2380 302 001
wsp.com

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

ILLUSTRATIVE PROPOSED LONG SECTION
(SHEET 2 OF 5)
APPROVED:

TPS

DATE:

March 21
REV:

P03

51.967

51.935

51.897

51.872

51.850

51.826

51.855

51.890

51.832

51.757

51.637

51.501

51.396

51.302

51.482

51.646

51.790

51.890

468.594

460.000

450.000

440.000

430.000

420.000

410.000

400.000

390.000

380.000

370.000

360.000

350.000

340.000

330.000

320.000

310.000

300.000

290.000

161

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE\DRAWINGS\BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171-100175 - PROPOSED
, printed
LONGSECTIONS.DWG
on24 March 2021 14:53:00
, by Tibbit, Jack

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

80.000

90.000

100.000

110.000

120.000

130.000

140.000

150.000

160.000

170.000

180.000

190.000

200.000

210.000

220.000

230.000

240.000

250.000

260.000

270.000

280.000

290.000

50.582

50.871

50.914

51.137

51.370

51.558

51.753

51.879

52.018

52.179

52.319

52.402

52.464

52.479

52.449

52.446

52.466

52.503

52.543

52.582

52.622

52.674

52.635

52.589

52.534

52.474

52.375

52.240

52.046

51.890

DO NOT SCALE

SCALE @ A1:

1:500
CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

70074897

TPS

DESIGNED:

DND

DRAWN:

DND

DRAWING No:

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100173
c WSP UK Ltd

JS
JS

TPS
TPS

TPS
TPS

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Regus House, Southampton Int. Bus. Park, George Curl Way, Southampton, SO18 2RZ, UK
T+ 44 (0) 2380 302 529, F+ 44 (0) 2380 302 001
wsp.com

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

ILLUSTRATIVE PROPOSED LONG SECTION
(SHEET 3 OF 5)
APPROVED:

TPS

DATE:

March 21
REV:

P03

290.000

300.000

310.000

320.000

330.000

340.000

350.000

360.000

370.000

380.000

390.000

400.000

410.000

420.000

430.000

440.000

450.000

460.000

470.000

480.000

490.000

500.000

510.000

520.000

530.000

540.000

550.000

560.000

570.000

580.000

52.899

52.962

53.089

53.212

53.307

53.423

53.626

53.844

54.033

54.221

54.327

54.420

54.556

54.709

54.947

55.175

55.420

55.628

55.821

56.010

56.249

56.546

56.843

57.143

57.444

57.746

58.035

58.270

58.445

58.681

162

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE\DRAWINGS\BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171-100175 - PROPOSED
, printed
LONGSECTIONS.DWG
on24 March 2021 14:55:18
, by Tibbit, Jack

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

70.000

80.000

90.000

100.000

110.000

120.000

130.000

140.000

150.000

160.000

170.000

180.000

190.000

200.000

210.000

220.000

230.000

240.000

250.000

260.000

270.000

280.000

290.000

51.435

51.582

51.677

51.742

51.844

51.958

51.985

52.010

51.961

51.912

51.861

51.932

51.980

52.035

52.039

52.022

52.058

52.138

52.222

52.305

52.388

52.451

52.484

52.536

52.632

52.723

52.791

52.855

52.899

0.000

DO NOT SCALE

SCALE @ A1:

1:500
CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

70074897

TPS

DESIGNED:

DND

DRAWN:

DND

DRAWING No:

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100174
c WSP UK Ltd

JS
JS

TPS
TPS

TPS
TPS

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Regus House, Southampton Int. Bus. Park, George Curl Way, Southampton, SO18 2RZ, UK
T+ 44 (0) 2380 302 529, F+ 44 (0) 2380 302 001
wsp.com

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

ILLUSTRATIVE PROPOSED LONG SECTION
(SHEET 4 OF 5)
APPROVED:

TPS

DATE:

March 21
REV:

P03

54.293

54.515

54.768

54.972

55.704

56.118

56.603

56.854

57.252

57.780

58.354

59.126

59.879

60.665

61.419

62.092

62.718

63.215

63.600

63.830

64.085

64.099

64.083

63.966

63.861

63.713

63.563

1124.600

1120.000

1110.000

1100.000

1090.000

1080.000

1070.000

1060.000

1050.000

1040.000

1030.000

1020.000

1010.000

1000.000

990.000

980.000

970.000

960.000

950.000

940.000

930.000

920.000

910.000

900.000

890.000

880.000

870.000

163

File name\\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700748XX\70074897 - WOKINGHAM-WKH-2021-BARKHAM FARMS SOLAR FARM\03 WIP\DEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE\DRAWINGS\BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100171-100175 - PROPOSED
, printed
LONGSECTIONS.DWG
on24 March 2021 15:02:40
, by Tibbit, Jack

580.000

590.000

600.000

610.000

620.000

630.000

640.000

650.000

660.000

670.000

680.000

690.000

700.000

710.000

720.000

730.000

740.000

750.000

760.000

770.000

780.000

790.000

800.000

810.000

820.000

830.000

840.000

850.000

860.000

870.000

58.681

58.994

59.297

59.608

59.889

60.143

60.369

60.562

60.745

60.912

61.049

61.158

61.283

61.432

61.635

61.910

62.091

62.153

62.236

62.312

62.399

62.526

62.618

62.715

62.841

62.993

63.145

63.301

63.433

63.563

DO NOT SCALE

SCALE @ A1:

1:500
CHECKED:

PROJECT NO:

70074897

TPS

DESIGNED:

DND

DRAWN:

DND

DRAWING No:

BFSF-WSP-12-XX-DR-DI-100175
c WSP UK Ltd

JS
JS

TPS
TPS

TPS
TPS

DRAWING STATUS:

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

Regus House, Southampton Int. Bus. Park, George Curl Way, Southampton, SO18 2RZ, UK
T+ 44 (0) 2380 302 529, F+ 44 (0) 2380 302 001
wsp.com

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

ARCHITECT:

SITE/PROJECT:

BARKHAM FARM PV PLANT

TITLE:

ILLUSTRATIVE PROPOSED LONG SECTION
(SHEET 5 OF 5)
APPROVED:

TPS

DATE:

March 21
REV:

P03

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 211081
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Arborfield Green Community Centre
: Arborfield, Reading
: RG2 9ND
SUBMITTED BY
: Barkham Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 07/05/2021
COMMENTS:
Based on the views of residents who responded to the survey conducted by
Barkham Parish Council (BPC) with all households and via online media in
early March 2021, BPC supports the solar farm project being submitted under PA
211081.
Whilst BPC supports the project, support for the planning application in the
current form will be conditional on the following issues and questions (as
listed below) being satisfactorily addressed before determination.
The questions
submitted were:
Question
1.
Section 4.1.23 recognises there are alternative routes for the new
greenway and states that the Council is open to having discussions with
relevant parties
accordingly. Some of these routes could lead to a safer crossing
location for pedestrian s, cyclists and horse riders, such as a Pegasus type,
and away from the sensitive area around the heritage
assets. Can these exchanges be concluded before determination of
PA211081?
2.
What is happening about the half acre of land for additional gr
aveyard space requested by St James Church as we do not see any provision for
this on the submitted plans?
3.
Some
planting schedules appear to be very heavy (density and height) and not
appropriate to locations where a lighter screening would be mo re appropriate?
4.
Regarding the geophysical study of the site, when will this be carried
out and the results known?
5.
At what stage in the process will all the Greenways be upgraded and
how accessible will they be during the period of constr uction. especially
Footpath 10 and 10a which are regularly used by walkers, especially during
holiday periods?
6.
The plans show that the solar farm will be connected by an underground
cable all the way down Barkham Road from Edneys Hill to the sub station
opposite the Leathern
Bottel, what are the plans to mitigate the impact on traffic over the 20 weeks
of construction period and will the road be resurfaced
afterwards?
7.
The PA documents mention the expansion of the site into Rooks Nest Far
m as being related to discussions with the tenant farmer at High Barn Farm, can
WBC update us on the current
situation given the email that the farmer recently sent to WBC and our local
MP?
8.
There will now be substations and transformer sheds on the site, what
are the plans to paint these in subdued natural colours and to screen them from
views on the existing
footpaths and proposed new Greenway?
9.
There is mention of
possible battery storage units on site, will this be the case or are the se
definitely ruled out?
10. The perimeter security deer fence shown in the Design Statement appears to

165

be fully meshed from top to bottom. If this is intended, how will small
wildlife habitats gain easy access to the solar farm, given the importance of
preserving wildlife corridors?
11.
How will the meadow grass under the solar panels be kept low and be
properly maintained? Will sheep be grazing within the site?
12.
Regarding the farm security lighting, will this only be used for
maintenance or will it be used during the
construction phase to allow work to continue after dark during the winter
months?
13.
Given that the solar farm will now be used for 25 years versus 40 years
previously, will the Greenways be preserved permanently at the end of the 25
years and the tree planting protected? Also, will the solar farm infrastructure
including
transformer sheds and substations be permanently removed and the land returned
to farming use?
14.
Will WBC take advantage of the solar farm constructi on to provide nearby
EV charging points at maybe
Barkham Village Hall, Rooks Nest Wood car park, The Bull PH or
elsewhere for the benefit of Barkham residents?
15.
Will a fire risk assessment be carried out to ensure safe operation and
access for the f ire service?
And in addition to these we would like to
highlight our concerns about HGV traffic using Barkham Street with this
additional question:
16.Without causing gridlock how will
HGVs constructive traffic safely access the site given that Bark ham Street has
a 6 6 restricted width that prohibits all large vehicles except buses?

166

PLANNING REF
: 211081
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Arborfield Green Community Centre
: Arborfield, Reading
: RG2 9ND
SUBMITTED BY
: Barkham Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 25/08/2021
COMMENTS:
Barkham Parish Council (BPC) very much appreciates that many of the issues
raised in its original response to PA 2011081 have been
addressed especially:
1.Rerouting of the new Greenway to allow a safer crossing on Barkham Ride and
away from the herit age
assets
2.Removal of the heavier screening along BR11, behind the
heritage assets and around Windmill Farm Cottage
3.Improved access to the site.
These were discussed further at a useful meeting with Mr David Smith on Thu 19
Aug 2021 where several p oints were clarified and these are summarised in the
Appendix.
BPC also notes that
provision has been made to assist the farmer of High Barn Farm but, as we do
not know the details or his longterm intentions, it would be inappropriate to
comment further here. However, BPC urges Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) to
continue to seek ways in which the farmer can be supported to maintain his
livelihood.
BPC has deep reservations about the management of construction traffic should
the solar farm go ahead. T he existing congestion on roads approaching the
solar farm site will be significantly aggravated during the construction period
and more effort is required to manage this.
BPC now understands that managing this additional traffic will be the
responsibili ty of the lead contractor, when appointed, and WBC Highways.
requests that these teams take full account of the following
comments:

BPC

BACKGROUND
Barkham Ride and Barkham Street are narrow roads where buses and family
vehicles can only just pass in pla ces. There are tight turns at the Bull
roundabout and at the junction of Barkham Street, Barkham Ride and Commonfield
Lane. During peak hours traffic builds up in all directions leading to the
Bull roundabout and
especially down Barkham Street.
SITUATI ONS TO AVOID
INCLUDE:
1.Delivery vehicles parked on Barkham Ride and Barkham Street awaiting access
to site
2.Deliveries during peak
times
3.Delivery vehicles approaching from different
directions
4.Congestion between solar farm delivery vehicles and other vehicles such as
buses.

167

SOLUTIONS TO AVOID THE ABOVE SITUATIONS INCLUDE:
1.Strict and contractual control over delivery
times
2.Allocation of time slots to avoid queueing
3.Provision of a holding area so vehicles can be called in when access i s
clear
4.Oneway system for delivery vehicles by approaching the site from the
direction of Finchampstead and departing towards Barkham
Street or viceversa
5.Minimising size of delivery vehicles by
striking a balance between size of vehicles and frequ ency of
deliveries.
6.Coordinating delivery times with bus
timetables.
Attitudes within the Parish of Barkham continue to be mixed regarding the value
and need for the solar farm and the impact it will have on the parish.
However, there has been overa ll general support and BPC asks that the progress
that has been made to address residents practical concerns to date continues
during the final stages of the debate with a meaningful and obvious attempt to
mitigate the problems that the construction traf fic will
cause.
APPENDIX
Main points clarified during meeting between BPC and Mr D. Smith of WBC on Thu
19 Aug 2021.
1.There will be a footpath link from the new Greenway to join BR11. The
surface type has yet to be specified it will not be to a fu ll Greenway
specification and will be compatible with that of BR11 in its current state.
No changes will be made to BR11.
2.The link requested by the farmer from High Barn farm to Rooks Nest Farm will
follow the existing gated pathway that tracks acros s the field above the
California Way and then turns north through the solar farm to Rooks Nest Farm.
This is not a PROW and is for the sole use of the farmer.
3.The surface of the section of FP10(A) that runs from the new proposed route
of the Greenway to Rooks Nest Wood will be upgraded but not to a full
Greenway
specification.
4.It is still hoped that the crossing on Barkham Ride will be of a Pegasus type
but there are technical issues relating to signalling and sightlines. The
intention is to ach ieve the best
signalised crossing possible.
5.The transformer units will be
painted in neutral countryside colours.
6.The lead contractor, when appointed, will be responsible for conducting a
survey of the site
which will include reviewing drainage. Protecting the seasonal fill of the moat
will be a requirement.
7.The geophysical survey has been completed for four fields and the results
forwarded to Historic England and Berkshire Archaeology for analysis. The
remaining fields will be completed onc e the crops have been harvested.

168

8.Should it be necessary to preserve archaeology in the ground, this will be
achieved by mounting the PV cells on concrete pads as opposed to the usual
piled foundations. This will not add to the height of the
cells.
9 .It has been noted that responses from Historic England and Berkshire
Archaeology have not yet been published on the planning webpage. BPC
understands these are expected to be uploaded before determination.
10.It was explained that the lead contractor would complete the assessment of
the depth of the water table in the area to the east of St James Church to
determine if this area of land is
suitable for extending the churchyard. Whether it could be used for other
church related activities if not suit able for burials would be reviewed
further.
11.The planned connection of the solar farm to the substation near the Leathern
Bottel PH will be completed in phases and controlled through normal traffic
management processes.
12.The
application is due to be considered by the WBC planning committee on 08 Sep
2021 and, if approved, construction will begin next year.

169

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 211081
PROPERTY ADDRESS : FBC Centre
: Gorse Ride, Finchampstead, Wokingham
: RG40 4ES
SUBMITTED BY
: Finchampstead Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 06/05/2021
COMMENTS:
The Council In principle support this application, especially as the Rights of
Way are to be improved. We also support the decision to reduce the lifespan of
the project from 40 to 25years, which will delay housing development in this
area.
However, ther e are some elements that we do not support. We cannot understand
why some
elements of the wildlife habitat report was redacted. Why was this?
Our main concern is the screening and boundary on the south east corner where
it backs onto California Country Park. The original plans did not have this
approximately square block which has been
added to the current plans. We would prefer instead to see the
boundary coming south from Model Farm extended straight down until it reaches
the southern boundary of t he projected site. This with
additional screening on the California Way greenway would serve to maintain the
ruralwoodland nature of the country park.
As WBC owns the land, could an offroad pedestriancycling route be created,
adjacent to the south si de of Barkham Ride but appropriately
distanced from the road itself. This would create a safe
walkingcycling route parallel to Barkham Ride and it would not need to disrupt
traffic flow during construction, as it is wholly off the carriageway. It would
a lso move the unattractive solar panels maybe 510m further away from the road
so potentially less
visibleintrusive.
If incorporated it helps WBC, FBC and BPC meet their collective wish to
encourage alternative safe noncar transport and to provide a m eaningful
community benefit to partially compensate for the loss of green fields

171

PLANNING REF
: 211081
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Town Hall Market Place
: Wokingham
: RG40 1AS
SUBMITTED BY
: The Wokingham Town Council P&T Committee
DATE SUBMITTED
: 15/04/2021
COMMENTS:
The Committee have the following comments.
Could the removal of trees be avoided? This affects the visual amenity and
could an alternative to removal be considered.

172

Simon Taylor2
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Simon Taylor2
14 May 2021 14:26
RE: Secretary of State call in request: Land at Barkham Farms, Barkham, Wokingham RG40 4EX
(application no: 211081) ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

External Email
CAUTION: This is an EXTERNAL EMAIL - STOP & THINK before clicking a link or opening attachments.
For the attention of the case officer for application 211081
Application for 52 hectare solar farm on land at Barkham Farms, Barkham,
Wokingham RG40 4EX (application no: 211081)
Dear Colleague
The Secretary of State (MHCLG) has received a third party request to call in the above
planning application. The Secretary of State generally does not act on third party requests
until the relevant Planning Committee have resolved to approve the application. I understand
that a date for the committee to consider this application has not been decided. I would be
grateful if you could confirm this.
If the Committee are minded to approve the application then we request that the local
planning authority could give an assurance that they would not issue a Decision Notice until
the Secretary of State has considered whether or not to call in the application. If this is not
possible the Secretary of State could issue an Article 31 holding direction.
I would be grateful if you could confirm whether you are content not to issue a Decision
Notice in this case until the Secretary of State has decided whether or not to call in the
application.
Thanking you in advance
Kind Regards
Kevin
Kevin White
Planning Caseworker
Planning Casework Unit
5 St Philips Place, Colmore Row, Birmingham B3 2PW.
T:
PCU General Enquiries: pcu@communities.gsi.gov.uk T: 0303 44 48050

1731

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 37.
Application
Number
210705

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

02/08/2021

Wokingham

Evendons

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Type
Officer
Reason for
determination by
committee

LGIM
Fishponds Close Wokingham Town RG41 2TZ
Full application for the proposed erection of 2 no. industrial
buildings (Use Class B2 and B8) comprising a total of 4 no. units
together with associated infrastructure, parking and landscaping,
following demolition of 2 no. existing industrial buildings.
Full
Baldeep Pulahi
Major application (Floorspace over 1000sqm)

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 September 2021
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
The application site is located off Molly Millars Lane and is within the Fishponds Estate
which a defined Core Employment Area in the Core Strategy. The proposal comprises
of the demolition of 2no. existing industrial buildings and erection of 2 no. industrial
buildings (B2 and B8 use) comprising of total of 4 no. units with 41 car parking spaces
and associated landscaping.
The proposal satisfies Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy in terms of providing additional
Class B Use floorspace. It also accords with paragraph 81 of the National Planning
Policy Framework in providing an opportunity for the growth and expansion of the site. It
is being undertaken in a sustainable location with close proximity to public transport.
Therefore, the principle of development is acceptable.

PLANNING STATUS
 Major Development Location
 Core Employment Area – Molly Millars Industrial Area
 Contaminated Land
 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
 Tree Preservation Order – 868/1997
 SSSI Impact Risk Zones
 Thames Basin SPA Mitigation
 Water Utility Consultation Zone
 Flood Zone 2 and 3
 Historic Flood Zones
 Landfill Gas Consultation Zone

175

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
a)

A legal agreement to secure an Employment Skills Plan for the site. If the
Agreement is not completed within 3 months of the date of this resolution,
planning permission will be refused unless the Operational Manager in
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Committee agree to a later
date;

b)

The following conditions and informatives:

Conditions
1. Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2.

Approved details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
received by the local planning authority on 01/03/2021 and numbered:
-

19137C4PAVZZDRA0101P2 - Existing Site Plan
19137C4PAVZZDRA0200P2 - Schematic Site Sections
19137C4PAVZZDRA0201P2 – Highways
19137C4PAVZZDRA0202P1 - Existing Site Utilities
19137C4PAVZZDRA0700P1 - Site Street Elevation A
19137C4PAVZZDRA1000P1 - Existing Floorplan - Building 0718
19137C4PAVZZDRA1001P1 - Existing Floorplan - Building 0722
19137C4PAVZZDRA1100P1 - Existing Elevations - Building 0718
19137C4PAVZZDRA1101P1 - Existing Elevations - Building 0722
19137C4PBA00DRA2000P3 - Building A, Proposed Floor Plan Level 00
19137C4PBA01DRA2001P3 - Building A, Proposed Floor Plan Level 01
19137C4PBAR1DRA3300P2 - Building A, Proposed Roof Plan
19137C4PBAZZDRA2100P4 - Building A, Proposed Elevations A and B (Front
and Side)
19137C4PBAZZDRA2101P2 - Building A, Proposed Elevations C and D (Rear
and Side)
19137C4PBAZZDRA9000P3 - Building A, 3D Views
19137C4PBAZZDRA9200P3 - Building A, Floor Areas GIA and GEA
19137C4PBB00DRA2000P4 - Building B, Proposed Floor Plan Level 00
19137C4PBB01DRA2001P4 - Building B, Proposed Floor Plan Level 01
19137C4PBBR1DRA3300P2 - Building B, Proposed Roof Plan
19137C4PBBZZDRA2100P4 - Building B, Proposed Elevations A, B, C and D
19137C4PBBZZDRA9000P3 - Building B, 3D Views
19137C4PBBZZDRA9200P4 - Building B, Floor Areas GIA and GEA
205424700T2 - Proposed External Works
20826 - Tree Constraints Plan

176

and the submitted application plans and drawings received by the local planning
authority on 17/03/2021 and numbered:
-

19137C4PAVZZDRA0100P3 - Location Plan
External Lighting and EV Charging Points Plan

and the submitted application plans and drawings received by the local planning
authority on 24/05/2021 and numbered:
- 19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0101_P5 Sit Existing Topography and Constraints
- 19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0200_P5 Schematic Site Sections
- 19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0203_P2 Schematic Site Sections Key Plan
- 19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0500_P13 Proposed Site Plan
- 20-5424-A-151-T2 Ground Slab and Retaining Wall Details
- Landscape Proposals SF 3063 LL02 Rev B
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission
and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3.

Materials
The materials to be used in the new building are to be in accordance with those
specified on the approval drawings and application form.
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant policy –
Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.

4.

Drainage System
No development shall take place until details of the drainage system for the site
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The details shall
include:
1. Calculations demonstrating that there will be no flooding of pipes for events up to
and including the 1 in 100-year flood event with a 40% allowance for climate
change.
2. Indication of the location and sizing of SuDS features, with the base of any SuDS
features located at least 1m above the seasonal high water table level or
precautions take to consideration like floodproof attenuation tank.
3. Confirmation from surface water drainage system owner that the connection is
accepted, and capacity will be sufficient to which control discharge is proposed.
4. Details demonstrating how any SuDS for this development would be managed
throughout the lifespan of the development and who will be responsible for
maintenance.
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the
development and shall be maintained in the approved form for as long as the
development remains on the site.
Reason: This is to prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 14 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change,

177

Flooding and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.

5.

Groundwater Details
No development shall take place until seasonal groundwater data for the area has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: This is to ensure that the tank does not present any issues of uplifting and
that groundwater displacements do not increase flood risk in the vicinity of the
development, in accordance with NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of
Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10

6.

Landscaping
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with drawing; Landscape Proposals –
Phase 2 (SF 3063 LL02 Rev B) dated 24/05/2021, in the first planting and seeding
seasons following the occupation of the building(s). Any trees or plants which,
within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting (or within a period of 5 years
of the occupation of the buildings in the case of retained trees and shrubs) die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species or otherwise as approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy
CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
(and TB06 for garden development)

7.

Protection of Existing Trees Etc (Small Sites)
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning
authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the
completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees,
shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local planning
authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21

8.

Parking and Turning as approved
No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall
remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space shall
not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning.

178

Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
9.

Cycle parking - details required
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of secure
and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of the development
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with such details as may
be approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall be
permanently retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for
no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.

10. Surfacing of Access
No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a
permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a distance
of 10 metres measured from the carriageway edge
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of
road safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.
11. Construction Method Statement
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i)
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii)
loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii)
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv)
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v)
wheel washing facilities,
vi)
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii)
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
12. Accommodation of construction vehicles and deliveries
No development shall commence until provision has been made to accommodate
all site operatives, visitors and construction vehicles loading, off-loading, parking
and turning within the site during the construction period, in accordance with details
to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The

179

provision shall be maintained as so-approved and used for no other purposes until
completion of the development or otherwise as provided for in the approved details.
Reason: To prevent queuing and parking off site, in the interests of highway safety
and convenience. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6
13. Travel Plan
Prior to the commencement of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include
a programme of implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of
transport to and from the site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic
review. The travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as soapproved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes. Relevant policy: NPPF Section
9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policy CP6.
14. Electric Vehicle Charging
Prior to commencement of development, details for Electric Vehicle Charging points
serving the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Electric Vehicle Charging points shall be implemented in
accordance with such details as may be approved before occupation of the
development hereby permitted and shall be permanently retained in the approved
form for the charging of electric vehicles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
15. Delivery Servicing Plan
Prior to occupation a Delivery and Servicing Plan be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
16. Stopping up of Access
Prior to commencement of the development details of the stopping up of access
would need to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
17. Mix of Uses
The B2 and B8 uses hereby permitted shall be limited to no more than 50% of the
floorspace contained within Units 1-4 (as identified on the approved plans)
Reason: To encourage a mix of uses and to ensure adequate parking to serve the
site. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy
Policy CP6.

180

18. Bats and Lighting
Prior to occupation, a lighting design strategy for biodiversity for the site shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy
shall integrate the lighting mitigation recommendations given in the bat emergence
survey report (Patrick Parsons, ref: CRS/19377a/BES, July 2021) with the external
lighting strategy. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the
specification and locations set out in the strategy and these shall be maintained
thereafter in accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any
other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure that bats, a European Protected Species, are not adversely
impacted upon as a result of the development.
19. Ecological Enhancements
Prior to occupation, a strategy for providing bat and bird boxes in line with the
recommendations given in section 5.5 of the submitted Preliminary Ecological
Assessment and Bat Roost Potential Survey report (Patrick Parsons, ref: B19377
revision 0, November 2020) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Once approved the strategy shall be implemented in full
unless otherwise agreed by the local authority in writing.
Reason: To ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Section 41 NERC Act re.
UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Species (Species of Principal Importance), and
complies with Planning Policies for Wildlife including CP7 of the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy (2010), and the National Planning Policy Framework which
requires consideration of the potential biodiversity gains that can be secured within
developments
20. Submission of Scheme (Sound Insulation)
A scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of noise
emanating from the site. The scheme shall take into account the proposed uses of
each industrial unit and the recommendations made in the submitted Noise
Assessment (AEC Report Reference P4243/R01a/RDC version dated 9/4/21).
Thereafter, the uses shall not commence until the approved scheme has been fully
implemented.
Reason: To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from noise.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.
21. Permitted Hours of Use
The industrial buildings hereby permitted shall not operate other than between the
hours of 0700 and 1900. No deliveries shall be dispatched or accepted outside
these times.
Reason: To protect the amenity of residents living in the vicinity of the site and to
reduce impact on air quality. Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.

181

22. Decentralised Energy Supply
Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for generating 10 % of the
predicted energy requirement of the development from decentralised renewable
and/or low carbon sources (as defined in the glossary of Planning Policy Statement:
Planning and Climate Change (December 2007) or any subsequent version) shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 98 authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented before the development is first occupied
and shall remain operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 14 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1, Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policy CC05 & the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Document.
23. Hours of Work
No works relating to the development hereby approved including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00-13:00 on
Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Public Holidays.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring from noise and disturbance
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy CC06.
24. Additional Floorspace
No additional floorspace, including mezzanine floors, shall be constructed within the
building/s hereby approved without prior written permission of the local planning
authority.
Reason: To prevent an over-development of the site and to ensure adequate
parking. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07

Informatives
1. Changes to the Approved Drawings
The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.
2. Legal Agreement
This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated (TBC) the obligations in
which relate to this development.
3. Pre-Commencement Conditions
The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of

182

the development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may
be outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The
information required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration
with the relevant fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the
development should be carried out only in accordance with those details. If this is
not clear please contact the case officer to discuss.
4. Thames Water Sewers
Thames Water would advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to
the disposal of surface water no objections are raised . Where the developer
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water
Developer Services will be required.
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you are planning
significant work near our sewers, it is important that you minimize the risk of
damage. Thames Water will need to check that the development does not limit
repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way.
The applicant is advised to read the guide working near or diverting our pipes.
5. Additional advertising consent
This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent that may be
required for the display of advertisements on the site for which a separate
Advertisement Consent application may be required. You should be aware that the
display of advertisements without the necessary consent is a criminal offence liable
to criminal prosecution proceedings through the courts
6. Access Construction
The Head of Highways at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118
9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details
before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways).
This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or
works.
7. Travel Plan
The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local
guidance:
1) NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport)
2) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008)
3) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009)
4) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT) 103
5) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) All accessible at:
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/travelplans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-local-transport
6) WBC Transport Plan 3 and Active Travel Plan 2011 – 2026
7) WBC Workplace Travel Plan Guidance and Residential Travel Plan Guidance
8. Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.

183

PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
F/1996/64289
Proposed change of use of building
from B8 storage to B1 light industrial
use
SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing Floor Area
Proposed Floor Area
Existing Parking Spaces
Proposed Parking Spaces
No. of jobs created/lost

Decision
Approved
24/10/1996

0.60 hectares
2391 m2
2803.18 m2
17
41
No change (maintain 20 existing full-time positions)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Environmental Health
No objections subject to Conditions 20 and 21
WBC Drainage
No objections subject to Conditions 4 and 5
WBC Highways
No objections subject to Conditions 8-17
WBC Economic Prosperity
Legal Agreement
and Place
WBC Landscape and Trees
No objections subject to Conditions 6 and 7
WNC Cleaner and Greener
No comments received
WBC Ecology
No objections subject to Conditions 18 and 19
National Grid
No objections
South East Water
No comments received
Southern Gas Networks
No objections
SSE Power Distribution
No objections
Thames Water Utilities Ltd
No objections
Environment Agency
No objections
Crime Design Prevention
No comments received
Royal Berkshire Fire and
No comments received
Rescue

REPRESENTATIONS
Wokingham Town Council

Ward Members




Support for the proposal
Concerns local residents haven’t been consulted

Officer’s comments: Email dated 16/04/2021 was sent
to the Town Clerk confirming local residents were
consulted on the application on the 17/03/201 in line
with the Council’s neighbour consultation guidelines
and the Site Notice was displayed at the site on
18/03/2021.
No comments received

184

Neighbours

No comments received

APPLICANTS POINTS
The proposed development would make efficient and effective use of the site providing
industrial units to the surrounding area, providing jobs and business opportunities for
smaller businesses such as start-ups etc and also providing redevelopment to the local
area.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP8

Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP15

Employment Development

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC05

Renewable energy and decentralised
energy networks

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB11

Core Employment Areas

TB12

Employment Skills Plan

TB15

Major Town, and Small Town/District
Centre Development

TB20

Service Arrangements and Deliveries
for Employment and Retail Use

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

BDG

Borough Design Guide

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning
Documents
(SPD)

185

SDC
SPD

Sustainable Design and Construction

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1. The proposal is for the erection of 2 no. buildings (Use Class B2 and B8) comprising
a total of 4 no. units together with associated infrastructure, parking and
landscaping, following demolition of 2 no. existing industrial buildings (Buildings 718
and 722) at Fishponds Close.
2. The proposed buildings will be of a portal frame type construction, with a maximum
eaves height of 7.5m for Building A and 6m for Building B. The units will provide two
storeys, with a core amenity area located at the ground floor, and office provision at
the first floor. A breakdown of the floorspace for each unit is provided in the table
below.
Building A
Unit 1
Unit 2
Total
Building B
Unit 3
Unit 4
Total
Grand Total

Floorspace
749.55 m2
1207.27 m2
1956.82 m2
Floorspace
455.05 m2
391.31 m2
846.36 m2
2803.18 m2

3. The proposal will deliver a total of 41 parking spaces (including accessible and
electric vehicle charging spaces) to the front of the building, including two external
bin stores, external cycle storage and landscaping.
4. The hours of operation are 07:00-19:00 7 days a week.
Principle of Development
5. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan.
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
6. The site is located within a Major Development Location of Wokingham and as such
the development would be acceptable subject to the assessment of the impact of
the development on the character of the area, existing street scene, and the
amenity of the neighbouring occupiers and upon highway safety.
7. Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy allows for the redevelopment, refurbishment or
minor extension of buildings in employment use where they are in the settlement
limits and where there is no net loss of Class B floor space. The proposal delivers
2803.18m2 of Class B floor space within the boundaries of the Molly Millars Core
Employment Area. The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy CP15 in

186

terms of providing additional employment floor space within the Borough. It is also
complemented by sufficient car parking in an accessible location and without any
detriment to the character of the area.
8. Further to this Paragraph 81 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that
decisions ‘should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand
and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic
growth and productivity taking into account both local business needs and wider
opportunities for development’. The proposal would be in accordance with this
requirement.
Character of the Area
9. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale, mass layout, built form, height and character of the area and must
be of high quality design. Policy TB06 of the MDD Local Plan also states that there
should be no significant adverse visual or environmental impact and NR1 of the
Borough Design Guide states development should respond to key characteristics
and features of the site. NR2-NR12 are also applicable in terms of ensuring a
positive entrance, presentation, car park layout, boundary treatments and servicing
and appropriate height, roof form and materials that are compatible with the area.
10. The site is located within the Fishponds Road Industrial Estate and is surrounded by
various office building and industrial units of varying height and scale. Several of the
office buildings within the industrial estate have been granted Prior Approval for the
conversion into residential units. Buildings 720 and 721 have been granted planning
permission under ref: 201345 for 1no. Self-storage facility and 2no. industrial units.
11. The proposed buildings will be of a portal frame type construction, with a maximum
eaves height of 7.5m for Building A and 6m for Building B. The units will provide two
storeys, with a core amenity area located at the ground floor, and office provision at
the first floor. The proposed buildings are set back from the end of Fishponds Close,
opposite the rear service yard of the building facing Fishponds Road and will
provide a sufficient area for parking and access including soft landscaping.
12. The proposed buildings will feature a mix palette of materials which are satisfactory
and are secured by Condition 3.
13. Due to the proposed building’s location within the Core Employment Area, the
sufficient separation distances and soft landscaping, the height of the buildings
would not be unduly excessive, nor would it adversely detract from the character of
the existing industrial estate. On this basis the height of the buildings are
considered to be acceptable.
14. The proposed buildings will proposal achieves a contemporary design, built form
and appearance that does not adversely detract from the character of the existing
industrial estate. It achieves an increase in employment floorspace in a measured
manner that is not inconsistent with the desired or likely future character of the area.
In this respect, it is acceptable in terms of CP3 and the BDG and no objection is
raised.

187

Neighbour Amenity
15. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity and Policy
TB20 of the MDD Plan requires that there be no harmful impact on the amenity of
adjoining land uses in terms of noise, fumes and disturbance

Adjoining Industrial/Commercial Buildings
16. The proposal will maintain separation distances in excess of 40m between the
proposed buildings (Building A and Building B) and Unit 1-3 Millars Business
Centre (located opposite the application site) therefore there is unlikely to be an
impact upon the occupiers of these industrial buildings in terms of overlooking, loss
of light or overbearingness.
17. There will be a separation distance of 6.5m between Building A and the adjoining
industrial building (Meridian Business Centre). This separation distance is akin to
the existing relationship on site between the buildings and as the adjoining industrial
building is too two storeys high, there is unlikely be a detrimental impact upon the
occupiers of this industrial building in terms of overlooking, loss of light or sense of
enclosure.
18. There will be a separation distance of 13m between the proposed buildings and
Buildings 720 and 721 which are located within the vicinity of the application site.
Due to the orientation of Buildings 720 and Building 721 in relation to the application
site there is unlikely to be a detrimental impact upon the future occupiers in terms of
overlooking, loss of light or overbearingness.
Alexandra Grange House (nursing home)
19. The neighbouring site to the application site is a nursing home (Alexandra Grange
House). The separation distance from the side elevation of Building B to the side
elevation (west elevation) of Alexandra Grange House will be a minimum of 10.5m.
Due to the orientation of Building B , the separation distance, and scale i.e. Two
storeys high in comparison to Alexandra Grange House a three storey building
there is unlikely to be a detrimental impact upon the residents of the nursing home
in terms of overlooking or overbearingness.
20. In respect of overshadowing impacts, a degree of overshadowing is expected
towards the nursing home however it is considered this would not be significantly
different to the existing situation between the sites given the orientation of the
buildings.
Residential Dwellings
21. There are residential dwellings located at the rear of the application site at No.1 and
No. 2 Oaklands Drive, No.8b Holmes Crescent and No.10 Holmes Crescent.
22. The separation distances (back to back relationship) between the proposed
buildings and the residential dwellings are as follows:
 No. 1 Oaklands Drive – 23m
 No.2 Oaklands Drive – 21m
 No. 8b Holmes Crescent – in excess of 30m
 No. 10 Holmes Crescent - in excess of 30m

188

23. The back to back separation distances between the proposed buildings and the
residential dwellings are considered to be acceptable to ensure there is no
detrimental overbearing or overlooking impact upon the occupiers of these
residential dwellings.
24. In respect of overshadowing impacts, a degree of overshadowing is expected upon
the rear most part of the gardens of the residential dwellings; given the proposed
buildings will be set in from the rear boundary of the application site and taking into
account the back to back separation distances there is unlikely to be a detrimental
overshadowing impact upon the habitable rooms of these residential dwellings.
Noise break out from units
25. The submitted Noise Assessment identifies that the breakout of noise from the
units is likely to be the most significant source that could affect noise sensitive
properties in Oaklands Drive and the Alexandra Grange Care Home.
26. The assessment was carried out using typical noise from a motor mechanic
workshop but acknowledges that noisier activities are possible in the proposed
use classes B1,B2 and B8. The report provides the recommended construction
details to provide sufficient acoustic insulation to achieve 8db below the AEC
suggested noise limits. The report states that this will need to be reviewed and
developed once the occupants and tenants are known. The Council’s
Environmental Health Officer recommends further assessment before the units
are constructed are undertaken to ensure that an appropriate level of sound
insulation is provided and to ensure there is no adverse impact on residential
amenity. This is to be secured by Condition 19.
HGV Noise
27. The assessment carried out is based on lorries delivering to each unit
simultaneously. The predicted levels take into account screening provided by the
buildings and the existing close boarded fence and concludes that the noise
created would be below the limits that AEC propose. As the assessment is based
on operating hours of 0700 – 1900 , the Council’s Environmental Health Officer
has advised that deliveries to and from the site are restricted to these times to
minimise the risk of disturbance to local residents. This is secured by Condition
20.
Plant Noise
28. There are currently no proposals for externally ventilated mechanical services
plant.
Access and Movement
Car Parking
29. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off
street parking standards.
30. The proposal will provide 41 car parking spaces , this is 2 spaces lower than the
average between the two land uses. The average parking number is the average
between if all the site was B2 (62 spaces) and if all the site was B8 (23 spaces).
The average would be 43 (42.5). However, the Council does not have parking
standards for mixed B2/B8 sites.

189

31. The applicant has carried out a parking utilisation exercise based on TRICS data
from acceptable sites which does show that there will be spare parking capacity.
This is acceptable to the Council’s Highways Officers on the basis the mix of
units is controlled by a planning condition.
32. In addition, the site is also in close proximity to buses and trains, and a Travel
plan will be secured via condition which would encourage use of more
sustainable modes. Overall, the development as whole is acceptable to the
Council’s Highways Officer on the highway and parking aspects.
33. The proposed level of disabled parking based on the Council’s Parking
standards would be 4 spaces. 5 spaces are proposed which exceeds this
standard and is acceptable to the Council’s Highways Officer.
34. It is proposed that there will be 8 electric charging bays, no information has been
provided if these would be all active or active and passive. The standard for a
parking area of this size would be 2 active and 2 passive spaces and details are
to be secured via Condition 17.
Cycle Parking
35. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum cycle
parking standards.
36. The level of cycle parking for employees would be 16 cycle spaces and this is
acceptable to the Council’s Highways Officer. There will be three areas of cycle
parking in close vicinity to the accesses to the buildings which is acceptable,
details of the secure storage are to be secured via Condition 9.
Access
37. The proposed access would be off Fishpond Close which is an adopted highway
and through the existing service yard. This arrangement is acceptable to the
Council’s Highways Officer.
Swept Paths
38. Swept paths for a 10m rigid and a 16.5m articulated lorries have been submitted
and the Council’s Highways Officer is satisfied the vehicles can manoeuvre
safely.
39. The Travel Statement submitted states Units 1 and 2 can be served by an
articulated lorry, whilst Units 3 and 4 could only be served by a 10 m rigid lorry.
To ensure this is going to be acceptable the Council’s Highways Officer has
recommended a Delivery and Servicing Plan is implemented. This will be
secured via Condition 14.
Flooding and Drainage
40. Section 10 of the NPPF, Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy and Policies CC09 and
CC10 of the MDD requires flooding protection, sustainable drainage methods
and the minimisation of surface water flow.
41. Part of the development site close to Molly Millars Lane, is within Flood Zone 2.
The proposed buildings are located in flood zone 1 and no objections have been
raised by the Council’s Drainage Officer on this aspect.

190

42. Details of the drainage system and SUDs are to be secured via Condition 4 at
the request of the Council’s Drainage Officer.
Groundwater Protection
43. The Environment Agency have commented that if infiltration drainage is
proposed, then it must be demonstrated that it will not pose a risk to groundwater
quality. Any infiltration SuDS greater than 3m below ground level to be a deep
system is generally not acceptable. All infiltration SuDS require a minimum of
1m clearance between the base of the infiltration point and the peak seasonal
groundwater levels. All need to meet the criteria set out in the EA Groundwater
Protection publication. In addition, they must not be constructed in ground
affected by contamination. The groundwater details are secured via Condition 5.
Landscape and Trees
44. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local aims to protect green infrastructure networks,
retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21
requires consideration of the landscape character.
45. A revised Trees and Construction document by Indigo Surveys and dated May
2021 (20826/A3 rev C) has been submitted along with additional section
information. Following this submission, a site visit was arranged to assess the
trees on the northern boundary and their current growing conditions by the
Council’s Landscape Officer. It was clear from the site visit that the TPO trees
are growing at the top of a steep embankment several metres above the existing
concrete surfacing to the rear of the site and therefore it is unlikely that the
proposed groundworks required for the new building would have a detrimental
impact on the trees.
46. Several trial holes were dug in the location where the corner of Unit 2 comes
closest to the tree T14. The findings within the Root Investigation report dated
30th July 2021 states there is very limited rooting activity in the area due to the
make-up of the ground profile.
47. Following the submission of the revised plans and information as above the
Council’s Landscape Officer raises no objection to the proposals as it has been
shown the TPO trees will not be materially affected by the proposed development
(including ground level changes) and can be properly retained.
48. A landscape scheme has been provided to show replacement and additional
planting, where several conifers and poor-quality trees are to be removed as part
of the proposals. The landscape scheme will provide 17no. native species trees
(to be planted) , 254 no. hedge plants (laurel) to be planted to form 50 linear
metres of new hedge; 8 existing trees to be retained (identified within the
arboricultural report as numbers t11 to 19 inclusive) . The Landscaping Scheme
is secured via Condition 6.
Ecology
49. Policy TB23 of the MDD required the incorporation of new biodiversity features,
buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with the
wider greener infrastructure network.

191

50. This application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Assessment and Bat
Roost Potential Survey report (Patrick Parsons, ref: B19377 revision 0,
November 2020). This survey identified some bat roost potential and
recommended follow up emergence survey work. This work was undertaken and
a further letter Bat Emergence Survey report (Patrick Parsons, ref:
CRS/19377a/BES, July 2021) has been submitted.
51. The survey results indicate that it is unlikely that a bat roost is present on site and
at risk from the development proposal. The proposed development does look to
retain existing mature trees and provide additional trees within the landscaping.
In anticipation of the site continuing to be a bat commuting and foraging route,
the applicant’s ecologist has made recommendations as to the type of external
lighting to use. These recommendations were made post the drawing up and
submission of the External Lighting Site Plan (KGA (UK) Ltd, drawing number:
5427-KGA-XX-XX-DR-E-300 revision R1). Looking at the luminaire data to
accompany this lighting plan, the Council’s Ecology Officer states there are
conflicts between the proposed floodlights and the applicant’s ecologist’s
recommendations.
52. Therefore, it is recommended that prior to occupation the synthesis of the lighting
plans with the mitigation recommendations in the Bat Emergence Survey report
are submitted, this is to be secured via Condition 18.
53. The Preliminary Ecological Assessment and Bat Roost Potential Survey report
makes recommendations for bird and bat bricks to be included within the
structure of the building, although these are not shown on the submitted plans.
The Council’s Ecology Officer states there is little conflict between providing
boxes and any windows or doors. Therefore, as per paragraph 170 of the NPPF,
the ecological enhancement measures are to be secured via Condition 19.
Employment Skills
54. Policy TB21 of the MDD Local Plan states proposals for major development
should be accompanied by an Employment Skills Plan to show how the
development would provide opportunities for training, apprenticeship or other
vocational initiatives to develop local employability skills required by developers,
contractors or end users of the proposal. This would be secured via a Section
106 Agreement.
Sustainable Construction
55. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy and the Council’s Sustainable Design and
Construction SPD requires proposals to maintain or enhance the high quality of
the environment though contribution towards sustainable development.
56. In line with these requirements the proposed development incorporates the
following sustainability measures which are considered acceptable subject to
Building Regulations:
a) PV Panels installed on roof, directly above office spaces.
b) Enhanced building fabric
c) Air permeability
d) No gas connection
e) Electric vehicle charge points

192

57. Furthermore, Policy CC05 of the MDD Local Plan encourages renewable energy
and decentralised energy networks, with encouragement of decentralised energy
systems and a minimum 10% reduction in carbon emissions for developments in
excess of 1000m2. This is applicable in this case and in addition to the above
sustainability measures, is applied by Condition 21.
Waste Storage
58. Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan requires adequate storage for the
segregation and waste. Two bin stores are located towards the front of the
buildings within the site which are sufficiently sized.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
59. Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that where development is likely to have
an effect on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is
required to demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any
potential adverse effects are delivered. The subject property is located within
7km of the TBH SPA but the works would not constitute any additional harm and
no mitigation is required.
Community Infrastructure Levy:
60. Being a commercial development, the application is not liable for CIL payments.
Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
61. In determining this application, the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is
no indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the
protected groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs,
experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning application
and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected groups as a
result of the development.
CONCLUSION
62. The proposal will create additional Class B2/B8 floorspace which is appropriate
in the context of the surrounding built form and includes acceptable provision for
parking and access. The proposal would not have a harmful impact on the
character and appearance of the wider area and the nearby residential
properties.
63. No harmful impact would occur in regard to drainage, landscape and trees and
environmental health therefore it is recommended that the application is
approved subject to securing an Employment Skills Plan via legal agreement and
the conditions included in this report.

193

This page is intentionally left blank

N

50m

25m

0m

VISUAL SCALE 1:1250 @ A3

75m

100m

Drawing Status

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied,
reproduced or re-distributed either in whole or in part without
the prior written permission of the originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss,
cost, damage or expense arising from or relating to any use of
this document other than for its intended purpose on this
project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant
drawings, specifications and associated documentation. Any
discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the
originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior
to proceeding with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled
to ascertain any dimensions, work to figured dimensions only.

168100

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled
version issued for information only, to enable the recipient to
prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are
solely responsible.

TCB
168075

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT.

Alexandra
Grange

168050

168050

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation
of any information held in the drawing resulting from the
translation from the original file format to any other file format
or from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

El Sub Sta

(Nursing Home)

Colebrook
House

! Hazard Identification

1
4

Whitton
House

1

to

12

12

la

195

ne

Warehouse

33

1

Bellamy House
to

rs

168000

168000

1

M
illa

to

ly

1

M
ol

8

date

Ru
sh

168025

168025

hazard

Ho
us
e

ref

8b

10

167975

P3 Scale amended and street names
added
P2 Buildings design updated.

AR

09.03.21

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

P1 Issued for Information

AG

05.12.19

XX

Drawn

Date

Check

167975

a
10

Rev Revision Details
SH
FI
SE
O
CL

R
oa
d

S
D

167950

Fi
s

hp
o

nd
s

167950

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

N
PO

Works

Project Management

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

Security House

167925

1

167925

Architecture

es
s

C
en
tre

LGIM

Project

Bu
sin

167900

illa

480425

480400

480375

480350

480325

480300

480275

480250

480225

480200

M

3

rs

167900

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

W
or
ks

Drawing Title

167875

167875

El Sub Sta

Location Plan

Status

Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

480300

480275

480250

480225

480200

480175

480150

480125

167850

Drawn by

1

AG

19137

05.12.19

Created
Scale

1 : 1250

@ A3

01-ZZ_Location Plan

C4 Job no.

1 : 1250

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0100

P3

This page is intentionally left blank

N

Drawing Status

5m

0m

10m

15m

20m

1

VISUAL SCALE 1:250 @ A1

Dwelling

INFORMATION
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.

4

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.

Dwelling

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.

Key
Tree Condition Category A
Tree Condition Category B

Dwelling

Tree Condition Category C
Root protection area (RPA) outline
Care Home
3 storey high

All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.
DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

Root protection area (RPA) to
individual trees
Trees to be removed

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

Acoustic fence line

! Hazard Identification

Dwelling

ref

Indicates existing landscape
zones (shown hatched)

hazard

date

Area Schedule (GIA)
zo
ne

Planting screen

Area

la

ex
te
nd
ed

ed
nd
te

NOTE:
This drawing must be read in conjunction with
drawing number; 19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0203_P1_Schematic Site Sections Key Plan.

Paving flags

s
nd
pe

N
ew

ca

Acoustic fence / treatment
(extent indicated dashed)

Acoustic fence / treatment
(extent indicated dashed)

ex

la
nd
sc

ap
e

ew
N

Paving flags to rear
and side paths

Name

ne
zo

PK

Please also refer to latest AIA & AMS reports and latest drawings produced by
Indigo Surveys drawings titled;
Tree Protection Plan
TCP/Topographical Survey with Proposal Overlay
Tree Constraints Plan (Proposed and Existing)
nc
e

U4
fe

U4-00-03
Warehouse

ab
ov

e

gate

Please refer to Planning Application no. 201345

Cycles
37

HBK

39

U3-00-03
Warehouse

e
ab
ov

41

7,064 ft²
1,022 ft²
8,087 ft²

87.4%
12.6%
100.0%

1,092.65 m²
118.72 m²
1,211.37 m²

11,761 ft²
1,278 ft²
13,039 ft²

90.2%
9.8%
100.0%

405.98 m²
53.52 m²
459.50 m²

4,370 ft²
576 ft²
4,946 ft²

88.4%
11.6%
100.0%

344.54 m²
49.16 m²
393.70 m²
2,815.87 m²

3,709 ft²
529 ft²
4,238 ft²
30,310 ft²

87.5%
12.5%
100.0%

Parking Schedule
Description
Standard car parking bay
Disabled parking bay
Electric Charge car parking bay
Motorbike parking bay

Count
28
5
8
2
43

ce

Wokingham Borough Council Car Parking Standards

M-01

of
fi

Dwelling

B8
Up to 250m2 = 1 space per 25m2
Above 250m2 = 1 space per additional 200m2
Concrete

T12-B3

B2
Up to 250m2 = 1 space per 25m2
Above 250m2 = 1 space per additional 50m2

36

197

35

T13-A2

Root Protection Area (RPA) outline

656.31 m²
94.99 m²
751.30 m²

40

s

Indicates retaining wall
adjacent to path

NOTE:
All new retaining structures to be placed fully outside of the RPA
as denoted in all drawings and advised upon by Indigo Surveys.
Type Mark
PRK-A
PRK-B
PRK-C
PRK-D
TOTAL: 43

38

U3

New retaining wall at this
point to be in line with
existing kerb line /
service yard edge

ADJACENT SITE
(OUTSIDE OF SCOPE OF WORKS OF THIS PROJECT)

Bins

New extended
landscape zones to
have a max gradient
of 1 in 3

Indicates kerb to path
edge

Percentage

ce
of
fi

T11-A2

Indicates existing
landscape zones

Imperial

s

PK

Indicates new extended
landscape zones to have a max
gradient of 1 in 3

UNIT 1
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
UNIT 2
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
UNIT 3
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
UNIT 4
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
TOTAL: 8

Metric

gate
34
Planting indicative. Existing trees and
vegetation to be retained as per tree
constraints plan 20826/A1/TOP/01.
For landscape scheme, refer to
Smeeden Foreman drawing LL02

T14-A2

transition kerbs
(TK)

U2

33

U2-00-03
Warehouse

32
31

30

ab
ov

e

New extended
landscape zones
to have a max
gradient of 1 in 3

ce

s

29

of
fi

20

28

Cycles

FI
SH

?
19

T17-C2

T15-A2

Bins
18

Replacement retaining
wall at this point, to be in
the same location as the
existing

PO
ND
S

17
16

T16-A2

CL
O
SE

27

15

26
25
24
23

U1

T18-A2

U1-00-03
Warehouse

18

22

m

21

P13 Retaining structure and method
amended to better protect trees in
closely affected areas following
comments from LPA.
P12 Retaining structures updated. Root
protection Areas (RPA) added
P11 Issue for TENDER

AR

20.05.21

JC

AR

14.05.21

JC

AR

09.04.21

JC

P10 Site plan updated following comments
from planning officer. Cycle stores
relocated, parking bays have increased
in size and number.
P9 EV parking added and bollards included
at Access doors on Building B.
P8 Dropped kerbs added, landcape notes
and gradietns, kerbs and retaining
structures updated
P7 Service yard surface amended.

AR

06.04.21

JC

AR

19.03.21

JC

JC

08.02.21

JC

A
e
ab
ov

Buildings design updated.

JC

16.11.20

JC

First floor office spaces adjusted to
12.5% of total area.
Layout generally reviewed following
topographical information
Site layout updated following vehicle
tracking
First Issue of Drawing

MK

20.10.20

JC

JC

19.10.20

NR

MK

12.08.20

JC

MK

23.07.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Rev Revision Details

Notional line for yard and
parking for buildings
0715, 0716 & 0717

ce
of
fi

JC

P4

P1

Concrete

M-02

JC

20.11.20

P5

P3

?

s

0700

03.02.21

JC

Generally updated

P2

T19-B2

AR

P6

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

07

06
05
Existing Concrete Yard
04

Project Management

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

03
Client

14

02
ga
te

LGIM

&

13

fe

nc
e

01

12

Cycles
11

Existing retaining wall

Project

1

10
09

Bins

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

08
Drawing Title

Site Plan as Proposed
Existing adjacent
industrial unit

T9-C2

05-ZZ_Site Plan as Proposed
1 : 250

in
es
s

1

Ce
nt
re

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

MK

19137

Created
Scale

Drg no.

19137-C4P-AV-ZZ-DR-A-0500

09.07.2020
1 : 250

@ A1
Rev

P13

This page is intentionally left blank

2m

4m

6m

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A1

8m

Drawing Status

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.

52782
6270

6270

6270

6270

6925

6925

6925

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

6925

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

Unit 01

Unit 02

! Hazard Identification
Photovoltaic panels. Exact details,
location and number to M&E
design.

ref

hazard

date

Roof composite panels, Eurobond
high density non-combustible stone
wool coore Roofspan or similar
approved. Colour Grey.
Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006

Haunch

Feature portico, flat composite
panels, Anthracite grey RAL 7016

54750

7500

3900

58650

Level 1

3600

Canopy over main entrance

51150

Double glazed, thermally broken
aluminium frame double doors

Double glazed, thermally broken
aluminium frame curtain wall,
Anthracite grey RAL 7016

Level 0

main entrance

A

main entrance
External insulated loading door,
Anthracite grey RAL 7016

Wall composite cladding panel,
horizontally laid, high density
non-combustible core Eurobond
Europanel or similar, colour white
aluminium RAL 9006

Elevation A (South-east, Front)

RWP, Anthracite grey, RAL 7016

External insulated personnel metal
door, colour to match cladding
panels white aluminium 9006,
flashings in anthracite grey RAL
7016

Terracotta rainscreen panels on
support framing fixed on to
Eurobond rainspan composite
panel or similar approved. Colours
to be agreed

1 : 100

199
C

B

CL

A

38600
12529

26071
6571

Unit 02

19500

Unit 01

Polyester powder coated pressed
metal flasings to fascias and
gutters, colour anthracite grey RAL
7016

Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006

P4
P3

58650

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

Haunch

P2
P1

Windows added following client's
comments
Cores and facade updated following
meeting with client.
Entrance feature materials updated
following client's comments
First Issue of Drawing

3900

Rev Revision Details

Level 1

JC

JC

19.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

JC

09.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

Canopy over main entrance

3600

Project Management

51150

20.11.20

Feature portico, flat composite
panels, Anthracite grey RAL 7016

7500

54750

JC

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

LGIM

Level 0

Project
Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006

External insulated personnel metal
door, colour to match cladding
panels white aluminium 9006,
flashings in anthracite grey RAL
7016

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

Drawing Title

B

Elevation B (South-West, Side path)

Building A_Elevations A & B

1 : 100

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

22.10.2020
1 : 100

@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BA-ZZ-DR-A-2100

P4

C:\Revit local files\19137-C4P-BA-XX-M3-A-9801_Bldg A_JasonRCruz.rvt

0m

This page is intentionally left blank

2m

4m

6m

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A1

8m

Drawing Status

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.

09

08

07

06

05

04

03

02

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.

01

52782
27700
6925

6925

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

25082
6925

6925

6270

6270

6270

Unit 02

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

6270

Unit 01
Roof composite panels, Eurobond
high density non-combustible stone
wool coore Roofspan or similar
approved. Colour Grey.

! Hazard Identification
ref

hazard

date

Polyester powder coated pressed
metal flasings to fascias and
gutters, colour anthracite grey RAL
7016

58650

Haunch

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

54750

51150

Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006

Level 1

Level 0

Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006

C

Elevation C (North-West, Rear)
1 : 100

201
A

CL

B

C

38600
19500

19100
6571

12529

Unit 02

Photovoltaic panels. Exact details,
location and number to M&E
design.

58650

6°

6°

Polyester powder coated pressed
metal flasings to fascias and
gutters, colour anthracite grey RAL
7016

Haunch

P2
P1

3900

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

Entrance feature materials updated
following client's comments
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

7500

Pre-formed composite cladding panel corners,
horizontally laid, high density non-combustible
core Eurobond Europanel or similar, colour
white aluminium RAL 9006
3600

Level 1

51150

External insulated personnel metal
door, colour to match cladding
panels white aluminium 9006,
flashings in anthracite grey RAL
7016

16.11.20

JC

JC

09.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

RWP, Anthracite grey, RAL 7016
54750

JC

Project Management

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

LGIM

Level 0

Project
Feature portico, flat composite
panels, Anthracite grey RAL 7016

D

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

Elevation D (North-East, Side path)

Drawing Title

1 : 100

Building A_Elevations C & D

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

22.10.2020
1 : 100

@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BA-ZZ-DR-A-2101

P2

C:\Revit local files\19137-C4P-BA-XX-M3-A-9801_Bldg A_Matthew.Kelly..rvt

0m

This page is intentionally left blank

4m

8m

VISUAL SCALE 1:200 @ A1

12m

16m

Drawing Status

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.
DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.
C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

! Hazard Identification
ref

hazard

date

GF GIA
1,092.65 m²
11,761 ft²

GF GIA
656.31 m²
7,064 ft²
GEA GF
695.47 m²
7,486 ft²

1.0

GIA_Level 0

2.0

1 : 200

GEA GF
1,144.53 m²
12,320 ft²

GEA_Level 0
1 : 200

203
P3
P2
P1

Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores and facade updated following
meeting with client.
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

JC

20.11.20

JC

JC

19.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk
Project Management

FF GIA
118.72 m²
1,278 ft²

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

GEA FF
138.29 m²
1,489 ft²

GEA FF
112.55 m²
1,212 ft²

FF GIA
94.99 m²
1,022 ft²

Architecture

LGIM

Project

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

1.1

GIA_Level 1

2.1

1 : 200

GEA_Level 1

Drawing Title

1 : 200

Area Schedule (GIA)
Area
Name
UNIT 1
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
UNIT 2
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
TOTAL: 4

Building A_GIA & GEA

Area Schedule (GEA)
Area

Metric

Imperial

%

656.31 m²
94.99 m²
751.30 m²

7,064 ft²
1,022 ft²
8,087 ft²

87.4%
12.6%
100.0%

1,092.65 m²
118.72 m²
1,211.37 m²
1,962.67 m²

11,761 ft²
1,278 ft²
13,039 ft²
21,126 ft²

90.2%
9.8%
100.0%

Name
UNIT 1
GEA GF
GEA FF
2
UNIT 2
GEA GF
GEA FF
2
TOTAL: 4

Metric

Imperial

%

695.47 m²
112.55 m²
808.03 m²

7,486 ft²
1,212 ft²
8,698 ft²

86.07%
13.93%
100.00%

1,144.53 m²
138.29 m²
1,282.82 m²
2,090.85 m²

12,320 ft²
1,489 ft²
13,808 ft²
22,506 ft²

89.22%
10.78%
100.00%

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

12.11.2020
1 : 200

@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BA-ZZ-DR-A-9200

P3

C:\Revit local files\19137-C4P-BA-XX-M3-A-9801_Bldg A_JasonRCruz.rvt

N

0m

This page is intentionally left blank

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.
DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.
C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

! Hazard Identification
ref

1

Building A_Axonometric View 1

2

hazard

date

Building A_Axonometric View 2

205
P3
P2
P1

Windows added following client's
comments
Entrance feature materials updated
following client's comments
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

JC

20.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

JC

09.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk
Project Management

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

LGIM

Project

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

Drawing Title

Building A_3D Views
A

Building A_Perspective View A

B

Building A_Perspective View B
Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

06.11.2020
@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BA-ZZ-DR-A-9000

P3

C:\Revit local files\19137-C4P-BA-XX-M3-A-9801_Bldg A_JasonRCruz.rvt

Drawing Status

This page is intentionally left blank

02

04

03

05

06

6m

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A1

07

4800

16800

4800

6100

5450

6200

Unit 03

Unit 04

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.
C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

Pre-formed composite cladding panel
corners, horizontally laid, high density
non-combustible core Eurobond
Europanel or similar, colour white
aluminium RAL 9006

Haunch

! Hazard Identification
ref

hazard

date

2800

Feature portico, flat composite
panels, Anthracite grey RAL 7016

6000

Canopy over main entrance

3200

Level 1

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.

All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.

Photovoltaic panels. Exact details,
location and number to M&E
design.

54350

PRELIMINARY

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.

5150

Roof composite panels, Eurobond
high density non-combustible stone
wool coore Roofspan or similar
approved. Colour Grey.

57150

Drawing Status

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.

32500
15700

8m

51150

Level 0

A

External insulated personnel metal
door, colour to match cladding
panels white aluminium 9006,
flashings in anthracite grey RAL
7016

Elevation A (South-East, Front)
1 : 100

C

B

Terracotta ventilated rainscreen
panels on support framing fixed on
to Eurobond rainspan composite
panel or similar approved. Colour
mid grey

External insulated loading door
Wall composite cladding panel,
horizontally laid, high density
non-combustible core Eurobond
Europanel or similar, colour white
aluminium RAL 9006

CL

A

A

CL

25000
4500

B

C

25000

8000

12500

12500

Unit 03

8000

Unit 04

4500

Unit 03

207

Polyester powder coated pressed
metal flasings to fascias and
gutters, colour anthracite grey RAL
7016

57150

54350

57150

Haunch

54350

Level 1

Wall composite cladding panel,
horizontally laid, high density
non-combustible core Eurobond
Europanel or similar, colour white
aluminium RAL 9006

Haunch

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed

Level 1

RWP, Anthracite grey, RAL 7016

51150

51150

Level 0

B

Level 0

Elevation B - (South-West, Side Path)

D

1 : 100

Elevation D - (North East, Side Path)
1 : 100

External insulated personnel metal
door, colour to match cladding
panels white aluminium 9006,
flashings in anthracite grey RAL
7016

P4
P3

07

06

04

05

03

02

01

P2

32500

P1

16800
5150

6200

Unit 04

15700
5450

6100

4800

Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores and facade updated following
meeting with client.
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

4800

AH

27.11.20

JC

JC

20.11.20

JC

JC

19.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk

Unit 03

Non-fragile Trapezoidal
polycarbonate rooflight panel
Roof composite panels, Eurobond
high density non-combustible stone
wool coore Roofspan or similar
approved. Colour Grey.

Project Management

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

LGIM

RWP, Anthracite grey, RAL 7016
57150

Wall composite cladding panel,
horizontally laid, high density
non-combustible core Eurobond
Europanel or similar, colour white
aluminium RAL 9006

Haunch

Vertical joint profile, colour to
match cladding, exact locations to
be confirmed
54350

Project

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

Level 1

Drawing Title

Building B_Elevations A, B, C & D

51150

Status Purpose of Issue
Level 0

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by

C

Elevation C (North West, Rear)
1 : 100

C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

09.11.2020
1 : 100

@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BB-ZZ-DR-A-2100

P4

C:\Revit Local Files\19137-C4P-BB-XX-M3-A-9802_Bldg B_andrew.harrisL2LBL.rvt

01

4m

2m

0m

This page is intentionally left blank

5m

VISUAL SCALE 1:125 @ A1

7.5m

10m

Drawing Status

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.
DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.
C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

! Hazard Identification
ref

GF GIA
405.98 m²
4,370 ft²

1.0

GF GIA
344.54 m²
3,709 ft²

GEA GF
437.78 m²
4,712 ft²

GIA - Level 0

2.0

209

1 : 125

hazard

date

GEA GF
373.08 m²
4,016 ft²

GEA - Level 0
1 : 125

P4
P3
P2
P1

Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores and facade updated following
meeting with client.
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

AH

27.11.20

JC

JC

20.11.20

JC

JC

19.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk
Project Management

FF GIA
53.52 m²
576 ft²

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client
GEA FF
67.61 m²
728 ft²

FF GIA
49.16 m²
529 ft²

LGIM

GEA FF
62.84 m²
676 ft²

Project

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

Drawing Title

1.1

GIA - Level 1

2.1

1 : 125

GEA - Level 1

Building B_GIA & GEA

1 : 125

Area Schedule (GIA)

Area Schedule (GEA)

Area
Name
UNIT 3
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
UNIT 4
GF GIA
FF GIA
2
TOTAL: 4

Area

Metric

Imperial

%

405.98 m²
53.52 m²
459.50 m²

4,370 ft²
576 ft²
4,946 ft²

88.4%
11.6%
100.0%

344.54 m²
49.16 m²
393.70 m²
853.20 m²

3,709 ft²
529 ft²
4,238 ft²
9,184 ft²

87.5%
12.5%
100.0%

Name
UNIT 3
GEA GF
GEA FF
2
UNIT 4
GEA GF
GEA FF
2
TOTAL: 4

Metric

Imperial

%

437.78 m²
67.61 m²
505.39 m²

4,712 ft²
728 ft²
5,440 ft²

86.62%
13.38%
100.00%

373.08 m²
62.84 m²
435.92 m²
941.31 m²

4,016 ft²
676 ft²
4,692 ft²
10,132 ft²

85.59%
14.41%
100.00%

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

12.11.2020
1 : 125

@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BB-ZZ-DR-A-9200

P4

C:\Revit Local Files\19137-C4P-BB-XX-M3-A-9802_Bldg B_andrew.harrisL2LBL.rvt

N

2.5m

0m

This page is intentionally left blank

PRELIMINARY
This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or redistributed either in whole or in part without the prior written permission of the
originator.
The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage
or expense arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for
its intended purpose on this project.
This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings,
specifications and associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or
omissions are to be reported to the originator before proceeding with work.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding
with any work. This drawing shall not be scaled to ascertain any dimensions,
work to figured dimensions only.
DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for
information only, to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/
drawings for which they are solely responsible.
SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.
C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any
information held in the drawing resulting from the translation from the original
file format to any other file format or from the recipients reading of it in any
other programme.

! Hazard Identification
ref

1

Building B_Axonometric View 1

2

hazard

date

Building B_Axonometric View 2

211
P3
P2
P1

Cores updated following client's
comments
Cores updated following client's
comments
First Issue of Drawing

Rev Revision Details

AH

27.11.20

JC

JC

20.11.20

JC

JC

16.11.20

JC

Drawn

Date

Checked

Quayside,
Wilderspool Business Park,
Stockton Heath,
WA4 6HL
t: 01925 751 852
e: info@c4projects.co.uk
www.c4projects.co.uk
Project Management

Architecture

Building Surveying

Cost Consultancy

Client

LGIM

Project

Industrial Development
Fishponds Close, Wokingham

A

Building B_Perspective View A

Drawing Title

Building B_3D Views

Status Purpose of Issue

S2

SUITABLE FOR INFORMATION

Drawn by
C4 Job no.

JC

19137

Created
Scale

12.11.2020
@ A1

Drg no.

Rev

19137-C4P-BB-ZZ-DR-A-9000

P3

C:\Revit Local Files\19137-C4P-BB-XX-M3-A-9802_Bldg B_andrew.harrisL2LBL.rvt

Drawing Status

This page is intentionally left blank

Care Home
3 storey high

3 No. Acer campestre 'Streetwise'

Trees
Number
5 No.
5 No.
7 No.
Total :17 No.

Species
Acer campestre 'Streetwise'
Betula pendula
Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'

Girth
16-18cm
14-16cm
14-16cm

Specification
Extra Heavy Standard
Extra Heavy Standard
Extra Heavy Standard

1 No. Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'

Dwelling
Indicates existing landscape
zones (shown hatched)

Acoustic Fence along nursing
home boundary and dense
landscaping scheme

zo
ne

Planting screen

Hedges
Number
Species
Height
Density
254 No.
Prunus l. 'Rotundifolia' Selected to 90cm 5/m
Total :254 No.

2 No. Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'

N

ew

sc
ap

e

3 No. Betula pendula

ex

la
nd

nd

ed

la

nd

sc

PK

Paving flags
zo

Wildflower - seed

ne

Clear gaps in existing
scrub to receive new
tree planting

Dense vegatation

Proposed hedge

U4-00-03
Warehouse

ab
ov
e

Proposed tree extra heavy
standard 16-18cm girth

of
fic
es

PK
T11-A2

Bins

New extended
landscape zones to
have a max gradient
of 1 in 3

1 No. Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'

Cycles
37

HBK

79 No. Prunus l. 'Rotundifolia'

38

U3

Indicates kerb to path
edge

Proposed tree extra heavy
standard 14-16cm girth

gate

2 No. Acer campestre 'Streetwise'

Indicates existing
landscape zones

Assumed drainage
easement

fe
nc
e

U4

Indicates new extended
landscape zones to have a max
gradient of 1 in 3

Existing vegetation
retained where possible

ap

e

N
ew

Acoustic fence / treatment
(extent indicated dashed)

Existing trees retained

Acoustic fence / treatment
(extent indicated dashed)

te

ex
te
nd
ed

Paving flags to rear
and side paths

Key
SF Soft Landscaping

00-017
Trade Unit 06
48.65 m²

39

U3-00-03
Warehouse

ab
ov
e

40
41

es

Indicates retaining wall
adjacent to path

of

fic

M-01

Dwelling
New retaining wall at this
point to be in line with
existing kerb line /
service yard edge

00-018
Trade Unit 07
48.62 m²

Concrete

T12-B3

36
35

T13-A2

Root Protection Area (RPA) outline

gate
34

T14-A2

transition kerbs
(TK)

U2

33

U2-00-03
Warehouse

32
31

New extended
landscape zones
to have a max
gradient of 1 in 3

ov

e

30

es

ab

29

of

fic

20

28

Cycles

FI

?
T15-A2

SH

19

T17-C2

PO

Bins

N

D

18

S

SE

16

T16-A2

C

LO

17
27

15

26
25
24
23

U1

T18-A2

22

18

U1-00-03
Warehouse

21

A

m

ov

e

T19-B2

FOR INFORMATION

?
Notional line for yard and
parking for buildings
0715, 0716 & 0717

of

fic

es

ab

0700
Concrete

M-02

21.05.21

Updated to latest architect's layout TM

MS

A

18.11.20

Updated to latest architect's layout TM

MS

Landscape Architecture

05
Existing Concrete Yard
04

Sure Store, Wokingham

te

Title

Landscape Proposals - Phase 2

&

ga

13
01

e

Arboriculture

Somerset House, Low Moor Lane, Scotton, Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HG5 9JB
www.smeedenforeman.co.uk tel: 01423 863 369

14

02

12

Cycles
11

1 No. Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'
10
09

Bins

175 No. Prunus l. 'Rotundifolia'

Ecology

Project

03

Existing retaining wall
2 No. Sorbus aucuparia 'Edulis'

Drawn Chkd

Comments

SMEEDEN FOREMAN

06

2 No. Betula pendula

B

Rev. Date

07

nc

Replacement retaining
wall at this point, to be in
the same location as the
existing

fe

213

Planting indicative. Existing trees and
vegetation to be retained as per tree
constraints plan 20826/A1/TOP/01.
For landscape scheme, refer to
Smeeden Foreman drawing LL02

08

Project No.

Drawing No.

Rev.

SF 3063

LL02

B

Scale

Date

1:200 @ A1

03.11.20

Drawn by

Checked by

TM

MS

The details shown on this drawing are confidential and the drawing is the exclusive property of
Smeeden Foreman Limited. Copyright reserved. No use, copy or disclosure of the drawing may be
made without our permission and it is to be returned to Smeeden Foreman Limited when required.
Smeeden Foreman Limited take no responsibility for the use of this drawing for any purpose other
than for that which it was intended.
All dimensions are in millimeters unless stated otherwise.
All dimensions should be verified on site prior to commencement of works.

Existing adjacent
industrial unit

T9-C2

Do not scale from this drawing.
All works must be in accordance with British Standards, EC Standards, Health & Safety at work act &
all other relevant regulations & Bye Laws.
Any discrepancies should be brought to the attention of Smeeden Foreman Limited.

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 210705
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Town Hall Market Place
: Wokingham
: RG40 1AS
SUBMITTED BY
: The Wokingham Town Council P&T Committee
DATE SUBMITTED
: 15/04/2021
COMMENTS:
The Committee support this application but have concerns whether local
residents have been consulted?

215

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 38.
Application Number
212209
Applicant
Site Address
Proposal
Type
Officer
Reason for
determination by
committee

Expiry Date
08/09/2021

Parish
Earley

Ward
Bulmershe and Whitegates

Mr Amin
5 Shepherds Avenue, Earley, RG6 1AY
Full application for the change of use of amenity land to residential
with formation of associated hardstanding. (Retrospective)
Full
Baldeep Pulahi
Listed by Councillor Boyt on ownership grounds and use of tarmac
being an issue as the other parking areas within the street are
porous

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 September 2021
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
This application seeks retrospective permission for the change of use of Council owned
amenity land to residential curtilage with the formation of hardstanding associated with
the existing driveway.
5 Shepherds Avenue is a two storey semi-detached property located in the middle of a
cul-de-sac. It is sited within a group of similar properties in terms of building form, scale
and frontage layout. The streetscene, being the street frontages, is characterised by a
mixture of paved driveways and greenery. The development is considered not to have a
harmful impact on the character and appearance of the wider area and conditional
approval is recommended.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major Development Location
 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability
 Crossrail Safeguarded Route
 Gas Pipes
 Major Transport Schemes
 SSSI Impact Risk Zones
 Safety Hazard Areas MAH Pipelines
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following conditions and informatives:
Conditions
1. Approved details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered Block Plan and Location Plan received by the local planning authority on
14/07/2021 .The development must be maintained at all times as approved.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
maintained in accordance with the application form and associated details.

217

Informatives
1. Discussion
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application Description
No.
170938
Householder application for the proposed two storey
rear and single storey front extension to dwelling.
172759
Householder application for the proposed erection of
a single storey rear extension to dwelling and first
floor rear extension to create habitable
accommodation, plus single storey front extension to
form porch.
203067
Application to vary condition 6 of planning consent
172759 for the Householder application for the
proposed erection of a single storey rear extension
to dwelling and first floor rear extension to create
habitable accommodation, plus single storey front
extension to form porch. Condition 6 refers to
Landscaping and the variation is to substitute
approved plans.
211736
Application to vary condition 2 of planning consent
172759 for the Householder application for the
proposed erection of a single storey rear extension
to dwelling and first floor rear extension to create
habitable accommodation, plus single storey front
extension to form
porch. Condition 2 refers to Approved details and
the variation is to include a tarmacked area to the
front of the existing driveway.

Decision & Date
Refused
12/06/2017
Approved
14/11/2017

Approved
16/12/2020

Withdrawn
15/06/2021

ENFORCEMENT HISTORY
Enforcement
Description
Investigation No.
RFS/2018/084364 First floor extension not built in accordance with
approved plans of permission – parapet wall
not constructed
RFS/2020/085878 Non-compliance with Landscaping Condition
RFS/2021/086137

Hardstanding created on privately owned street

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Property
No comments received
Services
WBC Enforcement
No comments received

218

Action
Case Closed
17/09/2018
Case Closed
01/12/2020
Case Closed
19/05/2021

WBC Highways
WBC Drainage

No objections
No objections

REPRESENTATIONS
Earley Town  Recommend Refusal due to the adverse impact on the character
Council
of the street scene by the introduction of a large hard paved area,
with no landscaping indicated, and also concerns about adequate
surface water drainage
 If WBC are minded to approve this application the following
conditions are requested:
- Confirmation that the surface water drainage for the drive as
constructed is sustainable, as defined by Policy CC10, if not a
suitable system is to be approved and installed.
- The submission and approval of a landscape scheme to
maintain a landscape frontage
Ward
Comments received from Councillor Boyt listed below:
Member(s)
 This land belongs to WBC. Is it WBC's intention to sell or lease
this land to the applicant
 The use of tarmac remains an issue.
 Other residents have created parking areas, but these are porous,
and they could be removed, and the grass reinstated if desired.
Neighbours

Comments received from The Whitegates Residents Association listed
below:
 Legal advice should be undertaken regarding the change of use
from amenity land to residential as this is WBC owned land
 Tarmac is an issue – assurance is required that rainwater runoff
would be dealt with within the curtilage of the property boundary in
line with Building Regulations.
 Should the WBC land be transferred to’ ownership’ of a resident,
then there should be consideration of a public pedestrian right of
way along the frontage of all the current properties where the
original pedestrian path was located, due to the absence of a
pedestrian path by the side of the road.
 The absence of soft landscaping and the removal of the last
remaining trees in Suttons Avenue emphasises the barren car
park which Shepherds Avenue has become.
 Application should be refused as works are not in keeping with the
character of the area
Comments received from the resident at no. 32 Easby Way listed
below:
 Sustainable drainage system to be clarified

APPLICANTS POINTS
The tarmac hardstanding has been installed to allow for easier access to and from the
property for a disabled member of the family as the previous verge had deteriorated.
The street does have examples of other properties with similar hardstanding.
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

219

Adopted Core Strategy
DPD 2010

Adopted Managing
Development Delivery
Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning
Documents (SPD)

CP1
CP2
CP3
CP6
CP9
CC01
CC02
CC07
CC09
CC10
TB21
BDG

Sustainable Development
Inclusive Communities
General Principles for Development
Managing Travel Demand
Scale and Location of Development Proposals
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development
Development Limits
Parking
Development and Flood Risk
Sustainable Drainage
Landscape Character
Borough Design Guide

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development
1. The proposal seeks retrospective planning permission for the change of use of
amenity land to residential including the formation of associated hardstanding
(tarmac). This area of tarmac hardstanding has been installed on the previous area
of grass verge.
2. The red line around the application site (area of tarmac hardstanding) is
Wokingham Borough Council land and not in the ownership of the applicant. Land
ownership is not a planning consideration, and the applicant has served notice on
the Council and therefore has followed the correct planning application procedure.
Principle of Development
3. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour
of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan.
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
4. The site is located within a Major Development Location of Wokingham and as such
the development would be acceptable subject to the assessment of the impact of
the development on the character of the area, existing street scene, and the
amenity of the neighbouring occupiers and upon highway safety.
5. Policy CP2 states new development should contribute to the provision of
sustainable development and inclusive communities to meet long term needs and
planning permission will be granted for proposals that address the requirements of :
a) An ageing population , particularly in terms of housing, health, and well-being
and;
c) People with special needs including those with a physical, sensory or learning
disability or problems accessing services
6. In this case, the applicant has installed the tarmac hardstanding outside of the
existing driveway to allow for easier access to and from the property for a disabled
member of the family. This is a material consideration and therefore it is considered

220

the development complies with the requirements of Policy CP2 on grounds of
providing access for aged care persons.
Character of the Area
7. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and
must be of high quality design. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect
green infrastructure networks, retain existing trees and establish appropriate
landscaping and Policy TB21 requires consideration of the landscape character.
8. 5 Shepherds Avenue is a two storey semi-detached property located within the
middle of a cul-de-sac. It is sited within a group of similar properties in terms of
building form, scale and frontage layout. The streetscene, being the street
frontages, is characterised by a mixture of paved driveways and greenery (aerial
image below).

9. Objections have been raised that the development has an adverse impact upon the
character of the streetscene due to the large area of tarmac paving and lack of
landscaping. There are examples of other properties within the street which have
paved their driveways including nos. 4, 7, 9 and 11 Shepherds Avenue , including
no.5 Shepherds Avenue this does mean approximately 45% of the properties on the
street have paved driveways.
10. It is noted that no planning permission exists for any of the above examples, but a
review indicates that they would be immune from enforcement. However, this does
illustrate that the pattern of greenery within the street layout has eroded but not in
an adverse manner. The tarmac hardstanding at no. 5 Shepherds Avenue is not
considered to add any further detrimental impact upon the character of the
streetscene taking into consideration the other examples within the road.

221

Neighbour Amenity
11. Due to the nature of the development, there is no perceived impact upon the
neighbouring amenities on the grounds of loss of lights, overlooking, noise
disturbance or overbearing.
Highways Access and Parking Provision
12. As Shepherds Avenue is a private street (albeit that the verges are owned by WBC)
there is no impact on the public highway or any highway safety implications
therefore no objections are raised by the Council’s Highways Officer. Additional
parking is provided as part of the development, and this is acceptable.
Flood Risk and Drainage
13. Section 10 of the NPPF, Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy and Policies CC09 and
CC10 of the MDD requires flooding protection, sustainable drainage methods and
the minimisation of surface water flow.
14. Objections have been raised on sustainable drainage grounds. In the submitted
supporting statement the applicant has stated a drain has been installed to ensure
water runs off the tarmac and driveway and straight into the drainage system.
15. The development is located within Flood Zone 1 however there will be an increase
in impermeable area. The Council’s Drainage Officer has reviewed the application
documents and has stated that as the drain is connected to the existing drainage
system there is unlikely to be an issue and water runoff will drain satisfactorily.
Therefore, no objections are raised by the Council’s Drainage on this aspect.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
16. In determining this application, the Council is required to have due regard to its
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. As identified in
the report, the applicant states that the works have been carried out to assist an
elderly relative. On balance the proposal results in an increase of hardstanding
outside the existing driveway of the dwellinghouse however the development does
serve the needs upon the protected group as listed above.

CONCLUSION
17. The development has created additional hardstanding outside of the existing
driveway which is considered appropriate in the context of the surrounding
streetscene and includes acceptable provision access. The development does not
have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the wider area and the
nearby residential properties.

222

40.00 m

223

This page is intentionally left blank

225

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 212209
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Radstock House
: Radstock Lane, Earley, Wokingham
: RG6 5UL
SUBMITTED BY
: Earley Town Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 04/08/2021
COMMENTS:
Recommend Refusal due to the adverse impact on the character of the street
scene by the introduction of a large hard paved area, with no landscaping
indicated, and also concerns about adequate surface water drainage. Contrary
Policy CP3, inappropriate a ctivity, layout,
materials and character, and Design Policies R12, failing to
contribute positively to the character and quality of the public
realm, and R14, failure to incorporate well designed soft and hard landscape;
and Policy CC10, sustainable drain age.
If WBC are minded to approve this application the following conditions are
requested:
1: Confirmation that the surface water drainage for the drive as
constructed is sustainable, as defined by Policy CC10, if not a suitable
system is to be appr oved and installed.
2: The submission and approval of a landscape scheme to maintain a landscape
frontage, as supported by Policy CP3 and Design Policies R12 and R14.

227

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING REF
: 212209
PROPERTY ADDRESS : shirley.boyt@wokingham.gov.uk
:
:
SUBMITTED BY
: Councillor Shirley Boyt
DATE SUBMITTED
: 04/08/2021
COMMENTS:
This land belongs to WBC. Is it WBC's intention to sell or lease this land to
the applicant?
If it is, then which Executive Member has delegated powers to sell or lease
this land? Who has valued it?
Are other residents going to be offered the opportunity to buylease the
pockets of land outside their properties?
Would the salelease of this land set a precedent?
Whatever the outcome of such deliberations the use of tarmac remains an issue.
Other residents have created
parking areas but these are porous and they could be reomved and the grass
reinstated if desired. If the officer is mindful to approve this application I
would like it to be listed for the committee.

229

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 39.
Application
Number
212164

Expiry Date

Parish

Ward

10/09/21

Winnersh

Winnersh;

Applicant
Site Address
Proposal

Ed Knott c/o RMBI Care Company
Lord Harris Court, Mole Road, Sindlesham, RG41 5EA
Full application for the proposed installation of a Non Return Valve
and 24 hour storage cesspit to store effluent. (Retrospective)
Full
Natalie Jarman
for Listed by Councillor Bray and Councillor Fishwick
by

Type
Officer
Reason
determination
committee

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on Wednesday, 8 September 2021
Assistant Director – Place

SUMMARY
Planning permission (LPA ref: 190233) was granted in October 2019 for erection of a new
45-bedroom care home and 60 assisted living apartments (C2 use Class), together with
associated car parking, landscaping and amenity space provision. Construction on the
new care home (phase 1 of the development) has begun but has not yet been occupied.
This application seeks retrospective planning permission Non-Return Valve and 24-hour
storage cesspit to store effluent.
The application is being determined at Planning Committee at the request of the Ward
Councillors who have concerns relating to odour, highway and pedestrian safety and
whether the proposal is an acceptable solution.
The proposal is acceptable in highway safety terms and there is no objection from
Environmental Health and Drainage.
The proposal is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in this report.

PLANNING STATUS
 Limited development location (Sindlesham)
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Minerals consultation zone
 Great Crested Newt Consultation Zone
 Tree Preservation Order
 Adjacent to Grade II Listed Building
 Adjacent to Bearwood Recreation Conservation Area
 Consultation Zone – Major Nuclear Site – AWE 12km
 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability

231

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the
following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
Conditions:

1.

This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered:
Proposed Foul Flows
Engineering Overall Layout Drainage Strategy (0650A-SP-SL-PL-C-G7-070_A)
Letter from Thames Water dated 17 February 2020 regarding Notice of Consent
to indirectly connect to a public sewrer.
Pre-planning enquiry application form to Thames Water
Site Location Plan (unnumbered)
Septic Tank Plans and Sections (0650A-AP-SL-DE-C-G77-017)
Septic Tank (0650A-AP-SL-DE-C-G77-015)
Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals (0650A-SP-SL-PL-L-G7-010)
Site Masterplan (0650A-C+A-SP-SL-PL-A-G20-002 P4)
Letter from Castleoak dated 22nd June 2021
as received by the local planning authority on 23rd June 2021.
Arboricultural Survey and Planning Integration Report prepared by Quaife
Woodlands (ref: AR/3717n/jq) dated 22/08/18 Castleoak Reference: 0650-00-SLRE-Y-G0-1043
Statement of Community Involvement prepared by Castleoak
Planning Statement prepared by Castleoak
as received by the local planning authority on 7th July 2021.
Septic Tank (showing position of tanker) (0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-015)
as received by the local planning authority on 17th August 2021.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission
and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.

232

3.

Planting shall be carried out in accordance wit the approved details (Detailed Soft
Landscape Proposals 0650A-SP-SL-PL-L-G7-010) in the first planning and seeding
seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC03 and TB21.

Informatives:
1.

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received. This
planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive discussions with
the applicant in terms of:
- addressing concerns raised in consultation responses.
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a
positive outcome of these discussions.

2.

Should any Great Crested Newts or evidence of Great Crested Newts be found prior
to or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an ecological
consultant or the Council’s ecologist contacted for further advice before works can
proceed. All contractors working on site should be made aware of the advice and
provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Application Number Proposal
Decision
211442
Application for a certificate of existing lawful Withdrawn
development for the installation of a NonReturn Valve (NRV) on a private sewer and
the installation of a 16.5m3 24-hour storage
cesspit.
210533

Application for submission of details to Spilt decision
comply with the following conditions of 09/06/21
planning consent 190233 dated 25/10/2019
in respect of Phase 1 of the development
only: Conditions: 7. Agreement from Thames
water re network upgrades; 8. Vehicle
Parking Spaces; 10. Cycle Storage; 11.
Travel Plan; 15. Boundary Treatments; 16.
Landscaping Details.

233

203300

Application for non-material amendment to Approved
planning consent 190233 (25/10/19) to 24/02/21
substitute the approved plans. Changes
relate to Phase 1 (erection of a 45-bedroom
care home) and include: 1. Alteration to Bin
store layout, reduction in the number of
external doors and additional louvres, 2.
Change from brick to single ply to two small
sections of roof where there is no support
below for brickwork; and provision of flat roof
sections and safety roof handrails; and 3.
Conversion of a full-height window to a
glazed door and sidelight at ground level and
change of two fixed first floor windows to
louvred windows.

201663

Application for submission of details to Approved
comply with the following condition of 17/08/20
planning consent 190233 dated 25/10/2019.
Condition 6 details of existing and proposed
ground floor levels and finished roof levels.

201179

Application for non-material amendment to Approved
planning consent 190233 (25/10/2019) to 03/06/20
allow further minor alterations to the
approved scheme: Revision to proposed
landscape plan, site plan to show external
lighting, omission of 1no. proposed tree to
allow for substation, updated elevations to
include 6no. grey vents/louvres for corridor
ventilation, update feature reference BB-1
from Holbrook Sandfaced Dark to Blockleys
Black Smooth and change materials to
include below DPC bricks as per elevation
and change from Holbrook Sandfaced Dark
to Blockleys Black Smooth.

192857

Application for submission of details to
comply with the following conditions of
planning
consent
190233
(Dated
25/10/2019) 3. Parking 4. Phasing 5.
Materials 6. Levels 9. Vehicle turning 12.
Construction
Method
Statement
13.
Communications Plan 16. Landscaping 18.
Tree
Protection
19.
Drainage
22.
Contamination 24. Energy.
Full planning application for demolition of
Lord Harris Court Centre care home (88
bedroom) and erection of a new 45-bedroom
care home and 60 assisted living apartments
(C2 use Class), together with associated car
parking, landscaping and amenity space
provision.

190233

234

Approved
17/01/20

Approved
25/10/19

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Previous land use(s) and floorspace(s)
Proposed floorspace of each use
Change in floorspace (+/-)
Number of jobs created/lost
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

100 square metres
Care Centre
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Drainage

Recommend approval with no conditions.

WBC Environmental Health

Recommend approval with no conditions.

WBC Highways

Recommend approval with no conditions.

WBC Heritage & Conservation

Recommend approval with no conditions.

WBC Trees & Landscape

No comments received.

WBC Ecology

No comments received.

WBC Green Infrastructure

No comments received.

Environment Agency

No comments received.

Thames Water

No comment.

REPRESENTATIONS
Town/Parish Council: Winnersh Parish Council (WPC): Object






Insufficient evidence to confirm the blockage is Thames Water’s responsibility.
No blockage prior to the building works.
The vehicle that empties the cesspit parks in an unsafe manner in order to empty
the cesspit and during that time they are causing a hazard to motorists and
pedestrians.
Whilst being emptied the smell is unacceptable to residents living in properties in
the vicinity.
Previous application was also withdrawn (Officer Note: WPC are referring to the
Certificate application).

235

Local Members:
Councillor Fishwick: Object






The application should have formed part of the masterplan and not be made
retrospectively.
Odour.
Environmental and health issues.
A cesspit is not an acceptable alternative.
Highway and pedestrian safety.

Councillor Bray: Object








Concern over the principle of the proposal being a “backup system”.
Existing blockages in the wastewater network.
Implications of condition 7 attached to the redevelopment of the site, which relates to
wastewater upgrades and why proposal is required if there is less effluent.
Odour.
Retrospective.
Highway and pedestrian safety.
Appropriateness of proposed solution.

Neighbours: Nine comments received

















Why was this not planned to connect to the main sewer.
Connecting to the main sewer would remove any impact on smell transfer when the
tank will be emptied?
The original planning request should have specified the requirement to connect to the
main sewer and been planned into the proposals.
Application retrospective
Odour
Appropriateness of a cesspit in a built-up area
Reference to septic tank when a cesspit
Use of NRV on gravity system
Sewer blockages are foreseeable
Not clear in the applicant’s submission documents which codes and standards have
been used in its design.
Noted for phase 1 only, concern once installed will be used for subsequent phases
of development. Avoid any upgrades to the sewer when the volumes of effluent will
increase and likely exceed the capacity of the existing sewer requiring its upgrade.
Emptying is frequent
Impact on Human Rights
Impact of building (Officer Note: This application relates to the installation of a Cesspit
only)
Cesspit should be a last resort for dealing with foul waste
Cesspit least environmentally friendly option and should only be considered if there
is no access to a Mains Sewer

236






















Responsible for the continual emission of Greenhouse Gasses (GHG), principally
methane, the most damaging of GHG emissions
Less than 5 meters away from the Thames Valley Mains Sewer system
The size of the cesspit (18,000 litres) is the same as that recommended for a single
bedroom residential property with two people. Size needs to be increased to meet
Building Regulations. (Officer Note: Building Regulations are dealt with separately)
Developers’ calculations based on care home only. (Officer Note: The cesspit relates
only to the proposed care home)
Even as an emergency backup (24 hours), solution makes no sense
Even with no occupants in the new Care Home the cesspit has needed twice in three
days
The calculated discharge for both phases (when completed) provided by the
developer is given as 2.34 ls of effluent, more than doubling the numbers above
Tank not sufficiently distanced according to Building Regulations. (Officer Note: This
application is for planning permission)
Groundworks encroached onto the public footpath
Needs to be appropriate provision for access (for size of vehicle) to empty the tank
Location has caused highway safety issues close to road junction
Original planning application noted that Thames Water had identified a current
inability of the foul water infrastructure network to accommodate the needs of the of
the development.
Original application included a preoccupation condition 7.
Not environmentally friendly
Only less effluent leaving the site once the existing care home is largely vacated
Health and Safety issues
The new care home is not yet occupied but is already causing sewage pollution when
the tank is emptied
Being used as an economical solution but not the most appropriate solution
Impact on users of adjacent play area, residents and future occupants of the care
home.
Impact on pedestrian safety

APPLICANTS POINTS
 This application is for a non-return valve (NRV) connected to a private sewer and
a buried 24-hour storage tank of a volume of 18m3. The tank and NRV
will be buried and the excavation 5 metres down. This is connecting to the foul
drainage installed as per the approved care home.
 The cess pit is to provide 24-hour storage if there is a blockage in the main sewer.
 The proposed development would serve phase 1, the care home.
 Installation is not the main wastewater / foul solution.
 Main foul connection remains with connection to the mains sewer.
 The NRV and storage tank are a backup solution to protect the newly built care
home if there is ever a blockage in the mains sewer outside the site boundary.
 During construction of the new care home, it became apparent there were
blockages in the mains sewer that causes back up into the site.
 The new care home is being constructed closer to the main sewer there were
concerns that in the period before Thames Water have undertaken repairs to the
mains sewer the new care home could be flooded with effluent.
 Proposal is for a NRV at the site boundary and a 24-hour storage tank (for the
effluent from the new care home) to allow Thames Water time to unblock the

237













system in the mains sewer and allow the care home time to arrange emptying of
the tank.
Tank to be emptied with a registered waste handler rather than pumped back into
the system.
Following completion of the new care home the amount of effluent leaving the site
will be less than the amount currently leaving the site whilst the old care home is
in operation. The new care home is smaller.
Part of permission required confirmation if any wastewater upgrades required to
accommodate flow from the site.
Once care home development complete there will be less effluent leaving the site.
Demonstrated as part of the discharge of condition 7.
Applicant was not responsible for any upgrades
Condition 7 discharged on 8th June 2021.
Pre-Planning Enquiry Form also undertaken with Thames Water.
Tank located close to the site boundary adjacent to the site access road, to allow
emptying.
Some trees along the road frontage were removed and thinned as per the
arboricultural report and these are to be replaced with more native species as per
the approved landscaping proposals. Landscaping scheme showed new trees
planted among the existing trees. Two trees would be repositioned away from the
storage tank to encourage better growth.
Landscape Plan submitted.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive Communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP7

Biodiversity

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC06

Noise

CC07

Parking

CC09

Development and Flood Risk (from all
sources)

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB21

Landscape Character

TB23

Biodiversity and Development

TB24

Designated Heritage Assets

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

238

Supplementary Planning
Documents (SPD)

BDG

Borough Design Guide

PLANNING ISSUES
Site Description:
1.

Lord Harris Court includes a care home. Construction work is currently underway for
a new care home.
Description of Development:

2.

Retrospective planning permission is sought for the installation of a Non-Return Valve
and cesspit comprising of septic tank 3.6 metres by 5.3 metres. The tank is situated
underground. The tank is located on the corner of the entrance to Lord Harris Court
and Mole Road. The submitted information includes an updated landscaping proposals
re-siting two trees.

Planning History:
3.

Planning permission (LPA ref: 190233) was granted in October 2019 for demolition of
Lord Harris Court Centre care home (88 bedroom) and erection of a new 45-bedroom
care home and 60 assisted living apartments (C2 use Class), together with associated
car parking, landscaping and amenity space provision. The permission was subject to
a section 106 agreement relating to Employment Skills Plan and assisted living
accommodation falling within the Council’s extra care housing model.

4.

Permission was granted subject to conditions, including condition 7 which states:
No phase of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until either;
i)

confirmation from Thames Water that all wastewater network upgrades
required to accommodate the additional flows from the respective phase of the
development have been completed has been submitted to and approved by
the local planning authority; or

ii)

an accommodation and infrastructure phasing plan agreed between the
developer and Thames Water in order to allow additional properties to be
occupied has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority.
Where an accommodation and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no
occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed plan.

5.

The reason for imposing the condition is that the development may lead to sewage
flooding and network reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure
that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate additional flows anticipated
from the new development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan CC04 and CC10.

6.

It was noted in consideration of the original planning application that foul drainage was
proposed to be pumped into the existing foul network and this needed to be agreed
with the utilities provider.

239

7.

Thames Water identified a current inability of the existing foul water network
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the development so requested a preoccupation condition to ensure that either: all wastewater network upgrades required
to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed; or,
an infrastructure phasing plan is agreed with Thames Water to allow the additional
accommodation to be occupied. Accordingly, the above condition was attached.

8.

In a submission of detail application (LPA ref: 210533) acceptable details were
submitted in respect of phase 1 for condition 7. No objection was raised by Thames
Water. The details showed foul drainage connecting to the existing foul network. The
foul water discharge rate of the new care home is less than the existing care home.
The details for phase 2 are outstanding, however, are anticipated to have no greater
impact.

9.

The care home will be connected to the public sewer. The septic tank is a protective
measure to deal with blockages in the system.
Principle of Development:

10. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of
sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham
Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
11. The principle of development has been established for the care home and assisted
living. This current proposal relates solely to the installation of a cess pit and non-return
valve.
Character of the Area:
12. The proposed cesspit would be sited underground and would therefore not adversely
impact on the character and appearance of the area.
Access and Movement:
13. The installation of a Non Return Valve and 24 hour storage cesspit to store effluent
would not have an impact on the highway network. During the course of the application
drawing 0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-015 has been submitted showing the location of the
parked tanker when the cesspit needs emptying. The proposed location for the tanker
once works are complete is set back from the junction. Whilst it is noted that the
location of the tanker would be on the access road, due to the infrequency of visits, the
location is accessible as it is some distance from the access onto Mole Road, there is
space for a vehicle to pass safely with clear sight of any approaching vehicle from the
opposite direction. Accordingly, the arrangement is considered to be acceptable.

240

Flooding and Drainage:
14. The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer who
recommends approval.
15. Thames Water have been consulted on the application and confirmed that they had no
comment to make on the application. It is noted that phase 2 of the development still
needs to be agreed in respect of the condition 7 attached to the planning permission
for the redevelopment of Lord Harris Court.
16. The proposed tank does not change the drainage proposals, the care home will be
served by the mains sewer. A capacity concern has not been raised by Thames Water
or the Council’s Drainage Engineer.
Residential Amenities:
17. The application has been considered by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer
(EHO) who notes that the proposals are to provide a backup for the disposal of foul
waste in the event that the public sewer becomes blocked. The EHO acknowledged
this as a sensible approach which would allow the Care Home to continue functioning
whilst minimising the health risks associated with blocked and over-flowing drains.
18. Whilst frequent emptying of the cesspit has potential for nuisance, however, in this
case foul drainage is via the existing foul sewer and the proposed development to act
as a back-up. Blockages appear to be an existing issue; this cannot be resolved by
legislation enforced by Environmental Health. The redevelopment of the Lord Harris
Court site is a phased development with the existing 88-bedroom Care Home still
operating whilst the new 45-bedroom Care Home is being constructed. The discharge
rate for the care home being constructed, which is replacing the care home still
occupied, is less. The EHO suggested a temporary permission to encourage a longerterm solution, this is not considered reasonable condition as the sewer belongs to
Thames Water and condition 7 of the redevelopment permission still needs to be
agreed in respect of phase 2.
Landscape and Trees:
19. The submission includes updated landscaping proposals with two of the trees shown
in the original landscaping scheme relocated in the same area. This is considered to
be an acceptable approach.
Ecology:
20. The application site lies within a Great Crested Newt Consultation Zone, given the
minor nature of the application a Great Crested Newt informative has been added.

241

Conservation:
21. The works have no discernible visual impact to the character and appearance of the
Sindlesham Conservation Area. As such from a heritage stance there is no objection.
CONCLUSION
22. The proposal is recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined in this
report.
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010)
In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected
groups as a result of the development.
Human Rights Act 1998
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2 October 2000. Article 8 relates to
respect for private and family life. Article 1 of Protocol 1 relates to peaceful enjoyment of
property. These rights have to be balanced against the public interest.
In the vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a
balancing exercise between private rights and public interest and therefore the Local
Planning Authority’s decision making will continue to take into account this balance.
No exceptional circumstances have been raised which require a more careful and
sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues.
The above human rights could be outweighed when considering the general interest and
the rights and freedoms of others. All planning decisions are based on an assessment of
the development against the current development plan policies.

242

PLANNING REF
: 212164
PROPERTY ADDRESS : New Road
: Sindlesham
: RG41 5DU
SUBMITTED BY
: Cllr Winnersh Parish Council
DATE SUBMITTED
: 13/08/2021
COMMENTS:
Winnersh Parish Council Object to this application, there is
insufficient evidence to confirm the blockage is Thames Water?s
responsibility
and there was no blockage prior to the building works. The vehicle that
empties
the cesspit has to park in an un saf e manner in order to empty the cesspit
and
during that time they are causing a hazard to motorists and
pedestrians.
Whilst being emptied the smell is unacceptable to residents living in
properties in the vicinity. The previous application was also
withdrawn.

243

This page is intentionally left blank

AS

M

EX

NOTES

0
45

225Ø
1:

1.

10

225

If subgrade material is frost susceptible the full
carriageway construction thickness is to be no less than
450mm.
If CBR values are less than 2% then the advice of the
Engineer must be sought.
The developer shall take CBR test of road formation
levels and results to be made available to the engineer
for approval.
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other
engineers drawings and all other project information. Any
discrepancies to be reported to the engineer
immediately.
Before work commences the contractor should liaise with
all statutory undertakers to determine the exact locations
of all apparatus and take all precautions deemed
necessary to locate, protect and where necessary divert
such equipment.
Contractor/client to obtain relevant permits/licences with
Environmental Agency

ACF13

(S3.
0

00)

MJ

3
57

IN
G
Foul Water Sewer/Lateral Drain (adoptable)
15
0Ø
PI
Foul Water Manhole (adoptable)
PE

0
44

IS
T

18

ED

0
44

218

3

SU

57

LEGEND

CL 53.125
IL 51.39

2.

44
205

0

0
45

Foul Water Manhole (private)

3.

181

0
MJ

0
44

Surface Water Sewer (adoptable)

3
57

150
Ø

Surface Water Manhole (adoptable)

4.

S01

1:80

CL 53.05
IL 52.215

Surface Water Drain (non-adoptable)

5.

F MH EX

Septic Tank

0

:15
Ø1
150

208

MJ

CL 53.20
IL 51.36

ACF9

6.
3
57
0
44

18

10

0
45

F 02a

0
44

ACF12

3
57

CL 53.125
IL 51.12

0

44

200

0
81

1

0Ø
15

45

MJ

0

1:5

0
44

9

73

5
0
44

ACF11

(SR

0
181

)
.45
E52

0

45

0
44
3
57
0

(SR

44

)
.45
E52

UNDERGROUND SEPTIC TANK
24HR STORAGE 16.5m3 REQUIRED FOR
PHASE 1 ONLY
KINGSPAN KLARGESTER 18m3 TANK
FROM Ø2.6 RANGE OR SIMILAR.
FOR DETAILS SEE DRG NO.
0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-016

10

18

0

45

205

0
44

ACF10

03

02
01
F 09

150Ø 1:1

50

04

F MH EX

CL 53.05
IL 50.90

CL 53.370
IL N/A

E

05

06

G
TIN

0Ø
15

PIP

IS

X
DE

ME

SU

AS

245

NON RETURN VALVE
TO OUTGOING PIPE.
TO BE FLEXSEAL OR
SIMILAR

F MH EX

CL 53.04
IL 50.71 (TBC)

Setting Out
Position X
477490.400
477491.688
477493.428
477494.717
477493.428
477491.688

Count
1
2
3
4
5
6

Position Y
169817.102
169818.402
169818.402
169817.102
169815.802
169815.802

CONSTRUCTION
Notes:Topsoil/landscaping

a.

Granular bedding material to be single size or graded
material as table below and to conform with BS EN 1610
Annex B Table B15.

S11

CL 52.40
IL 51.17

Rev

300Ø
1:240
(S1

SEPTIC TANK - LONGSECTION
SCALE:
H 1:100,V 1:100. DATUM: 50.000
55

CL 52.50
IL 51.295

c. If trench width, over construction depth, exceeds indicated
dimensions the Contractor may be required to provide higher
strength pipes, or higher bedding factor, at own cost.
Suitable material from
site excavation

Dimensions to be verified on site.
This drawing should not be scaled. Use figured dimensions only
Any discrepancies should be referred to the Engineer prior to work being put in hand.
This drawing is copyright.

CL 52.50
IL 51.44

d. Pipe is to be laid central to excavation faces.

53
(S1.009)
225Ø 1:225

Level

QuadConsult Limited
Columbus House, Village Way
Greenmeadow Business Park
Cardiff
CF15 7NE

S08

52

Pipe Dia.
(mm)

Granular Bedding Material
Single Size(mm)
Graded(mm)

By

S09

(S1.010)
225Ø 1:225

54

Description

Date

.011)

b.
Selected backfill material - to be free from stones larger than
40mm, lumps of clay over 100mm, frozen material, vegetable matter.

Consulting Civil & Structural Engineers

029 2077 9644
contactus@quadconsult.co.uk
www.quadconsult.co.uk

KERBING IN THIS AREA TO BE
COMPLETED FOLLOWING
COMPLETION OF PHASE 2 DUE
TO OVERRUN OF TURNING
CIRCLE REROUTING

S07

51

CL 52.50
IL 51.585

8)

.00

25

(S1

Ø 1:2
225

YG

S06

CARE HOME TO BE REROUTED

F BREAK MH
CL 53.05
IL 52.00

H
0

S05a

CL 52.95
IL 51.665

1:15
150Ø

(S5.000)
225Ø 1:225

25
06)

(S1.0

CL 52.85
IL 51.76

Ø 1:2
225

S05

50

Client

CL 53.05
IL 52.00

150Ø 1:150

5 - 10

F 04a

)

10

YG

(S1.007
225Ø 1:225

100

CL 52.60
IL 51.645

S15b

CL 52.95
IL 51.68

S15a

CL 53.00
IL 51.705

1:40

CL 53.00
IL 51.96

CL 53.00
IL 51.875

S15

CL 53.00
IL 51.73

225Ø 1:225

5 - 20

S04

CL 53.00
IL 51.785

(S1.003)

150Ø
1:10

0

225Ø
1:225
(S1.0

F 03

02)

044

CL 53.00
IL 51.915

054

F06

CL 53.05
IL 51.52

044

0181

20

F 04

F05

)

1:125

1:40

>150 - 600

49

150Ø 1:100

(S4.000
225Ø 1:225

(S1.004
225Ø 1:225

)

TANK 2
11x8x0.4m
CELLULAR
STORAGE5
1:45 IL = 51.70

005)

5 - 14

5 (S1.

14

225Ø
1:22

150

375

ACF1
054

044

ACF20

018
1

FG

225
Ø 1:2

S14 H

25 (S2

CL 53.05
IL 51.90

205

.000)
150
Ø 1:1

5 - 40

044

054

018
1

FG

S14a

200

53.125

MJ

225Ø 1:113

CL 53.05
IL 52.115

CL 52.96
IL 51.83

CL 53.05
IL 52.29

573
440
1810

S13

450
440
440
1810

450

440

573

440

1810

MJ

450

CL 53.00
IL 51.185

MJ

5 (S3.
001)
150
Ø 1:8
0

206

MJ

440

450
205

1810
201

53.125
450

ACF14

CL 53.05
IL 52.165

MJ

ACF8

440
573

218

M

S12

1810

440
450
205

1810
MJ

440

15
0Ø

573

G

S01

150
Ø 1:8

PIP

CL 53.05
IL 52.215

0

E

ext dia

ACF13
MJ

.000)

450

25 (S3

573

TIN

440

225Ø
1:2

EX

1810

ED

440

SU

440

CL 53.05
IL 52.155

AS

573

S02
206

440

S03

LORD HARRIS COURT

F 08

MJ

ACF7

225Ø
1:22

F MH EX
CL 53.20
IL 51.36

208

MJ

Ø 1:1
150

50

ACF9
5

37

LE
MO

440

1810

F 02a

450

440

CL 53.125
IL 51.12

ACF12

573
440

200

1810

)
52.45 UNDERGROUND SEPTIC TANK
(SRE

450

MJ

440
573

ACF11

440

1810

450
440
573

440

)
52.45
(SRE

1810

05
4
205

ACF10

440

03

02
01

AD
RO

Title

FOR DETAILS SEE DRG NO.
0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-016

24HR STORAGE 16.5m3 REQUIRED FOR
PHASE 1 ONLY
KINGSPAN KLARGESTER 18m3 TANK
FROM Ø2.6 RANGE OR SIMILAR.

E

150Ø 1:150

F09

04

F MH EX

CL 53.05
IL 50.90

CL 53.370
IL N/A

06

ING

0Ø
15

PIP

SEPTIC TANK

IST

05
M
SU

ED

EX

AS

100

NON RETURN VALVE
TO OUTGOING PIPE.
TO BE FLEXSEAL OR
SIMILAR

F MH EX
E

0Ø

G

PIP

CL 53.04
IL 50.71 (TBC)

15

TIN
XIS

DE

53.425

ME
SU
AS

Drawing Status

150

ext dia

CONSTRUCTION

150

TYPICAL TYPE B TRENCH' BEDDING DETAIL
BENEATH NON TRAFFICKED AREAS
Scale 1:10

Designed by

Drawn by

Checked by

SJ

SJ

SW

Date

SEPT 2020

Scales @ A1 size

1:125

Document No

Site Location Plan - NTS

0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-015

QCL project name
0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-015&016
17209
- SEPTIC TANK.dwg

Bedding material - as
note a)

Project

ACF16

440

CL 53.125
IL 51.52

MJ

)

F01

IS

10.133

52.45
(SRE

150

)

52.45
(SRE

201

CL 53.05
IL N/A

1:59

F09
CL53.05
IL50.90

206

MJ

F MH EX

0Ø

53.543

CL 53.05
IL 52.105
MJ

15

Existing Levels

CL 53.05
IL 51.285

CL 53.05
IL 52.23

206

CL 53.125
IL 51.39

SEPTIC TANK
IL = 50.86
BASE LEVEL = 48.26

F 07

S13a

ACF15

573

CL 53.07
IL 51.65

F02

0.150

S14b

ACF5

F MH EX

50
00)
Ø 1:1
(S1.0
150
25
Ø 1:2
225

CL 53.15
IL 51.70

CL 53.05
IL 52.09

Chainage

MJ

MJ

F MH EX

46

Foul Water Details

MJ

G

.001)

14
4m TANK
CE
²
LLUL x 0.
8m 1
IL = AR ST DE
51
O PT
.900 RAG H
E
m

ACF17

ACF18

ACF4a

(S3.002)

47

F MH EX

50

25 (S1

G

ACF4

Selected material from
site excavation - see
note b)

225
Ø 1:2

ACF19

044

40

ACF3

150Ø
1:80

48

GT

375

>600

375

044

ACF2

This page is intentionally left blank

NOTES

MJ

1.

A

EXISTING GROUND
LEVEL

5085
FFL
53.125

0
75

FOUNDATION TO
EXTERNAL WALL

G.L
52.975

If subgrade material is frost susceptible the full
carriageway construction thickness is to be no less than
450mm.
If CBR values are less than 2% then the advice of the
Engineer must be sought.
The developer shall take CBR test of road formation
levels and results to be made available to the engineer
for approval.
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other
engineers drawings and all other project information. Any
discrepancies to be reported to the engineer
immediately.
Before work commences the contractor should liaise with
all statutory undertakers to determine the exact locations
of all apparatus and take all precautions deemed
necessary to locate, protect and where necessary divert
such equipment.
Contractor/client to obtain relevant permits/licences with
Environmental Agency

2.
3.

53.00
GEN 1 CONCRETE BACKFILL.
CONCRETE POUR SEQUENCE TO BE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURES
INSTALLATION GUIDELINES

T.O.F
52.075

4.

5.

WATER TABLE APPROX
LEVEL BELOW EXISTING
GROUND LEVEL

50.800

FOR TEMPORARY WORKS REFER
TO GROUNDFORCE DRAWING
81833/JM/101 FOR DETAILS

50.86

6.

85

50

205

KINGSPAN KLARGESTER
18m3 2.6Ø TANK

B
ZO
E
N

5900

O
F
C
EN
U
FL
IN

300mm THK. RC 35 CONCRETE BASE SLAB
WITH 1No. LAYER OF A393 MESH IN TOP &
BOTTOM. 50mm COVER

E

FOR TEMPORARY WORKS
REFER TO GROUNDFORCE
DRAWING 81883/JM/101

3600

4500

C

47.96

300

UNDERGROUND SEPTIC
TANK

5300

48.26

SECTION A-A

C

Scale 1/50

TARMAC FOOTPATH
CONSTRUCTION FOR
DETAILS SEE DRG NO.
0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G7-002

SOFT LANDSCAPING
53.00

A

GEN 1 CONCRETE BACKFILL.
CONCRETE POUR SEQUENCE TO BE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURES
INSTALLATION GUIDELINES

B

FOR TEMPORARY WORKS REFER
TO GROUNDFORCE DRAWING
81833/JM/101 FOR DETAILS

50.86

247

LOCATION PLAN
SCALE 1:50

KINGSPAN KLARGESTER
18m3 2.6Ø TANK

300mm THK. RC 35 CONCRETE BASE SLAB
WITH 1No. LAYER OF A393 MESH IN TOP &
BOTTOM. 50mm COVER

SOFT LANDSCAPING
53.00

48.26

FOR TEMPORARY WORKS REFER
TO GROUNDFORCE DRAWING
81833/JM/101 FOR DETAILS

50.86

47.96

300

GEN 1 CONCRETE BACKFILL.
CONCRETE POUR SEQUENCE TO BE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURES
INSTALLATION GUIDELINES

CONSTRUCTION

SECTION B-B
Scale 1/50

KINGSPAN KLARGESTER
18m3 2.6Ø TANK
Rev

48.26
300

47.96

300mm THK. RC 35 CONCRETE
BASE SLAB
WITH 1No. LAYER OF A393
MESH IN TOP &
BOTTOM. 50mm COVER

Description

Date

Dimensions to be verified on site.
This drawing should not be scaled. Use figured dimensions only
Any discrepancies should be referred to the Engineer prior to work being put in hand.
This drawing is copyright.

QuadConsult Limited
Columbus House, Village Way
Greenmeadow Business Park
Cardiff
CF15 7NE
029 2077 9644
contactus@quadconsult.co.uk
www.quadconsult.co.uk

SECTION C-C

By

Consulting Civil & Structural Engineers

Client

Scale 1/50

Project

LORD HARRIS COURT
Title

Drawing Status

CONSTRUCTION
Designed by

Drawn by

Checked by

SJ

SKT

SW

Date

MAR 2021

Scales @ A1 size

1:50

Document No

0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-017

QCL project name
0650A-SP-SL-DE-C-G77-17
17209
- SEPTIC TANK SECTION.dwg

SEPTIC TANK
PLAN AND SECTIONS

This page is intentionally left blank

